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As stated in the referenced Official Statement under the caption "FINANCIAL STATEMENTS,"
Citizens Property Insurance Corporation expected its Audited Financial Statements dated as of December
31, 2014 to be available on or before June 1, 2015, at which time a supplement to the Official Statement
was expected to be published. Such Audited Financial Statements became available on June 1, 2015.

PLEASE BE ADVISED that the referenced Official Statement has been supplemented with the
following information:

APPENDIX K —

APPENDIX L —

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — STATUTORY BASIS AND
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2014 AND 2013
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - GENERALLY ACCEPTED
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2014 AND 2013

Further, the amounts appearing on the tables under the caption “FINANCIAL INFORMATION -
General” for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 and labeled as “unaudited” are now “audited”
and such section of the Official Statement is hereby supplemented to such effect.

The date of this Supplement is June 1, 2015.
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - STATUTORY BASIS AND SUPPLEMENTAL
SCHEDULES FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014 AND 2013
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¢» JOHNSON
LAMBERT ...

To the Board of Governors and Management
Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

We have audited the accompanying statutory financial statements of Citizens Property Insurance
Corporation (Citizens), which comprise the statutory statements of admitted assets, liabilities and
accumulated surplus as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related statutory statements of income,
changes in accumulated surplus, and cash flows for the years then ended and the related notes to the
financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with the accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the Florida Office of Insurance
Regulation (the Office). Management is also responsible for the design, implementation, and maintenance
of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these statutory basis financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

WWW.JOHNSONLAMBERT.COM




To the Board of Governors and Management
Citizens Property Insurance Corporations
Page 2 of 2

Basis for Adverse Opinion on U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

As described more fully in Notes 2 and 13 to the financial statements, Citizens prepared these financial
statements using accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the Office, which is a basis of accounting
other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The effects on the
financial statements of the variances between these statutory accounting practices and accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America are described in Note 13, and are presumed to be
material.

Adverse Opinion on U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the preceding paragraph, the financial
statements referred to above do not present fairly, in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, the financial position of Citizens as of December 31, 2014 and
2013, or changes in financial position and cash flows for the years then ended.

Opinion on Regulatory Basis of Accounting

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the admitted
assets, liabilities, and accumulated surplus of Citizens as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the changes
in financial position and cash flows for the years then ended, on the basis of accounting described in Note
2.

Other Matter

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a
whole. The accompanying Supplemental Combining Statement of Admitted Assets, Liabilities and
Accumulated Surplus by Account - Statutory Basis, Supplemental Combining Statement of Income by
Account - Statutory Basis, Summary Investment Schedule and Supplemental Investment Risks
Interrogatories as of December 31, 2014 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a
required part of the financial statements but are supplementary information required by the Office. Such
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the statutory basis financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the statutory basis financial statements
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the statutory basis financial statements or to the
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, such schedules are fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the statutory basis financial statements as a whole.

%‘*’ Lokt LLP

Jacksonville, Florida
May 29, 2015



Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Statements of Admitted Assets, Liabilities and Accumulated Surplus - Statutory Basis

December 31
2014 2013

(in thousands)
Admitted assets

See accompanying notes to statutory basis financial statements.

3

Bonds $ 12,221,894 $ 12,828,989
Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments 1,456,597 1,494,855
Total cash and invested assets 13,678,491 14,323,844
Investment income due and accrued 74,222 81,873
Premiums receivable 117,842 147,567
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses and LAE 923 2,351
Other receivables under reinsurance contracts 32,654 27,133
Assessment receivable 5,530 176,894
Other admitted assets 4,586 6,945
Total admitted assets $ 13,914,248 $ 14,766,607
Liabilities and accumulated surplus
Liabilities:
Loss reserves $ 738,068 $ 953,329
Loss adjustment expense reserves 294,920 303,444
Retroactive reinsurance ceded (1,466) (1,626)
Unearned premiums 696,086 1,093,992
Unearned assessment income 19,326 43,602
Taxes and fees (receivable) payable (1,035) 3,143
Provision for reinsurance 556 1,881
Bonds payable 4,420,636 4,995,038
Interest payable 22,540 25,846
Advance premiums and suspended cash 48,961 70,440
Other liabilities 291,628 269,310
Total liabilities 6,530,220 7,758,399
Accumulated surplus:
Restricted 25,348 15,339
Unrestricted 7,358,680 6,992,869
Total accumulated surplus 7,384,028 7,008,208
Total liabilities and accumulated surplus $13,914,248 $ 14,766,607




Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Statements of Income — Statutory Basis

Premiums earned

Losses incurred

Loss adjustment expenses incurred
Other underwriting expenses incurred
Underwriting income

Net interest income
Net realized gain on sales

Interest expense

Net investment income (expense)

Assessment (expense) income
Other income (expense)

Net income

Years Ended December 31

2014

2013

(in thousands)

$ 1,377,841 $ 1,880,761

441,155 502,375
198,935 248,050
374,600 461,683
363,151 668,653
128,535 128,440

53,501 52,828
(180,835) (200,711)
1,201 (19,443)
(19,020) 26,166
5,790 (10,030)

S 351,122 $ 665346

See accompanying notes to statutory basis financial statements.
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Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Statements of Changes in Accumulated Surplus — Statutory Basis
(in thousands)

See accompanying notes to statutory basis financial statements.
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Balance at January 1, 2013 $ 6,295,157
Net income 665,346
Change in nonadmitted assets 31,296
Change in provision for reinsurance 166
Prior period adjustment - assessment income 15,283
Other 960
Change in accumulated surplus 713,051

Balance at December 31, 2013 7,008,208
Net income 351,122
Change in nonadmitted assets 23,770
Change in provision for reinsurance 1,325
Other (397)
Change in accumulated surplus 375,820

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 7,384,028




Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Statements of Cash Flows — Statutory Basis

Operating activities
Premiums collected, net of reinsurance
Loss and loss adjustment expenses paid
Underwriting expenses paid
Net investment income received
Other income received
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

Investing activities
Proceeds from investments sold, matured or repaid
Investments acquired
Net cash provided by investing activities

Financing and miscellaneous activities
Borrowed funds repaid
Other cash received
Net cash used in financing and miscellaneous activities

Net decrease in cash and short-term investments

Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments:
Beginning of year

End of year

Years Ended December 31

2014

2013

(in thousands)

$ 972,774 S 1,674,421
(862,447) (919,408)
(379,101) (465,424)
68,904 60,536
10,215 17,033
(189,655) 367,158
7,973,070 7,604,897
(7,453,633) (7,369,289)
519,437 235,608
(535,275) (871,530)
167,235 176,987
(368,040) (694,543)
(38,258) (91,777)
1,494,855 1,586,632

$ 1456597 $ 1494855

See accompanying notes to statutory basis financial statements.
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Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements — Statutory Basis

NOTE 1 - GENERAL

Citizens Property Insurance Corporation (Citizens) was established on August 1, 2002, pursuant
to Section 627.351(6), Florida Statutes (the Act), to provide certain residential and non-residential
property insurance coverage to qualified risks in the State of Florida under circumstances specified
in the Act. The original intent of the legislation was that property insurance be provided through
Citizens to applicants who are in good faith entitled to procure insurance through the voluntary
market but are unable to do so. Citizens results from a combination of the Florida Residential
Property and Casualty Joint Underwriting Association (FRPCJUA) and the Florida Windstorm
Underwriting Association (FWUA). The FRPCJUA was renamed Citizens and the FWUA’s
rights, obligations, assets, liabilities and all insurance policies were transferred to Citizens. Unlike
private insurers offering coverage through the admitted market, Citizens is not required to obtain
or to hold a certificate of authority issued by the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation (the
Office). For purposes of its tax-exempt status, Citizens is considered a political subdivision and an
integral part of the State of Florida. As such, Citizens’ operations may be affected by the
legislative process.

Citizens operates pursuant to a Plan of Operation (the Plan) approved by the Financial Services
Commission (the Commission) of the State of Florida. The Commission is composed of the
Governor, the Chief Financial Officer, the Attorney General and the Commissioner of Agriculture
of the State.

Citizens is supervised by a Board of Governors (the Board) which consists of nine individuals who
reside in the State of Florida. The Governor appoints three members, and the Chief Financial
Officer, the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives each appoint
two members of the Board. At least one of the two members appointed by each appointing officer
must have a demonstrated expertise in the insurance industry. The Chief Financial Officer
designates one of the appointees as the Board’s chair. All Board members serve at the pleasure of
their appointing officers.

Citizens’ President and Chief Executive Officer (Executive Director) and senior managers are
engaged by and serve at the pleasure of the Board. The Executive Director is subject to
confirmation by the Florida Senate.

Pursuant to the Act, all revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities of Citizens shall remain divided
into three separate accounts: the Personal Lines Account, the Commercial Lines Account and the
Coastal Account. A brief history of each account follows:

Personal Lines Account History — The FRPCJUA began operations on January 21, 1993, after
Hurricane Andrew, pursuant to Section 627.351(6), Florida Statutes, to provide certain
residential property insurance coverage to qualified risks in the State of Florida for applicants
who were in good faith entitled to procure insurance through the private market but were
unable to do so. Residential property coverage consists of the types of coverage provided to
homeowners, mobile homeowners, tenants, condominium unit owners, and similar policies.



Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements — Statutory Basis

NOTE 1 - GENERAL (CONTINUED)

The policies provide coverage for all perils covered under a standard residential policy, subject
to certain underwriting requirements. Such policies may exclude windstorm coverage on
property within eligible areas. This portion of the FRPCJUA's activities became the Personal
Lines Account (PLA) under Citizens.

Commercial Lines Account History — The Florida Property and Casualty Joint Underwriting
Association (FPCJUA) was activated in early 1994 to provide commercial residential coverage
(i.e. coverage for condominium associations, apartment buildings and homeowner
associations) to organizations unable to obtain such coverage from a private insurer. During
1995, legislation was enacted to transfer all obligations, rights, assets, and liabilities related to
commercial residential coverage from the FPCJUA to the FRPCJUA. The legislation required
that the premiums, losses, assets and liabilities be accounted for separately from the
FRPCJUA's personal residential business. This portion of the FRPCJUA's activities became
the Commercial Lines Account (CLA) under Citizens. In 2006, the FPCJUA was re-activated
to provide commercial non-residential wind-only coverage. In 2007, legislation was enacted
which resulted in the transfer and assumption of the FPCJUA’s commercial non-residential
policies by Citizens. These policies were added to the CLA.

Coastal Account History — The FWUA, which was a residual market mechanism for
windstorm and hail coverage in select areas of the State, was created by an act of the Florida
Legislature in 1970 pursuant to Section 627.351(2), Florida Statutes. FWUA was a Florida
unincorporated association, the members of which were all property insurance companies
holding a certificate of authority to provide property insurance coverage in the State. FWUA
provided policies of windstorm insurance for property owners within the eligible areas who
were unable to obtain such coverage from private insurers. Insured properties include personal
residential, commercial residential and commercial non-residential properties. This portion of
the FWUA’s activities became the High-Risk Account (HRA) under Citizens. In 2007,
Citizens received authority to issue multi-peril policies in the HRA. Pursuant to legislative
changes during 2011, the HRA was renamed the Coastal Account.

During the 2013 legislative session, Citizens was authorized to create a Clearinghouse Program to
confirm eligibility of new applicants to Citizens and to provide new applicants and existing
Citizens policyholders enhanced access to offers of coverage from authorized insurers. Under the
program, authorized insurers that have voluntarily agreed to participate in the program are able to
make offers of coverage to new applicants and existing Citizens policyholders. The clearinghouse
program launched on January 27, 2014, with four authorized carriers participating in the program
and with only new applicants seeking HO-3 policies being processed through the clearinghouse.
As of the end of 2014, existing HO-3 policies were added to the clearinghouse as well as an
additional nine insurers bringing the participating insurer total to thirteen. In 2015 Citizens plans
to begin submitting new and existing DP-1 and DP-3 dwelling only policies through the
clearinghouse. Citizens also plans to add an additional personal multi-peril line of business to the
platform during the 4th quarter of 2015, and is scheduled to add at least two additional insurers as
well.



Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements — Statutory Basis

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

Citizens prepares its statutory basis financial statements in conformity with Florida statutes and
accounting rules prescribed by the Office for insurance companies domiciled in the State of
Florida. The statutory basis financial statements are prepared in accordance with National
Association of Insurance Commissioners’ (the NAIC) Accounting Practices and Procedures
Manual, subject to any deviations prescribed or permitted by the Office.

Statutory Accounting Principles (SAP) is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (GAAP). The significant SAP
which differ from GAAP are as follows:

a. Certain assets are defined under SAP as “nonadmitted.” These include furniture and
equipment, leasehold improvements, certain prepaid assets, certain computer software,
investments over prescribed limits and receivables in the course of collection with
balances more than 90 days past due. The net change in such nonadmitted assets during
the year is charged or credited directly to accumulated surplus. GAAP, on the other hand,
includes these as assets unless impaired.

b. Investments in debt securities are generally valued at cost and are amortized under the
valuation standards of the NAIC. According to GAAP, investments in debt securities are
generally reported at fair value.

c. Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses and unearned premiums ceded to
reinsurers are reported as reductions of the related reserves rather than as assets as
required under GAAP.

d. Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments in the statement of cash flows
represent cash balances and investments with original maturities of one year or less at
the date of acquisition. Under GAAP, the corresponding caption of cash and cash
equivalents includes cash balances and investments with original maturities of three
months or less at the date of acquisition. Also under GAAP, short-term investments are
disclosed separately from cash. The statutory statement of cash flows does not classify
cash flows consistent with GAAP and a reconciliation of net income to net cash provided
by operating activities is not provided.



Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements — Statutory Basis

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of Presentation (Continued)

Differences between Florida prescribed practices and SAP which affect Citizens are prescribed in
Florida Statutes 625.305. This statute provides limitations on the admission of invested assets with
ratings of 5 and 6 issued by the Securities Valuation Office (SVO) as a percentage of total admitted
assets, among other limitations not applicable to Citizens. The effect of the prescribed practice on
accumulated surplus is provided below.

(in thousands)
Description State 2014 2013

Policyholders’ surplus, state basis FL | $7,384,028 $ 7,008,208
Effect of state prescribed practices

F.S. 625.305(4) d. Non-Admitted Invested FL 36.098 61253
Assets
Policyholders’ surplus, SAP basis $ 7,420,126 $ 7,069,461

Bonds

Bonds, which consist solely of debt securities, are recorded at admitted asset values, as prescribed
by the NAIC’s valuation procedures and are rated in accordance with current NAIC guidelines.
Bonds designated highest quality and high quality are reported at amortized cost, with all other
bonds reported at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. Debt securities not backed by other
loans are stated at amortized cost using the interest method. Loan backed debt securities and
structured securities are stated at amortized cost using the interest method and adjusted
retrospectively.

When, in the opinion of management, a decline in the estimated fair value of an investment is
considered to be other-than-temporary, the investment is written down to its estimated fair value.
The determination of an other-than-temporary decline in estimated fair value includes, in addition
to other relevant factors, consideration of the nature of the investments, the severity of the
impairments, including the number of securities impaired, and the duration of the impairment.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Short-term Investments

Cash and cash equivalents consists of highly liquid investments with remaining maturities of three
months or less at the date of purchase. Short-term investments are investments with remaining
maturities of one year or less at the date of purchase (excluding those investments classified as
cash) and are generally recorded at cost. Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments
include amounts on deposit in excess of insured limits through the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation. Management does not consider this to represent a significant credit risk to Citizens.

10



Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements — Statutory Basis

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Short-term Investments (Continued)

Short-term investments include amounts invested in the Florida State Board of Administration’s
Florida Prime (SBA Florida Prime), formerly known as the Florida State Board of
Administration’s Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP), various money market funds,
commercial paper, short-term municipal securities, short-term corporate bonds and U.S.
government agency short-term notes.

Net Investment Income (Expense)

Net investment income (expense) includes realized gains and losses on sales of investments that
are recognized on the specific identification basis. Net investment income (expense) also includes
bond interest, bond expenses and investment expenses.

Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

Depreciation and amortization expense was $6.7 million and $6.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Furniture, fixtures and equipment are depreciated
using the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives,
by asset class, are as follows:

Electronic data processing (EDP) equipment: 3 years
Capitalized office equipment and automobiles: 5 years
Furniture and equipment: 7 years
Leasehold improvements: 10 years

The cost and accumulated depreciation for EDP equipment and software was $70.5 million and
$65.9 million at December 31, 2014, and $68.4 million and $60.8 million at December 31, 2013,
respectively.

Loss Reserves and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves

Liabilities for loss reserves and loss adjustment expense (LAE) reserves are estimated based on
claims adjusters’ evaluations and on actuarial evaluations, using Citizens’ loss experience and
industry statistics. While the ultimate amount of losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred is
dependent on future development, in management’s opinion, the estimated reserves are adequate
to cover the expected future payment of losses and LAE. However, the ultimate settlement of
losses may vary significantly from the reserves provided. Adjustments to estimates recorded
resulting from subsequent actuarial evaluations or ultimate payments will be reflected in
operations in the period in which such adjustments are known or estimable. Citizens does not
discount liabilities for loss reserves and loss adjustment expense reserves.

11



Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements — Statutory Basis

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Premiums

Premiums written are recorded on the effective date of the policy and earned using the daily pro
rata method over the policy period. The portion of premiums not earned at the end of the period
are recorded as unearned premiums.

If anticipated losses, loss adjustment expenses, commissions and other acquisition costs exceed
the Company’s recorded unearned premium reserve, a premium deficiency is recognized by
recording an additional liability for the deficiency. Citizens anticipates investment income as a
factor in the premium deficiency calculation. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, management
determined that no premium deficiency reserve was required.

Premiums receivable includes amounts due from policyholders for billed premiums. Billings are
calculated using estimated annual premiums for each policy and are paid either through an
installment plan offered by Citizens or in their entirety at the inception of the policy.

Guaranty Fund and Other Assessments

Citizens is subject to assessments by the Florida Insurance Guaranty Association (FIGA). For the
property lines of insurance, FIGA collects assessments from solvent insurance companies
operating in Florida to cover the costs resulting from insolvency or rehabilitation of other insurance
companies. Assessments are charged to expense and a liability is accrued when Citizens is notified
that an assessment will be levied. After paying the FIGA assessment, Citizens recoups the
assessment from its own insureds. Citizens records a receivable and recognizes revenue for the

amount of policy surcharges that are expected to be received to recoup any assessment levied by
FIGA.

Assessments are also levied by the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund (FHCF), which are in turn

payable by Citizens’ insureds. Citizens collects the FHCF assessments from its insureds and remits
them to the FHCF.

Citizens is also required to assess insurers and insureds in Florida for deficits incurred by Citizens.
Assessments made pursuant to the Act and the Plan are recognized as revenue and recorded as
receivable in the period approved by the Board of Governors and the Office and levied by Citizens
(see Note 14). Assessment receivables are considered to be fully collectible.

Reinsurance

Premiums ceded under reinsurance agreements are recorded as a reduction of earned premiums.
Reinsurance recoverables on unpaid losses are recorded as a reduction to loss and LAE reserves.
Reinsurance recoverables on paid losses are recorded as receivables. All catastrophe reinsurance
payments are recorded as premiums ceded and are amortized over the life of the hurricane season
for which the payments apply. Premiums ceded include FHCF, private catastrophe reinsurance
purchases and depopulation premiums.

12



Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements — Statutory Basis

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income Taxes

Pursuant to a determination letter received from the Internal Revenue Service, Citizens is exempt
from federal income tax as a political subdivision and integral part of the State of Florida, and as
such, is liable for income taxes only on business income unrelated to the purpose for which it is
exempt. No federal or state income tax was incurred during 2014 or 2013.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with SAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, premiums receivable and other admitted assets
approximates fair value given their short-term nature.

Market Risk

Citizens underwrites residential and commercial property insurance policies in the State of Florida.
Therefore, adverse economic changes or certain changes in the insurance laws of the State of
Florida could have a significant impact on Citizens’ future financial position and results of
operations. At December 31, 2014, approximately 57.7% of Citizens’ insurance coverage exposure
lies in the Southeast Florida counties of Miami-Dade, Broward, Monroe and Palm Beach. At
December 31, 2014, approximately 12.8% of Citizens’ insurance coverage lies in Pinellas and
Hillsborough counties. Severe storm activity in any of these counties, or throughout the State of
Florida, could have a significant impact on Citizens’ future financial position and results of
operations. Unlike private insurers that are subject to liquidation in the event of insolvency,
Citizens is able (and statutorily required) to levy surcharges and assessments in the event of a
deficit in any or all of its accounts. See Note 14 for further information.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject Citizens to concentrations of credit risk consist
principally of cash and cash equivalents, and investments. Citizens’ cash management and
investment policies restrict investments by type, credit and issuer, and Citizens performs periodic
evaluations of the credit standing of the financial institutions with which it deals. An increased risk
of loss occurs as more investments are acquired from one issuer or a group of issuers within one
industry which results in a concentration of credit risk. Excluding securities issued by U.S.
Government & Agencies, Citizens does not hold any securities from any single issuer that
exceeded 5% of the investment portfolio. As of December 31, 2014, management believes Citizens
had no significant concentrations of credit risk.
13



Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements — Statutory Basis

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Reclassifications

Certain balances in the 2013 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 2014
presentation.

Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been considered through May 29, 2015, the date of issuance of these
statutory financial statements. There were no events, other than he events discussed below,
occurring subsequent to the end of the year that merited recognition or disclosure in these
statements.

Effective January 27, 2015, Citizens executed a legal defeasance of its 2007A post-event bonds.
Authorization for the action was approved by Citizens’ Board of Governors at its September 24,
2014 regular meeting. The defeasance, which is contemplated in the bond agreement, was effected
by Citizens transferring future principal and interest of approximately $400.5 million to a trusteed
escrow account, from which all remaining future principal and interest payments will be made.
Citizens is no longer legally obligated to make any future principal and interest payments to the
bondholders. The recognition of future interest expenses was accelerated and recognized as a loss
on defeasance within the January 2015 financial statements. The net effect on policyholders’
surplus, as a result of the defeasance, is an increase of approximately $1.6 million.

Effective March 5, 2015, the Office issued an order terminating the 2005 Emergency Assessment
thereby requiring all insurers that are required to collect the 2005 Emergency Assessment
(including Citizens) to cease collections by July 1, 2015 on both new and renewal policies. This
order was issued following the decision by Citizens’ Board of Governors to terminate the
assessment in connection with the legal defeasance of Citizens’ 2007A post-event bonds.

NOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Citizens’ estimates of fair value for financial assets and financial liabilities are based on the
framework established in the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures accounting guidance. The
framework is based on the inputs used in valuation and requires that observable inputs be used in
the valuations when available. The disclosure of fair value estimates in the fair value accounting
guidance includes a hierarchy based on whether significant valuation inputs are observable. In
determining the level of the hierarchy in which the estimate is disclosed, the highest priority is
given to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs
that reflect Citizens’ significant market assumptions. The three levels of the hierarchy are as
follows:

Level 1 — Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets
or liabilities traded in active markets.

14



Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements — Statutory Basis

NOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Level 2 — Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities
in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not
active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability and market
corroborated inputs.

Level 3 — Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable for the asset or liability and are
significant to the fair value measurement, and includes broker quotes which are non-binding.

At the end of each reporting period, Citizens evaluates whether or not any event has occurred or
circumstances have changed that would cause an instrument to be transferred between Levels 1
and 2. This policy also applies to transfers into or out of Level 3. During the current reporting
period, no such transfers occurred.

At December 31, 2014, all bonds held by Citizens are categorized as Level 2. Citizens has no assets
that are financial instruments categorized as Level 3 and Citizens has no liability-based financial
instruments.

NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS
Investment Policy and Impairment

Citizens’ invested assets are governed by four investment policies, two for taxable operating funds
and two for tax-exempt bond proceeds:

e Liquidity Fund (Taxable): generally this policy will govern the investment of funds and
surplus that, in addition to internally managed cash, will be the first monies used to pay
claims after an event, and that can be used to pay operating expenses on an ongoing basis.

e Liquidity Fund (Tax-exempt): generally this policy will govern the investment of tax-
exempt pre-event bond proceeds and other monies required to be invested in tax-exempt
instruments. Citizens will use these monies to pay claims after an event or to pay principal
and / or interest payments on an as needed basis.

e Claims-Paying Fund (Taxable): generally this policy will govern the investment of funds
that will be used to pay post-event claims after Citizens has expended all monies in the
Liquidity Fund. Only monies eligible for investment in taxable instruments will be
deposited in this fund.

e Claims-Paying Fund (Tax-exempt): generally this policy will govern the investment of tax-
exempt pre-event bond proceeds and other monies required to be invested in tax-exempt
instruments. Citizens will use these monies to pay claims after an event, typically after all
funds in the Liquidity Fund have been expended.
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NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
Investment Policy and Impairment (Continued)

Citizens did not recognize any other-than-temporary impairments for the years ended December
31, 2014 or 2013. Citizens evaluates external indicators, such as issuer credit ratings along with
the extent and duration of declines, and internal indicators such as ability and intent with respect
to retention of impaired securities in determining whether declines in market value are temporary
or other-than-temporary. In addition, Citizens nonadmitted $36.1 million and $61.3 million of
invested assets at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, that were rated as 5 or 6 by the SVO,
pursuant to Florida statutes (see Note 2).

The investment policy requires any repurchase agreement be collateralized at least 102% with U.S.
Government or Agency securities, excluding mortgage-backed securities. Repurchase agreements
shall not represent more than 15% of the portfolio’s amortized cost and must have a maximum
maturity of 30 days or less. Reverse repurchase agreements and securities lending are not
permitted investments. Citizens had no investments in agency repurchase agreements as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Short-term Investments

Citizens’ short-term investments include shares held in the SBA Florida Prime. At December 31,
2014 and 2013, $0 and $9.4 million, respectively, was invested in the SBA Florida Prime Fund B,
which has been frozen from investor withdrawals due to that portfolio’s investment in distressed
illiquid assets. During 2014 and 2013, Citizens received principal recoveries of $4.7 million and
$7.6 million, respectively.

As principal and interest payments are received, Citizens’ allocable portion is eligible for
withdrawal and such withdrawals have been consistently made. Citizens withdrew $14.1 million
and $22.7 million, during 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The following table presents, at December 31, 2014, securities for which an other-than-temporary
impairment (OTTI) has been recognized in reporting periods prior to the year ended December 31,
2014, classified on the basis of lack of intent to retain the investment in the security for a period
of time sufficient to recover the amortized cost basis (in thousands).

Amortized Cost OTTI Amortized Cost
Before OTTI Recognized After OTTI Fair Value
$ 366,230 $ 260,573 $ 105,657 $ 157,775
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NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
Bonds (Continued)

The amortized cost (net of nonadmitted securities), gross unrealized gains and losses and fair value
of bonds at December 31, 2014, were as follows (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Bonds:
U.S. Treasury and U.S.

Government Securities $ 1,547,514 $ 1,343 $ (1,680) $ 1,547,177
All Other Government 53,986 242 (78) 54,150
States, Territories and

Possessions 817,019 5,125 (502) 821,642
Political Subdivisions of States,

Territories and Possessions 864,537 4,718 (485) 868,770
Special Revenue 4,371,161 16,584 (4,559) 4,383,186
Industrial & Miscellaneous 4,318,112 29,557 (6,661) 4,341,008
Mortgage-backed Securities 249,565 1,650 (123) 251,092
Total $ 12,221,894 $ 59,219 $ (14,088) $ 12,267,025

The amortized cost (net of nonadmitted securities), gross unrealized gains and losses and fair value
of bonds at December 31, 2013, were as follows (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Bonds:
U.S. Treasury and U.S.

Government Securities $ 1,472,271 $ 1,988 $ (5,99) $ 1,468,263
All Other Government 23,775 47 (68) 23,754
States, Territories and

Possessions 1,067,801 9,733 (727) 1,076,807
Political Subdivisions of States,

Territories and Possessions 992,980 8,601 (606) 1,000,975
Special Revenue 4,876,572 26,746 (8,745) 4,894,573
Industrial & Miscellaneous 4,209,409 46,981 (15,552) 4,240,838
Mortgage-backed Securities 186,181 1,247 (420) 187,008
Total $ 12,828,989 $ 95,343 $ (32,114) $ 12,892,218
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NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Bonds (Continued)

The unrealized loss position of bonds at December 31, 2014 was as follows (in thousands):

Bonds:

U.S. Treasury and U.S.
Government Securities

All Other Government

States, Territories and
Possessions

Political Subdivisions of States,
Territories and Possessions

Special Revenue

Industrial & Miscellaneous

Mortgage-backed Securities

Total

Bonds:

U.S. Treasury and U.S.
Government Securities

All Other Government

States, Territories and
Possessions

Political Subdivisions of States,
Territories and Possessions

Special Revenue

Industrial & Miscellaneous

Mortgage-backed Securities

Less than 12 months More than 12 months Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss
646971 $ 639 $ 131,522 $ (1,041) 8§ 778,493 §$ (1,680)
16,246 (78) - - 16,246 (78)
118,246 472) 13,948 (30) 132,194 (502)
148,774 (481) 1,671 “) 150,445 (485)
1,203,673 (3,948) 90,843 (611) 1,294,516 (4,559)
1,508,886 (4,969) 235,522 (1,692) 1,744,408 (6,661)
54,331 (111) 19,055 (12) 73,386 (123)
$ 3,697,127 $ (10,698) $ 492,561 $ 3,390) $ 4,189,688 $ (14,088)
The unrealized loss position of bonds at December 31, 2013 was as follows (in thousands):
Less than 12 months More than 12 months Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss
568,102 $ (5203) % 49,003 $ (793) $ 617,105 $ (5,996)
5,922 (68) 1,017 - 6,939 (68)
151,760 (681) 29,709 (46) 181,469 (727)
82,921 (373) 57,084 (233) 140,005 (606)
803,161 (3,444) 465,299 (5,300) 1,268,460 (8,745)
886,105 (12,203) 382,064 (3,350) 1,268,169 (15,552)
55,687 (342) 29,635 (78) 85,322 (420)
$ 2,553,658 $ 22,3149) $ 1,013,811 $ 9,800) $ 3,567,469 $ (32,114)

Total

There were 675 and 500 bond holdings in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2014 and

2013, respectively.

Proceeds from maturities and sales of bonds during 2014 were $8.0 billion with gross realized
gains of $35.4 million and gross realized losses of $3.9 million and during 2013 were $7.6 billion
with gross realized gains of $36.7 million and gross realized losses of $4.1 million.
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NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
Bonds (Continued)

The amortized cost (net of nonadmitted securities) and fair value of securities at December 31,
2014, by contractual maturity, are shown below (in thousands). Actual maturities may differ from
contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or repay obligations with or
without call or prepayment penalties.

Amortized Cost Fair Value

Maturity:

In 2015 $ 1,301,673 $ 1,306,706

2016 - 2019 10,411,634 10,440,709

2020 - 2024 41,707 41,865

After 2024 217,315 226,653

Mortgage-backed Securities 249,565 251,092
Total $ 12,221,894 $ 12,267,025

Sources and uses of net investment income (expense) for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, were as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013
Interest income
Bonds $ 133,341 $ 132,299
Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments 1,687 2,809
Total investment income 135,028 135,108
Investment expenses (6,493) (6,668)
Net interest income 128,535 128,440
Capital gains
Bonds 31,514 32,515
Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments 21,987 20,313
Net realized gain on sales 53,501 52,828
Interest expense (180,835) (200,711)
Net investment income (expense) $ 1,201 $ (19,443)
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NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Restricted Assets

Restricted assets (including pledged assets) are summarized as follows by restricted asset category

(in thousands):

Gross Restricted Percentage
Admitted
Total Gross Restricted
Total from Current Restricted to Total
Restricted Asset Current Total from Increase Year to Total Admitted
Category Year Prior Year | (Decrease) Admitted Assets Assets
Pledged as collateral not
captured in other
categories $ 1,087,145 $ 707,295 $ 379,850 $1,087,145 7.81% 7.81%
On deposit with state - 9,381 (9,381) - 0.00% 0.00%
Other restricted assets 25,348 15,339 10,009 25,348 0.20% 0.20%
Total restricted assets $ 1,112,493 $ 732,015 $ 380,478 $1,112,493 8.01% 8.01%

Other restricted assets consist of assessments that were over-collected by the Florida Surplus Lines
Servicing Office (FSLSO) from surplus lines insureds with respect to the 2004 Plan Year Deficit.
Pursuant to a consent order, the Office, FSLSO and Citizens agreed that this cash would be
included in Citizens’ restricted surplus until such time future regular and emergency assessments
would otherwise be payable by surplus lines insureds. As amounts have been approved by FSLSO
with respect to regular and emergency assessments for Citizens’ 2005 Plan Year deficit, Citizens
has transferred these funds to unrestricted surplus.

NOTE S - LIABILITY FOR LOSS RESERVES AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSE
RESERVES

Activity in the liability for loss reserves and LAE reserves for the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013, was as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013
Balance at beginning of year $ 1,256,773 $ 1,419,055
Incurred related to:
Current accident year 525,725 684,549
Prior accident years 114,365 65,876
640,090 750,425
Paid related to:
Current accident year 272,399 352,354
Prior accident years 591,476 560,353
863,875 912,707
Balance at end of year $ 1,032,988 $ 1,256,773
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NOTE 5 - LIABILITY FOR LOSS RESERVES AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSE
RESERVES (CONTINUED)

As a result of changes in estimates of insured events in prior years, primarily due to the re-
estimation of costs within the PLA relating to accident years 2010 and 2011 litigated sinkhole and
water loss claims, the provision for loss and LAE increased by approximately $114.4 million and
$65.9 million, net of reinsurance, in 2014 and 2013, respectively. Increases or decreases of this
nature occur as a result of claim settlements during the current year, and as additional information
is received regarding individual claims, causing changes from the original estimates of the cost of
these claims. During 2014 and 2013, ceded loss amounts with respect to reinsurance recoverable
on paid losses and LAE was $1.4 million and $6.7 million, respectively.

For both catastrophic and non-catastrophic claims, the loss adjusting function is performed by
Citizens through its employees and through contracted independent adjusting firms. Citizens
compensates independent adjusting firms, depending upon the type or nature of the claims, either
on per-day rate or on a graduated fee schedule based on the gross claim amount. Such costs are
included as loss adjustment expenses.

NOTE 6 - REINSURANCE AGREEMENTS

Citizens has entered into various contracts with reinsurers for the purpose of reducing its net
exposure to qualifying losses should such losses occur. These contracts provide for the recovery
of amounts above specified retention levels, subject to contractual limits, under per occurrence and
aggregate catastrophe excess of loss arrangements. Reinsurance coverage is purchased separately
for the Coastal Account and combined for the PLA and CLA. As required by statute, Citizens
participates in the FHCF. Coverage provided by and premium ceded to the FHCF as respects the
Coastal Account is considered as a separate participating insurer with its own exposures,
reimbursement premium and loss reimbursement. Likewise, the PLA and CLA are considered
together as a single, separate participating insurer with its own exposures, reimbursement premium
and loss reimbursement. Reinsurance coverage purchased through the FHCF was $2.849 billion
and $1.699 billion in the Coastal Account and PLA/CLA, respectively, for 2014, and $3.043 billion
and $2.203 billion in the Coastal Account and PLA/CLA, respectively, for 2013. Reinsurance
coverage purchased in the Coastal Account through traditional and capital markets totaled $3.269
billion and $1.851 billion for 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The effect of reinsurance on premiums written and earned is as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013
Written Earned Written Earned

Direct premiums ~ $ 2,083,870 $ 2,374,093 $ 2,761,638 $ 2,954,580
Ceded premiums ~ (1,103,934) (996,252)  (1,059,530)  (1,073,819)
Net premiums $ 979,936 $ 1,377,841  $ 1,702,108 $ 1,880,761
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NOTE 6 - REINSURANCE AGREEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Ceded premiums include premiums ceded to companies that assume policies pursuant to a
depopulation program (see Note 10), as well as premium ceded under 100% private quota share
arrangements. Ceded losses and LAE incurred were ($2.5) million and $2.3 million during 2014
and 2013, respectively.

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses are estimated
based on the allocation of estimated unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses among Citizens’
coverage lines. Actual amounts recoverable will depend on the ultimate settlement of losses and
loss adjustment expenses. Reinsurance contracts do not relieve Citizens from its obligation to
policyholders. Citizens remains liable to its policyholders for the portion reinsured to the extent
that any reinsurer does not meet the obligations assumed under their reinsurance agreements.

NOTE 7 - BONDS PAYABLE

Citizens has issued multiple Senior Secured Bonds for the purpose of funding losses in the event
of a future catastrophe. The bonds are secured by pledged revenues which consist of monies and
investments held in accounts established under the trust indenture, proceeds from any surcharges,
regular, and emergency assessments, and/or reimbursements received from the FHCF. The
following table provides pertinent information regarding each issuance of the Senior Secured
Bonds (in thousands):

Issuance Carrying Stated Current Year  Current Year
Bond Issue Date Face Value Value Interest Rate  Principal Paid  Interest Paid

Series 2007A Senior
Secured Refunding Bonds February 26, 3.750% -
(Post-event HRA) 2007 $ 388,930 $ 392,832 5.000% $ 117,220 $ 20,379
Series 2009A-1 Senior
Secured Bonds 4.000% -
(Pre-event HRA) May 7, 2009 746,585 748,244  6.000% 168,055 46,358
Series 2010A-1 Senior
Secured Bonds 3.000% -
(Pre-event HRA) April 6,2010 1,240,000 1,252,182 5.250% 100,000 63,207
Series 2011A-1 Senior
Secured Bonds 3.000% -
(Pre-event HRA) July 14, 2011 645,000 654,932 5.000% - 31,577
Series 2011A-3 Senior
Secured Bonds SIFMA plus
(Pre-event HRA) July 14,2011 - - 1.65% 150,000 1,278
Series 2012A-1 Senior
Secured Bonds 3.000% -
(Pre-event PLA/CLA) June 21,2012 1,100,000 1,172,446  5.000% - 54,779
Series 2012A-3 Senior
Secured Bonds SIFMA plus
(Pre-event PLA/CLA) June 21, 2012 200,000 200,000 1.25% - 2,606

Total $4,320,515  $ 4,420,636 $ 535,275 $220,184
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NOTE 7 - BONDS PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

A schedule of bond maturities is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending Series 2007 Series 2009 Series 2010 Series 2011 Series 2012
December 31 Bonds Bonds Bonds Bonds Bonds Total
2015 $ 123225 $ - $ 410,000 $ 80,000 $ 275,000 $ 888,225
2016 129,540 403,085 305,000 90,000 125,000 1,052,625
2017 136,165 343,500 525,000 - 130,000 1,134,665
2018 - - - 125,000 130,000 255,000
2019 - - - 175,000 160,000 335,000
After - - - 175,000 480,000 655,000
$ 388930 § 746,585 $ 1,240,000 $ 645,000 S 1,300,000 § 4,320,515

A schedule of debt service requirements, including principal and interest, is as follows
(in thousands):

Years Ending

December 31 Principal Interest Total
2015 § 888225 § 189,633 § 1,077,858
2016 1,052,625 141,663 1,194,288
2017 1,134,665 84,491 1,219,156
2018 255,000 54,483 309,483
2019 335,000 39,480 374,480
After 655,000 37,423 692,423

$ 4320515 $§ 547,173 $ 4,867,688

Unamortized premium at December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $100.1 million and $139.2 million,
respectively.

NOTE 8 - RETIREMENT PLAN

Citizens sponsors a 457(b)/401(a) defined contribution employee savings plan for qualified
employees (the Savings Plan). The Savings Plan qualifies as a deferred salary arrangement under
Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under the Savings Plan, participating eligible
employees may defer a portion of their pretax earnings up to the Internal Revenue Service annual
contribution limit. Citizens matches 100% of each employee’s contributions up to a maximum of
8% of the employee’s pretax earnings. Citizens’ matching contributions to the Savings Plan were
$4.2 million and $3.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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NOTE 9 - AGENT COMMISSIONS AND SERVICING COMPANY FEES

Citizens has contracted with various insurance agents licensed in the State of Florida. These
agreements provide for commissions to be paid to the agents at rates established by the Board and
calculated as a percentage of direct written premiums, net of certain surcharges and assessments.
Agent commissions included in other underwriting expenses incurred were $169.8 million and
$224.0 million during 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Additionally, Citizens is a party to an agreement with a servicing company to provide underwriting
and policy management services. The agreement provides for monthly compensation to the
company based on a “Per Transaction Fee” applied to the number of transactions processed in a
monthly cycle. These services are for both Citizens’ Commercial Lines and Personal Lines
business. The amount per transaction ranges from $3.50 to $50.00, depending on the complexity
and volume of each transaction. Servicing company fees included in other underwriting expenses
incurred were $5.9 million and $8.8 million, during 2014 and 2013, respectively. There were no
premiums written by service providers which individually are more than 5% of policyholders'
surplus.

NOTE 10 - DEPOPULATION

Pursuant to the Act, Citizens is authorized to adopt one or more programs, subject to approval by
the Office, for the reduction of both new and renewal writings. Policies may be removed from
Citizens at policy renewal or as part of a bulk assumption (Assumption Agreement). In an
assumption, the assuming insurer (Takeout Company) is responsible for losses occurring from the
assumption date through the expiration of the Citizens’ policy period (the assumption period).
Subsequent to the assumption period, the Takeout Company will write the policy directly. In
January 2007, Florida law was amended to state that assumed policies are the direct insurance of
the Takeout Company, for the purpose of clarifying that FIGA is liable for assumption period
losses occurring during the assumption period if a Takeout Company were liquidated and unable
to meet its obligation to policyholders.

During 2014 and 2013, Citizens ceded $455.0 million and $387.6 million, respectively, in
premiums to Takeout Companies pursuant to Assumption Agreements.

Citizens provides policy administration services with respect to the assumed policies. All
agreements provide for the Takeout Company to adjust losses. While Citizens is not liable to cover
claims after the assumption (unless the assumed insured exercises its option to return to Citizens
during the assumption period), Citizens continues to service policies for items such as policyholder
endorsements or cancellation refunds. Should Citizens process and provide a refund to
policyholders, such amount is subsequently collected from the Takeout Company. At
December 31, 2014 and 2013, net assumed premiums receivable in the amount of $32.7 million
and $27.1 million, respectively, were due from certain Takeout Companies.
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NOTE 11 - OPERATING LEASES

Citizens leases office space and certain office equipment under various operating leases. Rental
expense on operating leases amounted to $7.3 million and $8.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. There are no contingent rental payments or unusual
renewal options, escalation clauses or restrictions and there have been no early terminations of
existing leases. Future minimum payments under operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

2015 $ 4,873
2016 2,578
2017 2,035
2018 1,122
2019 935
Total $11.543

NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Citizens is involved in certain litigation and disputes incidental to its operations. In the opinion
of management, after consultation with legal counsel, there are substantial defenses to such
litigation and disputes and any ultimate liability, in excess of reserves resulting there from, will
not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or results of operations of Citizens.
Citizens is also involved in other potentially significant litigation described below. Due to the
preliminary nature of the following litigation, the potential loss, if any, is not determinable at this
time.

In September 2013, Citizens received a subpoena from the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) requesting information relating to catastrophe bonds issued by Everglades Re Ltd. in 2012
and 2013. Citizens is voluntarily cooperating with the SEC and is of the belief that any action by
the SEC will not materially affect the financial condition of Citizens.

A summary of potentially significant litigation follows:

Davis & Hernandez v. Citizens. This is a putative class action. The court has not certified the
class. Potential class members are Citizens’ policyholders who presented a claim for damage to
their residential property from April 2006 to present. At issue is whether Citizens appropriately
calculated and paid overhead and profit policy benefits. Citizens responded to Plaintiff’s Third
Amended Complaint on October 2, 2013 and litigation is moving forward. Following 10 months
of inactive record activity, the court signed its Notice of Failure to Prosecute. In response,
Plaintiff filed a Motion for Leave to Amend attaching a proposed 4" Amended Complaint.
Citizens responded that it had no objection to the 4" amended complaint, but requested that the
court order prohibit any further amendments.
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NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)
Risk Management Programs

In addition to claims under the insurance policies it issues, Citizens is potentially exposed to
various risks of loss, including those related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets,
errors and omissions, injuries to employees, and natural disasters. As a state government entity,
Citizens has immunity from certain claims. For the years ending December 31, 2014 and 2013,
Citizens had insurance protection in place from various commercial insurance carriers covering
various exposures, including workers’ compensation, property loss, employee liability, general
liability, and directors’ and officers’ liability. Management continuously reviews the limits of
coverage and believes that current coverage is adequate. There were no significant reductions in
insurance coverage from the previous year.

NOTE 13 — RECONCILIATION OF SAP TO GAAP

A reconciliation of Citizens’ 2014 and 2013 statutory basis net income and accumulated surplus
to its GAAP basis (as determined by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board) is as follows
(in thousands):

2014 2013
Net income - statutory basis $ 351,122 $ 665,346
Adjustments:
Change m allowance for doubtful accounts (1,359) 1,814
Change in FIGA assessment income 6,250 16,046
Change in net unrealized gain on investments (26,052) (68,937)
Change in net position - GAAP basis § 329961 § 614,269
2014 2013
Accumulated surplus - statutory basis $ 7,384,028 $ 7,008,208
Adjustments:
Nonadmitted assets 49,460 74,590
Provision for reinsurance 556 1,881
FIGA assessment recoverable (5,463) (11,714)
Net unrealized gain on investments 77,170 103,222
Net position - GAAP basis $ 7,505,751 $ 7,176,187
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NOTE 14 — ASSESSMENTS

Citizens’ enabling legislation and the Plan establish a process by which Citizens is required to levy
assessments to recover deficits incurred in a given plan year for any of its three accounts. Deficits
are calculated separately, and assessments are accordingly levied separately, for each of the three
accounts. The Plan provides for deficits to be determined in accordance with GAAP, adjusted for
certain items.

In the event of a Plan Year Deficit in any Account, Citizens must first levy an assessment against
the premium of each Citizens policyholder (the Citizens Policyholder Surcharge) in each of
Citizens' Accounts, as a uniform percentage of the premium of the policy of up to 15% of such
premium. Citizens Policyholder Surcharges are not subject to commissions, fees, or premium
taxes; however, failure to pay a Citizens Policyholder Surcharge will be treated as failure to pay
premium. If the Citizens Policyholder Surcharge is insufficient to eliminate the deficit in an
Account, Citizens would then levy a Regular Assessment on assessable insurers and assessable
insureds.

The Regular Assessment is applied as a uniform percentage of the premium of the policy up to 2%
of such premium of the Coastal account only.

Regular Assessments are levied on assessable insurers, as defined in Section 627.351(6), Florida
Statutes, based upon each assessable insurer's share of direct written premium for the subject lines
of business in the State of Florida for the calendar year preceding the year in which the deficit
occurred. Regular Assessments on assessable insurers, collectively, are based on the ratio of the
amount being assessed for the Coastal Account to the aggregate statewide direct written premiums
for the subject lines of business for the preceding year.

If the deficit in any year in any account is greater than the amount that may be recovered through
Citizens’ Policyholder Surcharges and Regular Assessments, Citizens is required to levy any
remaining Plan Year Deficit as an Emergency Assessment. An Emergency Assessment is to be
collected by all assessable insurers, Surplus Lines Agents, and Citizens from policyholders upon
the issuance or renewal of policies for Subject Lines of Business for as many years as necessary
to cover the Plan Year Deficit in the account. The primary difference between the assessment base
for Regular Assessments and Emergency Assessments is the inclusion of Citizens' direct written
premium in the assessment base for Emergency Assessments.

For purposes of Regular Assessments and Emergency Assessments, the "Subject Lines of
Business" are all lines of property and casualty insurance, including automobile lines, but
excluding accident and health, workers' compensation, and medical malpractice insurance, and
also excluding insurance under the National Flood and Federal Crop insurance programs.

In November 2012, Citizens received notice of an assessment from the Florida Insurance Guaranty

Association (FIGA) totaling $27.8 million. Amounts recouped from policyholders relating to this
assessment were $6.3 million and $16.1 million during 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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NOTE 14 — ASSESSMENTS (CONTINUED)

Effective March 5, 2015, the 2005 Emergency Assessment was terminated for all policies with
effective dates on or after July 1, 2015 (see Note 2). The 2005 Emergency Assessment was
anticipated to be collected over a ten year period commencing July 1, 2007. However, as of
December 31, 2014, Citizens collected approximately $38.2 million in excess of the original
Emergency Assessment receivable. Any current or remaining excess collections have been
categorized as “Reserve for future assessments” and are included within Other liabilities on the
statutory basis statements of admitted assets, liabilities and accumulated surplus until such time as
Citizens’ Board of Governors approves a change to direct these excess collections to be used for
any lawful purpose available within Citizens’ Plan of Operation.

NOTE 15 - RECONCILIATION TO ANNUAL STATEMENT

The following table reconciles net income and accumulated surplus as reported in these audited
financial statements to the corresponding figures reported in Citizens’ annual statement as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

Accumulated
Net income surplus
Per NAIC annual statement $ 386,959 $ 7,384,028

Reclassification adjustment (35,837) -
Per audited financial statements $ 351,122 $ 7,384,028

The adjustment noted above related to a reclassification of changes reported to the 2005 emergency
assessment receivable from a direct adjustment to surplus to assessment expense within the
statement of income. The adjustment had no effect on accumulated surplus.
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Admitted assets
Cash and invested assets:

Bonds

Cash and short-term investments
Total cash and invested assets

Investment ncome due and accrued

Premiums receivable

Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses and LAE
Other receivables under reinsurance contracts
Assessment receivable

Other admitted assets

Inter-account receivable (payable)

Total admitted assets

Liabilities and accumulated surplus
Liabilities:

Loss reserves

Loss adjustment expense reserves
Retroactive reinsurance ceded
Unearned premiums

Unearned assessment income

Taxes and fees (receivable) payable
Provision for reinsurance

Bonds payable

Interest payable

Advance premiums and suspended cash
Other labilities

Total liabilities

Accumulated surplus
Total liabilities and accumulated surplus

December 31, 2014

Personal Commercial
Lines Lines Coastal
Combined Account Account Account
(in thousandls)
$ 12,221,894 $ 4,371,407 $ 1,754,671 $ 6,095,816
1,456,597 159,208 190,916 1,106,473
13,678,491 4,530,615 1,945,587 7,202,289
74,222 22,948 6,812 44,462
117,842 38,234 5,789 73,819
923 556 - 367
32,654 19,622 4,878 8,154
5,530 4,212 753 565
4,586 4,441 16 129
- 213,500 (36,757) (176,743)
$ 13,914,248 $ 4,834,128 $ 1,927,078 $ 7,153,042
$ 738,068 $ 531,764 $ 114,201 $ 92,103
294,920 212,232 32,115 50,573
(1,466) (1,366) - (100)
696,086 295,854 46,888 353,344
19,326 - - 19,326
(1,035) 366 217 (1,618)
556 537 - 19
4,420,636 1,206,793 165,654 3,048,189
22,540 4,207 577 17,756
48,961 19,625 4,222 25,114
291,628 76,553 3,770 211,305
6,530,220 2,346,565 367,644 3,816,011
7,384,028 2,487,563 1,559,434 3,337,031
$ 13,914,248 $ 4,834,128 $ 1,927,078 $ 7,153,042

See independent auditors report on supplementary information
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Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Supplemental Combining Statement of Income by Account — Statutory Basis

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Personal Commercial
Lines Lines Coastal
Combined Account Account Account

(in thousands)

Premiums earned $ 1,377,841 $ 772,059 $ 129,546 $ 476,236
Losses incurred 441,155 344,094 22,159 74,902
Loss adjustment expenses incurred 198,935 141,948 8,198 48,789
Other underwriting expenses incurred 374,600 169,751 31,951 172,898
Underwriting income 363,151 116,266 67,238 179,647
Net interest income 128,535 44,279 17,417 66,839
Net realized gain on sales 53,501 15,980 7,994 29,527
Interest expense (180,835) (33,665) (4,621) (142,549)
Net investment income (expense) 1,201 26,594 20,790 (46,183)
Assessment expense (19,020) - - (19,020)
Other income 5,790 3,033 259 2,498
Net income $ 351,122 $ 145,893 $ 88,287 $ 116,942

See independent auditors report on supplementary information
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2014 ANNUAL STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR OF THE Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
SUMMARY INVESTMENT SCHEDULE

Gross Investment
Holdings

Admitted Assets as Reported

in the Annual

Investment Ca

1

Amount

2

Perce: e

Amount

4

Securities
Lending
Reinvested
Collateral
Amount

5

Total
(Col. 3+4)
Amount

Percentage

. Contract loans

. Cash, cash equivalents and short-term
. Other assels

. Bonds:

1.519.626.416

11US.1 y securities

1.2 U.S. govemment agency obligations (excluding mortgage-
backed securities),

27 .887.317

1.21 Issued by U.S. g t agencies
1.22 Issued by U S. government sponsored agencies
1.3 Non-U.S. government (including Canada, excluding mortgage-

|.1.867.018.630

53,986,312

backed securities)

1.4 Securities issued by states, temitories, and possessions and
political subdivisions in the U.S.

1.41 States, temitories and possessions general obligations ____
1.42 Political subdivisions of states, temitories and possessions
and political sub [¢] gati

1.43 Revenue and assessment obligations ... |
1.44 Industrial development and similar obligations.

| 817,019 315

|...864 537,311
|.2.504.142 130

|.....11.010
|.-0.202
| 13527

D.391

| 5920

|5 .264
|._18.144

|..1.519.626.416

27 .887.317

1.519,626,416

27,887,317

|.1.867.018.630

|...53,986,312

| 817,018,315

|.....564.537 311
|...2.504 142,130

1,867 .018.630

53.986 312

817,019,315

864,537,311

2.504.142,130

.....11.010
_...0.202
...13.527

0.3

5820

-.......5.264
..18.144

1.5 Mortgage-backed securities (includes residential and
commercial MBS):

1.51 Pass-through securities:
1.511 Issued or g d by GNMA

353,979

1.512 Issued or guaranteed by FNMA and FHLMC.... ...
1.513 All other.

| .. 94.671.238

|—0.003
—

353,979

353,979

94 671,238

94 671,238

0003
..... 0686

1.52 CMOs and REMICs:
1.521 Issued or guaranteed by GNMA, FNMA, FHLMC or
VA

1.522 Issued by non-U.S. Government issuers and
coliateralized by mortgage-backed securities issued or
guaranteed by agencies shown in Line 1.521

154,539 601

1.120

|..154 539,601

154,539,601

1120

1.523 All other.

. Other debt and other fixed income securities (excluding short

term):
2.1 Unaffiliated domestic securities (includes credit tenant loans

3,138,213 489

and hybrid securities)
2.2 Unaffiliated non-U.S. ties (i g Canada),

1,182,859, 140

2.3 Affiliated

22 882
—

3,135,252, 184
|...1,182,850, 140

3,135,252, 184

1,182,859, 140

.29
.....8.648

. Equity interests:

3.1 Investments in mutual funds

3.2 Preferred stocks:
3.21 Affiliated

3.22 Unatfiliated

3.3 Publicly traded equity securities (excluding preferred stocks):
3.31 Affiliated

3.32 Unaffiliated

3.4 Other equity securities:
3.41 Affiiated

3.42 Unaffiliated

3.5 Other equity including tangible personal property
under lease:

3.51 Affiliated

3.52 Unaffiliated

Morigage loans:
4.1 Construction and land development

4.2 Agricultural
4.3 Single family I i

4.4 Multifamily residential properties
450 ial loans

4.6 Mezzanine real estate loans

Real estate investments:
5.1 Property occupied by

5.2 Property heid for production of income (including
- of property acquired in satisfaction
of debt)

5.3 Property heid for sale (including$ _ __
property acquired in satisfaction of debt)

o

Receivables for secunities

Securities Lending (Line 10, Asset Page reinvested collateral).____

XX,

XHX

1.489.733.846

.10 862

|.--1,456,597 060

1.456,597,060

Total invested assets

13.714.588 74

100.000

13,678.490.633

13,678,490 633
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SUPPLEMENT FOR THE YEAR 2014 OF THE Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
SUPPLEMENTAL INVESTMENT RISKS INTERROGATORIES

For The Year Ended December 31, 2014

(To Be Filed by April 1)

Of The Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

Address (City, State and Zip Code) Tal lahassee, FL 32309-3524

NAIC Group Code 00000 NAIC Company Code 10064 E s 1D Numb

Y

The investment Risks Interrogatories are 1o be filed by April 1. They are also to be included with the Audited Statutory Financial Statements.

59-3164850 s

Answer the foliowing interrogatories by reporting the applicable U. S. dollar amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in that category of

investments.

1. Reporting entity’s total admitted assets as reported on Page 2 of this annual statement.

S _....13,914 246 792

2. Ten largest exp to a single | /boToWer m
1 2 3 4
Percentage of Total
Issuer Description of Exposure Amount Admitted Assets
201 CITY OF NEW YORK MY Bonds $ 2RS0T e AT %
202  STATE OF CALIFORNIA Bonds, $ 223518608 i 16 %
203  STATE OF NEW JERSEY Bonds. $ 204,705,456 e 45 %
204  STATE OF NEW YORK Bonds, $ 181855858 . oo 13 %
205  JPMORGAN CHASE & €O Bonds $ 133404969 . 10 %
206  STATE OF ILLINOIS, Bands, $ 126,688,983 o D9 %
207  STATE OF COHIO. Bonds. 3 125414610 D9 %
208  WELLS FARGD & CO Bands, $ RG0S T e 8 %
209  AMERICAN EXPRESS Bonds, $ 308,356,795 Lo D8 %
210  COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA Bonds: $ 08080, 31" a8 %
3. Amounts and percentages of the reporting entity's total admitted assets held in bonds and preferred stocks by NAIC designation.
Bonds 1 2 Preferred Stocks 3 4
anm NAIC 1 L 13,446,392, 704 %6 % 307 P/RP-1 H 00 %
3.02 NAIC 2 . I 213949518 e 15 % 308 P/RP-2 $ 00 %
303 NAIC 3 s i} 00 % 309 P/RP-3 H 00 %
304 NAIC 4 S 0 00 % 310 P/RP-4 s 00 =%
3.05 NAIC 5 s 0 00 % an P/RP-5 H 00 %
3.06 NAIC 6 . JeRseite: 105 657,006 oo —08 % 312 P/IRP-6 $ 00 %
4. Assets held in foreign investments:
401 Are assets held in foreign investments less than 2 5% of the reporting entity's total admitted assets? Yes [ ] No [X]

It response 1o 4.01 above is yes, responses are not required for interrogatories 5 — 10.

402 Total admitted assets held in foreign i $ IBTIHT  iisimiisimmiiiininiD 8 %
4.03 Foreign-currency-denominated tments 5 0.0 %
4.04 Insurance liabilities denominated in that same foreign currency $ D0 %
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SUPPLEMENT FOR THE YEAR 2014 OF THE Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

SUPPLEMENTAL INVESTMENT RISKS INTERROGATORIES (cont.)

Aggregate foreign investment exy categorized by NAIC sovereign designation: i &
5.01 Countries designated NAIC 1 $ 875.085.197 ___ senihd
502 Countries designated NAIC 2 $ 31,463,170 _ szl 2
503 Countries designated NAIC 3 or below. 5 {37y pELL T RS SR IEtIns: | i
Largest foreign investment exposures by country, categorized by the country's NAIC sovereign designation: 1 2
Countries designated NAIC 1:
6.01 Country 1: UNITED KINGDOW $ 221,754,480 16
6.02 Country 2: FRANCE $ 188,142,812 _____ 1.4
Countries designated NAIC 2:
6.03 Country 1: MEXICO $ 26.544 843 D2
6.04 Country 2: PANAMA 4908327 DO
Countries designated NAIC 3 or below:
6.05 Country 1: BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS. $ 9203385 01
6.06 Country 2: LKRAINE 1,600,000 0.0
1 2
Aggregate unhedged foreign cummency exposure. s 0.0
Aggregate unhedged foreign currency exposure categorized by MAIC sovereign designation:
1 2
801 Countries designated NAIC 1 $ 0.0
8.02 Countries designated NAIC 2 0.0
803 Countries designated NAIC 3 or below, 0.0
Largest unhedged foreign currency exposures by country, categorized by the country’s NAIC sovereign designation:
Countries designated NAIC 1: 1 2
9.01 Country 1: 0.0
9.02 Country 2: Do
Countries designated NAIC 2:
9.03 Country 1: 0.0
9.04 Country 2: 0.0
Countries designated NAIC 3 or below:
905 Country 1: 3 0.0
9.06 Country 2: s 00
Ten largest non-sovereign (i.e. non-governmental) foreign issues:
1 2 3 4
Issuer NAIC Designation
10.01 TOTAL CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL SA 1 $ 73.153.697 e
10.02 SVENSKA HANDELSBANKEN AR 1 $ ALY vnrnn e D
10.03 STATOIL ASA 1 $ 48,485,362 w3
10.04 BP CAPITAL MARKETS PLC. 1 s 47,324 806 0.3
10.05 BNP PARIBAS SA 1 s 47,304 902 ______ szl 3
10.06 CREDIT SUISSE 1 $ AR e a --03
10.07 WESTPAC BANKING CORP 1 $ A3058.000: oo ()3
10.08 GLAXOSMITHKLINE CAPITAL PLC 1 $ W36 o0 0.3
10.09 COOPERATIEVE CENTRALE RAIFFEISEN 1 $ 3BT T L —— 0.2
10.10 DEUTSCHE BANK AG/LONDON 1 s = 1t 7 L —— D2
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11.

SUPPLEMENT FOR THE YEAR 2014 OF THE Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

SUPPLEMENTAL INVESTMENT RISKS INTERROGATORIES (cont.)

Amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in Canadi tments and unhedged Canadian curmency exposure:
11.01 Are assets held in Canadian investments less than 2.5% of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets?. Yes [X] No [ ]
If response to 11.01 is yes, detail is not required for the remainder of Interrogatory 11.
1 2
11.02 Total admitted assets held in Canadian iment: $ D0 %
11.03 Canadian-cumency-denominated nts $ D0 %
11.04 C d di e liabilities. 5 0.0 %
1105 Unhedged Canadian currency exp $ 00 %
Report aggregate amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in investiments with contractual sales restrictions.
12.01 Are assets held in investments with contractual sales restrictions less than 2.5% of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets?......... Yes[] No[]
It response to 12.01 is yes, responses are not required for the inder of Interrogatory 12.
1 2 3
12.02 Aggregate st t value of 1 with contractual sales restrictions S 00 %
Largest three investments with contractual sales restrictions:
12.03 S 00 %
12.04 $ 00 %
12.05 s 00 %
Amounts and percentages of admitted assets held in the ten largest equity interests:
13.01 Are assets held in equity interest less than 2 5% of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets? Yes [X] No [ ]
If response to 13.01 is yes, resp are not required for the inder of Interrogatory 13.
1 2 3
Issuer
13.02 s D0 %
13.03 L 00 %
13.04 s 00 =%
13.05 S D0 %
13.06 S 00 %
13.07 $ 00 %
13.08 s 00 %
13.09 s 00 %
13.10 -3 00 %
131 s D0 =%
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SUPPLEMENT FOR THE YEAR 2014 OF THE Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
SUPPLEMENTAL INVESTMENT RISKS INTERROGATORIES (cont.)

Amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in nonaffiliated, privately placed equities:
14.01 Are assets held in nonaffiliated, privately placed equities less than 2.5% of the reporting entity's total admitted assets? . i Yes [ ] Mo |
It response to 14.01 above is yes, responses are not required for the inder of
Interrogatory 14.
1 2 3
14.02 Aggregate statement value of investments held in nonaffiliated, p y placed equities ... $ 00 %
Largest three investments held in nonaffiliated, privately placed equities:
14.03 s D0 %
14.04 s D0 %
14.05 H 00 %
Amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitied assets held in general partnership interests:
15.01 Are assets held in | partnership i less than 2 5% of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets? ... Yes [ ] No |
If response to 1501 above is yes, responses are not required for the inder of
Interrogatory 15.
1 2 3
15.02 Aggregate statement value of ir ts held in | partnership interest S 00 %
Largest three investments in general parinership interests:
15.03 H D0 %
15.04 s 00 %
15.05 s P00 %

Amounts and percentages of the reporting entity's total admitted assets held in mortgage loans:
16.01 Are mortgage loans reported in Schedule B less than 2.5% of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets? Yes [ ] No |
If response to 16.01 above is yes, responses are not required for the remainder of Interrogatory 16 and Interrogatory 17.

T 2 2
16.02 s D0 %
16.03 s D0 %
16.04 S D0 %
16.05 H D0 %
16.06 H 00 %
16.07 S D0 %
16.08 s D0 %
16.09 s 00 =%
16.10 5 00 %
16.11 s D0 =%
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SUPPLEMENT FOR THE YEAR 2014 OF THE Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

SUPPLEMENTAL INVESTMENT RISKS INTERROGATORIES (cont.)

. Amount and percentage of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in the following categories of morigage loans:

Loans
16.12 Construction loans 5 00 %
16.13 Mortgage loans over 90 days past due s 0.0 %
16.14 Mortgage loans in the process of foreclosure s 0.0 %
16.15 Morigage loans foreclosed s D0 %
16.16 Restructured morigage loans $ 0.0 %
17. Aggregate mortgage loans having the following loan-to-value ratios as determined from the most current appraisal as of the annual statement date:
Loan-to-Value Residential Commercial Agricultural
1 2 3 4 5 1
17.01 above 95% $ D0 % $ 00 % s 00 %
17.02 91%1t095% S D0 % $ 00 % $ 00 %
17.03 81%t09%0% S 00 % s 00 % s 00 %
17.04 71%t080% S 00 % s 00 % s 0.0 %
17.05 below70% § 00 % § 00 % s 00 %
18. Amounts and percentages of the reporting entity's total admitted assets held in each of the five largest investments in real estate:
18.01 Are assets held in real estate reported less than 2.5% of the reporting entity's total admitted assets? Yes [ ] Mo []
I response to 18.01 above is yes, responses are not required for the remainder of
Interrogatory 18.
Largest five investments in any one parcel or group of contiguous parcels of real estate.
Description
1 2 3
18.02 $ 0.0 %
18.03 s 00 =%
18.04 5 0.0 %
18.05 5 00 %
18.06 5 00 %
19.  Report aggregate amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets held in investments held in mezzanine real estate loans:
19.01 Are assels heid in investments held in mezzanine real estate loans less than 2.5% of the reporting entity's total admitied assets? ____ Yes [ ] No [ ]
If response to 19.01 is yes, responses are not required for the remainder of Interrogatory
19.
1 2 3
19.02 Aggregate statement value of investments held in mezzanine real estate loans: s 0.0 %
Largest three investments held in mezzanine real estate loans:
19.03 -1 0.0 %
19.04 s 0.0 %
19.05 5 0.0 %
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SUPPLEMENT FOR THE YEAR 2014 OF THE Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

SUPPLEMENTAL INVESTMENT RISKS INTERROGATORIES (cont.)

20. Amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets subject to the following types of agreements:

222

Al Year-end Al End of Each Quarter
st Qtr 2nd Otr Srd Qtr
1 2 3 4 5
20.01 Securities lending
agreements (do not include
assets held as collateral for
such transactions) 5 00 % S s s
20.02 Repurchase agreements___.. S 0.0 % % 3 s
20.03 Reverse repurchase
agr 1 s 0.0 % % s s
20.04 Dollar repurchase
agreements, S 0.0 % S s s
20.05 Dollar reverse repurchase
ar 5 00 % s s 5
21.  Amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets for warrants not attached to other financial instruments, options, caps, and floors:
Owned Written
1 2 3 4
21.01 Hedging 5 00 % s 0.0
21.02 Income generation k3 0.0 % S 0.0
21.03 Other. L 0.0 % S 0.0
22.  Amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s total admitted assets of potential exposure for collars, swaps, and forwards:
Al Year-end
Astatr 2nd Qtr Srd Qtr
1 z 3 4 5
2201 Hedging 5 00 =% s [ s
2202 Income generation s 0.0 % S s s
2203 Replications L 1 0.0 % S s s
2204 Other 5 0.0 % S s 5
23, Amounts and percentages of the reporting entity’s lotal admitted assets of potential exg for futures confracts:
Al Year-end At End of Each Quarter
st ot 2nd Qir Jrd Qtr
1 2 3 4 s
23.01 Hedging s 00% s S s
23.02 Income g tion $ 00 % S $ s
23.03 Replications s 00% s s s
23.04 Other 1 00% s S H
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¢|» JOHNSON
LAMBERT ...

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Board of Governors and Management
Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying statements of net position of Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
(“Citizens”), a component unit of the State of Florida, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related
statements of revenue, expenses and changes in net position, and cash flows for the years then ended and
the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Citizens as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the changes in its financial position and its
cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

WWW.JOHNSONLAMBERT.COM



Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information — Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Supplemental
Revenues, Expenses and Claim Development Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 3—11 and the Supplemental Revenues, Expenses and Claim Development
Information on page 42 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information,
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements
in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures
to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries,
the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information — Supplemental Combining Statements

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the Company’s basic financial statements. The supplemental combining statements
of net position and of revenues, expenses and changes in net position are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The supplemental statements referred to above are the responsibility of management and were derived from
and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information
is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report on dated May 29, 2015
on our consideration of Citizens internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose
of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance, and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

ﬁ/m fsete

Jacksonville, Florida
May 29, 2015



Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Management’s Discussion & Analysis

This discussion provides an assessment by management of the current financial position and results
of operations for Citizens Property Insurance Corporation (Citizens). Management encourages
readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information
included in the accompanying financial statements, notes to the financial statements and
supplemental financial information.

Financial Highlights

» The assets of Citizens exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent year by $7.5
billion.

» Citizens’ total net position increased by $329.6 million. This increase is largely attributable
to net income as further explained below.

* Operating income decreased $305.5 million during 2014 compared to 2013. This decrease
is primarily the result of a decrease of $502.9 million in net earned premiums due to
significant depopulation activity.

* Operating expenses decreased $197.4 million during 2014 compared to 2013. This
decrease is primarily the result of the overall decrease in premiums written and earned as
compared to 2013.

* Non-operating expenses decreased $21.2 million during 2014 compared to 2013 primarily
as a result of a net increase in net investment income of $43.7 million. Interest expense on
outstanding debt also decreased by $19.9 million during 2014 as compared to 2013.

Overview of Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to Citizens’ basic financial
statements, which consist of the statements of net position, statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position and the statements of cash flows. This report also contains other
supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements.

The statements of net position present information on all of Citizens’ assets and liabilities, with
the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net
position may serve as a useful indication of whether the financial position of Citizens is improving
or deteriorating.

The statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position present information illustrating
changes to Citizens’ net position during the most recent fiscal year as well as the prior year. All
changes in net position are reported when the underlying events giving rise to the changes occur,
regardless of the timing of related cash flows.



Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Management’s Discussion & Analysis

Overview of Financial Statements (Continued)

The statements of cash flows present information concerning cash receipts and cash payments
during the year. The statements illustrate the cash effects of operating, noncapital financing,
capital financing and investing activities during the fiscal years presented.

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the financial statements. The notes to the financial
statements immediately follow the statements of cash flows.

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents
certain supplementary information concerning Citizens’ revenues, expenses and claims
development information for the last ten policy years and combining financial statements.

Reclassifications and Change in Accounting Principle

During the first quarter of 2014, Citizens discontinued the practice of reclassifying certain invested
assets between cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments based
on remaining maturity at the balance sheet date. Citizens now categorizes all such investments
based on remaining maturity at the date of acquisition. The balances within the three categories of
invested assets have been reclassified as of December 31, 2013 in order to provide comparability
to the presentation within the December 31, 2014 statement of net position. A summary of the
effect of the reclassification is included in the exhibit on the following page as of December 31,
2013.

During 2014, Citizens adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No.
65. In summary, Statement No. 65 establishes accounting and financial reporting standards that
reclassify, as deferred outflows or inflows of resources, certain items that were previously reported
as assets and liabilities. In doing so, the statement disallows the recognition of certain line items
that have historically been reported within Citizens’ statements of net position. Transition guidance
provides that the effects of the statement be applied retroactively by restating financial statements
for all periods presented, with the cumulative effect of the statement reported as an adjustment to
net position within the earliest period presented. The effects on Citizens’ December 31, 2013
financial statements are summarized in the exhibit below.
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Reclassifications and Change in Accounting Principle (Continued)

Original Balance ~ Change in Accounting Reclassification of Restated as of
12/31/2013 Principle - GASB 65 Investments 12/31/2013
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,180,598 $ - 3 (1,251,524) $ (70,926)
Short-term investments 1,690,797 - (35,139) 1,655,658
Deferred policy acquisition costs 113,371 (113,371) - -
Deferred financing costs 67,432 (67,432) - -
Long-term investments 11,601,585 - 1,286,663 12,888,248
Unearned assessment income (67,313) 23,712 - (43,601)
Assessment income 56,442 (14,229) - 42,213
Other underwriting expenses * (492,492) 30,808 (461,684)
Interest expense (217,432) 16,721 (200,711)
Line of credit fees and note issuance costs (6,575) 6,575 -
Net postion (7,333,278) 157,091 (7,176,187)

* Includes servicing company fees, agent commissions, taxes and fees, processing and other fees and other underwriting expenses.

Certain other balances in the 2013 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the

2014 presentation.

A summary of Citizens’ Statements of Net Position is presented below (in thousands):

Assets

Current assets

Capital assets

Other noncurrent assets
Total assets

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Net position
Invested in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position
Total liabilities and net position

2014 2013 Change (%)

$ 2,063,533 2,060,270 0%
8,079 12,362 -35%
12,273,797 13,061,344 -6%
$ 14,345,409 15,133,976 -5%
$ 3,561,452 3,513,931 1%
3,278,206 4,443,858 -26%
6,839,658 7,957,789 -14%
8,079 12,632 -36%
25,348 15,339 65%
7,472,324 7,148,216 5%
7,505,751 7,176,187 5%

$ 14,345,409 15,133,976 -5%
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Financial Analysis
Assets

Total assets decreased $788.6 million, or 5%, during 2014 primarily due to repayments of principal
on notes payable and a decrease in net premium receipts as compared to 2013. During 2013, total
assets decreased $773.3 million, or 5%, primarily due to repayments of principal on the 2007A,
2010A, and 2012A series debt obligations and payments for losses and loss adjustment expenses
(LAE), partially offset by collections of net premiums during 2013. Certain investments,
representing less than 1% of total cash and invested assets, continue to be held in legacy assets for
which Citizens continues to receive payments of principal and interest.

Current assets include cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments of $1.5 billion and $1.6
billion at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Long-term investments totaled $12.3 billion
and $12.9 billion at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The decrease in invested assets
of $696.6 million is the result of repayments of principal on debt obligations, payments for losses
and LAE and a decrease in net premiums collected of $692.9 million, primarily as a result of
depopulation. During 2013, invested assets decreased $570.2 million as a result of principal and
interest payments on outstanding debt in addition to loss and LAE payments of $912.7 million.

Capital assets decreased $4.3 million during 2014, primarily as a result of the recognition of
depreciation expenses of $6.6 million, partially offset by capital acquisitions. Capital assets
decreased $4.1 million, or 25%, during 2013. This decrease is primarily due to cyclical reduction
in capital asset purchases as well as depreciation on capital assets purchased during prior years.

Liabilities

Total liabilities decreased $1.1 billion, or 14%, during 2014. This decrease is largely the result of
decreases in long-term debt as well as decreases in net loss and LAE reserves and unearned
premiums. During 2013, total liabilities decreased $1.4 billion, or 15%, primarily as a result of a
decrease of $871.5 million in debt obligations outstanding.

Current liabilities are comprised primarily of loss reserves, loss adjustment expense (LAE)
reserves, unearned premium, and the current portion of long-term debt. Loss and LAE reserves
decreased $223.6 million during 2014. Loss and LAE reserves decreased $393.5 million, or 11%,
from 2012 to 2013. Net loss and LAE reserves related to the 2004 and 2005 hurricanes were $45.6
million and $68.2 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. It is expected that these
loss and LAE reserves will continue to run-off into 2015 and likely beyond.

Loss and LAE reserves not related to hurricanes decreased by $201 million to $985.9 million as
of December 31, 2014 from $1.19 billion at December 31, 2013 ($1.33 billion as of December 31,
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Financial Analysis (Continued)
Liabilities (Continued)

2012). The decrease is the result of a decrease in exposure and the number of reported claims,
partially offset by adverse development on reported sinkhole claims.

Unearned premiums decreased $290 million and $193 million as compared to the prior year end
as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. These decreases are consistent with an overall
decrease in direct premiums written as a result of successful depopulation and the implementation
of the Clearinghouse Program.

Operating Revenue

A summary of Citizens Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position and certain
key financial ratios are presented below (in thousands):

2014 2013 Change (%)
Operating revenue
Premiums earned $ 1,377,841 $ 1,880,761 -27%
Operating expenses
Losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred 640,090 750,426 -15%
Other underwriting expenses 374,600 461,684 -19%
Total expenses 1,014,690 1,212,110 -16%
Operating income 363,151 668,651 -46%
Non-operating revenues (expenses) (33,190) (54,382) -39%
Change in net position $ 329,961 $ 614,269 -46%
Policies in-force 661,161 1,021,694 -35%
Policies serviced 1,358,040 1,589,628 -15%
Underwriting ratios
Loss and LAE ratio (calendar year) 46% 40% 6%
Expense ratio 27% 25% 2%
Combined ratio 73% 65% 8%
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Financial Analysis (Continued)
Operating Revenue (Continued)

Direct written premiums decreased approximately $677.8 million, or 25%, for the year ended
December 31,2014 compared to 2013. The decrease is the result of a continued decrease in policies
in-force (35%) due to successful depopulation during the last quarter of 2013 and in total for 2014.
Direct written premiums decreased approximately $419.1 million, or 13%, for the year ended
December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012. This decrease is the result
of a 22% decrease in policies in-force due to high depopulation during 2013, partially offset by
the continued implementation of the glide path rate increase. Coverage reductions or removals
implemented in mid-2012 have also contributed to an overall decrease in direct written premiums.

Premiums ceded to the FHCF decreased $45.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 as
compared to 2013 ($345.1 million to $390.9 million). This decrease is primarily the result of a
decrease in exposure and policies in-force due to depopulation and the implementation of the
Clearinghouse Program. Likewise, FHCF premiums ceded decreased $84.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013 as compared to 2012 as a result of a decrease in exposure for eligible
risks.

Ceded premiums to private reinsurers increased $22.8 million, or 8%, for the year ended December
31, 2014. This increase is primarily driven by an increase in the amount of coverage purchased
through traditional and capital markets ($3.2 billion vs. $1.85 billion), partially offset by decreases
in the relative cost of coverage purchased. For the year ended December 31, 2013, ceded premium
to private reinsurers decreased $53.0 million, or 16% as compared to 2012. Citizens entered into
catastrophe excess of loss reinsurance treaties with private reinsurers in both 2013 and 2012. The
amount of risk transferred in 2012 was $1.5 billion as compared to the amount of risk transferred
in 2013 of $1.85 billion, reflecting an overall decrease in the cost of reinsurance purchased during
2013.

Ceded written premiums to takeout companies increased $67.4 million and $125.5 million during
2014 and 2013 as compared to their respective prior years. These increases were the result of
record depopulation activity in which 416,623 and 365,767 policies were removed through
depopulation in 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Operating Expenses

Losses and LAE incurred decreased $110.3 million, or 15%, during 2014 as compared to 2013.
This decrease is primarily the result of a significant decrease in exposure due to the removal of
risks through depopulation in addition to modest favorable development on catastrophe related
loss and LAE claims. Losses and LAE incurred decreased $323.2 million, or 30%, during 2013
compared to 2012. A reduction in the number of reported sinkhole claims, minimal development
of prior year sinkhole reserves, and a relatively modest storm season all contributed to the
reduction in losses and LAE incurred.
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Financial Analysis (Continued)
Operating Expenses (Continued)

Underwriting expenses, excluding losses and LAE incurred, decreased $87 million and $100.8
million during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, as compared to the
prior year. Certain underwriting expenses such as agent commissions and premium taxes, are
incurred as a percentage of direct written premium and will increase or decrease proportionately.

Non-operating Expenses

Non-operating expenses consist mainly of assessment income (expense), net investment income,
and interest expense. Non-operating expenses decreased $21.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014 as compared to 2013 and decreased $165.3 million during 2013 compared to
2012. The decreases are primarily the result of changes in net investment income and assessment
income (expense). For each 2014 and 2013, net investment income included a decrease in net
unrealized gains, which represents the difference between fair value and amortized cost of all
invested assets. Net decreases in unrealized holding gains were $26 million and $69 million for
2014 and 2013, respectively.

Economic Factors

Citizens’ management performs an evaluation of pre-event liquidity needs in advance of each
hurricane season. As a governmental entity, Citizens has the ability to issue municipal debt on a
taxable or tax-exempt basis. Pre-event bond proceeds may be accessed as needed and as permitted
by the bond documents. Bank credit lines may also be a component of the pre-event liquidity
program. As described in Note 7 Citizens issued fixed rate tax-exempt debt in 2012, 2011, 2010,
2009, and 2008 to fulfill its liquidity needs.

Citizens’ bond ratings are Al / A+ / AA- from Moody’s / Standard & Poor’s / Fitch. Citizens’
Short-Term ratings are MIG1 / SP-1+/ F-1+ from Moody’s / Standard & Poor’s / Fitch. In 2012,
Moody‘s, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch have Stable outlooks on Citizens’ credit ratings for all
business lines. The ratings reflect only the views of such organizations and any desired explanation
of the significance of such ratings should be obtained from the rating agency furnishing the same,
at the following addresses: Moody's, 7 World Trade Center at 250 Greenwich Street, New York,
New York 10007; Standard & Poor’s, 55 Water Street, New York, New York, 10041; and Fitch,
Inc., One State Street Plaza, New York, NY 10004. Generally, a rating agency bases its rating on
the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its
own. There is no assurance such ratings will continue for any given period of time or that such
ratings will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by the rating agencies, if in the
judgment of such rating agencies, circumstances so warrant.
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Economic Factors (Continued)

During 2014, management continued to administer programs designed to reduce the number of
polices written by Citizens. Citizens’ statutory mission includes providing property insurance to
applicants who are in good faith entitled to obtain affordable insurance through the voluntary
market but are unable to do so. Citizens’ depopulation program is designed to return policies to
the voluntary market. The private market has responded by removing policies from the Personal
Lines Account, the Commercial Lines Account and the Coastal Account; depopulation tends to be
most significant for the Personal Lines Account. During the last five years, policy counts removed
from the PLA, CLA and Coastal Account were as follows:

Coastal

PLA CLA Account

2014 323,167 2,493 90,963
2013 301,383 - 64,384
2012 252,968 - 24,034
2011 45,827 - 7,750
2010 57,561 - 2,231

Depopulation activity for the year ended 2014 exceeded that of any prior year on record for
Citizens, with approximately 78% of the policies removed being in the PLA. The year ended
December 31, 2014 was the first in recent history in which policies were removed from the CLA.

Citizens’ enabling legislation and Plan of Operations established a process by which Citizens
Board of Governors levies assessments to recover any deficits incurred in a given year. Citizens’
determination of the amount of assessment is subject to the verification of the mathematical
calculation by the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation (the OIR). Citizens’ ability to assess
provides some assurance of its financial stability.

Subsequent Events

Effective January 27, 2015, Citizens executed a legal defeasance of its 2007A post-event bonds.
Authorization for the action was approved by Citizens’ Board of Governors at its September 24,
2014 regular meeting. The defeasance, which is contemplated in the bond agreement, was effected
by Citizens transferring future principal and interest of approximately $400.5 million to a trusteed
escrow account, from which all remaining future principal and interest payments will be made.
Citizens is no longer legally obligated to make any future principal and interest payments to the
bondholders. The recognition of future interest expenses was accelerated and recognized as a loss
on defeasance within the January 2015 financial statements. The net effect on net position, as a
result of the defeasance, is an increase of approximately $1.6 million
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Subsequent Events (Continued)

Effective March 5, 2015, the Office issued an order terminating the 2005 Emergency Assessment
thereby requiring all insurers that are required to collect the 2005 Emergency Assessment
(including Citizens) to cease collections by July 1, 2015 on both new and renewal policies. This
order was issued following the decision by Citizens’ Board of Governors to terminate the
assessment in connection with the legal defeasance of Citizens’ 2007A post-event bonds.

11
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Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Investment income due and accrued
Prepaid reinsurance premiums
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses and LAE
Premiums receivable
Premiums receivable from assuming companies
Other current assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Long-term investments
Capital assets
Assessments receivable
Other assets

Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

December 31,

2014

2013

(in thousands)

$  (57,179) $  (70,926)

1,559,730 1,655,658

25,348 15,339

74,222 81,873

308,957 201,275

923 2,351

117,842 147,567

32,654 27,133
1,036 -

2,063,533 2,060,270

12,263,861 12,888,248

8,079 12,362

67 165,181

9,869 7,915

12,281,876 13,073,706

$ 14345409 _$ 15,133,976

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Liabilities and net position

Current liabilities:
Loss reserves
Loss adjustment expense reserves
Unearned premiums
Current portion of unearned assessment income
Reinsurance premiums payable
Advance premiums and suspended cash
Interest payable
Taxes and fees payable
Current portion of long-term debt
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Unearned assessment income
Long-term debt
Reserve for future assessments
Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Net position:
Invested in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net position

Total liabilities and net position

December 31,

2014

2013

(in thousands)

$ 736,602 $ 951,703
294,920 303,444
1,005,043 1,295,266
11,839 20,379
125,517 140,985
48,961 70,440
22,540 25,846

- 3,143
1,188,163 574,402
127,867 128,323
3,561,452 3,513,931
7,487 23,222
3,232,473 4,420,636
38,246 -
3,278,206 4,443,858
6,839,658 7,957,789
8,079 12,632
25,348 15,339
7,472,324 7,148,216
7,505,751 7,176,187
$ 14,345,409 $ 15,133,976

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Operating revenue:
Premiums earned

Operating expenses:
Losses incurred
Loss adjustment expenses incurred
Service company fees
Agent commissions
Taxes and fees
Processing and other fees
Other underwriting expenses

Operating income

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Net investment income
Interest expense
Assessment (expense) income
Other income (expense)

Total nonoperating expense

Change in net position

Net position, beginning of year
Cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle (Note 2)

Net position, adjusted
Other changes in net position

Net position, end of year

Years Ended December 31,

2014

2013

(in thousands)

$ 1,377,841 $ 1,880,761
441,155 502,376
198,935 248,050

5,891 8,792
169,764 224,042
27,829 41,323
760 1,335
170,356 186,192
1,014,690 1,212,110
363,151 668,651
155,984 112,333
(180,835) (200,711)
(12,771) 42213
4,432 (8,217)
(33,190) (54,382)
329,961 614,269
7,176,187 6,757,925
; (196,966)
7,176,187 6,560,959
(397) 959
$ 7505751 §  7.176.187

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities
Premiums collected, net of reinsurance
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses paid
Payments for underwriting expenses

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Debt redemption
Interest paid
Assessment income received

Net cash used in noncapital financing activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Capital assets acquired
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from investments sold, matured or repaid
Investments acquired
Interest income received
Change in restricted cash
Net cash provided by investing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of year

End of year

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)

$ 967,196 $ 1,660,111
(862,287) (921,033)
(346,003) (457,560)

(241,094) 281,518
(535,275) (871,530)
(223,269) (250,385)

128,068 177,393
(630,476) (944,522)
(2,359) (2,290)
(2,359) (2,290)

19,463,189 16,708,483
(18,842,252) (16,386,776)

276,748 314,903
(10,009) (4,227)

887,676 632,383
13,747 (32,911)
(70,926) (38,015)
$  (57,179) _§ _ (70,926)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash (in thousands)
(used in) provided by operating activities:
Operating income $ 363,151 § 668,651
Adjustments to reconcile net cash (used in) provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation expense 6,651 6,437
(Increase) decrease in operating assets:
Prepaid reinsurance premiums (107,682) 14,288
Reinsurance recoverable 1,428 (6,700)
Premiums receivable 28,692 14,699
Other assets (1,950) 1,643
Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Loss and loss adjustment expense reserves (223,625) (163,908)
Unearned premiums (290,223) (192,943)
Reinsurance premiums payable (15,468) (48,549)
Advance premiums and suspended cash (21,478) (15,384)
Taxes and fees payable (4,179) (2,846)
Other current liabilities 23,589 6,130
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (241,094 $ 281,518

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NOTE 1 - GENERAL

Citizens Property Insurance Corporation (Citizens) was established on August 1, 2002, pursuant
to Section 627.351(6), Florida Statutes (the Act), to provide certain residential and non-residential
property insurance coverage to qualified risks in the State of Florida under circumstances specified
in the Act. The original intent of the legislation was that property insurance be provided through
Citizens to applicants who are in good faith entitled to procure insurance through the voluntary
market but are unable to do so. Citizens results from a combination of the Florida Residential
Property and Casualty Joint Underwriting Association (the FRPCJUA) and the Florida Windstorm
Underwriting Association (the FWUA). The FRPCJUA was renamed Citizens and the FWUA’s
rights, obligations, assets, liabilities and all insurance policies were transferred to Citizens. Unlike
private insurers offering coverage through the admitted market, Citizens is not required to obtain
or to hold a certificate of authority issued by the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation (the
Office). For purposes of its tax-exempt status, Citizens is considered a political subdivision and an
integral part of the State of Florida. As such, Citizens’ operations may be affected by the
legislative process. In 2007, the Act was amended to recognize Citizens’ status as a governmental
entity and to add affordability as an element of Citizens’ statutory mission.

Citizens operates pursuant to a Plan of Operation (the Plan) approved by the Financial Services
Commission (the Commission) of the State of Florida. The Commission is composed of the
Governor, the Chief Financial Officer, the Attorney General and the Commissioner of Agriculture
of the State.

Citizens is supervised by a Board of Governors (the Board) which consists of nine individuals who
reside in the State of Florida. The Governor appoints three members, and the Chief Financial
Officer, the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives each appoint
two members of the Board. At least one of the two members appointed by each appointing officer
must have a demonstrated expertise in the insurance industry. The Chief Financial Officer
designates one of the appointees as the Board’s chair. All Board members serve at the pleasure of
their appointing officers.

Citizens’ President and Chief Executive Officer (Executive Director) and senior managers are
engaged by and serve at the pleasure of the Board. The Executive Director is subject to
confirmation by the Florida Senate.

Criteria for defining the reporting entity are identified and described in the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board’s Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting
Standards, Sections 2100 and 2600. Application of these criteria determines potential component
units for which the primary government is financially accountable and other organizations for
which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that
exclusion would cause the primary government’s financial statements to be misleading or
incomplete. Based on the application of these criteria, Citizens is a component unit of the State of
Florida, and its financial activity is reported in the state’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
by discrete presentation.
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NOTE 1 - GENERAL (CONTINUED)

The financial statements presented herein relate solely to the financial position and results of
operations of Citizens and are not intended to present the financial position of the State of Florida
or the results of its operations or its cash flows.

Citizens has determined that it has no component units that should be included in its separately
reported financial statements. However, the Florida Market Assistance Plan (FMAP) is a
financially related entity. FMAP is a 501(c)(6) entity created by Section 627.3515, Florida
Statutes. FMAP was created for the purpose of assisting in the placement of applicants who are
unable to procure property or casualty insurance coverage from authorized insurers when such
insurance is otherwise generally available. As provided in FMAP’s enabling legislation, each
person serving on the Board of Citizens also serves on the Board of FMAP. In addition, Citizens
is required to fund any deficit incurred by FMAP in performing its statutory purpose.

Pursuant to the Act, all revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities of Citizens shall remain divided
into three separate accounts: the Personal Lines Account, the Commercial Lines Account and the
Coastal Account. A brief history of each account follows:

Personal Lines Account History — The Florida Residential Property and Casualty Joint
Underwriting Association (FRPCJUA) began operations on January 21, 1993, after Hurricane
Andrew, pursuant to Section 627.351(6), Florida Statutes, to provide certain residential
property insurance coverage to qualified risks in the State of Florida for applicants who were
in good faith entitled to procure insurance through the private market but were unable to do so.
Residential property coverage consists of the types of coverage provided to homeowners,
mobile homeowners, tenants, condominium unit owners, and similar policies. The policies
provide coverage for all perils covered under a standard residential policy, subject to certain
underwriting requirements. Such policies may exclude windstorm coverage on property within
eligible areas. This portion of the FRPCJUA's activities became the Personal Lines Account
under Citizens.

Commercial Lines Account History — The Florida Property and Casualty Joint Underwriting
Association (FPCJUA) was activated in early 1994 to provide commercial residential coverage
(i.e., coverage for condominium associations, apartment buildings and homeowner
associations) to organizations unable to obtain such coverage from a private insurer. During
1995, legislation was enacted to transfer all obligations, rights, assets, and liabilities related to
commercial residential coverage from the FPCJUA to the FRPCJUA. The legislation required
that the premiums, losses, assets and liabilities be accounted for separately from the
FRPCJUA's personal residential business. This portion of the FRPCJUA's activities became
the Commercial Lines Account under Citizens. In 2006, the FPCJUA was re-activated to
provide commercial non-residential wind-only coverage. In 2007, legislation was enacted
which resulted in the transfer and assumption of the FPCJUA’s commercial non-residential
policies by Citizens. These policies were added to the Commercial Lines Account.
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NOTE 1 - GENERAL (CONTINUED)

Coastal Account History — The Florida Windstorm Underwriting Association, which was a
residual market mechanism for windstorm and hail coverage in select areas of the State, was
created by an act of the Florida Legislature in 1970 pursuant to Section 627.351(2), Florida
Statutes. FWUA was a Florida unincorporated association, the members of which were all
property insurance companies holding a certificate of authority to provide property insurance
coverage in the State. FWUA provided policies of windstorm insurance for property owners
within the eligible areas who were unable to obtain such coverage from private insurers.
Insured properties include personal residential, commercial residential and commercial non-
residential properties. This portion of the FWUA’s activities became the High-Risk Account
under Citizens. In 2007, Citizens received authority to issue multi-peril policies in the High-
Risk Account. Pursuant to legislative changes during 2011, the High-Risk Account was
renamed the Coastal Account.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The accounting policies and practices of Citizens conform to accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States applicable to a proprietary fund of a government unit. The
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. Citizens applies all
applicable GASB pronouncements as well as Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
statements, interpretations and codification, Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinions, and
Accounting Research Bulletins of the Committee on Accounting Procedure issued on or before
November 30, 1989, unless those pronouncements conflict with or contradict GASB
pronouncements. Citizens’ has also elected to apply all FASB statements and interpretations
issued after November 30, 1989 except for those that conflict with or contradict GASB
pronouncements.

GASB Statement No. 34 established standards for financial reporting for all state and local
governmental entities, which includes a Statement of Net Position, a Statement of Revenues,
Expenses, and Changes in Net Position, and a Statement of Cash Flows. It requires net assets to
be classified and reported in three components: invested in capital assets, net of related debt;
restricted; and unrestricted. These classifications are defined as follows:

» Invested in capital assets, net of related debt — This component of net position consists of
capital assets, including restricted capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and
reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings
that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. If there
are significant unspent related debt proceeds at year-end, the portion of the debt attributable
to the unspent proceeds are not included in the calculation of invested in capital assets, net
of related debt. Rather, that portion of the debt is included in the same net position
component as the unspent proceeds. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, Citizens did not
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of Presentation (Continued)
have any outstanding debt that was attributable to capital assets.

* Restricted net position — This component of net position includes assets subject to external
constraints imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors,
laws or regulations of other governments, or constraints imposed by law through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

* Unrestricted net position — This component of net position consists of assets that do not
meet the definition of “restricted” or “invested in capital assets, net of related debt.”

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Measurement Focus

The financial statements of proprietary funds are prepared using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. All assets and liabilities associated with
the operations of Citizens are included in the statements of net position. The Statements of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position presents increases (revenues) and decreases
(expenses) in total net position. The Statements of Cash Flows provides information about how
Citizens finances and meets the cash flow needs of its activities.

Reclassifications and Change in Accounting Principle

During the first quarter of 2014, Citizens discontinued the practice of reclassifying certain invested
assets between cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments based
on remaining maturity at the balance sheet date. Citizens now categorizes all such investments
based on remaining maturity at the date of acquisition. The balances within the three categories of
invested assets have been reclassified as of December 31, 2013 in order to provide comparability
to the presentation within the December 31, 2014 statement of net position. A summary of the
effect of the adjustment is included in the exhibit below as of December 31, 2013.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Reclassifications and Change in Accounting Principle (continued)

During 2014, Citizens adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No.
65. In summary, Statement No. 65 establishes accounting and financial reporting standards that
reclassify, as deferred outflows or inflows of resources, certain items that were previously reported
as assets and liabilities. In doing so, the Statement disallows the recognition of certain line items
that have historically been reported within Citizens’ statements of net position. Transition guidance
provides that the effects of the statement be applied retroactively by restating financial statements
for all periods presented, with the cumulative effect of the statement reported as an adjustment to
net position within the earliest period presented. The effects on Citizens December 31, 2013
financial statements are summarized in the exhibit below.

Original Balance ~ Change in Accounting Reclassification of Restated as of
12/31/2013 Principle - GASB 65 Investments 12/31/2013
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,180,598 § - 3 (1,251,524) $ (70,926)
Short-term investments 1,690,797 - (35,139) 1,655,658
Deferred policy acquisition costs 113,371 (113,371) - -
Deferred financing costs 67,432 (67,432) - -
Long-term investments 11,601,585 - 1,286,663 12,888,248
Unearned assessment income (67,313) 23,712 - (43,601)
Assessment income 56,442 (14,229) - 42,213
Other underwriting expenses * (492,492) 30,808 - (461,684)
Interest expense (217,432) 16,721 - (200,711)
Line of credit fees and note issuance costs (6,575) 6,575 - -
Net postion (7,333,278) 157,091 - (7,176,187)

* Includes servicing company fees, agent commissions, taxes and fees, processing and other fees and other underwriting expenses.

Certain other balances in the 2013 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the
2014 presentation.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments

Cash and cash equivalents consists of demand deposits held with financial institutions, various
highly liquid money market funds, other short-term corporate obligations and agency discount
notes. Demand deposits and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or
less at the time of acquisition are considered to be cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash
equivalents include amounts on deposit in excess of insured limits through the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation. Management does not consider this to represent a significant credit risk to
Citizens.

Short-term investments consist of various money market funds, commercial paper, short-term
municipal securities, short-term corporate bonds and U.S. government agency notes. Short-term
investments are classified as all securities with original maturities of twelve months or less at the
time of acquisition.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments (Continued)

Long-term investments consist solely of debt securities issued by municipal bodies, U.S. Treasury,
U.S. government agencies, and corporate bonds with an original maturity greater than twelve
months at the time of acquisition. Such investments are recorded at fair value, which is generally
based on independent quoted market prices. If quoted market prices are not available, broker
quotes or an estimation of the current liquidation values is determined through a collaborative
process among various pricing experts and sources in the marketplace. Changes in fair value are
reflected as a component of net investment income.

Capital Assets

Depreciation and amortization expense was $6.7 million and $6.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014, and 2013, respectively. Furniture, fixtures and equipment are depreciated
using the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives,
by asset class, are as follows:

Electronic data processing (EDP) equipment: 3 years
Capitalized office equipment and automobiles: 5 years
Furniture and equipment: 7 years
Leasehold improvements: 10 years

Loss Reserves and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves

Liabilities for loss reserves and loss adjustment expense (LAE) reserves are estimated based on
claims adjusters’ evaluations and on actuarial evaluations, using Citizens’ loss experience and
industry statistics. While the ultimate amount of losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred is
dependent on future development, in management’s opinion, the estimated reserves are adequate
to cover the expected future payment of losses. However, the ultimate settlement of losses may
vary significantly from the reserves provided. Adjustments to estimates recorded resulting from
subsequent actuarial evaluations or ultimate payments will be reflected in operations in the period
in which such adjustments are known or estimable. Citizens does not discount liabilities for loss
reserves and loss adjustment expense reserves.

Premiums
Premiums written are recorded on the effective date of the policy and earned using the daily pro

rata basis over the policy period. The portion of premiums not earned at the end of the period are
recorded as unearned premiums.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Premiums (Continued)

If anticipated losses, loss adjustment expenses, commissions and other acquisition costs exceed
the Company’s recorded unearned premium reserve, a premium deficiency is recognized by
recording an additional liability for the deficiency. Citizens anticipates investment income as a
factor in the premium deficiency calculation. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, management
determined that no premium deficiency reserve was required.

Premiums receivable includes amounts due from policyholders for billed premiums. Billings are
calculated using estimated annual premiums for each policy and are paid either through an
installment plan offered by Citizens or in their entirety at the inception of the policy. An allowance
for doubtful accounts is recorded for the estimated uncollectible amounts, and amounted to $3.5
million and $2.1 million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from premiums charged to
policyholders. Operating expenses include incurred losses, loss adjustment expenses and necessary
costs incurred to provide and administer personal and commercial property insurance coverage
and to carry out programs for the reduction of new and renewal writings.

Guaranty Fund and Other Assessments

Citizens is subject to assessments by the Florida Insurance Guaranty Association (FIGA). For the
property lines of insurance, FIGA collects assessments from solvent insurance companies
operating in Florida to cover the costs resulting from insolvency or rehabilitation of other insurance
companies. Assessments are charged to expense and a liability is accrued when Citizens is notified
that an assessment will be levied. After paying the FIGA assessment, Citizens recoups the
assessment from its own insureds. Citizens recognizes revenue for the amount of policy surcharges
that are charged to policyholders on subsequent billings to recoup any assessment levied by FIGA.

Assessments are also levied by the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund (FHCF), which are in turn
payable by Citizens’ insureds. Citizens collects the FHCF assessments from its insureds and remits
them to the FHCF.

Citizens is also required to assess insurers and insureds in Florida for deficits incurred by Citizens.
Assessments made pursuant to the Act and the Plan are recognized as revenue and recorded as
receivable in the period approved by the Board of Governors and the Office and levied by Citizens
(see Note 14). Assessment receivables are considered to be fully collectible.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Reinsurance

Premiums ceded under reinsurance agreements are recorded as a reduction of earned premiums.
Reinsurance recoverables on unpaid losses are recorded as a reduction to loss and LAE reserves
in accordance with GASB. Reinsurance recoverables on paid losses and LAE are recorded as
receivables. All catastrophe reinsurance payments are recorded as premiums ceded and are
amortized over the life of the hurricane season for which the payments apply, while depopulation
premiums ceded are earned pro-rata over the life of the underlying policies. Premiums ceded
include both FHCF and private catastrophic reinsurance purchases and depopulation premiums.

Market Risk

Citizens underwrites residential and commercial property insurance policies in the State of Florida.
Therefore, adverse economic changes or certain changes in the insurance laws of the State of
Florida could have a significant impact on Citizens’ future financial position and results of
operations. Approximately 57.7% of Citizens’ insurance coverage exposure lies in the Southeast
Florida counties of Miami-Dade, Broward, Monroe and Palm Beach at December 31, 2014.
Approximately 12.8% of Citizens’ insurance coverage lies in Pinellas and Hillsborough counties
at December 31, 2014. Severe storm activity in any of these counties, or throughout the State of
Florida, could have a significant impact on Citizens’ future financial position and results of
operations. Unlike private insurers that are subject to liquidation in the event of insolvency,
Citizens is able (and statutorily required) to levy surcharges and assessments in the event of a
deficit in any or all of its accounts. See Note 14 for further information.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject Citizens to concentrations of credit risk consist
principally of cash and cash equivalents, and investments. Citizens’ cash management and
investment policies restrict investments by type, credit and issuer, and Citizens performs periodic
evaluations of the credit standing of the financial institutions with which it deals. As of December
31, 2014, management believes Citizens had no significant concentrations of credit risk other than
those disclosed in Note 4.

Income Taxes
Pursuant to a determination letter received from the Internal Revenue Service, Citizens is exempt
from federal income tax as a political subdivision and integral part of the State of Florida and as

such, is liable for income taxes only on business income unrelated to the purpose for which it is
exempt. No federal or state income tax was incurred in 2014 or 2013.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Subsequent Events

Effective January 27, 2015, Citizens executed a legal defeasance of its 2007A post-event bonds.
Authorization for the action was approved by Citizens’ Board of Governors at its September 24,
2014 regular meeting. The defeasance, which is contemplated in the bond agreement, was effected
by Citizens transferring future principal and interest of approximately $400.5 million to a trusteed
escrow account, from which all remaining future principal and interest payments will be made.
Citizens is no longer legally obligated to make any future principal and interest payments to the
bondholders. The recognition of future interest expenses was accelerated and recognized as a loss
on defeasance within the January 2015 financial statements. The net effect on net position, as a
result of the defeasance, is an increase of approximately $1.6 million.

Effective March 5, 2015, the Office issued an order terminating the 2005 Emergency Assessment
thereby requiring all insurers that are required to collect the 2005 Emergency Assessment
(including Citizens) to cease collections by July 1, 2015 on both new and renewal policies. This
order was issued following the decision by Citizens’ Board of Governors to terminate the
assessment in connection with the legal defeasance of Citizens’ 2007A post-event bonds.

Citizens has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure and recognition through May 29, 2015,
the date on which these financial statements were available to be issued. With the exception of
those items noted above, there were no additional events requiring disclosure.

NOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Citizens’ estimates of fair value for financial assets and financial liabilities are based on the
framework established in the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures accounting guidance. The
framework is based on the inputs used in valuation and requires that observable inputs be used in
the valuations when available. The disclosure of fair value estimates in the fair value accounting
guidance includes a hierarchy based on whether significant valuation inputs are observable. In
determining the level of the hierarchy in which the estimate is disclosed, the highest priority is
given to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs
that reflect Citizens’ significant market assumptions. The three levels of the hierarchy are as
follows:

Level 1 — Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets
or liabilities traded in active markets.

Level 2 — Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities
in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not
active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability and market
corroborated inputs.
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NOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Level 3 — Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable for the asset or liability and are
significant to the fair value measurement, and includes broker quotes which are non binding.

At the end of each reporting period, Citizens evaluates whether or not any event has occurred or
circumstances have changed that would cause an instrument to be transferred between Levels 1
and 2. This policy also applies to transfers into or out of Level 3. During the current reporting
period, no such transfers occurred.

At December 31, 2014, all investments held by Citizens are categorized as Level 2. Citizens has
no assets that are financial instruments categorized as Level 3 and Citizens has no liability-based
financial instruments.

NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS

Citizens’ invested assets are governed by four investment policies, two for taxable operating funds
and two for tax-exempt bond proceeds:

e Liquidity Fund (Taxable): generally this policy will govern the investment of funds and
surplus that, in addition to internally managed cash, will be the first monies used to pay
claims after an event, and that can be used to pay operating expenses on an ongoing basis.

e Liquidity Fund (Tax-exempt): generally this policy will govern the investment of tax-
exempt pre-event bond proceeds and other monies required to be invested in tax-exempt
instruments. Citizens will use these monies to pay claims after an event or to pay principal
and / or interest payments on an as needed basis.

e Claims-Paying Fund (Taxable): generally this policy will govern the investment of funds
that will be used to pay post-event claims after Citizens has expended all monies in the
Liquidity Fund. Only monies eligible for investment in taxable instruments will be
deposited in this fund.

¢ (Claims-Paying Fund (Tax-exempt): generally this policy will govern the investment of tax-
exempt pre-event bond proceeds and other monies required to be invested in tax-exempt
instruments. Citizens will use these monies to pay claims after an event, typically after all
funds in the Liquidity Fund have been expended.
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Citizens investment policy for bond proceeds is at least or more restrictive than the bond
documents require.

e Credit Risk Disclosure - Credit risk exists when there is a possibility the issuer or other
counterparty to an investment may be unable to fulfill its obligations. All long-term and
short-term securities held in the investment portfolio are rated by two of the three nationally
recognized rating agencies. The following table presents the fair value by rating
classification as reported by Moody’s at December 31, 2014. (See discussion of rating
agencies in “Economic Factors” under “Management’s Discussion & Analysis™).

Fair Value

Rating (in thousands)
Al $ 1,181,116
A2 1,730,099
A3 609,121
Aal 1,279,607
Aa2 1,305,054
Aa3 1,191,537
Aaa 4,986,529
Baal 239,845
Baa2 20,505
Baa3 3,808
WR 250
NR 1,276,120

$ 13,823,591

e Custodial Risk Credit - For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event
of the failure of the counterparty, Citizens would not be able to recover the value of its
investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. Citizens
had no investments with custodial credit risk as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. All investments were held by Citizens or its agent in Citizens’ name.

e Concentration of Credit Risk — An increased risk of loss occurs as more investments are
acquired from one issuer or a group of insurers with one industry which results in a
concentration of credit risk. Excluding securities issued by U.S. Government & Agencies,
Citizens does not hold any securities from any single issuer that exceeded 5% of the
investment portfolio.
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o Interest Rate Risk — Interest rate risk exists when there is a possibility that changes in
interest rates could adversely affect an investment’s fair value. Citizens measures this risk
by using the weighted average maturity method. Citizens’ investment policy requires that
the weighted average maturity of the Liquidity Fund and Claims Paying Fund portfolios
not exceed 365 days and 3.5 years, respectively. This policy takes interest rate reset dates,
primarily related to tax-exempt variable rate demand notes and floating rate notes, into
consideration.

o Foreign Currency Risk — Citizens had no investments with foreign currency risk at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. All investments are settled in U.S. dollars.

The following tables provide a summary of investments by type as of December 31, 2014 and
2013 at fair value and amortized cost.

As of December 31, 2014:

Net Unrealized
Description Fair Value Amortized Cost Gain (Loss)
Financial Instruments - Assets
U.S. treasury $ 1,557,106 $ 1,557,513 § (407)
All other government 56,126 56,012 113
States, territories & possessions 821,477 817,222 4,255
Political subdivisions 870,126 866,075 4,051
Special revenue 4,476,654 4,465,765 10,889
Industrial & miscellaneous 5,632,103 5,627,477 4,625
Asset backed securities: -
Residential & commercial mortgage backed 252,224 250,699 1,526
Industrial & miscellaneous 157,775 105,657 52,118
Total $ 13,823,591 $ 13,746,420 $ 77,170
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As of December 31, 2013:

Net Unrealized

Description Fair Value Amortized Cost Gain (Loss)
Financial Instruments - Assets

U.S. treasury $ 1,532,329 1,536,436 $ (4,107)

All other government 23,775 23,775 -

States, territories & possessions 1,079,076 1,070,691 8,385

Political subdivisions 1,014,183 1,006,772 7,411

Special revenue 5,032,776 5,016,339 16,437

Industrial & miscellaneous 5,477,924 5,465,424 12,500
Asset backed securities: -

Residential & commercial mortgage backed 187,007 186,181 826

Industrial & miscellaneous 196,836 135,068 61,768
Total $ 14,543,906 14,440,686 $ 103,220

The following tables summarize unrealized losses on investments by the length of time that the
securities have continuously been in unrealized loss positions as of December 31, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands).

As of December 31, 2014: Less than 12 months More than 12 months Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss
U.S. Treasury & Agency $ 461,613 $ (679) $ 230,054 $§ (1,364) $ 691,667 $  (2,043)
All Other Government 16,682 (68) - - 16,682 (68)
States, Territories and
Possessions 123,826 (522) 15,275 (55) 139,101 (576)
Political Subdivisions 154,137 (527) 11,802 (13) 165,939 (540)
Special Revenue 1,023,529 (2,367) 388,413 (2,816) 1,411,942 (5,183)
Industrial & Miscellaneous 1,443,311 (4,687) 712,428 (4,628) 2,155,739 (9,315)
Mortgage-backed Securities 54,331 (111) 19,055 (12) 73,386 (123)
Total $3277429 § (8,961) $1,377,027 § (8,888) $4,654456 § (17,848)
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As of December 31, 2013: Less than 12 months More than 12 months Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss
U.S. Treasury & Agency $ 659,796 $ (5,736) $§ 21,632 $§ (315) $ 681,428 $ (6,051)
All Other Government 5,922 (68) - - 5,922 (68)
States, Territories and
Possessions 167,930 (736) 20,265 (104) 188,195 (840)
Political Subdivisions 110,850 (460) 53,005 (274) 163,855 (734)
Special Revenue 1,114,202 (4,914) 258,555 (4,259) 1,372,757 (9,173)
Industrial & Miscellaneous 1,513,649 (16,776) 59,751 (641) 1,573,401 (17,416)
Mortgage-backed Securities 55,687 (342) 29,635 (78) 85,322 (420)
Total $3,628,036 $ (29,032) $§ 442,843 § (5,671) $4,070,880 § (34,702)

The fair value and amortized cost of securities at December 31, 2014, by contractual maturity, are
shown below (in thousands). Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because
borrowers may have the right to call or repay obligations with or without call or prepayment
penalties.

Fair Value Amortized Cost

Maturity:
In2015 $ 2,901,859 $ 2,858,765
2016 - 2019 10,400,885 10,377,934
2020 - 2024 41,858 41,707
After 2024 226,765 217,315
Mortgage-backed securities 252,224 250,699
Total $ 13,823,591 $ 13,746,420
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Sources and uses of investment income for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were as
follows (in thousands):

2014 2013
Income earned
Bonds $133,341 $132,298
Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments 1,687 2,809
Total gross investment income earned 135,028 135,107
Capital gains
Bonds 31,514 32,515
Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments 21,987 20,313
Total realized gains on sales 53,501 52,828
Market value adjustment (26,052) (68,937)
Investment expenses (6,493) (6,665)
Net investment income $155,984 $112,333

NOTE S - LIABILITY FOR LOSS RESERVES AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSE
RESERVES

Activity in the net liability for loss reserves and loss adjustment expense reserves for the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013
Direct loss and loss adjustment expense $ 1,267,302 $ 1,434,337
reserves, beginning of year
Less reinsurance recoverables on reserves (12,155 (15,282)
Net loss and loss adjustment expense
reserves, beginning of year 1,255,147 1,419,055
Incurred related to:
Current accident year 525,725 684,549
Prior accident years 114,365 65,877
640,090 750,426
Paid related to:
Current accident year 272,398 352,354
Prior accident years 591,478 560,353
863,876 912,707
Change in retroactive reinsurance reserves ceded 161 (1,627)
Net loss and loss adjustment expense
reserves, end of year 1,031,522 1,255,147
Add reinsurance recoverables on reserves 7,090 12,155
Direct loss and loss adjustment expense
reserves, end of year $ 1,038,612 $ 1,267,302
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As a result of changes in estimates of insured events in prior years, primarily due to the re-
estimation of costs within the PLA relating to accident years 2010 and 2011 litigated sinkhole and
water loss claims, the provision for loss and LAE increased by approximately $114.4 million and
$65.9 million, net of reinsurance, in 2014 and 2013, respectively. Increases or decreases of this
nature occur as a result of claim settlements during the current year, and as additional information
is received regarding individual claims, causing changes from the original estimates of the cost of
these claims.

For both catastrophic and non-catastrophic claims, the loss adjusting function is performed by
Citizens through its employees and through contracted independent adjusting firms. Citizens
compensates independent adjusting firms, depending upon the type or nature of the claims, either
on per-day rate or on a graduated fee schedule based on the gross claim amount. Such costs are
included as loss adjustment expenses.

NOTE 6 - REINSURANCE AGREEMENTS

Citizens has entered into various contracts with reinsurers for the purpose of reducing its net
exposure to qualifying losses should such losses occur. These contracts provide for the recovery
of amounts above specified retention levels, subject to contractual limits, under per occurrence and
aggregate catastrophe excess of loss arrangements. Reinsurance coverage is purchased separately
for the Coastal Account and combined for the PLA and CLA. As required by statute, Citizens
participates in the FHCF. Coverage provided by and premium ceded to the FHCF as respects the
Coastal Account is considered as a separate participating insurer with its own exposures,
reimbursement premium and loss reimbursement. Likewise, the PLA and CLA are considered
together as a single, separate participating insurer with its own exposures, reimbursement premium
and loss reimbursement. Reinsurance coverage purchased through the FHCF was $2.849 billion
and $1.699 billion in the Coastal Account and PLA/CLA, respectively, for 2014, and $3.043 billion
and $2.203 billion in the Coastal Account and PLA/CLA, respectively, for 2013. Reinsurance
coverage purchased in the Coastal Account through traditional and capital markets totaled $3.269
billion and $1.851 billion for 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The effect of reinsurance on premiums written and earned is as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013
Written Earned Written Earned

Direct premiums ~ $ 2,083,870 $ 2,374,093  $ 2,761,638  $ 2,954,580
Ceded premiums ~ (1,103,934) (996,252)  (1,059,530)  (1,073,819)
Net premiums $ 979,936 $ 1377841 $1,702,108 $ 1,880,761
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Ceded premiums include premiums ceded to companies that assume policies pursuant to a
depopulation program (see Note 10), as well as premium ceded under 100% private quota share
arrangements. Ceded losses and LAE incurred were ($2.5) million and $2.3 million during 2014
and 2013, respectively.

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses are estimated
based on the allocation of estimated unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses among Citizens’
coverage lines. Actual amounts recoverable will depend on the ultimate settlement of losses and
loss adjustment expenses. Reinsurance contracts do not relieve Citizens from its obligation to
policyholders. Citizens remains liable to its policyholders for the portion reinsured to the extent
that any reinsurer does not meet the obligations assumed under their reinsurance agreements.

NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM DEBT

Citizens has issued multiple Senior Secured Bonds for the purpose of funding losses in the event
of a future catastrophe. The bonds are secured by pledged revenues which consist of monies and
investments held in accounts established under the trust indenture, proceeds from any surcharges,
regular and emergency assessments, and/or reimbursements received from the FHCF. The
following table provides pertinent information regarding each issuance of the Senior Secured
Bonds (in thousands):

Issuance Carrying Stated Current Year  Current Year
Bond Issue Date Face Value Value Interest Rate  Principal Paid  Interest Paid

Series 2007A Senior
Secured Refunding Bonds February 26, 3.750% -
(Post-event HRA) 2007 $ 388,930 $ 392,832 5.000% $ 117,220 $ 20,379
Series 2009A-1 Senior
Secured Bonds 4.000% -
(Pre-event HRA) May 7, 2009 746,585 748,244  6.000% 168,055 46,358
Series 2010A-1 Senior
Secured Bonds 3.000% -
(Pre-event HRA) April 6,2010 1,240,000 1,252,182 5.250% 100,000 63,207
Series 2011A-1 Senior
Secured Bonds 3.000% -
(Pre-event HRA) July 14, 2011 645,000 654,932 5.000% - 31,577
Series 2011A-3 Senior
Secured Bonds SIFMA plus
(Pre-event HRA) July 14, 2011 - - 1.65% 150,000 1,278
Series 2012A-1 Senior
Secured Bonds 3.000% -
(Pre-event PLA/CLA) June 21,2012 1,100,000 1,172,446  5.000% - 54,779
Series 2012A-3 Senior
Secured Bonds SIFMA plus
(Pre-event PLA/CLA) June 21,2012 200,000 200,000 1.25% - 2,606

Total $ 4,320,515 $ 4,420,636 $ 535,275 $220,184
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A schedule of bond maturities is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending Series 2007 Series 2009 Series 2010 Series 2011 Series 2012

December 31 Bonds Bonds Bonds Bonds Bonds Total
2015 $ 123225 $ - $ 410,000 $ 80,000 $§ 275,000 $ 888,225
2016 129,540 403,085 305,000 90,000 125,000 1,052,625
2017 136,165 343,500 525,000 - 130,000 1,134,665
2018 - - - 125,000 130,000 255,000
2019 - - - 175,000 160,000 335,000
After - - - 175,000 480,000 655,000

$ 388930 $ 746,585 $ 1,240,000 $ 645000 $ 1,300,000 $ 4,320,515

A schedule of debt service requirements, including principal and interest, is as follows (in
thousands):

Years Ending
December 31 Principal Interest Total
2015 § 888,225 § 189,633 § 1,077,858
2016 1,052,625 141,663  $ 1,194,288
2017 1,134,665 84,491 $ 1,219,156
2018 255,000 54,483 $ 309,483
2019 335,000 39,480 $§ 374,480
After 655,000 37,423 $ 692,423
$ 4,320,515 $ 547,173 $ 4,867,688

Unamortized premium at December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $100.1 million and $139.2 million,
respectively.

NOTE 8 - AGENT COMMISSIONS AND SERVICING COMPANY FEES

Citizens has contracted with various insurance agents licensed in the State of Florida. These
agreements provide for commissions to be paid to the agents at rates established by the Board and
calculated as a percentage of direct written premiums, net of certain surcharges and assessments.
Agent commissions were $169.8 million and $224 million during 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Additionally, Citizens is a party to an agreement with a servicing company to provide underwriting
and policy management services. The agreement provides for monthly compensation to the
company based on a “Per Transaction Fee” applied to the number of transactions processed in a
monthly cycle. These services are for both Citizens’ Commercial Lines and Personal Lines
business. The amount per transaction ranges from $3.50 to $50.00, depending on the complexity
and volume of each transaction. Servicing company fees included in other underwriting expenses
incurred were $5.9 million and $8.8 million, during 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Notes to Financial Statements

NOTE 9 - RETIREMENT PLAN
Deferred Compensation Plan

Citizens sponsors a 457(b)/401(a) defined contribution employee savings plan for qualified
employees (the Savings Plan). The Savings Plan qualifies as a deferred salary arrangement under
Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under the Savings Plan, participating eligible
employees may defer a portion of their pretax earnings, up to the Internal Revenue Service annual
contribution limit. Citizens matches 100% of each employee’s contributions, up to a maximum of
8% of the employee’s pretax earnings. Citizens’ matching contributions to the Savings Plan were
$4.2 million and $3.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

NOTE 10 - DEPOPULATION

Pursuant to the Act, Citizens is authorized to adopt one or more programs, subject to approval by
the Office, for the reduction of both new and renewal writings. Policies may be removed from
Citizens as part of a bulk assumption (Assumption Agreement). In an assumption, the assuming
insurer (Takeout Company) is responsible for losses occurring from the assumption date through
the expiration of the Citizens’ policy period (the assumption period). Subsequent to the
assumption period, the Takeout Company will write the policy directly. In January 2007, Florida
law was amended to state that assumed policies are the direct insurance of the Takeout Company,
for the purpose of clarifying that FIGA is liable for assumption period losses occurring during the
assumption period if a Takeout Company were liquidated and unable to meet its obligation to
policyholders.

During 2014 and 2013, Citizens ceded $455.0 million and $387.6 million in premiums to Takeout
Companies pursuant to Assumption Agreements.

Citizens provides policy administration services with respect to the assumed policies. All
agreements provide for the Takeout Company to adjust losses. While Citizens is not liable to cover
claims after the assumption (unless the assumed insured exercises its option to return to Citizens
during the assumption period), Citizens continues to service policies for items such as policyholder
endorsements or cancellation refunds. Should Citizens process and provide a refund to
policyholders, such amount is subsequently collected from the Takeout Company. At
December 31, 2014 and 2013, net assumed premiums receivable in the amount of $32.7 million
and $27.1 million, respectively were due from certain Takeout Companies.
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NOTE 11 - OPERATING LEASES

Citizens leases office space and certain office equipment under various operating leases. Rental
expense on operating leases amounted to $7.3 million and $8.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. There are no contingent rental payments or unusual
renewal options, escalation clauses or restrictions and there have been no early terminations of
existing leases. Future minimum payments under operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

2015 $ 4,874
2016 2,578
2017 2,035
2018 1,122
2019 935
Total $11,544

NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Citizens is involved in certain litigation and disputes incidental to its operations. In the opinion of
management, after consultation with legal counsel, there are substantial defenses to such litigation
and disputes and any ultimate liability, in excess of reserves resulting there from, will not have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition or results of operations of Citizens. Citizens is
also involved in other potentially significant litigation described below. Due to the preliminary
nature of the following litigation, the potential loss, if any, is not determinable at this time.

In September 2013, Citizens received a subpoena from the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) requesting information relating to catastrophe bonds issued by Everglades Re Ltd. in 2012
and 2013. Citizens is voluntarily cooperating with the SEC and is of the belief that any action by
the SEC will not materially affect the financial condition of Citizens.

A summary of potentially significant litigation follows:

Davis & Hernandez v. Citizens. This is a putative class action. The court has not certified the
class. Potential class members are Citizens’ policyholders who presented a claim for damage to
their residential property from April 2006 to present. At issue is whether Citizens appropriately
calculated and paid overhead and profit policy benefits. Citizens responded to Plaintiff’s Third
Amended Complaint on October 2, 2013 and litigation is moving forward. Following 10 months
of inactive record activity, the court signed its Notice of Failure to Prosecute. In response, Plaintiff
filed a Motion for Leave to Amend attaching a proposed 4" Amended Complaint. Citizens
responded that it had no objection to the 4™ amended complaint, but requested that the court order
prohibit any further amendments.
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NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)
Risk Management Programs

In addition to claims under the insurance policies it issues, Citizens is potentially exposed to
various risks of loss, including those related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets,
errors and omissions, injuries to employees, and natural disasters. As a state government entity,
Citizens has immunity from certain claims. For the years ending December 31, 2014 and 2013,
Citizens had insurance protection in place from various commercial insurance carriers covering
various exposures, including workers’ compensation, property loss, employee liability, general
liability, and directors and officers’ liability. Management continuously reviews the limits of
coverage and believes that current coverage is adequate. There were no significant reductions in
insurance coverage from the previous year.

NOTE 13 - RECONCILIATION OF SAP TO GAAP

A reconciliation of Citizens’ 2014 and 2013 statutory basis net income and accumulated surplus
to its GAAP basis (as determined by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board) is as follows
(in thousands):

2014 2013
Net income - statutory basis $ 351,122 $ 665,346
Adjustments:
Change in allowance for doubtful accounts (1,359) 1,814
Change in FIGA assessment income 6,250 16,046
Change in net unrealized gain on investments (26,052) (68,937)
Change in net position - GAAP basis $ 329,961 $ 614,269
2014 2013
Accumulated surplus - statutory basis $ 7,384,028 $ 7,008,208
Adjustments:
Nonadmitted assets 49,460 74,590
Provision for reinsurance 556 1,881
FIGA assessment recoverable (5,463) (11,714)
Net unrealized gain on investments 77,170 103,222
Net position - GAAP basis $ 7,505,751 $ 7,176,187
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NOTE 14 — ASSESSMENTS

Citizens’ enabling legislation and the Plan establish a process by which Citizens is required to levy
assessments to recover deficits incurred in a given plan year for any of its three accounts. Deficits
are calculated separately, and assessments are accordingly levied separately, for each of the three
accounts. The Plan provides for deficits to be determined in accordance with GAAP, adjusted for
certain items.

In the event of a Plan Year Deficit in any Account, Citizens must first levy an assessment against
the premium of each Citizens policyholder (the Citizens Policyholder Surcharge) in each of
Citizens' Accounts, as a uniform percentage of the premium of the policy of up to 15% of such
premium. Citizens Policyholder Surcharges are not subject to commissions, fees, or premium
taxes; however, failure to pay a Citizens Policyholder Surcharge will be treated as failure to pay
premium. If the Citizens Policyholder Surcharge is insufficient to eliminate the deficit in an
Account, Citizens would then levy a Regular Assessment on assessable insurers and assessable
insureds, each as defined herein. The Regular Assessment is applied as a uniform percentage of
the policy premium up to 2% of such premium of the Coastal Account only. Effective July 1,
2012, the Regular Assessment was eliminated for the PLA and CLA accounts and was reduced
from 6% to 2% for the Coastal Account.

Regular Assessments are levied on assessable insurers, as defined in Section 627.351(6), Florida
Statutes, based upon each assessable insurer's share of direct written premium for the subject lines
of business in the State of Florida for the calendar year preceding the year in which the deficit
occurred. Regular Assessments on assessable insurers, collectively, are based on the ratio of the
amount being assessed for the Coastal Account to the aggregate statewide direct written premiums
for the subject lines of business for the preceding year.

If the deficit in any year in any Account is greater than the amount that may be recovered through
Citizens’ Policyholder Surcharges and Regular Assessments, Citizens is required to levy any
remaining Plan Year Deficit as an Emergency Assessment. An Emergency Assessment is to be
collected by all Assessable Insurers, Surplus Lines Agents and Citizens from policyholders upon
the issuance or renewal of policies for Subject Lines of Business for as many years as necessary
to cover the Plan Year Deficit in the Account. The primary difference between the assessment
base for Regular Assessments and Emergency Assessments is the inclusion of Citizens' direct
written premium in the assessment base for Emergency Assessments.

For purposes of Regular Assessments and Emergency Assessments, the "Subject Lines of
Business" are all lines of property and casualty insurance, including automobile lines, but
excluding accident and health, workers' compensation, and medical malpractice insurance, and
also excluding insurance under the National Flood and Federal Crop insurance programs. The
Regular Assessment base excludes Citizens policies (while the Emergency Assessment base
includes Citizens policies). Prior to the enactment of the 2007 Legislation, the Regular Assessment
base for each Account included only property lines of business.
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NOTE 14 — ASSESSMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Legislature, in Section 44 of 2006 SB 1980, appropriated $715 million to reduce Citizens’
2005 plan year deficit. The appropriation first eliminated the deficits in the Personal and
Commercial Lines Accounts of $87.2 million and $4.6 million, respectively. The balance of
$623.2 million then partially reduced the High Risk Account deficit and Regular Assessment. The
remaining $163.1 million High Risk Account Regular Assessment and the $887.5 million
Emergency Assessment were approved in 2006. Subsequent to the issuance of the 2007A post-
event note, an additional $496.9 million of financing costs were added to the balance of the
assessment for a total of $1.384 billion.

Effective March 5, 2015, the 2005 Emergency Assessment was terminated for all policies with
effective dates on or after July 1, 2015. The 2005 Emergency Assessment was anticipated to be
collected over a ten year period commencing July 1, 2007. However, as of December 31, 2014,
Citizens collected approximately $38.2 million in excess of the original Emergency Assessment
receivable. Any current or remaining excess collections have been categorized as “Reserve for
future assessments” and are included in the accompanying statements of net position until such
time as Citizens’ Board of Governors approves a change to direct these excess collections to be
used for any lawful purpose available within Citizens’ Plan of Operation.

In November 2012, Citizens received a notice of assessment from the Florida Insurance Guaranty
Association (FIGA) amounting to $27.8 million. In December 2012, Citizens remitted payment
for this assessment and subsequently obtained approval from the Office of Insurance Regulation
for recoupment through future policy surcharges on new and renewal policies. No asset has been
recorded within Citizens statements of net position for the periods ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, in accordance with applicable accounting guidance.

NOTE 15 - RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash and surplus represents assessments that were, in accordance with the Act, over-
collected by the Florida Surplus Lines Servicing Office (FSLSO) from surplus lines insureds with
respect to the 2004 Plan Year Deficit. Pursuant to a consent order, the Office, FSLSO and Citizens
agreed that this cash would be included in Citizens restricted surplus until such time future regular
and emergency assessments would otherwise be payable by surplus lines insureds. As amounts
have been approved by FSLSO with respect to regular and emergency assessments for Citizens’
2005 Plan Year deficit, Citizens has transferred these funds to unrestricted surplus.
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Supplemental Combining Statement of Net Position

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Investment income due and accrued
Prepaid reinsurance premiums
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses and LAE
Premiums receivable
Premiums receivable from assuming companies
Other current assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:

Long-term investments

Capital assets

Assessments receivable

Other assets

Inter-account receivable (payable)
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

Liabilities and net assets

Current liabilities:
Net loss reserves
Net loss adjustment expense reserves
Unearned premiums
Current portion of unearned assessment income
Reinsurance premiums payable
Advance premiums and suspended cash
Interest payable
Current portion of long-term debt
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Unearned assessment income
Long-term debt
Reserve for future assessments
Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Net position:
Invested in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net positions

Total liabilities and net position

December 31, 2014

Personal Commercial
Lines Lines Coastal
Combined Account Account Account
(in thousands)

$ (57,179) $ (79,836) $ 15,188 $ 7,469
1,559,730 247,303 175,729 1,136,698
25,348 - - 25,348
74,222 22,948 6,812 44,462
308,957 155,951 27,967 125,039
923 556 - 367
117,842 38,234 5,789 73,819
32,654 19,622 4,878 8,154
1,036 (366) (216) 1,618
2,063,533 404,412 236,147 1,422,974
12,263,861 4,386,252 1,756,438 6,121,171
8,079 8,079 - -
67 8 724 (665)

9,869 9,724 16 129
- 213,500 (36,757) (176,743)
12,281,876 4,617,563 1,720,421 5,943,892
§ 14,345,409 $ 5,021,975 $ 1,956,568 $  7.366,866
$ 736,602 $ 530,398 $ 114,201 $ 92,003
294,920 212,232 32,115 50,573
1,005,043 451,805 74,855 478,383
11,839 - - 11,839
125,517 - - 125,517
48,961 19,625 4,222 25,114
22,540 4,207 577 17,756
1,188,163 257,848 35,394 894,921
127,867 76,551 3,773 47,543
3,561,452 1,552,666 265,137 1,743,649
7,487 - - 7,487
3,232,473 948,945 130,260 2,153,268
38,246 38,246
3,278,206 948,945 130,260 2,199,001
6,839,658 2,501,611 395,397 3,942,650
8,079 8,079 - -
25,348 - - 25,348
7,472,324 2,512,285 1,561,171 3,398,868
7,505,751 2,520,364 1,561,171 3,424.216

§ 14,345,409 $ 5,021,975 $ 1,956,568 $  7.366.866

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Supplemental Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Operating revenue:
Premiums earned

Operating expenses:
Losses incurred
Loss adjustment expenses incurred
Service company fees
Agent commissions
Taxes and fees
Processing and other fees
Other underwriting expenses
Total operating expenses

Operating income

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Net investment income
Interest expense
Assessment income
Other income
Total nonoperating income (expense)

Change in net position

Net position, beginning of year
Other changes in net position

Net position, end of year

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Personal Commercial
Lines Lines Coastal
Combined Account Account Account
(in thousands)

$ 1,377,841 $ 772,059 $ 129,546 $ 476,236
441,155 344,094 22,159 74,902
198,935 141,948 8,198 48,789
5,891 3,961 - 1,930
169,764 65,462 18,165 86,137
27,829 12,676 2,542 12,611

760 - 672 88
170,356 87,652 10,572 72,132
1,014,690 655,793 62,308 296,589
363,151 116,266 67,238 179,647
155,984 59,369 21,863 74,752
(180,835) (33,665) (4,621) (142,549)
(12,771) 3,172 404 (16,347)
4,432 2,856 231 1,345
(33,190) 31,732 17,877 (82,799)
329,961 147,998 85,115 96,848
7,176,187 2,372,366 1,476,056 3,327,765
(397) - - (397)

$ 7,505,751 $ 2,520,364 $ 1,561,171 $ 3,424216

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Net earned premiums and investment revenue

Unallocated expenses

Estimated incurred claims and expense,

end of policy year

Paid (cumulative) as of:
End of policy year
One year later
Two years later
Three years later
Four years later
Five years later
Six years later
Seven years later
Eight years later

Nine years later

Reestimated incurred claims and expense:
End of policy year
One year later
Two years later
Three years later
Four years later
Five years later
Six years later
Seven years later
Eight years later

Nine years later

Increase (decrease) in estimated incurred

claims and expense from end of policy year

Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Supplemental Revenues, Expenses and Claim Development Information

(in thousands)

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
$ 1,143,973 $ 2289760 $ 3,417,277 S 2268368  $ 1,822,227  $ 2,088,293 S 2452744  $ 2,526,541 S 1,993,004  $ 1,533,825
227,795 321,522 569,661 442,570 342,840 293,047 366,109 507,579 495,680 366,261
2,138,004 339,770 692,583 839,708 674,431 786,223 1,236,012 1,049,647 684,549 525,725
1,005,020 157,640 353,312 413,175 307,072 330,603 501,310 516,059 352,354 272,398
2,114,174 291,045 555,540 622,104 472,476 553,965 799,332 785,930 520,164
2,227,283 326,997 625,868 675,168 532,779 643,424 965,456 900,022
2,286,765 341,906 661,758 698,220 553,356 702,357 1,120,696
2,328,746 350,721 677,041 709,550 566,641 798,270
2,350,722 355,658 683,229 732,381 587,168
2,373,190 357,534 688,043 738,610
2,426,212 358,381 693,600
2,446,868 360,091
2,469,607
2,138,004 339,770 692,583 839,708 674,431 786,223 1,236,012 1,049,647 684,549 525,725
2,205,877 354,194 678,130 753,244 651,058 876,415 1,237,713 1,068,384 648,934
2,374,726 359,950 693,332 750,380 624,955 886,308 1,259,076 1,045,511
2,406,456 358,122 697,792 738,966 622,057 893,876 1,342,169
2,413,674 360,230 701,651 738,733 622,963 962,361
2,406,633 360,996 700,302 747,942 634,117
2,476,606 360,694 702,670 749,604
2,494,017 361,555 705,898
2,497,925 364,139
2,506,632
8,707 2,584 3,228 1,662 11,154 68,485 83,093 (22,873) (35,615) 525,725

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND
ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

The Board of Governors
Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

We have audited the basic financial statements of Citizens Property Insurance Corporation (Citizens), a
component unit of the State of Florida, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014, and have issued
our report thereon dated May 29, 2015. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Citizens’ internal control over financial reporting
as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Citizens’
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness
of Citizens’ internal control over financial reporting.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.

Our consideration of the internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described
in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
over financial reporting that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses. We
did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be
material weaknesses, as defined above.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Citizens’ financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with
those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board of Governors,
others within the entity, and Auditor General of the State of Florida and is not intended to be and should
not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

ﬁ/4 Al Lokt LEF

Jacksonville, Florida
May 29, 2015
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NEW ISSUE—BOOK-ENTRY ONLY RATINGS: See “RATINGS” herein for ratings and outlooks
Series 2015A Bonds: S&P “A+” (stable), Moody’s “Al” (stable), Fitch “AA-” (stable)

In the opinion of Greenberg Traurig, P.A., Bond Counsel, under existing law (i) assuming continuing compliance with certain covenants and the accuracy
of certain representations, interest on the Series 2015A Bonds (as defined below) is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not an item
of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations, and (ii) the Series 2015A Bonds and the income
thereon are exempt from taxation under the laws of the State of Florida, except estate taxes imposed by Chapter 198, Florida Statutes, as amended, and net income
and franchise taxes imposed by Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, as amended. Interest on the Series 2015A Bonds may be subject to certain federal taxes imposed
only on certain corporations, including the corporate alternative minimum tax on a portion of that interest. For a more complete discussion of the tax aspects,
see “TAX MATTERS"” herein.

CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION

COASTAL ACCOUNT ((
SENIOR SECURED BONDS \
CITIZENS

$700,000,000 $300,000,000 PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION
SERIES 2015A-1 SERIES 2015A-2
(SIFMA Floating Rate Notes)
Dated: Date of Delivery Due: As shown on inside cover

The Citizens Property Insurance Corporation Coastal Account Senior Secured Bonds, Series 2015A-1 (the “Series 2015A-1 Bonds”) and Coastal Account Senior
Secured Bonds, Series 2015A-2 (SIFMA Floating Rate Notes) (the “Series 2015A-2 Bonds” and, together with the Series 2015A-1 Bonds, the “Series 2015A Bonds”), are
limited obligations of Citizens Property Insurance Corporation (“Citizens”) and are being issued solely for the purpose of providing resources to the Coastal Account
(the “Coastal Account”), as more fully described herein. Citizens is a legislatively-created government entity that provides residential and commercial property and
casualty insurance coverage for the owners of certain properties in the State of Florida (the “State”) as specified in Section 627.351(6), Florida Statutes, as amended
(the “Act”).

Pursuant to the Act, all revenues, assets, liabilities and losses of Citizens are divided into three separate accounts (collectively, the “Accounts” and each an
“Account”) as more fully described herein: the Coastal Account, the Personal Lines Account (the “PLA”) and the Commercial Lines Account (the “CLA”). Creditors of
the Coastal Account do not have a claim against or recourse to the PLA or the CLA and creditors of the PLA and the CLA do not have a claim against or recourse to the
Coastal Account.

The Series 2015A Bonds are being issued for the benefit of the Coastal Account only and will not be an obligation of or have a claim against the
PLA or the CLA. The Series 2015A Bonds will be direct and general obligations of the Coastal Account payable from and secured solely by the Pledged
Revenues as provided in the Indenture referred to herein. The Series 2015A Bonds constitute Senior Secured Obligations under the Pledge and
Security Agreement, described herein, and are secured by Collateral distributions on a parity with all other Senior Secured Obligations. See “PLEDGE
AND SECURITY AGREEMENT?” herein. The Series 2015A Bonds do not and will not represent or constitute a debt or pledge of the faith and credit
or the taxing power of the State of Florida or of any political subdivision, municipality or other local agency thereof. Citizens has no taxing power.

The Series 2015A-1 Bonds and the Series 2015A-2 Bonds are being issued on a parity with each other and with certain outstanding obligations of the Coastal
Account, as more fully described herein. In addition, Citizens may issue additional obligations on a parity with the Series 2015A Bonds in the future. See “SECURITY
FOR THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE OBLIGATIONS - Additional Indenture Obligations” herein.

The Series 2015A Bonds are being issued and secured under and pursuant to a Trust Indenture, dated as of August 6, 1997 (the “Original Indenture”), between
Citizens and Regions Bank, Jacksonville, Florida, as successor trustee (the “Indenture Trustee”), as amended and supplemented, and particularly as supplemented by a
Tenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 1, 2015, between Citizens and the Indenture Trustee (the “Tenth Supplemental Indenture” and, together with the Original
Indenture, as amended and supplemented, the “Indenture”). The proceeds derived from the sale of the Series 2015A-1 Bonds and the Series 2015A-2 Bonds will be used
to (i) make deposits to the Series 2015A Bonds Proceeds Subaccount to provide funds to, among other things, pay from time to time policy claims and other liabilities
and expenses giving rise to any one or more Liquidity Shortfalls (as defined herein) within the Coastal Account, and (ii) pay the costs of issuance of each subseries of
the Series 2015A Bonds. See “APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS” herein.

THE INDENTURE IS TO BE AMENDED AND RESTATED IN ITS ENTIRETY THROUGH A MASTER TRUST INDENTURE THAT WILL BECOME
EFFECTIVE AND GOVERN THE SERIES 2015A BONDS WHEN THE PRIOR PARITY BONDS (AS DEFINED HEREIN AND WHICH DOES NOT INCLUDE
THE SERIES 2015A BONDS) ARE NO LONGER OUTSTANDING UNDER THE INDENTURE (WHETHER THROUGH DEFEASANCE OR MATURITY).
BY THEIR PURCHASE OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, THE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS WILL HAVE CONSENTED TO AND
APPROVED (I) THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE INDENTURE IN ITS ENTIRETY, (II) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE FORM ATTACHED HERETO AS APPENDIX J, (III) THE TERMINATION OF THE PLEDGE
AND SECURITY AGREEMENT UPON THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, AND (IV) THE CONVERSION
OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS THAT MATURE AFTER THE CONVERSION DATE FROM OBLIGATIONS ISSUED AND SECURED UNDER THE
PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE TO OBLIGATIONS ISSUED AND SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE.
THE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS ARE DEEMED TO HAVE CONSENTED TO ALL OF THE FOREGOING. SEE “PROSPECTIVE
AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE” HEREIN AND “APPENDIX J - FORM OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE”.
PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS SHOULD ASSUME THAT THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE AND THE AMENDMENT
AND RESTATEMENT OF THE INDENTURE WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE DURING THE PERIOD OF TIME THAT SUCH PURCHASERS WILL HOLD
THE SERIES 2015A BONDS.

The Series 2015A Bonds will be issued in fully registered form in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) under the
book-entry-only system maintained by DTC as described herein. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS - Book-Entry-Only System” herein. Individual
purchases of Series 2015A Bonds will be made in book-entry form only in the denominations of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof. Interest on the Series 2015A-1
Bonds is payable on December 1, 2015 and semiannually on each June 1 and December 1 thereafter. Interest on the Series 2015A-2 Bonds is payable monthly in arrears
on the first day of each calendar month commencing on August 1, 2015.

The Series 2015A Bonds are subject to optional redemption in whole or in part at par prior to maturity as described herein. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES
2015A BONDS - Optional Redemption” herein.

THIS COVER AND INSIDE COVER PAGE CONTAIN CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFERENCE ONLY. THEY ARE NOT INTENDED TO BE A
SUMMARY OF ALL FACTORS RELATING TO AN INVESTMENT IN THE SERIES 2015A BONDS. INVESTORS ARE ADVISED TO READ THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT
IN ITS ENTIRETY BEFORE MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION. SEE “RISK FACTORS” HEREIN.

The Series 2015A Bonds are offered when, as and if issued by Citizens and accepted by the Underwriters, subject to prior sale or withdrawal or modification
of the offer without notice, and subject to receipt of an approving legal opinion of Greenberg Traurig, P.A., Miami, Florida, Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters
will be passed upon for Citizens by Daniel Y. Sumner, as Citizens’ General Counsel, and by Bryant Miller Olive P.A., Tallahassee, Florida, as Disclosure Counsel,
and for the Underwriters by their counsel, Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., Tampa, Florida. Raymond James & Associates, Inc. has served as Financial Advisor
to Citizens. The Series 2015A Bonds are expected to be available for delivery through the facilities of DTC in New York, New York, on or about June 2, 2015.

BofA MERRILL LYNCH J.P. MORGAN
(Bookrunner for Series 2015A-1) (Bookrunner for Series 2015A-2)

CITIGROUP
Jefferies Morgan Stanley RBC Capital Markets
Ramirez & Co., Inc. Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated Wells Fargo Securities

Dated: May 21, 2015



MATURITIES, AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES, YIELDS, PRICES AND INITIAL CUSIP NUMBERS

$700,000,000 COASTAL ACCOUNT SENIOR SECURED BONDS, SERIES 2015A-1

Initial
Maturities Interest CUSIP
(June 1) Amounts Rates Yields® Prices™® Numbers®
2018 $ 5,000,000 3.000% 1.510% 103.638 176553GY5
2018 45,000,000 5.000 1.510 108.521 176553HC2
2020 5,000,000 4.000 2.100 108.113 176553GW9
2020 145,000,000 5.000 2.100 112.383 176553GZ2
2022 5,000,000 4.000 2.660 107.947 176553GX7
2022 220,000,000 5.000 2.660 113.877 176553HA6
2025 275,000,000 5.000 3.200 114.641 176553HB4

$300,000,000 COASTAL ACCOUNT SENIOR SECURED BONDS, SERIES 2015A-2
(SIFMA Floating Rate Notes)

Initial
Maturities Interest Rates CUSIP
(June 1) Amounts (Variable)® Prices Numbers®
2018 $150,000,000 0.960% 100.000 176553HD0O
2020 150,000,000 1.060 100.000 176553HES

(1) Yields and prices calculated to each respective call date at par. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS - Optional
Redemption” herein.

(2) CUSIP is a registered trademark of American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein is provided by Standard & Poor’s, CUSIP
Service Bureau, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. CUSIP data herein is provided for convenience of reference only.
Citizens, the Financial Advisor, the Underwriters, the Indenture Trustee and their agents take no responsibility for the accuracy of
such data.

(3) Based on the initial SIFMA Rate of 0.11% plus a spread of 0.85% for the Series 2015A-2 Bonds maturing on June 1, 2018 and plus
a spread of 0.95% for the Series 2015A-2 Bonds maturing on June 1, 2020. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS —
Determination of Series 2015A-2 Interest Rate” herein for a description of the Adjusted SIFMA Rate and the determination thereof.



No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by Citizens or by the Underwriters
to give any information or to make any representations, other than those contained in this Official Statement,
and if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been
authorized by any of the foregoing. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the
solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any offer, solicitation or sale of the Series 2015A Bonds by any
person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.
Certain information contained in this Official Statement (which includes the Appendices) has been obtained
by Citizens from DTC and other sources believed to be reliable. No representation is made by Citizens,
however, as to the accuracy or completeness of such information, and nothing contained in this Official
Statement is, or shall be relied upon as, a promise or representation as to such information by Citizens. The
Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The Underwriters
have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as a part of, their
responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this
transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the Series 2015A Bonds and may not
be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purposes. The information herein is subject to change
without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any
circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the information or in the affairs of
Citizens since the date hereof.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY
OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE
SERIES 2015A BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN
MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.

UPON ISSUANCE, THE SERIES 2015A BONDS WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933 NOR WILL THE INDENTURE BE QUALIFIED UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939, IN
RELIANCE UPON EXEMPTIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH ACTS. THE REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION
OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE PROVISIONS OF THE SECURITIES
LAWS OF THE STATES, IF ANY, IN WHICH THE SERIES 2015A BONDS HAVE BEEN REGISTERED OR
QUALIFIED AND THE EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION IN CERTAIN OTHER
STATES CANNOT BE REGARDED AS A RECOMMENDATION THEREOF. THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT
BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE
SECURITIES COMMISSION NOR HAS THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE
SECURITIES COMMISSION PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFICIAL
STATEMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

relating to
CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION
COASTAL ACCOUNT
SENIOR SECURED BONDS

$700,000,000 $300,000,000
SERIES 2015A-1 SERIES 2015A-2
(SIFMA Floating Rate Notes)

INTRODUCTION

This Official Statement, dated as shown on the cover page hereof, of Citizens Property Insurance
Corporation ("Citizens") is provided to furnish information concerning the $700,000,000 Coastal Account
Senior Secured Bonds, Series 2015A-1 (the "Series 2015A-1 Bonds") and the $300,000,000 Coastal Account
Senior Secured Bonds, Series 2015A-2 (SIFMA Floating Rate Notes) (the "Series 2015A-2 Bonds" and,
together with the Series 2015A-1 Bonds, the "Series 2015A Bonds"). See "APPENDIX A — COMPOSITE
FORM OF THE TRUST INDENTURE AND FORM OF TENTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE" and
"APPENDIX B - COMPOSITE FORM OF THE PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT" attached hereto
for the definition of certain capitalized terms used herein and for a more complete description of the
Series 2015A Bonds.

Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

Citizens is a legislatively-created government entity which provides residential and commercial
property and casualty insurance coverage for the owners of certain properties in the State of Florida (the
"State") as specified in Section 627.351(6), Florida Statutes, as amended (the "Act"). The Act has frequently
been amended by the Legislature and was most recently amended during the 2015 regular legislative session
(provided, however, the period during which the Governor may veto such legislation has not yet expired).

Citizens resulted from a legislatively-mandated combination of the Florida Residential Property and
Casualty Joint Underwriting Association ("FRPCJUA") and the Florida Windstorm Underwriting Association
("FWUA"). Citizens operates pursuant to a Plan of Operation (the "Plan") which may be amended by Citizens
and is subject to approval by the Financial Services Commission (the "Commission") of the State without the
consent of Bondholders. The Commission is composed of the Governor, the Chief Financial Officer, the
Attorney General and the Commissioner of Agriculture of the State. See "CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE
CORPORATION" herein. See "APPENDIX E — CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION PLAN
OF OPERATION" attached hereto for a copy of the current Plan approved by the Commission on October 10,
2013. Citizens is supervised by a nine member Board of Governors.

The Series 2015A Bonds

The Series 2015A Bonds are being issued to provide "pre-event" liquidity for the Coastal Account (the
"Coastal Account"). Citizens will retain and invest the net proceeds of the Series 2015A Bonds in Non-AMT
Tax-Exempt Securities, each of which constitute Permitted Investments as described herein, pending their
need to pay policy claims and other liabilities and expenses in the Coastal Account resulting from future
storms. See "APPENDIX I - CITIZENS' INVESTMENT POLICIES" attached hereto. The Series 2015A Bonds



are being issued by Citizens under and pursuant to a Trust Indenture, dated as of August 6, 1997 (the
"Original Indenture"), between Citizens, as the successor to the FWUA, and Regions Bank, Jacksonville,
Florida, as trustee (together with any successor trustee, the "Indenture Trustee"), as amended and
supplemented, and particularly as supplemented by a Tenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 1, 2015,
between Citizens and the Indenture Trustee (the "Tenth Supplemental Indenture" and together with the
Original Indenture, as amended and supplemented, the "Indenture”"). Terms used in this Official Statement in
capitalized form and not otherwise defined in this Official Statement, except in the section herein entitled
"PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT," have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture. See
"APPENDIX A - COMPOSITE FORM OF THE TRUST INDENTURE AND FORM OF TENTH
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE" attached hereto.

THE INDENTURE IS TO BE AMENDED AND RESTATED IN ITS ENTIRETY THROUGH A
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE THAT WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE AND GOVERN THE SERIES 2015A
BONDS WHEN THE PRIOR PARITY BONDS (AS DEFINED HEREIN AND WHICH DOES NOT
INCLUDE THE SERIES 2015A BONDS) ARE NO LONGER OUTSTANDING UNDER THE
INDENTURE (WHETHER THROUGH DEFEASANCE OR MATURITY). BY THEIR PURCHASE OF
THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, THE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS WILL HAVE
CONSENTED TO AND APPROVED (I) THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
INDENTURE IN ITS ENTIRETY, (II) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST
INDENTURE IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE FORM ATTACHED HERETO AS APPENDIX ], (IIl) THE
TERMINATION OF THE PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT UPON THE EXECUTION AND
DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, AND (IV) THE CONVERSION OF THE SERIES
2015A BONDS THAT MATURE AFTER THE CONVERSION DATE FROM OBLIGATIONS ISSUED
AND SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE TO OBLIGATIONS ISSUED AND
SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE. THE PURCHASERS
OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS ARE DEEMED TO HAVE CONSENTED TO ALL OF THE FOREGOING.
SEE “PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE”
HEREIN AND “APPENDIX J - FORM OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE”".

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS SHOULD ASSUME THAT THE
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE AND THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE INDENTURE
WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE DURING THE PERIOD OF TIME THAT SUCH PURCHASERS WILL
HOLD THE SERIES 2015A BONDS.

Other Indebtedness

The Series 2015A Bonds will be secured and payable from the Pledged Revenues (as defined herein),
in the manner and to the extent provided in the Indenture and described herein, on a parity with Citizens'
Coastal Account Senior Secured Bonds Series 2011A-1, issued in the aggregate principal amount of
$645,000,000, and currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $645,000,000 (the "Series 2011A-1
Bonds"), High-Risk Account Senior Secured Bonds, Series 2010A-1, issued in the aggregate principal amount
of $1,550,000,000 and currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $1,240,000,000 (the "Series
2010A-1 Bonds"), High-Risk Account Senior Secured Bonds, Series 2009A-1, issued in the aggregate principal
amount of $1,021,000,000 and currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $746,585,000 (the
"Series 2009A-1 Bonds" and, together with the Series 2011A-1 Bonds and the Series 2010A-1 Bonds, the "Prior
Parity Bonds"), and any Additional Indenture Obligations that may be issued from time to time under the
Indenture on a parity with the Prior Parity Bonds. Prior to May 17, 2011, the Coastal Account was entitled the
High-Risk Account. See "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE



OBLIGATIONS", "ESTIMATED DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE FOR THE PRIOR PARITY BONDS AND
SERIES 2015A BONDS", herein and "APPENDIX A — COMPOSITE FORM OF THE TRUST INDENTURE
AND FORM OF TENTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE" attached hereto.

Security and Pledged Revenues

The Series 2015A Bonds are secured by and payable from Pledged Revenues under the Indenture.
The Indenture generally defines Pledged Revenues, with certain exceptions, to include (A) the Indenture
Trustee's undivided fractional interest in the following amounts deposited with the Collateral Trustee
under the Pledge and Security Agreement described herein: (i) net premiums and surcharges collected by
Citizens in respect of the Coastal Account (including the Citizens Policyholder Surcharge); (ii) Regular
Assessments; (iii) Emergency Assessments; and (iv) Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund ("FHCE")
Reimbursements as to which Citizens has made Draws from the Proceeds Account; and (B) moneys and
investments held from time to time in the Accounts and Subaccounts established under the Indenture as
described herein, including, without limitation, investment earnings thereon. The Series 2015A Bonds
constitute Senior Secured Obligations under the Pledge and Security Agreement. See "PLEDGE AND
SECURITY AGREEMENT," "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE
OBLIGATIONS," and “THE COASTAL ACCOUNT - Assessments, Surcharge and Other Funds" herein.
See, also, “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES” herein, which describes the amount of Series 2015A Bond
proceeds being deposited into Series 2015A Proceeds Subaccount which amounts are included as a
portion of Pledged Revenues.

THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND THE INTEREST THEREON WILL BE DIRECT AND GENERAL
OBLIGATIONS OF CITIZENS' COASTAL ACCOUNT, SECURED SOLELY BY THE PLEDGED REVENUES
AS MORE FULLY DESCRIBED HEREIN. THE SERIES 2015A BONDS DO NOT AND WILL NOT
REPRESENT OR CONSTITUTE A DEBT OR PLEDGE OF THE FAITH AND CREDIT OR THE TAXING
POWER OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION, MUNICIPALITY OR
OTHER LOCAL AGENCY THEREOF. NEITHER THE STATE OF FLORIDA NOR ANY POLITICAL
SUBDIVISION THEREOF WILL BE OBLIGATED TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS,
THE INTEREST THEREON OR OTHER COSTS INCIDENT THERETO. CITIZENS HAS NO TAXING
POWER. THE SERIES 2015A BONDS ARE BEING ISSUED FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE COASTAL
ACCOUNT ONLY AND WILL NOT BE OBLIGATIONS OF OR HAVE A CLAIM AGAINST THE
PERSONAL LINES ACCOUNT (THE "PLA") OR THE COMMERCIAL LINES ACCOUNT (THE "CLA") OF
CITIZENS.

THE INDENTURE IS TO BE AMENDED AND RESTATED IN ITS ENTIRETY THROUGH A
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE THAT WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE AND GOVERN THE SERIES 2015A
BONDS WHEN THE PRIOR PARITY BONDS (AS DEFINED HEREIN AND WHICH DOES NOT
INCLUDE THE SERIES 2015A BONDS) ARE NO LONGER OUTSTANDING UNDER THE
INDENTURE (WHETHER THROUGH DEFEASANCE OR MATURITY). BY THEIR PURCHASE OF
THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, THE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS WILL HAVE
CONSENTED TO AND APPROVED (I) THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
INDENTURE IN ITS ENTIRETY, (II) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST
INDENTURE IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE FORM ATTACHED HERETO AS APPENDIX ], (III) THE
TERMINATION OF THE PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT UPON THE EXECUTION AND
DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, AND (IV) THE CONVERSION OF THE SERIES
2015A BONDS THAT MATURE AFTER THE CONVERSION DATE FROM OBLIGATIONS ISSUED
AND SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE TO OBLIGATIONS ISSUED AND



SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE. THE PURCHASERS
OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS ARE DEEMED TO HAVE CONSENTED TO ALL OF THE FOREGOING.
SEE “PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE”
HEREIN AND “APPENDIX J - FORM OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE”.

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS SHOULD ASSUME THAT THE
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE AND THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE INDENTURE
WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE DURING THE PERIOD OF TIME THAT SUCH PURCHASERS WILL
HOLD THE SERIES 2015A BONDS.

No Reserve Account

No Reserve Subaccount is being established for the Series 2015A Bonds. Funds in any existing
Reserve Subaccount will be applied solely to cure any deficiencies in amounts available to pay the principal of
and interest on the corresponding Series (or subseries) of Bonds for which the Reserve Subaccount was
established; provided, however, that amounts in a Reserve Subaccount will be applied to cure any such
deficiencies only after applying any amounts available in the General Reserve Account and the Program Costs
Account (as provided in the Indenture). Presently, there are no funds on deposit in the General Reserve
Account and the Program Costs Account. Each Series (or subseries) of Bonds will not be secured by or
payable from any moneys or investments in the Reserve Account or any subaccount therein other than the
moneys and investments in the Reserve Subaccount relating to that specific Series (or subseries) of Bonds.
Reserve Subaccounts have been previously established for the Series 2011A-1 Bonds, the Series 2010A-1 Bonds
and the Series 2009A-1 Bonds.

Other Matters

Greenberg Traurig, P.A., as Bond Counsel, proposes to deliver an opinion in substantially the form
attached hereto as APPENDIX F in connection with the issuance of the Series 2015A Bonds. The actual legal
opinion to be delivered may vary from that text as necessary to reflect facts and law on the date of delivery.
The opinion will speak only as of its date, and subsequent distribution thereof by recirculation of the Official
Statement or otherwise will create no implication that Bond Counsel has reviewed or expresses any opinion
concerning any of the matters referenced in the opinion subsequent to its date. See "CERTAIN LEGAL
MATTERS" herein.

The Series 2015A Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Act and a resolution authorizing the
issuance of the Series 2015A Bonds adopted on April 7, 2015 by the Board of Governors of Citizens (the
"Resolution").

The Series 2015A Bonds are being issued in book-entry only form in denominations equal to $5,000
and integral multiples thereof, and when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as Bondholder
and securities depository nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York ("DTC"), as
described herein. Individual purchases of beneficial interests in the Series 2015A Bonds will be made in book-
entry form only through Direct Participants, as described herein. Interest on the Series 2015A-1 Bonds is
payable on December 1, 2015 and semiannually on each June 1 and December 1 thereafter. Interest on the
Series 2015A-2 Bonds is payable monthly on the first day of each calendar month commencing on August
1, 2015. See "DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS" herein and "APPENDIX A — COMPOSITE
FORM OF THE TRUST INDENTURE AND FORM OF TENTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE" attached
hereto.



The Series 2015A Bonds are subject to optional redemption in whole or in part at par prior to maturity
as described herein. See “DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS — Optional Redemption” herein.

For a discussion of risk factors associated with the Series 2015A Bonds, see "RISK FACTORS" herein.

For statistical and demographic information about the State of Florida, see "APPENDIX H -
GENERAL INFORMATION FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA" attached hereto.

The foregoing introduction contains only a brief summary of certain information contained in this
Official Statement. It is not intended to be complete and is qualified by the more detailed information
contained elsewhere in this Official Statement. Investors are advised to read this Official Statement in its
entirety before making an investment decision.

Copies of documents and reports not reproduced in this Official Statement may be obtained from the
Accounting and Finance Department, Citizens Property Insurance Corporation, 2312 Killearn Center Blvd.,,
Bldg. A, Tallahassee, Florida, 32309, 850-513-3955.

PLAN OF FINANCING
The Series 2015A Bonds

The Series 2015A Bonds are being issued to provide resources to help Citizens meet its potential
liquidity and claims paying needs in the Coastal Account for the 2015 hurricane season and thereafter. The net
proceeds of the Series 2015A Bonds will be held and invested in Permitted Investments consisting of Non-
AMT Tax-Exempt Securities by Citizens pending their use to pay policy claims and other liabilities and
expenses that cause a Liquidity Shortfall (as defined herein) within the Coastal Account. Although the Series
2015A Bonds are secured by the Pledged Revenues (see "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND
OTHER INDENTURE OBLIGATIONS" herein), Citizens expects that until and unless the proceeds are used to
pay such claims, it will pay the interest on the Series 2015A Bonds from investment earnings on the proceeds
of the Series 2015A Bonds and net premium revenue. See "INVESTMENTS", "APPENDIX I - CITIZENS
INVESTMENT POLICIES" and "RISK FACTORS — Investment Risk" herein. The Series 2015A Bonds will be
issued on a parity basis with the Prior Parity Bonds and any Additional Indenture Obligations that may be
issued from time to time.

Citizens' plan of finance anticipates that if the proceeds of the Series 2015A Bonds or other "pre-event”
Additional Indenture Obligations are spent to pay claims, then Citizens Policyholder Surcharges, FHCF
Reimbursements, Regular Assessments and/or Emergency Assessments would be used to reimburse the
Proceeds Account for the amounts disbursed to pay claims. Citizens could then make a new Draw or Draws
on these moneys over the life of such obligations as needed to pay claims, with an analogous reimbursement
process taking place each time; provided however, reimbursement of a prior Draw is not a prerequisite to
Citizens' ability to make additional Draws. Under the terms of the Indenture, before any moneys can be
withdrawn from the Proceeds Account to pay claims of policyholders, Citizens must sign a Draw Certificate
specifying the purpose of the Draw and specifying the Collateral against, or in anticipation of, which the Draw
is being made. Citizens must further certify in such Draw Certificate that, after making the Draw, it will have
sufficient moneys to pay all Debt Service Charges (as defined in the Indenture) on the outstanding Indenture
Obligations, including the Series 2015A Bonds, as they become due and payable. A new Draw Certificate with
the certifications described above is a prerequisite for each additional Draw. See "APPENDIX A -



COMPOSITE FORM OF THE TRUST INDENTURE AND FORM OF TENTH SUPPLEMENTAL
INDENTURE" attached hereto for a further description of the requirements to make a Draw including the
form of the Draw Certificate.

Under this plan of finance, principal payments on the Series 2015A Bonds would be paid from
moneys on hand in the Series 2015A Bonds Proceeds Subaccount at the time principal was due. However,
should losses large enough to cause a Plan Year Deficit giving rise to Emergency Assessments occur, Citizens
could make a Draw against, or in anticipation of, Emergency Assessments and use the revenues from such
Emergency Assessments to pay the principal and interest on the Indenture Obligations, including the Series
2015A Bonds, as they become due and payable. See “THE COASTAL ACCOUNT - Assessments, Surcharge,
and Other Funds" herein.

Plan Year Deficit

Citizens' Plan defines "Plan Year Deficit" to mean the amount by which the negative Operating Result
of an Account for a Plan Year exceeds the Surplus of such Account, as adjusted pursuant to the Plan (the "Plan
Year Deficit"). The Operating Result of an Account is calculated based primarily on the claims paid plus
operating and other expenses of an Account less reinsurance accrued and received or payable to Citizens by
the FHCF or other reinsurance counterparties. As described herein, Citizens must levy assessments to cure
any Plan Year Deficit. See “THE COASTAL ACCOUNT - Assessments, Surcharge and Other Funds" herein,
for a description of the requirements to levy assessments following a Plan Year Deficit.

The Plan provides that, for purposes of making a Draw on the Proceeds Account to pay policy claims
and other liabilities and expenses, the Operating Result of an Account is calculated by disregarding the
reinsurance reimbursements from the FHCF that have accrued to Citizens but which Citizens has not yet
received (the "FHCF Reimbursements"). A Plan Year Deficit resulting from the calculation disregarding the
FHCF Reimbursements is herein referred to as a "Liquidity Shortfall." In the event that there is a Liquidity
Shortfall, a Draw may be made on the Proceeds Account in anticipation of receipt of the FHCF
Reimbursements. When such FHCF Reimbursements are received, Citizens is required to deposit such
moneys to the Proceeds Account and can draw such moneys repeatedly to pay claims as described above. A
Liquidity Shortfall does not necessarily give rise to a Plan Year Deficit for assessment purposes, and therefore
may not trigger assessments by Citizens if the Liquidity Shortfall can be cured solely by the receipt of FHCF
Reimbursements.

Claims Paying Resources of Citizens
Citizens has at its disposal to pay policy claims most of the typical financial resources available to all
property and casualty insurance companies that conduct business in the State, and in addition, has assessment

powers granted to Citizens under the Act.

The following table lists the resources available to Citizens to pay claims:

Insurance Companies Typical Financial Resources Citizens' Additional Resources
e Prior Years’ Operating Surplus e Citizens Policyholder Surcharges
e Investment Income e Regular Assessments
e Net Insurance Premiums e Emergency Assessments
¢ Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund (FHCF)
Reimbursements

e Private Reinsurance



See “THE COASTAL ACCOUNT - Assessments, Surcharge and Other Funds" herein for a complete
description of these claims-paying resources. Reinsurance from both the traditional reinsurance markets
and/or the capital markets is herein referred to as “Private Reinsurance”.

Liquidity Resources of Citizens

While the resources listed above provide ultimate claims-paying ability for Citizens, not all of them
are available quickly enough to provide policyholders payment for their claims in a timely manner. The
primary resources for the Coastal Account that are not immediately available and that may require Citizens to
obtain additional liquidity for timely claims payment are the FHCF Reimbursements, Private Reinsurance,
and all of the resources listed under "Additional Resources" in the table above. The primary purpose of
Citizens’ pre-event financings including the Series 2015A Bonds, the Series 2011A-1 Bonds, the Series 2010A-1
Bonds, and the Series 2009A-1 Bonds is to provide a portion of such claims-paying liquidity. Historically,
Citizens” Coastal Account has used a combination of accumulated operating surplus funds and proceeds of
pre-event bond issues to provide needed liquidity. These programs have consistently enabled Citizens to
meet its obligations to policyholders in a timely manner pending receipt of the ultimate claims-paying
resource.

Citizens believes that its projected amounts available to pay policyholder claims will allow it to
continue to be able to pay such policyholder claims in a timely manner under most hurricane scenarios.
However, while the Series 2015A Bonds and the Prior Parity Bonds are designed to provide liquidity sufficient
to allow Citizens to access its other claims-paying resources, it is possible that Citizens could face a shortfall
that leaves it dependent on accessing financial markets after an event to procure additional sources of liquidity
to meet policyholder claims. Should storms occur resulting in claims which exhaust Citizens' pre-event
liquidity resources prior to all policyholder claims being paid, Citizens could issue post-event financing
instruments designed to be paid from the receipt of Pledged Revenues, including, under certain
circumstances, Emergency Assessments, to provide funds to pay such claims. However, the payment of
principal of and interest on the Series 2015A Bonds and the Prior Parity Bonds is not dependent on Citizens'
ability to access capital markets. For payment of all Parity Bonds, including the Series 2015A Bonds, Citizens
has, subject to certain restrictions, the ability to levy Emergency Assessments for an unlimited duration and in
an unlimited cumulative amount in total to pay debt service on the Bonds. See “THE COASTAL ACCOUNT
— Assessments, Surcharge and Other Funds" herein for such restrictions, including the limitations on the
annual amount of Emergency Assessments. See also “RISK FACTORS - Post-Event Bonds” and “RISK
FACTORS - Collectability of Surcharge, Assessments and Assessment Base” herein for a description of other
statutory entities such as the FHCF and Florida Insurance Guaranty Association (“FIGA”) that may impose
assessments on the same policyholders on which Citizens imposes Emergency Assessments. For a 1-100 year
event for the 2015 hurricane season, Citizens is projected to require no surcharges and/or assessments, as it has
sufficient financial resources to meet its potential obligations in a 1-100 year event. For a 1-100 year event for
the 2015 hurricane season, the FHCF could potentially have to issue post-event bonds in the amount of $3.2
billion in order to meet its projected maximum obligation of $17 billion, which would require a 0.64%
emergency assessment over 30 years. FIGA is a guaranty association established in order to pay covered
claims of property and casualty insolvent insurers (excluding workers” compensation). FIGA can levy regular
assessments and/or emergency assessments in order to pay claims or debt incurred to pay claims of insurers
rendered insolvent by the effects of a hurricane. Since 2000, FIGA has levied a regular assessment five times
for a total aggregate regular assessment of 6.9% and one emergency assessment of 2%. Each of these
assessments were one-time assessments.



APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS

The proceeds derived from the sale of the Series 2015A Bonds will be used to (i) make deposits to the
Series 2015A Bonds Proceeds Subaccount to provide funds to, among other things, pay from time to time
policy claims and other liabilities and expenses giving rise to any one or more Liquidity Shortfalls (as defined
herein) within the Coastal Account, and (ii) pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2015A Bonds. Net proceeds
of the Series 2015A Bonds deposited in the Series 2015A Bonds Proceeds Subaccount will be invested in
Permitted Investments consisting of Non-AMT Tax-Exempt Securities as defined herein.  See
"INVESTMENTS" herein, and "APPENDIX I - CITIZENS' INVESTMENT POLICIES" attached hereto.
Earnings on such Permitted Investments are expected to be one of the sources for payment of interest on the
Series 2015A Bonds until the proceeds are drawn to pay claims, if ever.
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES

The proceeds to be received from the sale of the Series 2015A Bonds are expected to be applied as

shown below:

Sources of Funds
Par Amount of Bonds
Original Issue Premium
Total

Uses of Funds
Deposit to Proceeds Subaccount
Issuance Costs®

Total

@ Issuance costs include Underwriters’ discount, rating agency, legal, accounting, financial advisory, printing

and other fees and expenses.

Series Series
2015A-1 2015A-2
Bonds Bonds Total
$700,000,000 $300,000,000 $1,000,000,000
93,566,850 - 93,566,850
$793,566,850 $300,000,000 $1,093,566,850
$789,741,695 $298,533,456 $1,088,275,151
3,825,155 1,466,544 5,291,699
$793,566,850 $300,000,000 $1,093,566,850
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ESTIMATED DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE FOR THE OUTSTANDING PRIOR PARITY BONDS

The following table sets forth the estimated debt service requirements on the Prior Parity Bonds (totals
may not add due to rounding). There are no Post-Event Bonds outstanding.

Series Total
2009A-1 Series Series Debt Service for
Year Ended Bonds 2010A-1 Bonds 2011A-1 Bonds the Prior
Dec. 31 Debt Service® Debt Service®  Debt Service® Parity Bonds

2015 $ 42,707,163 $460,978,894 $109,647,075 $613,333,132
2016 434,156,081 338,220,150 115,581,188 887,957,419
2017 353,217,500 537,825,175 23,445,213 914,487,888
2018 145,360,913 145,360,913
2019 187,938,306 187,938,306
2020 179,300,000 179,300,000

Totals $830,080,744  $1,337,024,219 $761,272,695 $2,928,377,658

(1)  The Series 2009A-1 Bonds outstanding in the principal amount of $746,585,000 mature in various
amounts on June 1 of 2016 and 2017 and are expected to be paid from the proceeds thereof (including
investment earnings thereon) on deposit in the Series 2009A-1 Bonds Proceeds Subaccount of the Proceeds
Account and the corresponding Reserve Subaccount in the amount of $864,739, 062, and from other funds
legally available therefor.

)  The Series 2010A-1 Bonds outstanding in the principal amount of $1,240,000,000 mature in various
amounts on each June 1 of 2015 through 2017 and are expected to be paid from the proceeds thereof (including
investment earnings thereon) on deposit in the Series 2010A-1 Bonds Proceeds Subaccount of the Proceeds
Account and the corresponding Reserve Subaccount in the amount of $1,427,513,434, and from other funds
legally available therefor.

3)  The Series 2011A-1 Bonds outstanding in the principal amount of $645,000,000 mature in various
amounts on each June 1 of 2015 through 2020 and are expected to be paid from the proceeds thereof (including
investment earnings thereon) on deposit in the Series 2011A-1 Bonds Proceeds Subaccount of the Proceeds
Account and the corresponding Reserve Subaccount in the amount of $689,527,253, and from other funds
legally available therefor.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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ESTIMATED DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE FOR THE
PRIOR PARITY BONDS AND SERIES 2015A BONDS

The following table sets forth the estimated debt service requirements on the Prior Parity Bonds and the
Series 2015A Bonds (totals may not add due to rounding). To the extent not drawn to pay claims, interest earnings
on the proceeds of the Series 2015A Bonds are expected to be used to offset the debt service thereon. Proceeds of the
Series 2015A Bonds are pledged to holders of the Series 2015A Bonds and, to the extent not drawn to pay claims, are
expected to be used to offset the debt service thereon.

Total Debt Series 2015A-1 Bonds Series 2015A-2 Bonds
Service for
Year Ended Prior Parity Total
Dec. 31 Bonds Principal Interest Principal Interest® Debt Service
2015 $613,333,132 - $17,303,333 - $1,510,849 $632,147,315
2016 887,957,419 - 34,800,000 - 3,031,406 925,788,825
2017 914,487,888 - 34,800,000 - 3,028,594 952,316,482
2018 145,360,913 $ 50,000,000 33,600,000 $150,000,000 2,308,027 381,268,940
2019 187,938,306 - 32,400,000 - 1,590,000 221,928,306
2020 179,300,000 150,000,000 28,675,000 150,000,000 795,738 508,770,738
2021 - 24,950,000 - - 24,950,000
2022 225,000,000 19,350,000 - - 244,350,000
2023 - 13,750,000 - - 13,750,000
2024 - 13,750,000 - - 13,750,000
2025 275,000,000 6,875,000 - - 281,875,000
Totals $2,928,377,658 $700,000,000 $260,253,333 $300,000,000 $12,264,615 $4,200,895,606
1 Based on the initial SIFMA Rate of 0.11% plus a spread of 0.85% for the Series 2015A-2 Bonds

maturing June 1, 2018 and on the initial SIFMA Rate of 0.11% plus a spread of 0.95% for the Series 2015A-2 Bonds

maturing June 1, 2020.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS
General

The Series 2015A Bonds will be issued pursuant to the Indenture. The following summaries of certain
provisions of the Indenture and the Series 2015A Bonds do not purport to be complete and are subject to, and
are qualified in their entirety by reference to all of the provisions of the Indenture and the Series 2015A Bonds,
including the definitions therein of certain terms. Capitalized terms used in this section but not defined herein
shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the Indenture. Certain capitalized terms are set forth in
"APPENDIX A - COMPOSITE FORM OF THE TRUST INDENTURE AND FORM OF TENTH
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE" attached hereto.

The Series 2015A Bonds will be issued as fully registered book-entry only bonds in the denominations
of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof, will be dated as of their date of delivery, and will bear interest from
such date, at the rate per annum set forth on the inside front cover of this Official Statement. Interest on the
Series 2015A-1 Bonds is calculated based upon a year of 360 days consisting of twelve 30 day months and
interest on the Series 2015A-2 Bonds is calculated based on a 365 or 366 day year on the actual days
outstanding. Interest on the Series 2015A-1 Bonds is payable on December 1, 2015 and semiannually on each
June 1 and December 1 thereafter. Interest on the Series 2015A-2 Bonds is payable monthly in arrears on the
first day of each calendar month commencing on August 1, 2015.

The Series 2015A Bonds will not have monthly deposits made to the Principal Account of the Debt
Service Account in respect of the principal thereof. The only deposits to such account for the Series 2015A
Bonds will occur on each May 25 for principal becoming due on the following June 1. For a further description
of the deposit required to be made into the Series 2015A Bonds Principal Sub-subaccount, see "SECURITY
FOR THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE OBLIGATIONS - Flow of Funds — Revenue
Account” and "- Certain Covenants — Debt Service Account” herein.

Optional Redemption

Series 2015A-1 Bonds. Each separate maturity of the Series 2015A-1 Bonds is subject to optional
redemption in whole or in part, prior to the scheduled maturity date, at a redemption price equal to 100%
of the principal amount of the Series 2015A-1 Bonds of such separate maturity to be redeemed, plus
accrued interest to the Redemption Date, on or after December 1 of the calendar year immediately
preceding the maturity date of the particular Series 2015A-1 Bonds to be redeemed. If a portion of a
maturity of the Series 2015A-1 Bonds is to be redeemed, the amount to be redeemed shall be as
determined by the Issuer, and the Indenture Trustee shall select the Series 2015A-1 Bonds of such
maturity to be redeemed by lot.

Series 2015A-2 Bonds. The Series 2015A-2 Bonds are subject to optional redemption prior to their
scheduled maturity date, in whole or in part, on any date on or after December 1, 2017, at a redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Series 2015A-2 Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued
interest to the Redemption Date. If less than all of the Series 2015A-2 Bonds shall be called for
redemption, the particular maturity or maturities of Series 2015A-2 Bonds or portions thereof to be
redeemed shall be as determined by the Issuer, and the Indenture Trustee shall select the Series 2015A-2
Bonds of like maturity to be redeemed by lot.
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Book-Entry-Only System

The information in this section concerning the Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New
York and DTC's book-entry only system has been obtained from DTC. Neither Citizens nor the Underwriters
make any representation or warranty regarding the accuracy or completeness thereof.

DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2015A Bonds. The Series 2015A Bonds, when
issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., DTC's partnership nominee or such other name as may
be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. When the Series 2015A Bonds are issued, ownership
interests will be available to purchasers only through a book-entry system maintained by DTC (the “Book-
Entry-Only System”). One fully-registered bond certificate will be issued for each maturity (or split maturity)
of a subseries of the Series 2015A Bonds (subject to any DTC restrictions on the maximum principal amount of
a bond certificate) and will be deposited with DTC.

SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. IS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, AS
NOMINEE OF DTC, REFERENCES IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO THE SERIES 2015A
BONDHOLDERS OR REGISTERED OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS OR HOLDERS OF SERIES
2015A BONDS SHALL MEAN CEDE & CO. AND SHALL NOT MEAN THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF
THE SERIES 2015A BONDS.

THE DESCRIPTION WHICH FOLLOWS OF THE PROCEDURES AND RECORDKEEPING WITH
RESPECT TO BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, PAYMENT OF
PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2015A BONDS TO DTC PARTICIPANTS (AS
HEREINAFTER DEFINED) OR BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, CONFIRMATION
AND TRANSFER OF BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, AND OTHER
RELATED TRANSACTIONS BY AND BETWEEN DTC, THE DTC PARTICIPANTS AND BENEFICIAL
OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS IS BASED SOLELY ON INFORMATION FURNISHED BY DTC.
ACCORDINGLY, CITIZENS NEITHER MAKES NOR CAN MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS
CONCERNING THESE MATTERS.

DTC, the world's largest securities depository is a limited-purpose trust company organized under
the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a
member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York
Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S.
and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments from over
100 countries that DTC's participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-
trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities,
through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants' accounts. This
eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and
non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other
organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).
DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing
Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated
subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others, such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities
brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a
custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has
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a Standard & Poor's rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.

Purchases of the Series 2015A Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct
Participants, which will receive a credit for the Series 2015A Bonds on DTC's records. The ownership interest
of each actual purchaser of each Series 2015A Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct
and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their
purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the
transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through
which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2015A
Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf
of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in
the Series 2015A Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Series 2015A Bonds is
discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2015A Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC
are registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name as may be requested
by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of the Series 2015A Bonds with DTC and their
registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial
ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2015A Bonds; DTC's records
reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Series 2015A Bonds are credited,
which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible
for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners
will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be
in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Series 2015A Bonds may wish to take certain steps to
augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Series 2015A Bonds, such
as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Series 2015A Bond documents. For
example, Beneficial Owners of the Series 2015A Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the
Series 2015A Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the
alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the Trustee and request that
copies of notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Series 2015A Bonds within a maturity
are being redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant
in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the
Series 2015A Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI Procedures.
Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to Citizens as soon as possible after the record date.
The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose
accounts the Series 2015A Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the
Omnibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Series 2015A Bonds will be made
to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's

14



practice is to credit Direct Participants' accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail
information from Citizens or the Trustee, on the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings
shown on DTC's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing
instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer
form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the
Trustee or Citizens, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of Citizens or the
Trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and
disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect
Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2015A Bonds at
any time by giving reasonable notice to Citizens or the Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event that a
successor depository is not obtained, certificates for the Series 2015A Bonds are required to be printed and
delivered.

Citizens may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository upon compliance with DTC requirements). In that event, certificates for the
Series 2015A Bonds will be printed and delivered to DTC.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from
sources that Citizens believes to be reliable, but Citizens takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

Determination of Series 2015A-2 Bonds Interest Rate

The Series 2015A-2 Bonds will bear interest at the Adjusted SIFMA Rate, payable monthly in
arrears on each Interest Payment Date (commencing on August 1, 2015) and computed on the basis of the
actual number of days elapsed over a year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be. "Interest Payment
Date" means, in connection with the Series 2015A-2 Bonds, the first day of each calendar month.

Pursuant to the Indenture, the “Adjusted SIFMA Rate” equals the sum of the SIFMA Rate plus a
spread of 0.85% for the Series 2015A-2 Bonds maturing on June 1, 2018 and plus a spread of 0.95% for the
Series 2015A-2 Bonds maturing on June 1, 2020.

Pursuant to the Indenture, “SIFMA Rate” means for any day the level of the most recently
effective index rate which is compiled from the weekly interest rate resets of tax-exempt variable rate
issues included in a database maintained by Municipal Market Data which meets specific criteria
established from time to time by the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (SIFMA) and
is issued on Wednesday of each week, or if any Wednesday is not a U.S. Government Securities Business
Day, the next succeeding U.S. Government Securities Business Day. If such index is no longer published
or otherwise not available, the “SIFMA Rate” for any day will mean the level of the “S&P Municipal Bond
7 Day High Grade Index” maintained by Standard & Poor's Securities Evaluations Inc. for a 7-day
maturity as published on the Adjustment Date or most recently published prior to the Adjustment Date.
If both such indices are no longer available, the “SIFMA Rate” will be the prevailing rate of such index by
the Calculation Agent, in consultation with Citizens, for tax-exempt state and local government bonds
meeting the then-current Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association criteria.
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The Adjusted SIFMA Rate for each maturity will be adjusted Wednesday of each week, or if such
day is not a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, the next succeeding U.S. Government Securities
Business Day (each an “Adjustment Date”), based upon changes in the SIFMA Rate, as further described
below. Such Adjusted SIFMA Rate will be effective the immediately succeeding Thursday.

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” is defined in the Indenture as any day other than (a)
a Saturday, a Sunday, or (b) a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association
(SIFMA) recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for
purposes of trading in U.S. government securities, or (c) a day on which the Calculation Agent is required
or permitted by law to close.

Except for the initial Adjusted SIFMA Rate applicable to the Series 2015A-2 Bonds upon their
issuance, which shall be determined by J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representative of the Underwriters
on or prior to the date of issuance of the Series 2015A-2 Bonds, the Adjusted SIFMA Rate will be
determined by the Calculation Agent. The Adjusted SIFMA Rate shall be adjusted on each Adjustment
Date, based upon the SIFMA Rate published for such week, with the effective date for each adjustment of
the Adjusted SIFMA Rate to be each Thursday. Upon the request of the Holder of any Series 2015A-2
Bond, the Calculation Agent will provide the applicable Adjusted SIFMA Rate then in effect. The
Indenture Trustee is acting as the initial Calculation Agent with respect to the Series 2015A-2 Bonds. The
Adjusted SIFMA Rate will never exceed an interest rate per annum equal to the lesser of the maximum
rate permitted by law and 10%.

The determination of the Adjusted SIFMA Rate (absent manifest error) will be conclusive
and binding upon Citizens and the Owners of the Series 2015A-2 Bonds. If for any reason the
Adjusted SIFMA Rate shall not be established, the Series 2015A-2 Bonds will bear interest at the Adjusted
SIFMA Rate last in effect until such time as a new Adjusted SIFMA Rate is established pursuant to the
terms of the Indenture.

Interest on the Series 2015A-2 Bonds shall be payable monthly in arrears on August 1, 2015 and on
each Interest Payment Date thereafter to the persons in whose names the Series 2015A-2 Bonds are registered
at the close of business on the Regular Record Date. Interest on the maturity date of the Series 2015A-2 Bonds
shall be payable to the persons to whom principal is payable. Interest payments on the Series 2015A-2 Bonds
shall be the amount of interest accrued from and including the date of issuance or the most recent Interest
Payment Date on which interest has been paid to but excluding the Interest Payment Date.

If any Interest Payment Date or maturity date falls on a day that is not a Business Day, the
payment of interest (and principal due on the maturity date) shall be made on the next succeeding
Business Day with the same force and effect as if made on the day such payment was due, and no interest
shall accrue for the period from and after such maturity date for such Series 2015A-2 Bonds.

PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
General

A Pledge, Security and Trust Agreement dated as of August 6, 1997, as amended and supplemented
(the "Pledge and Security Agreement") among Citizens, as the legislatively-mandated successor in interest to
FWUA, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as successor collateral trustee and custodian (the
"Collateral Trustee"), secures the Indenture Obligations, any Line of Credit and any Hedge Obligations. The
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following summary of the Pledge and Security Agreement does not purport to be complete and is subject to,
and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of the Pledge and Security Agreement, a
composite form of which is attached hereto as APPENDIX B. Terms used in this section in capitalized form
and not otherwise defined in this Official Statement have the meanings assigned to them in the Pledge and
Security Agreement. See "APPENDIX B - COMPOSITE FORM OF THE PLEDGE AND SECURITY
AGREEMENT" attached hereto.

THE INDENTURE IS TO BE AMENDED AND RESTATED IN ITS ENTIRETY THROUGH A
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE THAT WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE AND GOVERN THE SERIES 2015A
BONDS WHEN THE PRIOR PARITY BONDS (AS DEFINED HEREIN AND WHICH DOES NOT
INCLUDE THE SERIES 2015A BONDS) ARE NO LONGER OUTSTANDING UNDER THE
INDENTURE (WHETHER THROUGH DEFEASANCE OR MATURITY). BY THEIR PURCHASE OF
THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, THE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS WILL HAVE
CONSENTED TO AND APPROVED (I) THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
INDENTURE IN ITS ENTIRETY, (II) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST
INDENTURE IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE FORM ATTACHED HERETO AS APPENDIX ], (III) THE
TERMINATION OF THE PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT UPON THE EXECUTION AND
DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, AND (IV) THE CONVERSION OF THE SERIES
2015A BONDS THAT MATURE AFTER THE CONVERSION DATE FROM OBLIGATIONS ISSUED
AND SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE TO OBLIGATIONS ISSUED AND
SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE. THE PURCHASERS
OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS ARE DEEMED TO HAVE CONSENTED TO ALL OF THE FOREGOING.
SEE “PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE”
HEREIN AND “APPENDIX J -FORM OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE”.

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS SHOULD ASSUME THAT
THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE AND THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
INDENTURE WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE DURING THE PERIOD OF TIME THAT SUCH
PURCHASERS WILL HOLD THE SERIES 2015A BONDS.

Pursuant to the Pledge and Security Agreement, in order to secure payment of the Senior Secured
Obligations (as defined below) when due (whether at the stated maturity, by acceleration, or otherwise) and to
secure the performance of Citizens under the Pledge and Security Agreement and under each related Secured
Instrument with respect thereto, Citizens assigns and grants to the Collateral Trustee a lien on and security
interest in the Collateral for the benefit of the holders of the Senior Secured Obligations, ratably, as provided in
the Pledge and Security Agreement.

"Senior Secured Obligations" is defined in the Pledge and Security Agreement to include (i) principal
of and interest on outstanding loans under any Line of Credit with respect to the Coastal Account, (ii)
principal of and interest on outstanding Indenture Obligations (which will include the Series 2015A Bonds),
(iii) amounts payable under the Pledge and Security Agreement in connection with the enforcement and
collection of the Collateral, (iv) amounts payable by Citizens in respect of any net payment (other than a
termination payment) under certain interest rate hedge agreements with respect to Indenture Obligations or
obligations under a Line of Credit, and (v) certain related obligations with respect to the foregoing. Upon
issuance of the Series 2015A Bonds, the only Senior Secured Obligations outstanding will be the Series 2015A
Bonds and the Prior Parity Bonds. Citizens currently has no outstanding Lines of Credit or loans under any
Line of Credit or interest rate hedge agreements with respect to Indenture Obligations.
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"Collateral" is defined under the Pledge and Security Agreement to include: (1) Regular Assessments
and FHCF Reimbursements and investments, earnings and proceeds thereof or thereon (defined in the Pledge
and Security Agreement as "Liquidity Shared Revenues"), (2) Emergency Assessments and investments,
earnings and proceeds thereof or thereon (defined in the Pledge and Security Agreement as "Term Shared
Revenues"), (3) Net premiums and surcharges collected by Citizens in respect of the Coastal Account, and (4)
the Suspense Account, the Liquidity Shared Revenues Account, the Term Shared Revenues Account, the Net
Premium and Surcharge Revenues Account and the Citizens Account, all established pursuant to the Pledge
and Security Agreement (including all subaccounts therein) and all cash and investments therein and earnings
thereon and proceeds thereof.

Distributions of the Collateral

Liguidity Shared Revenues. Pursuant to the Pledge and Security Agreement, there is established with
the Collateral Trustee the "Liquidity Shared Revenues Account," into which the Liquidity Shared Revenues are
required to be deposited. Unless the Collateral Trustee has received a Notice of Default Distribution (as
defined below) from the Bank Agent or the Indenture Trustee, the Collateral Trustee will distribute the
Liquidity Shared Revenues (primarily Regular Assessments and FHCF Reimbursements) on the Monthly
Distribution Date (as defined below) in the following order: (i) pro rata to the Bank Agent (if a loan under a
Line of Credit is then in effect) and the Indenture Trustee based on (a) the amount of unpaid principal of
Liquidity Loans (or Term Loans to the extent incurred to refinance such Liquidity Loans) borrowed in respect
of such Liquidity Shared Revenues and (b) the amount of outstanding Draws from the Proceeds Account
under the Indenture made in respect of such Liquidity Shared Revenues, (ii) to the Bank Agent (if a Line of
Credit is then in effect), based on the amount of accrued and unpaid interest on such Liquidity Loans, and (iii)
to the extent of any excess, to the Citizens Account established under the Pledge and Security Agreement.
Amounts on deposit in the Citizens Account under the Pledge and Security Agreement, so long as no Notice
of Default Distribution is then effective, will be distributed by the Collateral Trustee at Citizens' direction.

“Notice of Default Distribution” means notice that (a) Citizens has failed to pay any principal of or
interest on any obligation secured by the Pledge and Security Agreement on a parity with the Indenture
Obligations, including the Series 2015A Bonds; or (b) any obligation secured by the Pledge and Security
Agreement on a parity with the Indenture Obligations, including the Series 2015A Bonds, has been accelerated
and remains unpaid. "Monthly Distribution Date" means the twenty-fifth day of each calendar month (or the
next business day if such day is not a business day).

Term Shared Revenues. Pursuant to the Pledge and Security Agreement, there is established with the
Collateral Trustee the "Term Shared Revenues Account," into which there will be deposited the Term Shared
Revenues required to be deposited. Unless the Collateral Trustee has received from the Bank Agent (if a Line
of Credit is then in effect) or the Indenture Trustee a Notice of Default Distribution, the Collateral Trustee will
distribute Term Shared Revenues (primarily Emergency Assessments) held in the Term Shared Revenues
Account on each Monthly Distribution Date immediately after the distribution of Liquidity Shared Revenues
as described above, in the following order: (i) pro rata to the Bank Agent (if a Line of Credit is then in effect),
the Indenture Trustee and each Hedge Counterparty (if a Hedge Agreement is then in effect), the amount of
accrued and unpaid interest on outstanding Term Loans and Indenture Obligations and, with respect to any
Hedge Obligations (if a Hedge Agreement is then in effect), any net payments (other than termination
payments), in each case, due and payable prior to the twenty-fifth day of the next calendar month, (ii) pro rata
to the Bank Agent (if a Line of Credit is then in effect) and the Indenture Trustee based on the unpaid principal
of Outstanding Term Loans and Indenture Obligations payable on or before the end of the current Payment
Quarter (as defined below) (and, with respect to any Indenture Obligations, less any amounts held in a
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Defeasance Sub-subaccount in respect of such Indenture Obligations, plus the redemption premium, if any,
payable on the next call date), (iii) to the Indenture Trustee based on the mandatory defeasance payments
required to be made on the Indenture Obligations on or before the end of the current Payment Quarter, (iv) to
each Hedge Counterparty (if a Hedge Agreement is then in effect), an amount equal to the unpaid termination
payment then due and payable, and (v) pro rata to the Bank Agent (if a Line of Credit is then in effect), the
Indenture Trustee and each Hedge Counterparty (if a Hedge Agreement is then in effect) based on the amount
of fees, expenses and other amounts not described above then due and payable under any Line of Credit then
in effect, the Indenture and any Hedge Obligation (if a Hedge Agreement is then in effect). On the last
Monthly Distribution Date in each Payment Quarter, after completing the distribution described above in this
paragraph, unless the Collateral Trustee has received a Notice of Default Distribution, the Collateral Trustee
will distribute all remaining Term Shared Revenues in the following order (i) the amount designated as the
"Required Quarterly Prepayment Amount” under any Line of Credit then in effect, (ii) pro rata to the holders
of Junior Secured Obligations (if any), an amount equal to the unpaid amounts due and payable with respect
thereto, and (iii) to the extent of any excess, to the Proceeds Account established under the Indenture,
provided, that to the extent that any such deposit to the Proceeds Account could cause the amount on deposit
therein to exceed the outstanding principal amount of all Indenture Obligations theretofore issued, such excess
will be transferred to the Citizens Account under the Pledge and Security Agreement.

"Payment Quarter" is defined in the Pledge and Security Agreement to mean, for each year, (i) the
period from February 26 through and including May 25 of such year, (ii) the period from May 26 through and
including August 25 of such year, (iii) the period from August 26 through and including November 25 of such
year and (iv) from November 26 through and including February 25 of the next succeeding year.

Citizens currently has no post-event debt, line of credit, or hedge agreements in effect.

Net Premium and Surcharge Revenues. Pursuant to the Pledge and Security Agreement, there is a
designated account established with the Collateral Trustee entitled the "Net Premium and Surcharge
Revenues Account" into which all net premiums, surcharges and recoupments, charged or levied by, or
otherwise payable to Citizens with respect to the Coastal Account are required to be deposited. Unless the
Collateral Trustee has received from the Bank Agent (if a Line of Credit is then in effect) or the Indenture

Trustee a Notice of Default Distribution, the Collateral Trustee will from time to time disburse amounts held in
the Net Premium and Surcharge Revenues Account as directed by Citizens to be used within 30 days of the
disbursement for the payment of loss claims and/or operating expenses, or to make deposits to the Defeasance
Subaccount under the Indenture. In addition, unless a Notice of Default Distribution is then effective, on each
Monthly Distribution Date, immediately following the distribution of Term Shared Revenues as described
above, if any, if a deficiency exists in the deposits described above under the caption "Term Shared Revenues,"
the Collateral Trustee shall disburse amounts held in the Net Premium and Surcharge Revenues Account in
the amounts necessary to cure such deficiencies in the order described under such caption.

Notice of Default Distribution. Following the receipt by the Collateral Trustee of a Notice of Default
Distribution (and while such Notice of Default Distribution is in effect), the Collateral Trustee will distribute
the Collateral monthly on the date fixed by the Collateral Trustee in the following order: (i) pay or reimburse
certain costs and expenses of the Collateral Trustee incurred in connection with the Pledge and Security
Agreement until sufficient funds have been allocated to pay or reimburse such costs and expenses in full, (ii)
pro rata to the Secured Party Representatives with respect to Senior Secured Obligations, based on the amount
of their respective Catch-up Amounts (as defined below), if any, until sufficient funds have been distributed to
pay all such Catch-up Amounts in full, (iii) pro rata to the Secured Party Representatives, with respect to
Senior Secured Obligations, based on the unpaid amount of their Senior Secured Obligations, and in the case
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of any Hedge Obligation (if a Hedge Obligation is then in effect), based on any unpaid amounts then due and
payable thereunder (including any termination payments) until sufficient funds have been distributed to pay
such amounts in full, (iv) pro rata to the Secured Party Representatives entitled thereto, an amount equal to
their respective Catch-Up Amounts with respect to Junior Secured Obligations, (v) pro rata to the Secured
Party Representatives, all amounts due and payable with respect to Junior Secured Obligations and (vi) to the
extent of any excess, to Citizens or as a court of competent jurisdiction may direct. The term "Catch-up
Amount" means, with respect to any Secured Instrument, the amount required to be distributed from the
Collateral to the secured party in respect thereof so that, immediately after giving effect to such distribution,
the ratio of (a) amounts distributed to such secured party from the Collateral from and after the Initial Default
Distribution Date (i.e., the date of the initial distribution made 30 days after the date of the receipt by the
Collateral Trustee of a Notice of Default Distribution) in respect of any senior secured or junior secured
obligation, respectively, to (b) the sum of all unpaid amounts in respect of such obligations, plus the amount of
all distributions from the Collateral made from and after the Initial Default Distribution Date to such secured
party in respect of such secured obligation, equals the highest ratio of (x) all amounts distributed to any other
secured party from the Collateral from and after the Initial Default Distribution Date in respect of any other
secured obligations ranking on parity therewith to (y) the sum of the aggregate unpaid amounts with respect
to all secured obligations on parity therewith, plus the amount of all distributions made from the Collateral
from and after the Initial Default Distribution Date in respect of such other secured obligations. For purposes
of determining the Catch-up Amount with respect to Hedge Obligations and junior secured obligations, if any,
only unpaid amounts then due and payable are considered in calculating the amounts referred to in clauses
(b) and (y).

Suspense Account. The Suspense Account is established with the Collateral Trustee under the Pledge
and Security Agreement. If the Collateral Trustee is not notified as required by the Pledge and Security
Agreement and therefore cannot determine how to apply amounts received by it pursuant to the Pledge and
Security Agreement, the Collateral Trustee will deposit such amounts in the Suspense Account. The Collateral
Trustee will give written notice to each Secured Party Representative and to Citizens of amounts deposited in
the Suspense Account, and Citizens will cooperate with the Collateral Trustee and the Secured Party
Representatives to determine the appropriate application of such amounts. The Collateral Trustee will transfer
amounts in the Suspense Account (including earnings thereon) to the other accounts and subaccounts
provided in the Pledge and Security Agreement in accordance with joint written instructions from Citizens,
the Indenture Trustee and each Bank Agent (if a Line of Credit is then in effect), or if a Notice of Default
Distribution has been received and is effective, in accordance with joint written instructions from the
Indenture Trustee and each Bank Agent (if a Line of Credit is then in effect).

Additional Secured Obligations. Citizens may issue additional obligations secured under the Pledge and
Security Agreement upon certification to the Collateral Trustee, among other things, that the issuance of such
obligations is not prohibited by any Security Instrument (as defined in the Pledge and Security Agreement,
including the Indenture) then in effect. The Pledge and Security Agreement does not require Citizens to
satisfy any financial covenants or tests prior to issuance of obligations secured thereby, except as may be
provided in any such Security Instrument. The Pledge and Security Agreement does not permit the issuance
of obligations with a lien superior to Senior Secured Obligations.

Termination of Pledge and Security Agreement upon Execution and Delivery of Master Trust
Indenture

Upon the execution and delivery of the Master Trust Indenture, the Pledge and Security

Agreement will be terminated and no longer exist. See “APPENDIX ] — FORM OF MASTER TRUST
INDENTURE” hereto.
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SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE OBLIGATIONS

THE INDENTURE IS TO BE AMENDED AND RESTATED IN ITS ENTIRETY THROUGH A
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE THAT WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE AND GOVERN THE SERIES 2015A
BONDS WHEN THE PRIOR PARITY BONDS (AS DEFINED HEREIN AND WHICH DOES NOT
INCLUDE THE SERIES 2015A BONDS) ARE NO LONGER OUTSTANDING UNDER THE
INDENTURE (WHETHER THROUGH DEFEASANCE OR MATURITY). BY THEIR PURCHASE OF
THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, THE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS WILL HAVE
CONSENTED TO AND APPROVED (I) THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
INDENTURE IN ITS ENTIRETY, (II) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST
INDENTURE IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE FORM ATTACHED HERETO AS APPENDIX ], (III) THE
TERMINATION OF THE PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT UPON THE EXECUTION AND
DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, AND (IV) THE CONVERSION OF THE SERIES
2015A BONDS THAT MATURE AFTER THE CONVERSION DATE FROM OBLIGATIONS ISSUED
AND SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE TO OBLIGATIONS ISSUED AND
SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE. THE PURCHASERS
OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS ARE DEEMED TO HAVE CONSENTED TO ALL OF THE FOREGOING.
SEE “PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE”
HEREIN AND “APPENDIX J - FORM OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE”.

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS SHOULD ASSUME THAT
THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE AND THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
INDENTURE WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE DURING THE PERIOD OF TIME THAT SUCH
PURCHASERS WILL HOLD THE SERIES 2015A BONDS.

Security

The Series 2015A Bonds will be secured solely by and be payable from the Pledged Revenues, as
described herein, on a parity with the Prior Parity Bonds, and any Additional Indenture Obligations that may
be issued from time to time under the Indenture; provided, however, that the Series 2015A Bonds will not be
secured by or payable from (i) any moneys or investments in the Coverage Account, or (ii) moneys or
investments in the Defeasance Subaccount (or any sub-subaccount therein) of the Debt Service Account
deposited therein in respect of a Series of Indenture Obligations other than the Series 2015A Bonds; and,
provided further that the Series 2015A Bonds will not be secured by or payable from any moneys or
investments in the Reserve Account for the Prior Parity Bonds or in any subaccount therein. No subaccount is
established in the Reserve Account for the Series 2015A Bonds. Indenture Obligations are secured on a parity
with Senior Secured Obligations under the Pledge and Security Agreement.

"Pledged Revenues" means, collectively, (a) the undivided fractional interest of the Indenture Trustee
in and to any and all Collateral (as defined below), and (b) any and all other moneys and investments held
from time to time in the Accounts and Subaccounts established under the Indenture as provided therein,
including, without limitation, investment earnings thereon; provided, however, that amounts received by the
Indenture Trustee which constitute (i) proceeds of Regular Assessments in anticipation of which Citizens has
not made a Draw and (ii) FHCF Reimbursements in excess of the amount of such FHCF Reimbursements
required to be deposited into the Proceeds Account in order to fully reimburse the amount of a Draw made in
anticipation thereof, in each case, will be deposited immediately upon receipt thereof by the Indenture Trustee
in the Citizens Account and will be released to Citizens free and clear of the pledge and lien of the Indenture,
except as described below under the caption "Flow of Funds — Indenture Accounts — Citizens Account.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, moneys or investments in the Coverage Account, the Debt Service Account or
the Reserve Account deposited in respect of a Series of Indenture Obligations other than the Series 2015A
Bonds, will not constitute "Pledged Revenues" for, and will not secure, the Series 2015A Bonds. No
subaccount in the Reserve Account is established for the Series 2015A Bonds.

"Collateral" is defined in the Indenture to mean any and all amounts and interests pledged or granted
to, or otherwise held by, the Collateral Trustee under the Pledge and Security Agreement, but only to the
extent that such amounts and interests are derived, result or originate, in any manner whatsoever, from the
Coastal Account. These interests include (i) net premium and surcharge revenues (including the Citizens
Policyholder Surcharge) collected by Citizens in respect of the Coastal Account; (ii) Regular Assessments as to
which Citizens has made Draws; (iii) Emergency Assessments; and (iv) FHCF Reimbursements as to which
Citizens has borrowed Liquidity Loans or Term Loans (as defined in the Pledge and Security Agreement) or
made Draws, in each case to secure the obligations of Citizens to pay the principal of and interest on Indenture
Obligations and to make the deposits required to be made to eliminate any deficit in the accounts or
subaccounts under the Indenture, to pay fees and other amounts due and payable under any future Line of
Credit that Citizens may obtain for the Coastal Account, and the Indenture, and to pay certain amounts
payable by Citizens under any Hedge Obligation or credit enhancement reimbursement obligations. As used
in the Indenture, "Collateral" will not include amounts or interests that are derived, result or originate, in any
manner whatsoever, from the PLA or the CLA.

The Series 2015A Bonds and all other obligations arising under the Indenture will be direct and
general obligations of Citizens' Coastal Account, payable from and secured solely by the Pledged
Revenues as provided in the Indenture. No Person, including, without limitation, the holders of the Series
2015A Bonds nor the Indenture Trustee will have a claim against, or recourse to, the PLA or the CLA
(including the revenues and assets allocated and allocable or required to be allocated to the PLA or the
CLA) in respect of the Series 2015A Bonds or any other obligation arising under, directly or indirectly, the
Indenture. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Series 2015A Bonds or the Indenture, the
Series 2015A Bonds do not and will not represent or constitute a debt or pledge of the faith and credit or
the taxing power of the State or of any political subdivision, municipality or other local agency thereof or
of any Assessable Insurer (as defined herein) or Assessable Insured (as defined herein). Citizens has no
taxing power.

THE INDENTURE IS TO BE AMENDED AND RESTATED IN ITS ENTIRETY THROUGH A
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE THAT WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE AND GOVERN THE SERIES 2015A
BONDS WHEN THE PRIOR PARITY BONDS (AS DEFINED HEREIN AND WHICH DOES NOT
INCLUDE THE SERIES 2015A BONDS) ARE NO LONGER OUTSTANDING UNDER THE
INDENTURE (WHETHER THROUGH DEFEASANCE OR MATURITY). BY THEIR PURCHASE OF
THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, THE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS WILL HAVE
CONSENTED TO AND APPROVED (I) THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
INDENTURE IN ITS ENTIRETY, (II) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST
INDENTURE IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE FORM ATTACHED HERETO AS APPENDIX ], (III) THE
TERMINATION OF THE PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT UPON THE EXECUTION AND
DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, AND (IV) THE CONVERSION OF THE SERIES
2015A BONDS THAT MATURE AFTER THE CONVERSION DATE FROM OBLIGATIONS ISSUED
AND SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE TO OBLIGATIONS ISSUED AND
SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE. THE PURCHASERS
OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS ARE DEEMED TO HAVE CONSENTED TO ALL OF THE FOREGOING.
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SEE “PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE”
HEREIN AND “APPENDIX J - FORM OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE”.

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS SHOULD ASSUME THAT
THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE AND THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
INDENTURE WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE DURING THE PERIOD OF TIME THAT SUCH
PURCHASERS WILL HOLD THE SERIES 2015A BONDS.

No Reserve Account

No subaccount is being established in the Reserve Account under the Indenture for the Series
2015A Bonds. Funds in the Reserve Account or Subaccounts therein related to Prior Parity Obligations
and any Additional Indenture Obligations that may be issued in the future are not available to make debt
service payments on the Series 2015A Bonds.

Additional Indenture Obligations

In addition to the Series 2015A Bonds and the Prior Parity Bonds, other Additional Indenture
Obligations may be issued from time to time under the Indenture, either prior or subsequent to the occurrence
of a Plan Year Deficit with respect to the Coastal Account and secured on a parity with the Series 2015A
Bonds, the Prior Parity Bonds, and other Additional Indenture Obligations issued after the Series 2015A Bonds
and outstanding as to the pledge of and lien on the Pledged Revenues for the only purpose of paying all or
any portion of, or providing additional liquidity for the future payment of, a Liquidity Shortfall, paying
policyholder claims that give rise to a Plan Year Deficit or refunding Outstanding Indenture Obligations. The
Indenture Trustee will serve as the trustee for any such Additional Indenture Obligations issued under the
Indenture.

The Indenture does not limit the aggregate principal amount of Additional Indenture Obligations that
may be issued and does not require Citizens to satisfy any financial covenants or tests prior to issuing such
Additional Indenture Obligations; provided, however, that the proceeds of such Additional Indenture
Obligations must be either (a) applied to refinance outstanding Indenture Obligations or (b) deposited into a
subaccount in the Proceeds Account established for such Additional Indenture Obligations under the
Indenture.  Proceeds of any such Additional Indenture Obligations may be withdrawn from the
corresponding subaccount in the Proceeds Account only upon satisfaction of the certification requirements
described below under "Proceeds Account." In addition, Citizens may issue or enter into other Senior Secured
Obligations under the Pledge and Security Agreement without limit or without satisfying any financial
covenants or tests. See "PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT" and “INTRODUCTION - Other
Indebtedness” herein.

Proceeds Account

The Indenture establishes a trust account designated as the "Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
Proceeds Account” (the "Proceeds Account”) and a subaccount therein designated as the Citizens Property
Insurance Corporation Costs of Issuance Subaccount (the "Costs of Issuance Subaccount"). The Indenture also
permits the creation of a separate subaccount within the Proceeds Account with respect to each Series of
Indenture Obligations. The Proceeds Account constitutes an irrevocable trust fund to be applied solely as set
forth in the Indenture and will be held by the Indenture Trustee separate and apart from all other Accounts,
Subaccounts and Sub-Subaccounts under the Indenture and from all other moneys of the Indenture Trustee.
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The moneys in the Proceeds Account, including any Subaccounts created for any Series of Indenture
Obligations, will be held by the Indenture Trustee in trust and, pending application thereof for the purposes
permitted by the Indenture, will be subject to a lien and charge in favor of the Holders of all Indenture
Obligations from time to time issued and outstanding under the Indenture and will be held for the security of
all such Holders, regardless of whether one or more Subaccounts have been established within the Proceeds
Account. Itis the intent of the Indenture that all moneys on deposit to the credit of the Proceeds Account and
all Subaccounts therein secure the Holders of all outstanding Indenture Obligations equally pending
application of such moneys for the purposes permitted in the Indenture. The moneys and investments held
on deposit to the credit of the Proceeds Account will be applied solely to provide funds to pay policy claims
and other liabilities and expenses giving rise to any one or more Liquidity Shortfalls within the Coastal
Account provided, however, that amounts on deposit to the credit of each Subaccount in the Proceeds
Account may, at the election of Citizens, be applied to pay principal of and interest on the Series of Indenture
Obligations for which such Subaccount was established, make mandatory defeasance deposits in accordance
with the provisions of the Indenture and otherwise applied to any lawful purpose of the Coastal Account, as
described below. Subject to the conditions described below, Citizens may from time to time make Draws from
the Proceeds Account, reimburse the amounts drawn to the Proceeds Account and re-draw amounts from the
Proceeds Account.

Except as otherwise described under this subcaption "Proceeds Account," from time to time, upon
receipt by the Indenture Trustee of a requisition signed by an Authorized Citizens Representative requesting a
Draw, and subject further to satisfaction of the conditions set forth in the Indenture, as described under this
subcaption "Proceeds Account," the Indenture Trustee will transfer amounts from the Proceeds Account to
Citizens. Subject to satisfaction of the conditions set forth in the Indenture, as described under the subcaptions
"Proceeds Account" and "Flow of Funds," and subject further to the stated maturities of the Indenture Obligations,
Citizens may from time to time obtain a Draw from the Proceeds Account and, in its sole and absolute
discretion, reimburse the amounts so drawn to the Proceeds Account and (subject to satisfaction of the
conditions set forth in the Indenture and described below) obtain a new Draw in such amounts from the
Proceeds Account (it being expressly understood that the reimbursement of prior Draws to the Proceeds
Account is not a precondition to Citizens' ability to obtain Draws from amounts remaining in the Proceeds
Account, so long as Citizens complies with the requisition requirements of the Indenture); provided, however,
that no Draw may be made if Citizens has given written direction to the Indenture Trustee to apply amounts
in the Proceeds Account in the manner provided in the Indenture when funds are sufficient to pay all
Indenture Obligations.

Upon receipt by the Indenture Trustee of a requisition in compliance with the Indenture requesting a
Draw from the Proceeds Account (each a "Requisition”), the Indenture Trustee will transfer amounts from the
Proceeds Account to Citizens. The Requisition will be based upon Citizens' reasonable forecast of Annual
Debt Service and the sources of revenue within or allocable to the Coastal Account available to pay such
Annual Debt Service. Each Requisition must certify that, after giving effect to the proposed Draw, the moneys
remaining in the Proceeds Account and the other accounts established pursuant to the Indenture (other than
the Defeasance Subaccount of the Debt Service Account), the Pledge and Security Agreement, the Bank
Collateral Agreement (if any), any Indenture Obligation Hedge Agreements and any Line of Credit Hedge
Agreements and all other amounts reasonably expected to be received by or on behalf of Citizens and
attributable to the Coastal Account, will be sufficient to pay the Debt Service Charges on all Indenture
Obligations outstanding, the principal and interest on all Loans outstanding under the Line of Credit, if any,
all net amounts due under Indenture Obligation Hedge Agreements, if any, and all net amounts due under
the Line of Credit Hedge Agreements, if any, in each case as such obligations become due and payable. Each
Requisition must specify the purpose for which the Draw is to be made, must specify whether the Draw is to
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be made against (a) premiums, surcharges and Emergency Assessments, (b) Regular Assessments or (c) FHCF
Reimbursements and must certify, among other things, that there does not then exist an Event of Default or an
event that with the passage of time or with a giving of notice or both would constitute an Event of Default.

Prior to obtaining a Draw from the Proceeds Account in anticipation of FHCF Reimbursements,
Citizens must provide to the Indenture Trustee a certificate executed by an Authorized Citizens
Representative to the effect that Citizens' FHCF reimbursement contract is in full force and effect.

For purposes of the certification required in order to obtain a Draw from the Proceeds Account: (i) the
debt service payable on Indenture Obligations no longer outstanding (including Indenture Obligations that
have been economically defeased, whether mandatorily or voluntarily) will not be included in the calculation
of Annual Debt Service and (ii) the Annual Debt Service payable with respect to the Indenture Obligations in
any year subsequent to a year in which there is any deficiency in (a) the Coverage Account, will be increased
by such amount as is necessary to make the amount in the Coverage Account equal to the Coverage Account
Requirement (as defined in "APPENDIX A — COMPOSITE FORM OF THE TRUST INDENTURE AND
FORM OF TENTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE" attached hereto) in the subsequent year and (b) the
Reserve Account, will be increased by such amount as is necessary to make the amount in the Reserve
Account equal to the Reserve Account Requirement (as defined in "TAPPENDIX A — COMPOSITE FORM OF
THE TRUST INDENTURE AND FORM OF TENTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE" attached hereto) in the
subsequent year.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Indenture, upon the written direction of
Citizens, the Indenture Trustee will withdraw moneys from the Subaccounts in the Proceeds Account without
the existence of a Plan Year Deficit and without regard to the requirements described above for use for any
lawful purpose of the Coastal Account, to the extent, but only to the extent, of the principal amount of any
Indenture Obligations actually paid or the principal amount of Indenture Obligations in respect of which
Citizens has made the mandatory defeasance deposits required by the Indenture; provided, however, that
such principal payment or mandatory defeasance deposit shall not have been made from amounts withdrawn
from the Subaccounts in the Proceeds Account. Amounts may be withdrawn from the Subaccounts in the
Proceeds Account for any of the purposes described in the preceding sentence only upon presentation to the
Indenture Trustee of a requisition in the form required by the Indenture and signed by an Authorized Citizens
Representative.

Payments will be made by the Indenture Trustee from the Costs of Issuance Subaccount upon written
request by Citizens and are not subject to the foregoing conditions on Draws.

THE INDENTURE IS TO BE AMENDED AND RESTATED IN ITS ENTIRETY THROUGH A
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE THAT WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE AND GOVERN THE SERIES 2015A
BONDS WHEN THE PRIOR PARITY BONDS (AS DEFINED HEREIN AND WHICH DOES NOT
INCLUDE THE SERIES 2015A BONDS) ARE NO LONGER OUTSTANDING UNDER THE
INDENTURE (WHETHER THROUGH DEFEASANCE OR MATURITY). BY THEIR PURCHASE OF
THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, THE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS WILL HAVE
CONSENTED TO AND APPROVED (I) THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
INDENTURE IN ITS ENTIRETY, (II) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST
INDENTURE IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE FORM ATTACHED HERETO AS APPENDIX ], (III) THE
TERMINATION OF THE PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT UPON THE EXECUTION AND
DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, AND (IV) THE CONVERSION OF THE SERIES
2015A BONDS THAT MATURE AFTER THE CONVERSION DATE FROM OBLIGATIONS ISSUED
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AND SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE TO OBLIGATIONS ISSUED AND
SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE. THE PURCHASERS
OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS ARE DEEMED TO HAVE CONSENTED TO ALL OF THE FOREGOING.
SEE “PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE”
HEREIN AND “APPENDIX J - FORM OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE”.

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS SHOULD ASSUME THAT
THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE AND THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
INDENTURE WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE DURING THE PERIOD OF TIME THAT SUCH
PURCHASERS WILL HOLD THE SERIES 2015A BONDS.

Flow of Funds

The following describes the flow of funds under the Indenture. Upon execution and delivery of the
Master Trust Indenture, the flow of funds shall be as set forth in Section 5.03 of the Master Trust Indenture.
See “PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE -
Revenue Account” and “APPENDIX ] - FORM OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE” herein.

Ongoing Revenues. All net premium and surcharges derived from or attributable to the Coastal
Account, Emergency Assessments, Regular Assessments and FHCF Reimbursements constituting the
"Collateral," will initially be deposited with the Collateral Trustee under the Pledge and Security Agreement.
Amounts held by the Collateral Trustee under the Pledge and Security Agreement will be disbursed by the
Collateral Trustee to the parties and in the amounts and priorities provided in the Pledge and Security
Agreement. See "PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT" herein and "APPENDIX B - COMPOSITE FORM
OF THE PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT" attached hereto. Amounts transferred by the Collateral
Trustee to the Indenture Trustee in accordance with the Pledge and Security Agreement will initially be
deposited into the Revenue Account established pursuant to the Indenture and are to be transferred to the
other accounts and subaccounts provided for therein as described below. See "- Flow of Funds — Revenue
Account” below. If Draws have not been made in respect of a Regular Assessment or FHCF Reimbursement,
then, in the absence of a payment default or acceleration under the Indenture, proceeds of a Regular
Assessment and FHCF Reimbursements, if any, received by the Indenture Trustee will be deposited in the
Citizens Account established under the Indenture for disbursement to Citizens. See "- Flow of Funds -
Revenue Account" below.

Indenture Accounts. In addition to the Proceeds Account, the Indenture requires that the Indenture
Trustee establish a number of different accounts and subaccounts including the following: (i) Revenue
Account; (ii) Debt Service Account; (iii) Coverage Account; (iv) Program Costs Account; (v) Citizens Account;
and (vi) General Reserve Account.

Revenue Account. The Indenture requires the Indenture Trustee to immediately deposit into the
Revenue Account any and all Pledged Revenues received by the Indenture Trustee from or on behalf of
Citizens (including, without limitation, any amounts representing the Indenture Trustee's interest in the
Collateral which are transferred to the Indenture Trustee by the Collateral Trustee pursuant to the terms of the
Pledge and Security Agreement). As described below, including the provisions of the last paragraph of this
subcaption "Revenue Account" regarding amounts consisting of Regular Assessments or FHCF
Reimbursements in anticipation of which Draws have been made or Liquidity Loans have been obtained
("Liquidity Shared Revenues"), amounts on deposit in the Revenue Account are to be transferred to the other
accounts and subaccounts established under the Indenture in the following order of priority:
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First, moneys in the Revenue Account (other than Liquidity Shared Revenues) will be
deposited into the Debt Service Account as follows: (a) to the Interest Subaccount, an amount equal to
1/6 of the amount of interest payable on the Indenture Obligations on the succeeding Interest Payment
Date (less any amount received as capitalized or accrued interest from the proceeds of any Indenture
Obligations which is available for such interest payment and less any investment earnings or other
amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Account, including, without limitation, amounts deposited
pursuant to clause (i) below and available to be applied to the payment of interest on the Indenture
Obligations on the next Interest Payment Date); provided, however, that in connection with the Series
2015A-2 Bonds, on the last Business Day of each month starting on July 31, 2015, Citizens shall deposit
in the Series 2015A Interest Sub-subaccount an amount equal to the interest on the Series 2015A-2
Bonds coming due on the immediately succeeding Interest Payment Date as described herein; (b) to
the Principal Subaccount, an amount equal to 1/12th of the principal of any Indenture Obligations due
and payable within the next twelve months less amounts on deposit in the Defeasance Account
available to be applied to the principal due and payable within such period; provided, however, that
no monthly deposits in respect of the principal of the Series 2015A Bonds will be required and an
amount equal to the principal amount on the Series 2015A Bonds payable annually on each June 1
will be deposited into the Series 2015A Bonds Principal Sub-subaccount on each May 25 preceding
such June 1 (see “ - Certain Covenants — Debt Service Account” below); and (c) to the Defeasance
Subaccount an amount in respect of each Series of Indenture Obligations as is specified in the
supplemental indenture entered into in connection with such Series of Indenture Obligations. Such
applications will be subject to adjustment as provided in the Indenture, including, without limitation,
as follows: (i) the amount specified in clause (a) of this paragraph will be adjusted to take into account
the amounts to be received under any Indenture Obligations Hedge Agreements on or before the
succeeding Interest Payment Date, to the extent that such amounts are deposited into the Debt Service
Account; (ii) with respect to any Variable Rate Indenture Obligations and Indenture Obligations
payable other than semi-annually, the amount specified in clause (a) of this paragraph will be that
amount necessary to provide substantially equal monthly payments, as applicable, for the payment of
such interest on the payment dates therefor or as otherwise required in order to ensure that sufficient
moneys are transferred from the Revenue Account to the Interest Subaccount to pay interest as it
becomes due.

Second, to the extent there is then unpaid any Draw made in anticipation of the receipt of
any Liquidity Shared Revenues, the amounts consisting of Liquidity Shared Revenues identified
in the Draw (or such portion thereof as may be necessary) will be deposited into the Proceeds
Account in order to reimburse in full the entire amount of such Draw previously made and
unpaid from the Proceeds Account. Once all or a portion of the amount of such Draw is repaid to
the Proceeds Account, such amount may be redrawn by Citizens upon compliance with the Draw
Requisition procedure described above under "Proceeds Account."

Third, to the Reserve Account in the amount necessary to make the amount on deposit in the
Reserve Account equal to the Reserve Account Requirement for the Prior Parity Bonds or any future
Additional Parity Bonds secured by the Reserve Account; provided that any deficiency in the Reserve
Account due to a withdrawal therefrom will be cured within 12 months after such withdrawal as
provided in the Indenture and any deficiency in the Reserve Account due to a decrease in the market
value of Permitted Investments therein will be cured by March 31 of the Fiscal Year following the
valuation of such Permitted Investments pursuant to the Indenture. The Series 2015A Bonds are not
secured by the Reserve Account or any separate sub-account therein.
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Fourth, to the Coverage Account in the amount necessary to make the amount on deposit in
the Coverage Account equal to the Coverage Account Requirement for the Indenture Obligations
secured by the Coverage Account; provided any deficiency in the Coverage Account due to a
withdrawal therefrom will be cured within 12 months after such withdrawal as provided in the
Indenture, and any deficiency in the Coverage Account due to a decrease in the market value of
Permitted Investments therein will be cured by March 31 of the Fiscal Year following the valuation of
such Permitted Investments pursuant to the Indenture. The Prior Parity Bonds and the Series 2015A
Bonds are not secured by the Coverage Account and are not included in the calculation of the
Coverage Account Requirement. There are currently no Outstanding Indenture Obligations secured
by the Coverage Account.

Fifth, to the Program Costs Account, in the amounts specified in the Indenture for the
payment of Program Costs.

Sixth, all remaining money in the Revenue Account, will be deposited into the General
Reserve Account.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as (i) no Draw in anticipation of any Liquidity Shared
Revenues has been made or, if such a Draw has been made, so long as there is no portion thereof that remains
unpaid, and (ii) no default in the payment of principal or interest of any Indenture Obligations exists and no
Indenture Obligations have been accelerated, the Indenture Trustee will deposit all Liquidity Shared Revenues
received by it immediately into the Citizens Account for disbursement to Citizens as described below under
"Citizens Account." While any portion of a Draw made in anticipation of any Liquidity Shared Revenues
remains unpaid, the Indenture Trustee will transfer the Liquidity Shared Revenues identified in the requisition
pursuant to which such Draw has been made from the Revenue Account to the Proceeds Account as described
in paragraph "Second" above. The Indenture Trustee may not transfer to the Citizens Account any of the
Liquidity Shared Revenues identified in the requisition pursuant to which a Draw in anticipation of Liquidity
Shared Revenues is made until such Draw has been fully reimbursed to the Proceeds Account.

Certain Covenants

Debt Service Account. The Debt Service Account will consist of amounts deposited therein for the
payment of debt service on the Indenture Obligations. There are established within the Debt Service Account:
(i) an interest subaccount (the "Interest Subaccount"), (ii) a principal subaccount (the "Principal Subaccount"),
and (iii) a defeasance subaccount (the "Defeasance Subaccount"), which will include a sub-subaccount (each, a
"Defeasance Sub-subaccount") for each Series of Indenture Obligations for which mandatory defeasance
deposits are required under the Indenture.

Amounts deposited in the Interest Subaccount and the Principal Subaccount will only be applied to
pay interest and principal, respectively, on the Indenture Obligations when and as due and payable. Amounts
on deposit in the Sinking Fund Subaccount and the Defeasance Subaccount will reduce, and in certain
situations eliminate, the requirement that amounts be deposited in the Principal Subaccount and/or the
Interest Subaccount, as the case may be, but only for the Additional Indenture Obligations that may be issued
in the future for which mandatory sinking fund or defeasance requirements are established in the
corresponding supplemental indenture. Amounts on deposit in any Defeasance Sub-subaccount in respect of
any Indenture Obligations will be applied solely to the payment of the principal of and interest on such
Indenture Obligations and may not be transferred to the Proceeds Account.
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Pursuant to the Tenth Supplemental Indenture, no monthly deposits in respect of the
principal of the Series 2015A Bonds will be made into the Principal Subaccount of the Debt Service
Account. Instead, on each May 25 immediately preceding the Maturity Date of Series 2015A Bonds,
deposits shall be made into the Series 2015A Bonds Principal Sub-subaccount in an amount equal to
the principal amount of the Series 2015A Bonds becoming due on the following June 1 as described
under "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE OBLIGATIONS -
Flow of Funds — Revenue Account" herein.

NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY CONTAINED IN THE TENTH
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE OR ELSEWHERE IN THE INDENTURE, UNDER NO
CIRCUMSTANCES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DURING THE PENDENCY OF AN
EVENT OF DEFAULT, SHALL THE SERIES 2015A BONDS HAVE RECOURSE TO, OR OTHERWISE
BENEFIT FROM, ANY AMOUNTS DEPOSITED IN ANY PRINCIPAL SUB-SUBACCOUNT WITHIN
THE DEBT SERVICE ACCOUNT IN RESPECT OF THE MATURING PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF
ANOTHER SERIES (OR SUBSERIES) OF INDENTURE OBLIGATIONS.

Reserve Account. The Reserve Account is established pursuant to the Indenture as additional security
for the Indenture Obligations issued and outstanding and separate subaccounts may be created therein for
each series of Indenture Obligations under the respective supplemental indenture. The Reserve Account is
required to be funded in an amount equal to the Reserve Account Requirement, which is an amount equal to
100% of the Maximum Annual Interest on all Indenture Obligations outstanding, unless otherwise provided in
the Supplemental Indenture providing for a particular Series of Additional Indenture Obligations. For
purposes of determining the interest component of Annual Debt Service in order to calculate the Reserve
Account Requirement, the interest on Variable Rate Indenture Obligations will be calculated on the basis
specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Variable Rate Indenture Obligations.

There is no Subaccount in the Reserve Account established for the Series 2015A Bonds and such Series
2015A Bonds are not secured by any amounts on deposit in the Reserve Account (which secures only the Prior
Parity Bonds) or any subaccount therein for any other Series of Indenture Obligations.

If the amounts on deposit in a respective subaccount within the Reserve Account are at least equal to
the applicable Reserve Account Requirement, investment earnings in such subaccount will be transferred on
the next succeeding Business Day to and deposited in the Revenue Account.

Coverage Account. There are currently no Outstanding Indenture Obligations secured by the Coverage
Account. The Coverage Account is established by the Indenture to provide additional security for any
Additional Indenture Obligations unless the Supplemental Indenture pursuant to which they are issued
provides that such Additional Indenture Obligations will not be secured by the Coverage Account. The
Coverage Account does not secure, and amounts on deposit therein will not be applied for the benefit of, the
Prior Parity Bonds or the Series 2015A Bonds. See "APPENDIX A — FORM OF THE TRUST INDENTURE
AND FORM OF TENTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE" attached hereto.

Program Costs Account. The Program Costs Account is established pursuant to the Indenture to
provide for the payment of Program Costs and, if necessary, to cure any deficiencies in the Debt Service
Account (excluding amounts in the Defeasance Subaccount) on any Interest Payment Date after the transfer of
available amounts in the General Reserve Account. There are currently no funds on deposit in the Program

Costs Account.
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Citizens Account. Amounts on deposit in the Citizens Account established under the Indenture are to
be paid to Citizens free and clear of the lien of the Indenture, provided that (i) there does not then exist under
the Indenture a default in any payment of principal or premium, if any, or any mandatory defeasance
payment, if any, of any of the Indenture Obligations when due, or a default in any payment of any installment
of interest on any of the Indenture Obligations when due or (ii) the Indenture Trustee has not accelerated the
maturity of the Indenture Obligations pursuant to the Indenture upon the occurrence of an Event of Default
thereunder. If, during the pendency of an event described in the foregoing clause (i) or (ii), the amount in the
Debt Service Account is insufficient to pay all amounts payable on the Indenture Obligations therefrom on (or
in the event of such an acceleration, on or before) the next Interest Payment Date or there is then a deficiency in
the Reserve Account or the Coverage Account, then the Indenture Trustee will transfer money from the
Citizens Account to the Debt Service Account, the Reserve Account or the Coverage Account, as applicable, in
order to cure any deficiencies therein, prior to any transfer of moneys from the other Accounts or Subaccounts
established under the Indenture. There are currently no funds on deposit in the Citizens Account.

General Reserve Account. There are currently no funds on deposit in the General Reserve Account.
Whenever for any reason on an Interest Payment Date, the amount in the Debt Service Account (excluding
amounts in the Defeasance Subaccount thereof) is insufficient to pay all amounts payable on the Indenture
Obligations therefrom on such payment date, the Indenture Trustee will transfer the amount of any such
deficiency from any moneys available in the General Reserve Account into the Debt Service Account to be
applied to pay the Indenture Obligations. Any deficiencies in the Debt Service Account will be made up first
from the General Reserve Account before applying amounts available in the Program Costs Account or the
Reserve Account to cure any such deficiencies. After all deficiencies in the Debt Service Account are cured,
amounts in the General Reserve Account will be applied to cure any deficiency, first, in the Reserve Account,
and, second, in the Program Costs Account. There is no assurance that there will be moneys on deposit in the
General Reserve Account at any given time.

At the written request of Citizens, the Indenture Trustee will apply amounts, if any, on deposit in
the General Reserve Account to (i) pay debt service on Subordinate Debt or (ii) purchase Indenture
Obligations at a purchase price not to exceed 100% of the par amount of the Indenture Obligations to be
purchased; provided, however, that amounts in the General Reserve Account will not be applied to pay
debt service on such Subordinate Debt or to purchase Indenture Obligations if there then exists a
deficiency in the Debt Service Account, the Reserve Account, the Coverage Account or the Program Costs
Account; provided further, that prior to applying Pledged Revenues to pay debt service on Subordinate
Debt or to purchase Indenture Obligations as described in (i) and (ii) above, Citizens must deliver a
Requisition to the effect described above under the caption “—Proceeds Account.” In addition, Citizens
may from time to time direct the Indenture Trustee to transfer all or any portion of the money in the
General Reserve Account into (i) the Debt Service Account to be applied to pay the principal due and
payable on Term Indenture Obligations on the immediately succeeding maturity date or the mandatory
sinking fund redemption date, as applicable, (ii) the Defeasance Subaccount of the Debt Service Account
to be applied to pay the principal due and payable on Indenture Obligations on the immediately
succeeding maturity date, or (iii) the Proceeds Account to the extent there is not a deficiency in the Debt
Service Account, Reserve Account, Coverage Account or Program Costs Account. On the last Business
Day of each Fiscal Year, amounts on deposit in the General Reserve Account will be transferred to the
Revenue Account, but only to the extent that there does not then exist a deficiency in the Debt Service
Account, the Reserve Account, the Coverage Account or the Program Costs Account.

Investment of Money in Accounts and Subaccounts. All money on deposit in the accounts and
subaccounts established under the Indenture will be invested and reinvested only in Permitted Investments
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applicable thereto (as defined in "APPENDIX A — COMPOSITE FORM OF THE TRUST INDENTURE AND
FORM OF TENTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE" attached hereto). See "INVESTMENTS" herein and see
"APPENDIX I - CITIZENS INVESTMENT POLICIES" attached hereto, for a description of Citizens' taxable
and tax-exempt investment policies, including the standards for the investment of tax-exempt proceeds and
operating funds, and for a summary of investments in such accounts and subaccounts. Additionally, with
respect only to the investment of the Debt Service Account, Permitted Investments to the credit of the Debt
Service Account (or any Subaccount thereof) must either (a) mature not later than the respective dates when
they will be required for the purposes of the Accounts or the Subaccounts to which they are allocated or (b) be
subject to a forward sale agreement or other similar arrangement with a counterparty rated in one of the three
highest rating categories (without regard to any gradations within such categories) of the Rating Agencies,
pursuant to which the money invested will be available not later than the respective dates when they will be
required for the purposes of the subaccounts to which they are allocated.

Revenues. Citizens agrees pursuant to the Indenture to fix, levy, charge and collect sufficient funds,
including, without limitation, Citizens Policyholders Surcharge, Regular Assessments and Emergency
Assessments, in respect of the Coastal Account, in accordance with and to the extent permitted by the Plan, the
Act and other applicable law (together with the proceeds of the Indenture Obligations, and investment
earnings thereon, policy premiums and surcharges relating to the Coastal Account and amounts available
under any Line of Credit), which will be sufficient to pay its Annual Debt Service and all of its obligations with
respect to the Coastal Account when due.

Collection of Assessments and Other Moneys. Citizens agrees to cause all Regular Assessments,
Emergency Assessments, policy premiums and other surcharges, in respect of the Coastal Account, to be
levied as soon as is reasonable (and, (x) in the case of the Emergency Assessments collected by the Assessable
Insurers, other Accounts within Citizens or special purpose insurance companies, to be remitted to the
Collateral Trustee or to Citizens, as applicable, no less frequently than monthly and (y) in the case of Regular
Assessments and Emergency Assessments collected by the Surplus Lines Agents and/or the Surplus Lines
Service Office, to be remitted to the Collateral Trustee or to Citizens, as applicable, at the times provided in the
Plan) and will impose and enforce obligations for the payment thereof, in order that the amount of the Regular
Assessments, Emergency Assessments, policy premiums and other surcharges collected in respect of the
Coastal Account to be sufficient to satisfy the requirements described in the immediately preceding paragraph;
provided that (i) Citizens will levy Regular Assessments in respect of any Plan Year Deficit paid, in whole or in
part, from Draws under the Indenture, (A) if the first Draw is made in the same Plan Year that the event
causing the Plan Year Deficit occurred, not later than July 1 of the year following the end of the Plan Year in
which the event occurred and (B) if the first Draw is made in the year following the Plan Year in which the
event causing the Plan Year Deficit occurred, not later than the end of the Plan Year in which the first Draw is
made in respect of such Plan Year Deficit and (ii) Citizens will levy, and will direct the Assessable Insurers,
other Accounts within Citizens and special purpose insurance companies to collect Emergency Assessments in

respect of any Plan Year Deficit paid, in whole or in part, from Draws under the Indenture, (A) if the first
Draw is made in the same Plan Year that the event causing the Plan Year Deficit occurred, not later than
September 1 of the year following the end of the Plan Year in which the event occurred and (B) if the first
Draw is made in the year following the Plan Year in which the event causing the Plan Year Deficit occurred,
not later than April 1 of each year following the end of the Plan Year in which the first Draw is made in respect
of such Plan Year Deficit.

Upon execution and delivery of the Master Trust Indenture, the time limits described in clauses (i)

and (ii) of the preceding paragraph for the levy of Regular Assessments and Emergency Assessments will be
modified as set forth in Section 10.03 of the Master Trust Indenture. See “PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT
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AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE - Collection of Assessments and Other
Moneys” herein and “APPENDIX ] - FORM OF MASTER TRUST INTEDENTURE” hereto.

Limitation on Liens. Except as otherwise permitted or required by the Indenture, Citizens agrees not to
sell, lease, pledge, assign or otherwise encumber or dispose of its interest in the Pledged Revenues or any
portion thereof, and to promptly pay or make its best efforts to cause to be discharged, or make adequate
provision in the judgment of the Indenture Trustee to discharge, any lien or charge on any part thereof not
permitted by the Indenture.

PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE

THE INDENTURE IS TO BE AMENDED AND RESTATED IN ITS ENTIRETY THROUGH A
MASTER TRUST INDENTURE THAT WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE AND GOVERN THE SERIES 2015A
BONDS WHEN THE PRIOR PARITY BONDS (AS DEFINED HEREIN AND WHICH DOES NOT
INCLUDE THE SERIES 2015A BONDS) ARE NO LONGER OUTSTANDING UNDER THE
INDENTURE (WHETHER THROUGH DEFEASANCE OR MATURITY). BY THEIR PURCHASE OF
THE SERIES 2015A BONDS, THE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS WILL HAVE
CONSENTED TO AND APPROVED () THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
INDENTURE IN ITS ENTIRETY, (I) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST
INDENTURE IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE FORM ATTACHED HERETO AS APPENDIX ], (III) THE
TERMINATION OF THE PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT UPON THE EXECUTION AND
DELIVERY OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE, AND (IV) THE CONVERSION OF THE SERIES
2015A BONDS THAT MATURE AFTER THE CONVERSION DATE FROM OBLIGATIONS ISSUED
AND SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE TO OBLIGATIONS ISSUED AND
SECURED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE. THE PURCHASERS
OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS ARE DEEMED TO HAVE CONSENTED TO ALL OF THE FOREGOING.
SEE “PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE”
HEREIN AND “APPENDIX J - FORM OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE”.

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2015A BONDS SHOULD ASSUME THAT
THE MASTER TRUST INDENTURE AND THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
INDENTURE WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE DURING THE PERIOD OF TIME THAT SUCH
PURCHASERS WILL HOLD THE SERIES 2015A BONDS.

Pursuant to the Resolution and the Tenth Supplemental Indenture, Citizens expressed its desire
to amend and restate in its entirety the Original Indenture as previously amended to date with such
amendments to be effective not earlier than the Conversion Date (as defined herein). A form of the
amended and restated Indenture (the “Master Trust Indenture”) is attached hereto as “APPENDIX | —
FORM OF MASTER TRUST INDENTURE”. The Tenth Supplemental Indenture defines “Conversion
Date” to mean the earlier to occur of (a) June 2, 2020, which is the day after the last Prior Parity Bonds are
scheduled to mature in accordance with their stated maturity dates (the “Scheduled Conversion Date”),
or (b) the date on which none of the Prior Parity Bonds are Outstanding under the Indenture as a result of
the Issuer’s legal defeasance of the Prior Parity Bonds prior to their stated maturity dates; provided,
however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Tenth Supplemental Indenture
or in any future Supplemental Indenture, the Conversion Date shall not occur or be deemed to have
occurred for so long as there are any Prior Parity Bonds that remain Outstanding under the Indenture.
The Series 2015A Bonds are not Prior Parity Bonds.
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By virtue of their purchase of the Series 2015A Bonds, the purchasers thereof will have consented
to and approved (i) the amendment and restatement of the Indenture in its entirety, (ii) the execution and
delivery of the Master Trust Indenture, and (iii) the conversion of the Series 2015A Bonds that mature
after the Conversion Date from obligations issued and secured under the provisions of the Indenture to
obligations issued and secured under the provisions of the Master Trust Indenture. The Master Trust
Indenture will be executed and delivered by Citizens and the Master Trustee on or after the Conversion
Date and not before such date. A form of the Master Trust Indenture is attached as Exhibit B to and
approved by the Tenth Supplemental Indenture. After the issuance of the Series 2015A Bonds, the form
of the Master Trust Indenture set forth as Exhibit B to the Tenth Supplemental Indenture may be
amended and revised only if, and to the extent, that the change, insertion or omission is of a nature or
character that if it were being made to the Indenture, such change, insertion or omission would be
permitted pursuant to Section 9.02 of the Indenture without the consent of any Holder of Indenture
Obligations then Outstanding.

A principal structural change that will be effected through the amendment and restatement in
its entirety of the Indenture by the Master Trust Indenture is the elimination of the Pledge and
Security Agreement. Upon the execution and delivery of the Master Trust Indenture, the Pledge and
Security Agreement will be terminated and no longer exist and the Master Trust Indenture will serve
as the principal security document for all Senior Secured Obligations, consisting of Bonds, Bank
Facilities and regularly scheduled payments under a Related Hedge Agreement. See “PLEDGE AND
SECURITY AGREEMENT - Termination of Pledge and Security Agreement Upon Execution and
Delivery of Master Trust Indenture” herein.

Additionally, upon execution and delivery of the Master Trust Indenture, the events of default
related to the DOI Agreement that are currently included as Events of Default under the Indenture
will not be included in the Events of Default under the Master Trust Indenture. See “DEPARTMENT
OF INSURANCE AGREEMENT” herein.

Upon execution and delivery of the Master Trust Indenture, the Series 2015A Bonds then
Outstanding will automatically become and be deemed to be “Bonds” and “Senior Secured Obligations”
issued and outstanding under the provisions of the Master Trust Indenture for any and all purposes, and
the Indenture will be cancelled and terminated and exist no more, except as the same is amended and
restated in its entirety by the Master Trust Indenture, and except for the provisions of the Tenth
Supplemental Indenture and any future Supplemental Indenture pursuant to which Additional Indenture
Obligations are issued that mature after the Conversion Date, to the extent of any provisions of the Tenth
Supplemental Indenture or such future Supplemental Indenture that are expressly stated to survive the
amendment and restatement of the Indenture and execution and delivery of the Master Trust Indenture
and are expressly stated to constitute a “supplemental indenture” for purposes of the Master Trust
Indenture. Defined terms used in this “PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS
ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE” shall be as defined in “APPENDIX ] — FORM OF MASTER TRUST
INDENTURE” attached hereto.

The following provisions of the Tenth Supplemental Indenture shall survive the amendment and
restatement of the Indenture and the execution and delivery of the Master Trust Indenture and shall be
deemed to constitute a “Supplemental Indenture” for all purposes of the Master Trust Indenture with
respect to the Series 2015A Bonds that mature after the Conversion Date: Sections 101, 201, 205, 207, 301
and all of Article IV.

33



Pledged Revenues

Pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture and on and after the Conversion Date, “Pledged
Revenues” will be defined to mean:

“Pledged Revenues” means all revenues, income, receipts and money received in any period by
or on behalf of Citizens for or on behalf of the Coastal Account, from, (a) FHCF Reimbursements, (b)
Emergency Assessments (subject to the last proviso of this definition), (c) Regular Assessments, (d) Net
Premiums, (e) Additional Surcharges and Assessments, (f) Legislative Appropriations, and (g) any and all
other moneys held from time to time in the Accounts and Subaccounts established under the Master
Trust Indenture, any Supplemental Indenture or Bank Credit Agreement as permitted by the Master
Trust Indenture, including, investment earnings thereon, except the Proceeds Account, the Reserve
Account and any Series Reserve Account (and any investment earnings in such Accounts), and except for
moneys that are expressly set aside in a Rebate Account; and provided further, however, that the pledge
of Emergency Assessments shall be limited to the extent that applicable law requires that Emergency
Assessments be used to pay only certain indebtedness or other obligations.

After the Conversion Date, the Series 2015A Bonds, additional Senior Secured Obligations and all
other obligations arising under or permitted by the Master Trust Indenture are special and limited
obligations of Citizens attributable solely to the Coastal Account, payable from and secured solely by the
Pledged Revenues and secured as provided in the Master Trust Indenture together with all money and
securities held by or on behalf of the Trustee in all of the Accounts or Subaccounts established pursuant
to the Master Trust Indenture, except (a) the Proceeds Account, the Reserve Account or any Series
Reserve Account, which are designated to secure only the Bonds, or a specific Series of Bonds as provided
in the Master Trust Indenture, and (b) any Rebate Account; all in the manner provided in the Master
Trust Indenture. The Holders of Senior Secured Obligations and the Trustee have no claim against, or
recourse to, the Personal Lines Account or the Commercial Lines Account (including the revenues and
assets allocated and allocable or required to be allocated to the Personal Lines Account or the Commercial
Lines Account) in respect of the Series 2015A Bonds, the Senior Secured Obligations or any other
obligation arising under the Master Trust Indenture. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the
Series 2015A Bonds, the Senior Secured Obligations or the Master Trust Indenture, the Series 2015A
Bonds and the Senior Secured Obligations do not and shall not represent or constitute a general
obligation of Citizens or a debt or pledge of the faith and credit or the taxing power of the State or of any
political subdivision, municipality or other local agency thereof.

Except as otherwise provided in the Master Trust Indenture with regard to Net Premiums,
Citizens shall, on a monthly basis, pay over to the Trustee all Pledged Revenues. The Trustee shall
immediately deposit into the Revenue Account and the Subaccounts therein established any and all
Pledged Revenues so received from or on behalf of Citizens, in the manner provided by the Master Trust
Indenture. The Pledged Revenues are pledged (as and to the extent provided in the granting clauses and
in the definition of “Pledged Revenues” contained in the Master Trust Indenture) as security for the
payment of all amounts due with respect to the Series 2015A Bonds and all Senior Secured Obligations,
and as security for the performance of any other obligations of Citizens with respect to the Series 2015A
Bonds and the Senior Secured Obligations.

The pledge to the Trustee of the Pledged Revenues (as and to the extent provided in the granting

clauses and in the definition of “Pledged Revenues” contained in the Master Trust Indenture) as security
for the payment of the Senior Secured Obligations and the performance of any other obligations of
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Citizens thereunder with respect to the Senior Secured Obligations, shall be valid and binding from the
date of execution and delivery of the Master Trust Indenture and the covenants and agreements set forth
therein to be performed by or on behalf of Citizens shall be, except as otherwise expressly provided or
permitted therein, for the equal benefit, protection and security of the Holders of Senior Secured
Obligations, regardless of their times of issue, incurrence or designation thereunder, and maturity, and
shall be of equal rank, without preference, priority, or distinction of any one Senior Secured Obligation
over any other Senior Secured Obligation.

Except with respect to the Proceeds Account, the Reserve Account, any Series Reserve Account or
any Rebate Account, the Accounts and Subaccounts specified in the Master Trust Indenture are
established thereunder for the benefit of any and all Senior Secured Obligations issued, incurred or
designated under the Master Trust Indenture.

No Reserve Account

Prior to and upon the Conversion Date, there will be no Reserve Account (or subaccount therein)
securing the Series 2015A Bonds.

Proceeds Account

The Master Trust Indenture establishes a “Proceeds Account” and within the Proceeds Account
two separate subaccounts designated as the “Costs of Issuance Subaccount” and the “Pre-Event Bonds
Investment Income Subaccount”. The Proceeds Account and the Subaccounts therein shall constitute an
irrevocable trust fund to be applied solely as set forth in the Master Trust Indenture and shall be held by
the Trustee separate and apart from all other Accounts and Subaccounts held under the Master Trust
Indenture and from all other moneys of the Trustee. The amounts deposited to the credit of the Proceeds
Account (and all Subaccounts therein) secure, and are so pledged to secure, only Bonds and Credit
Enhancement Facilities for such Bonds and no other Senior Secured Obligations or Subordinated
Indebtedness.

The moneys in the Proceeds Account (and all Subaccounts therein) will be held by the Trustee in
trust and, pending application thereof for a Draw therefrom as described below, shall be subject to a lien
and charge in favor of the Holders of all Bonds from time to time issued and Outstanding under the
Master Trust Indenture and shall be held for the security of all such Holders, regardless of whether one or
more Subaccounts shall have been established within the Proceeds Account. The establishment of one or
more Subaccounts in the Proceeds Account shall not require, nor be interpreted or construed to mean,
that the proceeds of the Series of Bonds for which such Subaccount was established secure only the
Holders of such Series of Bonds, it being the intent hereof that all moneys on deposit to the credit of the
Proceeds Account and all Subaccounts therein secure the Holders of all Outstanding Bonds equally
pending application of such moneys for the purposes permitted in the Master Trust Indenture.

Upon each issuance of a Series of Bonds, the proceeds thereof shall be deposited into the
Proceeds Account and be used to (i) pay Costs of Issuance, (ii) refund previously issued Bonds or other
indebtedness, (iii) fund the Reserve Account or a Series Reserve Account, if such Series of Bonds is to be
secured by the Reserve Account or a Series Reserve Account, or (iv) make a Draw from the Proceeds
Account and disbursed to Citizens, all as to be set forth in a certificate of Citizens signed by an
Authorized Citizens Representative delivered on the date of issuance of the Series of Bonds; provided,
however, that proceeds being used to refund previously issued Bonds or other indebtedness may be
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applied directly to such purpose as provided in the applicable Supplemental Indenture and proceeds
used to fund the Reserve Account or a Series Reserve Account may be deposited directly to such
Accounts. All earnings from the investment of amounts held in the Proceeds Account and the
Subaccounts therein constituting or allocable to the proceeds of Pre-Event Bonds shall remain in the
Proceeds Account or shall be withdrawn therefrom and be deposited as needed in the Pre-Event Bonds
Investment Income Subaccount to pay interest on the Pre-Event Bonds without the need of a requisition.

Post Conversion Draws on the Proceeds Account

Subject to satisfaction of the conditions set forth in the following paragraphs, Citizens may from
time to time obtain a Draw from the Proceeds Account and, in its sole and absolute discretion, reimburse
the amounts so drawn to the Proceeds Account and (subject to satisfaction of the conditions set forth in
the Master Trust Indenture) obtain a new Draw in such amounts from the Proceeds Account (it being
expressly understood that the reimbursement of prior Draws to the Proceeds Account shall not be a
precondition to Citizens’ ability to obtain Draws from amounts remaining in the Proceeds Account, so
long as Citizens complies with the requisition requirements of the Master Trust Indenture); provided,
however, that no Draw may be made if Citizens shall have given written direction to the Trustee to apply
amounts in the Proceeds Account to the payment of principal of, redemption premium, if any and
interest and all other payments on all Senior Secured Obligations as provided in the Master Trust
Indenture.

The requisition to be submitted by Citizens in order to obtain a Draw shall be based on Citizens’
reasonable forecast of Annual Payment Requirements, the Pledged Revenues, amounts held in the
Proceeds Account, the Reserve Account, any Series Reserve Account and the expected earnings thereon
and other available moneys allocable to the Coastal Account, available to pay the same on a monthly
basis. Each such requisition shall specify the purpose of the Draw and shall also specify the specific type
or types of Pledged Revenues (FHCF Reimbursements, Emergency Assessments, Regular Assessments,
Net Premiums, Legislative Appropriations, and/or Additional Surcharges and Assessments) against
which such Draw is to be made. In addition, each such requisition shall contain a certification by an
Authorized Citizens Representative to the effect that (i) the sum of (A) the amount then on deposit in the
Debt Service Account, (B) the amount to remain on deposit in the Proceeds Account immediately
following such Draw and (C) the amount of Pledged Revenues and other available moneys allocable to
the Coastal Account reasonably expected to be received by the Trustee from or on behalf of Citizens and
available for the purpose of reimbursing such Draw or for the payment of principal of and interest on the
Bonds in each year through the final maturity of the Bonds then Outstanding, will be sufficient to pay
that portion of the Annual Payment Requirements as they become due through the final maturity of the
Bonds, on the Bonds then Outstanding; and (ii) the sum of (A) all amounts then on deposit in the
accounts established under any Bank Credit Agreement for the payment of Bank Credit Facilities and (B)
the amount of Pledged Revenues and other available moneys allocable to the Coastal Account (excluding
any such revenues included for purposes of clause (i)(C) hereof) reasonably expected to be received by
the Trustee from or on behalf of Citizens and available for the purpose of paying the Senior Secured
Obligations other than Bonds in each year through the final maturity of Senior Secured Obligations then
Outstanding other than Bonds, will be sufficient to pay that portion of the Annual Payment Requirements
as they become due through the final maturity of such Senior Secured Obligations, on Senior Secured
Obligations Outstanding other than Bonds; and (iii) there does not then exist an Event of Default under
the Master Trust Indenture or an event that with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both,
would constitute such an Event of Default.
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Prior to obtaining a Draw from the Proceeds Account in anticipation of FHCF Reimbursements
(as stated in the requisition), Citizens shall provide to the Trustee a certificate executed by an Authorized
Citizens Representative, to the effect that the FHCF Agreement is in full force and effect.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Master Trust Indenture, upon the
written direction of Citizens, the Trustee shall withdraw moneys from the Subaccounts in the Proceeds
Account without regard to certain other requirements of the Master Trust Indenture, for the purpose of
depositing such moneys into the corresponding Principal Subaccount, Sinking Fund Subaccount and/or
Interest Subaccount of the Debt Service Account, in order to pay scheduled principal or amortization
requirements of and/or interest on the corresponding Series of Pre-Event Bonds.

So long as any Pre-Event Bonds are Outstanding, the Trustee may withdraw from the Pre-Event
Bonds Investment Income Subaccount (and any other investment income on deposit in the Proceeds
Account) the amounts necessary to make the deposits or payments required by the Master Trust
Indenture, including paying the interest on the Pre-Event bonds, and, upon maturity of the Pre-Event
Bonds, the principal on the Pre-Event Bonds.

Revenue Account

Pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture, the Trustee will establish a “Citizens Property Insurance
Corporation Coastal Account Revenue Account” (the “Revenue Account”) and within the Revenue
Account five special subaccounts to be known as the FHCF Reimbursements Subaccount, the Emergency
Assessments Subaccount, the Regular Assessments Subaccount, the Additional Surcharges, Assessments
and Other Revenues Subaccount and the Hedge Agreements Subaccount; all of which Subaccounts shall
be held by the Trustee.

(a) The Trustee shall immediately deposit upon its receipt thereof any and all Pledged
Revenues and Hedge Receipts as follows:

(1) FHCF Reimbursements shall be deposited to the credit of the FHCF
Reimbursements Subaccount in the Revenue Account;

(ii) Emergency Assessments shall be deposited to the credit of the Emergency
Assessments Subaccount in the Revenue Account;

(iii) Regular Assessments shall be deposited to the credit of the Regular Assessments
Subaccount in the Revenue Account;

(iv) Net Premiums shall be deposited to the credit of the Revenue Account or such
other Account or Subaccount as may be required to cure any deficiency therein;

V) Additional Surcharges and Assessments and Legislative Appropriations shall be
deposited to the credit of the Additional Surcharges, Assessments and Other Revenues
Subaccount in the Revenue Account;

(vi) Hedge Receipts shall be deposited to the credit of the Hedge Agreement
Subaccount in the Revenue Account; and
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(vii)  Any other sources of money not described in the foregoing clauses (i) through
(vi) received by Citizens and which may be applied to the payment of debt service on Senior
Secured Obligations shall be deposited to the credit of the Additional Surcharges, Assessments
and Other Revenues Subaccount in the Revenue Account and applied as directed by Citizens
consistent with applicable law.

Except as provided in the Master Trust Indenture, no money deposited in any Subaccount or sub-
subaccount established in the Revenue Account shall be commingled with, and instead shall be
segregated from, money deposited to the credit of any other such Subaccount or any sub-subaccount
established in the Revenue Account.

(b) Notwithstanding anything in the Master Trust Indenture to the contrary, so long as no
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, Citizens shall be entitled to retain (without first
depositing such moneys with the Trustee) all Net Premiums, which Net Premiums may be used for any
lawful purpose. If in any month, the Trustee determines there are insufficient funds available on deposit
in the other Subaccounts within the Revenue Account and, as applicable, the Proceeds Account and the
Pre-Event Bonds Investment Income Subaccount therein, to make the transfers required in such month,
the Trustee shall notify Citizens of any such deficiency and Citizens shall pay over to the Trustee the
amount of such deficiency as soon as practicable, and in any event within thirty (30) days of such request,
from Net Premiums. Upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, Citizens shall, on a
monthly basis remit to the Trustee all Net Premiums received. The Trustee shall apply such Net
Premiums so received in accordance with the Master Trust Indenture.

(o) Except as hereinafter provided, moneys in the Revenue Account shall be withdrawn by
the Trustee at the times and in the amounts provided herein or in a Supplemental Indenture or Bank
Credit Agreement, but only in the manner and order specified in the Master Trust Indenture:

(i) Immediately prior to the transfer of Pledged Revenues to the Debt Service
Account and the Reserve Account (if any) as described in the Master Trust Indenture, the Trustee
shall apply the following amounts:

(1) Amounts on deposit in the Pre-Event Bonds Investment Income
Subaccount shall be transferred to the sub-subaccounts in the Interest Subaccount of the
Debt Service Account related to Pre-Event Bonds Outstanding, in an amount sufficient to
make the deposits or payments required by the Master Trust Indenture with respect to
the payment of interest on such Bonds and, to the extent that amounts on deposit in the
Pre-Event Bonds Investment Income Subaccount are insufficient to make such deposits
or payments, amounts on deposit in the Pre-Event Bonds Investment Income Subaccount
shall be transferred to such sub-subaccounts in the Interest Subaccount of the Debt
Service Account ratably according to the amount to be deposited or paid. Any excess
moneys remaining in the Pre-Event Bonds Investment Income Subaccount shall be used
to fund any deficiency in the Reserve Account or Series Reserve Account. In connection
with the maturity date of any Pre-Event Bonds, the principal of which will be paid from
the corresponding Subaccount in the Proceeds Account, the Trustee shall withdraw from
the Proceeds Account the amount directed to be so withdrawn by Citizens pursuant to
the Master Trust Indenture, and deposit such funds in the corresponding sub-subaccount
of the Principal Subaccount in the Debt Service Account.
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2) Amounts on deposit in the Hedge Agreement Subaccount shall be
transferred to the sub-subaccounts in the Interest Subaccount of the Debt Service Account
relating to the Bonds with respect to which such Related Hedge Agreements were
entered into.

(if) So long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, at such times as
provided in the Master Trust Indenture, the Trustee shall withdraw amounts held in the
Subaccounts of the Revenue Account and transfer the same to the Debt Service Account, after
making the transfers described above, as follows:

(1) So long as any Post-Event Bonds are Outstanding, the Trustee shall
withdraw from the Emergency Assessments Subaccount and transfer to the sub-
subaccounts of the Interest Subaccount, the Principal Subaccount and the Sinking Fund
Subaccount of the Debt Service Account related to such Post-Event Bonds, the amounts
which together with any amounts held in such sub-subaccounts are sufficient to make
deposits or payments required by Section 5.04 of the Master Trust Indenture with respect
to such Post-Event Bonds or applicable Related Hedge Agreements and, to the extent that
the amounts on deposit in the Emergency Assessment Subaccount are insufficient to
make such deposits or payments, amounts on deposit in the Emergency Assessment
Subaccount shall be transferred to such sub-subaccounts in the Interest Subaccount, the
Principal Subaccount and the Sinking Fund Subaccount of the Debt Service Account
ratably according to the amount to be deposited.

(2) So long as any amounts are outstanding under any Bank Facility or a
Draw from the Proceeds Account has occurred in anticipation of FHCF Reimbursements,
Regular Assessments, Additional Surcharges and Assessments or Emergency
Assessments, the Trustee shall transfer amounts held in the FHCF Reimbursements
Subaccount, the Regular Assessments Subaccount, the Additional Surcharges,
Assessments and Other Revenues Subaccount and the Emergency Assessments
Subaccounts, as follows:

(A) To the Bank Facilities Agent, within the time period (which time
period shall be at least three Business Days after the later of the receipt of the
notice or availability of funds for payment) and in the amount identified in a
written notice from the Bank Facilities Agent as the amount of principal and
interest then due and payable under the Bank Facility.

(B) To the Proceeds Account, the amount specified by Citizens in a
written requisition to reimburse the Proceeds Account for the Draw or Draws
previously made in anticipation of the receipt of FHCF Reimbursements, Regular
Assessments, Additional Surcharges and Assessments or Emergency
Assessments which have not been reimbursed.

(@) To the extent that amounts on deposit in the FHCF
Reimbursements Subaccount, the Regular Assessments Subaccount, the
Additional Surcharges, Assessments and Other Revenues Subaccount and the
Emergency Assessments Subaccount are insufficient to make the transfers
described in Section 5.03(c)(ii)(2)(A) and (B) of the Master Trust Indenture,
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amounts in the FHCF Reimbursements Subaccount, the Regular Assessments
Subaccount, the Additional Surcharges, Assessments and Other Revenues
Subaccount and the Emergency Assessment Subaccount shall be transferred to
the Bank Facilities Agent and to the Proceeds Account ratably according to the
amounts to be deposited pursuant to Section 5.03(c)(ii)(2)(A) and (B) of the
Master Trust Indenture.

(3) So long as any Pre-Event Bonds are Outstanding, no amounts are owed
under any Bank Facility and to the extent that interest payments to be made on such
Bonds are not fully funded with amounts transferred from the Pre-Event Bonds
Investment Income Subaccount or the Hedge Agreement Subaccount pursuant to Section
5.03(c)(i) of the Master Trust Indenture, the Trustee shall withdraw from the FHCF
Reimbursements Subaccount, the Regular Assessments Subaccount, the Additional
Surcharges, Assessments and Other Revenues Subaccount, and the Emergency
Assessment Subaccounts (in that order) and transfer to the sub-subaccounts established
for such Bonds in the Interest Subaccount of the Debt Service Account an amount which,
together with other amounts held in such sub-subaccounts, will be sufficient to make the
deposits or payments required by Section 5.04 the Master Trust Indenture with respect to
interest owed on such Bonds, provided that if the amount held in the FHCF
Reimbursements Subaccount, the Regular Assessments Subaccount, the Additional
Surcharges, Assessments and Other Revenues Subaccount and the Emergency
Assessments Subaccount are insufficient to make such deposits and payments, the
Trustee shall transfer amounts held in the FHCF Reimbursements Subaccount, the
Regular Assessments Subaccount, the Additional Surcharges, Assessments and Other
Revenues Subaccount and the Emergency Assessments Subaccount to such sub-
subaccounts in the Interest Subaccount of the Debt Service Account ratably according to
the amounts required under Section 5.04 of the Master Trust Indenture.

4) To the extent the amounts on deposit in the Subaccounts of the Revenue
Account are insufficient to make the transfers described in Section 5.03(c)(ii)(1), (2) and
(3) of the Master Trust Indenture, the Trustee shall notify Citizens pursuant to Section
5.03(b) thereof of the deficiency and request the payment of Net Premiums to the Trustee
in the amount of such deficiency, which amount, when received by the Trustee shall be
applied to eliminate such deficiency, provided that if such amount transferred by
Citizens to the Trustee is less than the amount of such deficiency the Trustee shall apply
the amount received ratably to the deficiency in each such Subaccount according to the
amount of the deficiency therein.

(iii) Following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default all

Pledged Revenues shall be applied, following the application of amounts described in Section
5.03(c)(i), pursuant to Section 7.06, of the Master Trust Indenture.

(iv) Following the application of Pledged Revenues pursuant to Section 5.03(c)(i) and

(ii) of the Master Trust Indenture, the Trustee shall transfer Pledged Revenues to the Reserve
Account and any Series Reserve Account as follows:

(1) So long as Post-Event Bonds are Outstanding, the Trustee shall
withdraw from the Emergency Assessments Subaccount and transfer to the Subaccounts
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in the Reserve Account or any Series Reserve Account securing such Post-Event Bonds
amounts required by Section 5.05 of the Master Trust Indenture.

2) So long as any Pre-Event Bonds are Outstanding, the Trustee shall
withdraw from the FHCF Reimbursements Subaccount, the Regular Assessments
Subaccount, the Additional Surcharges, Assessments and Other Revenues Subaccount
and the Emergency Assessments Subaccount and transfer to the Subaccounts in the
Reserve Account or any Series Reserve Account securing such Pre-Event Bonds amounts
required by Section 5.05 of the Master Trust Indenture.

3) To the extent that amounts in the Subaccounts referenced in Section
5.03(c)(iv)(1) and (2) of the Master Trust Indenture are not sufficient to make the transfers
described therein, the Trustee shall notify Citizens pursuant to Section 5.03(b) thereof of
the deficiency and request payment of Net Premiums to the Trustee over a period of not
greater than twenty-four (24) months, in the amount of such deficiency, which amount,
when received by the Trustee shall be applied to eliminate such deficiency, provided that
if such amount transferred by Citizens to the Trustee is less than the amount of such
deficiency, the Trustee shall apply the amounts available ratably to the deficiency in each
Subaccount or Series Reserve Account according to the amount of the deficiency therein.

v) All remaining moneys in the Revenue Account shall be deposited into the
Surplus Pledged Revenues Account.

Debt Service Account

Pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture, the Trustee will establish a “Citizens Property Insurance
Corporation Coastal Account Debt Service Account” (the “Debt Service Account”) and therein the
following subaccounts: a “Citizens Property Insurance Corporation Interest Subaccount” (the “Interest
Subaccount”), a “Citizens Property Insurance Corporation Principal Subaccount” (the “Principal
Subaccount”) and a “Citizens Property Insurance Corporation Sinking Fund Subaccount (the “Sinking
Fund Subaccount”), with separate sub-subaccounts created therein for each Series of Bonds payable from
the Debt Service Account.

The Trustee shall deposit amounts to the sub-subaccounts and Subaccounts in the Debt Service
Account as described under “PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY
OF THE INDENTURE - Revenue Account” herein. The Debt Service Account and the Subaccounts
therein shall constitute an irrevocable trust fund to be applied solely as set forth herein and shall be held
by the Trustee separate and apart from all other Accounts and Subaccounts held under the Master Trust
Indenture and from all other moneys of the Trustee.

At such time or times as provided in the applicable Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee shall
from amounts available for such purpose under Section 5.01 and 5.03 the Master Trust Indenture deposit
the amounts required by any Supplemental Indenture to be deposited in the appropriate sub-subaccounts
in the Interest Subaccount and shall apply such amounts to the payment of interest owed on the Bonds as
provided in the Supplemental Indentures, and (ii) if a Related Hedge Agreement provides for any
payments thereunder by Citizens relating to interest on a particular Series of Bonds, then, at such time or
times as provided in the Related Hedge Agreement, the Trustee shall deliver, to or for the account of the
Hedge Counterparty or other appropriate Person designated in the Related Hedge Agreement, the net
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amount required by such Related Hedge Agreement (but not any termination or other non-scheduled
payments) to be paid thereunder by Citizens relating to interest on Bonds related to such Related Hedge
Agreement, provided that if there shall not be sufficient Pledged Revenues to satisfy all such deposits and
payments, such deposits and payments shall be made to each such sub-subaccount in the Interest
Subaccount and to each appropriate Person designated in such Related Hedge Agreement ratably
according to the amount so required to be deposited or paid.

At such time or times as provided in the applicable Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee shall
deposit the amounts required by the applicable Supplemental Indenture to be deposited in the
appropriate sub-subaccounts in the Principal Subaccount and the Sinking Fund Subaccount for the
payment of the principal of Bonds, whether at maturity or pursuant to an amortization requirement, in
accordance with such Supplemental Indenture; provided that if there shall not be sufficient Pledged
Revenues to satisfy all such deposits and payments, such deposits and payments shall be made to each
such sub-subaccount in the Principal Subaccount and Sinking Fund Subaccount, as applicable, ratably
according to the amount so required to be deposited or paid.

Surplus Pledged Revenues Account

Pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture, the Trustee will establish a “Citizens Property Insurance
Corporation Coastal Account Surplus Pledged Revenues Account” (the “Surplus Pledged Revenues
Account”). The Surplus Pledged Revenues Account shall constitute an irrevocable trust fund to be
applied solely as set forth herein and shall be held by the Trustee separate and apart from all other
Accounts and Subaccounts held under the Master Trust Indenture and from all other moneys of the
Trustee. Whenever for any reason on any payment date, (i) the amount in the Debt Service Account is
insufficient to pay all amounts payable on Bonds on such payment date, or (ii) the amounts available
under Section 5.03(c)(ii)(2) of the Master Trust Indenture are insufficient to pay amounts due under a
Bank Facility, the Trustee shall, without further instructions, transfer the amount of any such deficiency
from the Surplus Pledged Revenues Account into the Debt Service Account to pay Bonds or apply such
amounts to such payment required under such Section for the payment of amounts due under Bank
Facilities, and if amounts in the Surplus Pledged Revenues Account available for such purpose are
insufficient to satisfy such deficiencies, such amounts shall be applied on a prorata basis to such
deficiencies. Any deficiencies in the amounts available in the Debt Service Account shall be made up
from amounts available in the Surplus Pledged Revenues Account before any amounts are withdrawn
from the Reserve Account (or Series Reserve Account) to cure any such deficiencies. After all deficiencies
in the Debt Service Account and under such Section are cured, amounts in the Surplus Pledged Revenues
Account shall be applied to cure any deficiency in the Reserve Account (or Series Reserve Account).

If all Accounts and Subaccounts under the Master Trust Indenture are fully funded or are
otherwise sufficiently funded to satisfy all Annual Payment Requirements payable therefrom or
otherwise payable through the end of the then current Fiscal Year and all Draws from the Proceeds
Account are fully reimbursed, at the written direction of Citizens signed by an Authorized Citizens
Representative, the Trustee shall transfer amounts on deposit in the Surplus Pledged Revenues Account
to Citizens or otherwise apply amounts on deposit in the Surplus Pledged Revenues Account as directed
by Citizens, including to the payment of Subordinated Indebtedness (to the extent not otherwise paid
from other sources); provided that Citizens shall certify to the Trustee that on the date of any such
transfer Citizens would satisfy the requirements of the Master Trust Indenture for the withdrawal of $1
from the Proceeds Account. On the last Business Day of each Fiscal Year, any amounts remaining on
deposit in the Surplus Pledged Revenues Account shall be released to Citizens free and clear of the lien of
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the Master Trust Indenture, but only if no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and only to the
extent that there does not then exist a deficiency in any Account or Subaccount thereunder or
insufficiency in amounts available to pay all amounts due under any Bank Facility or a Related Hedge
Agreement not payable from a specific Account or Subaccount; if such a deficiency does exist, amounts in
the Surplus Pledged Revenues Account shall first be applied to cure such deficiency and, so long as no
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the remaining balance, if any, shall be transferred to
Citizens.

Procedure When Funds Are Sufficient to Pay All Senior Secured Obligations

If at any time the moneys held by the Trustee in the Accounts and Subaccounts under the Master
Trust Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, Bank Credit Agreement and Related Hedge
Agreement and available therefor are sufficient to pay the principal of redemption premium, if any, and
interest and all other payments on all Senior Secured Obligations Outstanding to maturity or prior
redemption, together with any amounts due the Trustee, Paying Agent, Registrar and any Credit
Enhancement Facility Issuer, the Trustee, at the written direction of Citizens signed by an Authorized
Citizens Representative (which shall be delivered in the discretion of Citizens), shall apply the amounts
in the Accounts and Subaccounts to the payment of the aforesaid obligations and shall not be required to
apply any further Pledged Revenues unless and until it shall appear that there is a deficiency in the
Accounts and Subaccounts held by the Trustee.

Deposit of Funds Transferred from Indenture

Any moneys transferred to the Trustee on the date of execution and delivery of the Master Trust
Indenture pursuant to the Tenth Supplemental Indenture shall be deposited by the Trustee in the Funds,
Accounts, Subaccounts and Sub-subaccounts established under the Master Trust Indenture, as follows:
(i) amounts transferred from the Series 2015A Bonds Proceeds Subaccount shall be deposited into a
Subaccount of the same name established in the Proceeds Account; (ii) amounts transferred from the
Series 2015A Bonds Interest Sub-subaccount shall be deposited into a Sub-subaccount of the same name
established within the Interest Subaccount in the Debt Service Account; (iii) amounts transferred from the
Series 2015A Bonds Principal Sub-subaccount shall be deposited into a Sub-subaccount of the same name
established within the Principal Subaccount in the Debt Service Account; and (iv) any amounts
transferred from one or more other funds, accounts, subaccounts or sub-subaccounts established under
the Indenture shall be deposited into the corresponding Fund, Account, Subaccount or Sub-subaccount
established under the Master Trust Indenture as more specifically set forth in a certificate signed by an
Authorized Citizens Representative and delivered to the Trustee on or before the Conversion Date.

Any moneys transferred to the Trustee on the date of execution and delivery of the Master Trust
Indenture pursuant to the provisions of another indenture supplemental to the Original Indenture
pursuant to which Convertible Outstanding Parity Bonds with a maturity date after the Conversion Date
remain outstanding shall be deposited by the Trustee into the corresponding Fund, Account, Subaccount
or Sub-subaccount established under the Master Trust Indenture as more specifically set forth in a
certificate signed by an Authorized Citizens Representative and delivered to the Trustee on or before the
Conversion Date.

All amounts transferred from a Fund, Account, Subaccount or Sub-subaccount established under

the Indenture to the corresponding Fund, Account, Subaccount or Sub-subaccount established under the
Master Trust Indenture shall be applied to the use and purpose of such Fund, Account, Subaccount or
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Sub-subaccount thereunder, but only for the benefit of the corresponding Series of Convertible Prior
Parity Bonds for which the Fund, Account, Subaccount or Sub-subaccount had been established under
the Indenture.

Collection of Assessments and Other Moneys

In the Master Trust Indenture, Citizens will covenant and agree to fix, levy, charge and collect
sufficient funds, including, without limitation, Regular Assessments, Additional Surcharges and
Assessments and Emergency Assessments, in respect of the Coastal Account, in accordance with the Plan
of Operation, the Act and other applicable law, in an amount sufficient, together with Net Premiums and
FHCF Reimbursements received by Citizens, the proceeds of the Bonds and amounts available under any
other Senior Secured Obligations, to pay the principal of and interest on all Senior Secured Obligations,
and all of its obligations in respect of the Coastal Account when due.

Pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture, Citizens will cause all Emergency Assessments, Regular
Assessments, Additional Surcharges and Assessments, FHCF Reimbursements and Net Premiums, in
respect of the Coastal Account, to be levied as soon as is reasonable (and, (x) in the case of the Emergency
Assessments collected by the Insurers, other joint underwriting associations, if any, or special purpose
insurance companies, to be remitted to the Trustee or to Citizens, as applicable, no less frequently than
quarterly and (y) in the case of Emergency Assessments and Regular Assessments collected by Surplus
Lines Agents and/or the Surplus Lines Service Office, to be remitted to the Trustee or to Citizens, as
applicable, at the times provided in the Plan of Operation) and shall impose and enforce obligations for
the payment thereof, to the end that the amount of the Emergency Assessments, Regular Assessments,
Additional Surcharges and Assessments and Net Premiums collected in respect of the Coastal Account
shall be sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the previous paragraph; provided that (i) Citizens will
levy Citizens Policyholder Surcharges and, if necessary, Regular Assessments, in respect of a Plan Year
Deficit paid, in whole or in part, from Draws under the Master Trust Indenture, not later than July 1 after
the end of the Plan Year in which the first Draw is made in respect of such Plan Year Deficit and (ii)
Citizens will levy, and will direct the Insurers, other joint underwriting associations (if any), special
purpose insurance companies, Surplus Lines Agents and the Surplus Lines Service Office to start to
collect, Emergency Assessments in respect of any Plan Year Deficit paid, in whole or in part, from Draws
under the Master Trust Indenture, not later than July 1 of each year following the end of the Plan Year in
which the first Draw is made in respect of such Plan Year Deficit and by July 1 of each year thereafter.

A form of the Master Trust Indenture is attached as Exhibit B to and approved by the Tenth
Supplemental Indenture. After the issuance of the Series 2015A Bonds, the form of the Master Trust
Indenture set forth as Exhibit B to the Tenth Supplemental Indenture may be amended and revised
only if, and to the extent that the change, insertion or omission is of a nature or character that if it were
being made to the Indenture, such change, insertion or omission would be permitted pursuant to
Section 9.02 of the Indenture without the consent of any Holder of Indenture Obligations then
Outstanding,.

Upon execution and delivery of the Master Trust Indenture, the Series 2015A Bonds then
Outstanding will automatically become and be deemed to be “Bonds” and “Senior Secured
Obligations” issued and outstanding under the provisions of the Master Trust Indenture for any and
all purposes, and the Indenture will be cancelled and terminated and exist no more.
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DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE AGREEMENT

Citizens entered into an Amended and Restated Department of Insurance Agreement dated as of
August 1, 2002 among the State of Florida Department of Insurance, the Bank Agent for the financial
institutions that are participating as lenders (the "Banks") (if a Line of Credit is then in effect) and the Indenture
Trustee (the "DOI Agreement") which contains certain representations, warranties and agreements of the
Department on which the Banks and the Indenture Trustee for the benefit of the holders of Indenture
Obligations are entitled to rely. The following summary of the DOI Agreement does not purport to be
complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of the DOI
Agreement, a copy of which is available from Citizens upon request of the Accounting and Finance
Department, Citizens Property Insurance Corporation, 2312 Killearn Center Blvd., Bldg. A, Tallahassee,
Florida 32309, 850-513-3955.

In 2003, due to a change in Florida law, duties of the State of Florida Department of Insurance were
transferred to the Office of Insurance Regulation (the "Office") and to the Department of Financial Services (the
"Department").

Under the DOI Agreement, the Office and the Department, as applicable, represent and warrant,
among other things, (i) the Office or the Department, as applicable, has properly authorized the DOI
Agreement, (ii) the DOI Agreement constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of the Office or the
Department, as applicable, enforceable in accordance with its terms, and (iii) the Plan is valid and binding on
and enforceable against Citizens in accordance with its terms.

The Office or the Department, as applicable, has also agreed in the DOI Agreement to the following:

(a) upon its receipt of Citizens' determination that a Deficit exceeds the amount that will be
recovered through a Regular Assessment and that Emergency Assessments must be levied, the Office will
promptly verify the arithmetic calculations relating to the proposed Emergency Assessments;

(b) not commence or file, or permit to be commenced or filed, any liquidation, rehabilitation,
insolvency, bankruptcy, receivership, conservatorship, reorganization or similar proceedings under any
provision of the laws of the State of Florida (including Chapter 631, Florida Statutes or any successor
statute) or under any provision of Federal law (a "Delinquency Proceeding") against Citizens; any
security interest of the Banks (if a Line of Credit is then in effect), the Indenture Trustee and the Hedge
Obligation counterparties (if a Hedge Agreement is in effect) in the Collateral which are imposed and/or
collected after the commencement and during the pendency of any Delinquency Proceeding will not be
invalidated or impaired and will remain in full force and effect;

(0) not initiate or take any action or (unless mandated or required by the Florida Legislature
or a court of competent jurisdiction) consent to any action which, so far as the Office or the Department,
as applicable, could reasonably foresee, may impair the security interest of the Banks, the Indenture
Trustee and the Hedge Obligation counterparties (if a Hedge Agreement is in effect) or affect the ability
of Citizens to perform its obligations under the Indenture, the Line of Credit (if a Line of Credit is then in
effect) or the Pledge and Security Agreement;

(d) require Citizens to fulfill all of its obligations under, among other things, the Act, the

Plan, the Line of Credit (if a Line of Credit is then in effect), the Indenture and the Pledge and Security
Agreement;
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(e) not approve or consent to any program the purpose or effect of which is to exempt any
Assessable Insureds or holders of Assessable Policies from Emergency Assessments; and

) not consent to the dissolution or termination of Citizens, or to certain mergers, or to the
creation of a new entity to perform the activities of Citizens, if such creation could have a material
adverse effect on the rights of the Banks (if a Line of Credit is then in effect), the Collateral Trustee, the
Indenture Trustee, the holders of the Indenture Obligations or any Hedge Obligation counterparty (if a
Hedge Agreement is in effect).

The DOI Agreement may be terminated by the Office and the Department when (i) all amounts owed
under the Line of Credit (if a Line of Credit is then in effect) have been repaid in full, (ii) all amounts of
principal and interest owed on the Indenture Obligations have been economically defeased or paid in full, and
(iii) the payment or making of arrangements approved in writing by the Indenture Trustee, the Banks (if a
Line of Credit is then in effect), the Collateral Trustee and other Secured Creditors for the payment of all other
amounts owed under the Line of Credit (if a Line of Credit is then in effect) and the Related Documents, the
Indenture and other Financing Documents.

The Indenture provides that a material misrepresentation, a breach of its material obligations or the
termination of the DOI Agreement by the Office or the Department, as applicable, which adversely affects the
Collateral or materially adversely affects the rights or remedies of the Indenture Trustee is an Event of Default
under the Indenture. See "APPENDIX A — COMPOSITE FORM OF THE TRUST INDENTURE AND FORM
OF TENTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE" attached hereto.

The obligations of the Office and the Department, as applicable, under the DOI Agreement are
enforceable only by a petition for a writ of mandamus or injunction issued by a court of competent jurisdiction
in the enforcement of the rights of the Bank Agent (if a Line of Credit is then in effect) and the Indenture
Trustee under the DOI Agreement. There can be no assurance that a court would issue such a writ of
mandamus or injunction or that a court would not issue a declaratory judgment that the Office or Department
acted in excess of its statutory authority in executing the DOI Agreement and/or an injunction restraining the
Office or the Department from performing their respective obligations under the DOI Agreement. Neither the
Office nor the Department will be subject to suit for monetary or other damage for breach of the DOI
Agreement. In addition, no officer, employee or agent of the Office or the Department in his or her individual
capacity will have any personal liability under the DOI Agreement.

Upon the execution and delivery of the Master Trust Indenture as described herein, the DOI
Agreement may be made inapplicable to one or more Series of Bonds (other than the Series 2015A Bonds)
issued under the Master Trust Indenture as provided in the corresponding supplemental indenture for
such Series of Bonds. Additionally, unlike the Indenture, the Master Trust Indenture does not contain any
Events of Default related to the DOI Agreement.

FLORIDA PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE MARKET

There are currently over 160 companies writing residential property insurance in Florida. These
companies can be broadly categorized into four main groups: (i) large national carriers (such as, for example,
Liberty Mutual and USAA); (ii) Florida-only subsidiaries (or “Pups”) of large national carriers (such as, for
example, subsidiaries of State Farm, Allstate, Travelers, and Nationwide); (iii) stand-alone Florida-based
companies that write business primarily or only in Florida; and (iv) Citizens. In addition to these admitted

46



market carriers, which are regulated as to premiums, rates and other matters by the Office, surplus lines
carriers, which have unregulated rates and which are otherwise subject to less regulatory scrutiny by the
Office, also write residential property insurance in Florida.

The dynamics of Florida's property and casualty insurance market are dominated by the hurricane
risk faced by policyholders in the State of Florida. As a result of this risk, private insurance carriers —
especially large national carriers — have long sought to limit their property and casualty exposures in Florida.
The market today is therefore dominated by smaller companies who write all or most of their business in
Florida.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Market Share Based on Total Insured Value for Policies that Include Wind Coverage
Florida Residential Property Insurance Market
QUASR data as of December 31, 2014

Citizens $186,205
Subsidiaries of National Writers $236,765
Florida-Based $1,257,351

Others $373,211

Notes:

1) Includes admitted insurers only

2) State farm Florida filed QUASR data as "trade secret” with the Office beginning first quarter 2014. This exhibit reflects
values for State Farm Florida as reported for fourth quarter 2013.

3) Surplus lines companies are not included in the market share calculation

4) Based on total insured value for policies with wind coverage

5) Includes Total Insured Value for both personal residential and commercial residential policies that include the

peril of wind. Residential policies which exclude the peril of wind are not included in totals above.
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The following table shows a breakdown of the top writers of personal residential lines of property
insurance in Florida (including State Farm) in Eligible Areas as of December 31, 2014, in the order of largest
Total Insured Value for all policies. This table excludes commercial business for each listed carrier and is
provided for illustrative purposes.

Total Insured

Value for All Premium-
Policies- Policies In-Force

Carrier In-Force (in millions) (in millions)
State Farm Florida Insurance Company @ 361,493 $166,191 $626
Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

PLA 373,716 66,060 596

Coastal Account 257,761 70,064 509
Universal Property & Casualty Insurance Company 506,227 113,629 753
Federated National Insurance Company 182,557 76,893 341
United Property & Casualty Insurance Company 173,488 69,044 328
Federal Insurance Company 32,076 68,933 177
St. Johns Insurance Company, Inc. 172,349 65,804 279
Heritage Property & Casualty Insurance Company 215,064 61,388 367
American Integrity Insurance Company Of Florida 197,627 60,761 241
Tower Hill Prime Insurance Company 140,728 60,496 230
United Services Automobile Association 124,466 58,350 293
Security First Insurance Company 208,871 57,499 249
Homeowners Choice Property & Casualty Insurance

Company, Inc. 177,360 53,701 437
AIG Property Casualty Company 13,937 50,599 140
Olympus Insurance Company 95,249 50,197 177
Florida Peninsula Insurance Company 132,647 47,190 308
ASI Preferred Insurance Corp. 109,307 40,252 136
People's Trust Insurance Company 135,322 39,288 265
Ark Royal Insurance Company 97,121 33,550 123
Tower Hill Signature Insurance Company 99,081 33,280 168
All Other Carriers 2,332,122 696,242 3,297
Totals - All Carriers 6,138,470 $2,039,411 $10,041
Notes:

1) Includes admitted insurers (and Citizens) writing personal residential property statewide
2) State Farm Florida filed QUASR data as "trade secret" with the Office beginning first quarter 2014.
This exhibit reflects values for State Farm Florida as reported for fourth quarter 2013.

Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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It is possible that policy increases in the Coastal Account, PLA and the CLA may occur because of
future changes in the voluntary market brought about by additional storms or changes in Florida law,
including the Act. In addition, the financial capabilities or conditions of insurers and reinsurers may have a
direct impact on the Florida market for property and casualty insurance. Citizens is unable to predict the
financial status of other insurers within the State and makes no representation as to the fiscal soundness of any
market participant except for Citizens” own representations made herein. However, Citizens' policy count in
the Coastal Account has decreased over the last three years ended December 31, 2014 from 460,161 to 282,863
with the total insured value having decreased by 49% over such time period.

State Legislative Influence

Property insurance is a highly regulated industry in the United States with most of the regulatory
responsibility held by each individual state. The Florida Office of Insurance Regulation and the Florida
Legislature are therefore important entities with significant power to alter the landscape of the insurance
industry in the State. Historically, both entities have used their power to try to manage the impacts of the
hurricane exposure faced by Florida. The State Legislature has amended the Act significantly during
certain of the past legislative sessions. Amendments to the Act were approved during the 2015 regular
legislative session (provided, however, the period during which the Governor may veto such legislation has
not yet expired).

Additional amendments to the Act may be introduced and passed during future legislative
sessions. However, the Act requires that “[i]n recognition of s. 10, Art. I of the State Constitution, prohibiting
the impairment of obligations of contracts, it is the intent of the Legislature that no action be taken whose purpose is
to impair any bond indenture or financing agreement or any revenue source committed by contract to such bond or
other indebtedness.” See "RISK FACTORS - Future Legislative and Regulatory Changes" herein.

CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION
Background

Citizens is a legislatively-created government entity, originally established in 2002, which provides
residential and commercial property and casualty insurance coverage for the owners of certain properties in
the State as specified in the Act. Citizens resulted from a legislatively mandated combination of FRPCJUA and
FWUA. FRPCJUA was restructured and renamed as Citizens and the rights, obligations, assets, liabilities and
all insurance policies of FWUA were transferred to Citizens. See Note 1 to the audited statutory financial
statements and audited GAAP financial statements as of December 31, 2013, included as APPENDIX C and D,
attached hereto. FRPCJUA and FWUA, both commonly referred to as "residual market mechanisms," were
statutorily-created associations to provide property insurance to persons unable to obtain coverage from the
voluntary market. Citizens is not subject to Chapter 607 (the Florida Business Corporation Act) or Chapter 617
(the Florida Not-For-Profit Corporation Act), Florida Statutes relating to private and not-for-profit
corporations, respectively.

For more information about Citizens, see "CITIZENS BOARD OF GOVERNORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT" herein.

Citizens operates pursuant to the Plan which must be approved by the Commission. Citizens is
supervised by a nine member Board of Governors (the "Board"). The Governor appoints three members. The
Chief Financial Officer of the State of Florida (the "State Chief Financial Officer"), the President of the Florida
Senate and the Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives each appoint two members of the Board. At
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least one of the two members appointed by each appointing officer must have demonstrated expertise in
insurance. The State Chief Financial Officer designates the chairman of the Board. Citizens is subject to
regulatory oversight by the Office.

The Plan, which governs certain fundamental business operations of Citizens, is approved and subject
to continuous review by the Commission. The Plan was most recently approved by the Commission on
October 10, 2013. See "APPENDIX E — CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION PLAN OF
OPERATION" attached hereto for a copy of the amended Plan.

The statutory Executive Director and senior managers are engaged by the Board and serve at the
pleasure of the Board. The Executive Director is subject to confirmation by the Florida Senate.

The Board operates in accordance with Florida's government-in-the-sunshine laws, and Citizens is
subject to Florida's public records laws with certain exceptions as delineated in the Act.

Citizens’ Board and senior managers are subject to certain provisions of Florida’s statutory code
of ethics for public officers and employees. Citizens has a statutorily mandated Office of the Internal
Auditor, which reports to the Board and is not subject to supervision by any employee of Citizens. The
Auditor General of the State of Florida (the “Auditor General”) and the Office are each required to
conduct an operational audit of Citizens every three years to evaluate management's performance in
administering laws, policies, and procedures; the most recent audit was completed by the Auditor
General in August 2012 and an audit is currently being conducted by the Auditor General but Citizens
has not been informed of the expected completion date of such audit.

Citizens is considered a political subdivision of the State for purposes of being exempt from State
of Florida and federal income taxation.

The Accounts

A brief history of each Account follows:

Coastal Account — The FWUA, which was a residual market mechanism for windstorm and hail
coverage (but no other coverage) in selected areas of the State, was created by an act of the Florida Legislature
in 1970 as Section 627.351(2), Florida Statutes. FWUA was a Florida unincorporated association, the members
of which were all property insurance companies holding a certificate of authority to provide property
insurance coverage in the State. FWUA provided policies of wind-only insurance for property owners within
the Eligible Areas who were unable to obtain such coverage from voluntary market insurers. Insured
properties include personal residential, commercial residential and commercial nonresidential properties.
This portion of the FWUA'’s activities became the Coastal Account (formerly entitled the High-Risk Account)
under Citizens. The Act has been legislatively amended several times since the FWUA became the Coastal
Account. See “THE COASTAL ACCOUNT " herein.

Creditors of the Coastal Account have no claim against the PLA or the CLA. In addition, creditors of
the PLA or the CLA have no claim against the Coastal Account. See "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A
BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE OBLIGATIONS" herein.

PLA - The Florida Residential Property and Casualty Joint Underwriting Association began

operations on January 21, 1993, after Hurricane Andrew, pursuant to Section 627.351(6), Florida Statutes, to
provide certain residential property and casualty insurance coverage to qualified risks in the State (on a
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statewide basis) to applicants who are in good faith entitled to procure insurance through the voluntary
market but are unable to do so. Personal residential property and casualty coverage consists of the types of
coverage provided by homeowners, mobile homeowners, tenants, condominium unit owners, and similar
policies. The policies provide coverage for all perils covered under a standard personal residential policy,
subject to certain underwriting requirements. Such policies exclude windstorm coverage on property within
Eligible Areas (see “THE COASTAL ACCOUNT - Eligible Areas" herein). This portion of the FRPCJUA's
activities became the PLA under Citizens.

CLA - The Florida Property and Casualty Joint Underwriting Association (the "FPCJUA") was
activated in early 1994 to provide commercial residential coverage, i.e. coverage for condominium
associations, apartment buildings and homeowner associations for properties located in the State, to persons
unable to obtain such coverage from a voluntary market insurer. During 1995, legislation was enacted to
transfer all obligations, rights, assets, and liabilities related to commercial residential coverage from the
FPCJUA to the FRPCJUA. Such legislation required that the premiums, losses, assets and liabilities be
accounted for separately from the FRPCJUA's personal residential business. These policies excluded
windstorm coverage on properties within Eligible Areas. The FRPCJUA commercial nonresidential business
became the CLA under Citizens. In addition, on June 1, 2007, Citizens began writing commercial
nonresidential wind-only property insurance in the CLA. On that date, Citizens' CLA also assumed the then-
outstanding commercial nonresidential wind-only policies from the Property and Casualty Joint Underwriting
Association, which was established in 2006 (the "PCJUA"). The PCJUA wrote only commercial nonresidential
wind-only coverage in territories not covered by the Coastal Account.

Operations

The Act requires that Citizens should be held to service standards no less than those applied to
insurers in the admitted market with respect to responsiveness, timeliness and customer courtesy when
dealing with policyholders, applicants or agents. Citizens provides such service using a base of approximately
1,200 employees and a network of outsourcing agreements for certain functions such as information and
technology, claims adjusting, and underwriting. Management of Citizens is confident in its current operations
infrastructure, but there can be no assurance that Citizens will not face any operational difficulties in the future
because of large and/or multiple storms affecting the State. See "CITIZENS BOARD OF GOVERNORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT" herein.

Applications for coverage are forwarded to Citizens from private market insurance agents who are
paid commissions. Using its own employees and an external service provider, Citizens underwrites and
issues policies for qualifying submissions. All underwriting work (internal and external) is subject to quality
assurance efforts performed both within the underwriting department and separately from the independent
Quality Assurance Department.

For both catastrophic and non-catastrophic claims, the loss adjusting function is performed by
Citizens through its employees and through contracted independent adjusting firms. Citizens uses
independent adjusting firms more extensively for catastrophic claims than for non-catastrophic claims.
Citizens compensates these firms, depending upon the type or nature of the claims, either on per-day rate or
on a graduated fee schedule based on the gross claim amount consistent with industry standard methods of
compensation.

Citizens' claims department has over 300 full-time employees. The entire claims department is
organized around preparing and scaling for, as well as executing against, a major catastrophic event. A
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significant amount of non-catastrophe claims, and most catastrophe claims, are handled using independent
adjusters, over whom Citizens' staff exercises oversight and quality assurance. Citizens currently has
approximately 2,233 fully credentialed and pre-qualified independent adjusters including approximately 653
currently deployed, to handle non-catastrophe claims. In addition, Citizens has contingency access to an
additional 3,178 independent adjusters. All independent resources are managed and deployed through
Citizens” Administrative Information System (CAIS). This allows for an efficient process to request resources
and verify the required information is correct. Citizens engages in catastrophe preparation training with
external business partners as well as internal staff. In the event of a catastrophe, Claims Leadership will
communicate with Citizens” Vendor Relations Department to request the appropriate number of independent
adjusters from Citizens' contracted firms for deployment to handle claims. The independent adjusters
participate in a catastrophe orientation prior to receiving claims and being deployed to the affected areas.

Properties

Citizens leases its headquarters and other facilities located in Tallahassee, Florida, and other facilities
located in Jacksonville, Florida and Tampa, Florida. Citizens does not currently own any real property.

THE COASTAL ACCOUNT
Eligible Areas

The "Eligible Areas" for the Coastal Account has changed over time but currently include portions of
29 of Florida's 35 coastal counties, including all of Monroe County and the area within Port Canaveral. In
Miami-Dade, Broward and Palm Beach Counties, all of the areas east of I-95 are eligible, which, in some
instances, extends as far as five miles from the coast. Elsewhere in the State, coverage is generally limited to a
distance within 1,000 — 1,500 feet from the coast. The boundaries of the Eligible Areas affect the obligation of
voluntary market insurers to provide windstorm coverage. Outside of the Eligible Areas, voluntary market
insurers must include windstorm coverage in every residential property policy written. Inside the Eligible
Areas, voluntary market insurers are free to write policies that exclude windstorm coverage.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

53



COASTAL ACCOUNT ELIGIBLE AREAS

¥ r
Escambla
CEMIE canta | Helmes Jackson

Roza Okaloosa

Waltoh | washingten Nassau

Jeflerson welin 1,000

Hamiien

T Eastof ATA

==

v Barriar

lslands lslands of .5

& City of 1 &win ICw Cityo

Fensacola! 1,000 Fanama
\ City Bch

South

Gllchrist

' & wiin o
Ezst of ICW plus
' .
i 1000w e i Flagler Beh
City of 580 .
) 1,500 &
Gulf Breezs South of
H:!-_:.r 9; City of Barriar Islands plus

Cities of Ormond Bch,
Daytona Boh & South
Daytona Bch

Cadar Kay

Wast of Shoal Line

& Corfez Roads Brevard

wiin 1,000

West of US Hwy 19
Osceola
KEY - ELIGIBLE AREAS O
FI”{J“”? Ineblan E?sl of Indian
[ Barrier Islands, Plus Portions of Portian of e Lo T\
Mainland, Including Entire Cities Bartiar Islands St win 1,000
[ 1.000' - 1,500" From Coastline Sarer s sarason
City of Sarasota
|:| Barrier Islands
Barrier kslands E‘fa:E-lQS e
[] Eastofli95 o AIRATA
wiin 1,000
[] Entire County East
D Seaward of Designated Highway
Miam HDade East of
- - . Monroe
[ city Limit Only s
Entire Hwy 1
County
Areas Not to Scale )
Descriptions are Only )
General Representations ° c:,//"JS &

Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

54



Coastal Account Size

The Coastal Account has historically been a very stable book of business, though on an aggregate
basis Citizens has observed a dramatic drop in exposure over the past two years due to both unprecedented
participation in its existing Depopulation Plan and the effect of the new Property Insurance Clearinghouse in
reducing new business. The majority of exposure reduction has impacted the PLA, but significant
depopulation in the Coastal Account has occurred in 2013 and 2014 as well. The following table sets forth the
market share of the Coastal Account over the previous five years measured by total insured value.

Market Share of Coastal Account in Eligible Areas®

2010 2011 2012® 2013 2014®
61% 59% 54% 51% 46%

Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation.

(1) As of December 31¢. Voluntary market data is as reported to Citizens’ Voluntary Premium Writings Program by
participating companies.

(2) As part of an assumption agreement with Weston Insurance Company, Citizens and Weston Insurance Company
entered into a 100% quota share arrangement that resulted in the same overall financial impact as a traditional
assumption (depopulation). 2012 market share must reflect the impact of the quota share arrangement since the
policies removed by Weston are reflected within ceded written premium to reinsurers rather than within ceded
written premium to takeout companies.

(3) Over $30 billion of Coastal Account Total Insured Value was depopulated in 2014 but was still being serviced by
Citizens as of December 31, 2014. As this insurance is not in force with Citizens and not reported in Citizens’
Voluntary Writings Program, it is accounted for in 2014 market share.

Policy counts, Direct Written Premium ("DWP") and Total Insured Value, as of December 31 in the
years 2010 through and including 2014, are shown in the table below.

Total Coastal Account Policies in Force, DWP and Total Insured Value

Period Ending DWP Total Insured Value
December 31 Total Policies-in-Force (in millions) (in millions)
2014 282,863 $1,003 $115,615
2013 386,688 1,174 166,387
2012 446,163 1,230 205,377
2011 460,161 1,187 228,910
2010 445,679 1,115 231,256

Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation.

The number of policies in force, the DWP and the total insured value of properties covered by the
Coastal Account may change as a result of future legislation and other factors beyond the control of
Citizens. See "FLORIDA PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE MARKET" herein and "RISK
FACTORS - Future Legislative and Regulatory Changes" herein. The continued addition of multi-peril
policies in the defined wind eligible area has generally been due to the conversion of wind only policies
into multi-peril policies. Such conversion has not significantly increased in-force policies or exposure but
has increased premium.
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Coastal Account Policy Types and Coverages

Citizens provides the following types of commercial and personal residential policies within the
Eligible Areas of the Coastal Account. Policies are written on an annual basis and are subject to renewal.

Personal Lines

Florida Statute limits coverage for structures up to $900,000 for homeowners and dwelling
policies and for single condominium units that have a combined dwelling and contents replacement cost
of up to $900,000. Coverage limits are subject to future reductions to $800,000 in 2016, and $700,000 in
2017. However, Monroe and Miami-Dade counties are eligible for statutory exception from the reduced
coverage limits due to lack of reasonable market activity. These counties have a maximum limit of
$1,000,000. Additional counties may also receive exception by future Office order. Lower coverage limits
apply for some lines of business, such as mobile home and renters.

° Personal Residential Wind only (PR-W) — Includes homeowners, dwelling, mobile home,
condo unit-owners and tenant contents policies that primarily cover the peril of
windstorm & hail and do not include liability coverage.

° Personal Residential Multi-peril (PR-M) — Includes homeowners, dwelling, mobile home,
condo unit-owner and tenant contents policies that include perils such as windstorm and
hail, water (plumbing related), fire, sinkhole, theft and liability (up to $100,000 per
occurrence).

Commercial Lines

Coverage limits vary by policy type as described below. Statutory reductions of minimum limits
do not apply to Commercial Lines policy types.

o Commercial Residential Wind-only (CR-W) - Includes condominium associations,
apartment buildings, residential homeowners association buildings, common elements of
homeowners associations, fraternities and sororities, convents and monasteries, and
continuing care retirement communities. Coverage is primarily provided for the peril of
windstorm and hail and does not include liability coverage. There is no maximum
building coverage limit for this line of business.

J Commercial Residential Multi-peril (CR-M) - Includes condominium associations,
apartment buildings and residential homeowners association buildings, common
elements of homeowners associations, fraternities and sororities, convents and
monasteries, and continuing care retirement communities. Coverage is provided on a
basic perils coverage form that primarily covers windstorm, hail and fire and does not
include liability coverage. There is no maximum building coverage limit for this line of
business.

. Commercial Nonresidential Wind-only (CNR-W) — Includes nonresidential buildings
such as office buildings, gas station buildings, convenience stores and other types of
commercial nonresidential property and does not include liability coverage. This
program also includes builder's risk policies on a consent to rate basis for single family
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homes with a completed value under $1 million. Coverage is primarily provided
exclusively for the peril of windstorm and hail and does not include liability coverage.

o Commercial Non-residential Multi-Peril (CNR-M) - Includes
nonresidential buildings such as office buildings, gas station buildings, convenience
stores and other types of commercial nonresidential property and does not include
liability coverage. There is a maximum building coverage limit for this line of business of
$2.5 million, subject to a replacement cost ceiling of $20 million (e.g. if the replacement
value exceeds $20 million, the $2.5 million is not available). For buildings with a
replacement cost value greater than the maximum limit, coverage may be written for $2.5
million, using first loss rating methodology to develop the premium. The premium and
the application of the percentage hurricane deductible are based upon the full
replacement cost of the building.

For personal lines, policy coverages are generally described as Coverage A (principal building), Coverage
B (other structure), Coverage C (contents) and Coverage D (living expenses). Commercial Lines coverage
is described as Coverage A (building(s)) and Coverage C (business personal property).

The definitions, terms, conditions and applicable coverage are generally provided in a manner
similar to that of the private market and are primarily based upon standardized Insurance Services
Office, Inc. (ISO) coverage forms. The policies include a number of exclusions from coverage, including,
among others, damage caused by floods, scouring and wave wash. Citizens' flood exclusion is generally
more constrictive than the flood exclusion typically used by the voluntary market insurers and ISO. For
Personal Lines, structures and contents are generally insured on a replacement cost basis. Commercial
Lines structures are insured on a replacement cost basis, with business personal property insured at
actual cash value. Mobile home building coverage, whether personal residential or commercial, is
generally based upon actual cash value. Although valued at actual cash value, newer mobile home partial
losses are settled on replacement cost basis.

As of December 31, 2014, the in force policies and exposure for each category of Coastal Account
business described above are as follows:

Total Exposure

Policy Type Policies In-force (in millions)
Personal Residential Wind-only (PR-W) 161,732 $52,739
Commercial Residential Wind-only (CR-W) 7,751 27,327
Commercial Non-Residential Wind-only(CNR-W) 16,495 10,437
Personal Residential Multi-peril (PR-M) 96,029 17,326
Commercial Residential Multi-peril (CR-M) 656 7,498
Commercial Non-Residential Multi-peril (CNR-M) 200 289
Totals 282,863 $115,615

Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation.
Underwriting Guidelines and Determination of Policy Limits

i. Policy underwriting is conducted in accordance with the Act, the Plan and underwriting
guidelines, all of which are subject to change from time to time. Underwriting standards are
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ii.

iii.

iv.

Vi.

Vii.

Viii.

ix.

Xi.

Xii.

xiii.

Xiv.

XV.

limited as the Coastal Account is intended to be a residual market mechanism for coverage in the
“Eligible Areas”. Nonetheless, Citizens' current underwriting guidelines provide that the
following standards must be met:

The physical condition of the property, including its construction and maintenance, must be
satisfactory.

With the exception of builder’s risk policies (i.e. buildings under construction or renovation),
properties must (with certain exceptions) be occupied and cannot be vacant.

The risk must not be so hazardous as to be uninsurable (based upon a likelihood of loss for that
risk is substantially higher than for other risks of the same class and upon a determination that
the uncertainty associated with the risk is such that an appropriate premium cannot be
determined).

The risk (with certain exceptions) must not be constructed partially or entirely over water.

Policies with three or more non “act of God” losses in the last three years are not eligible for
coverage other than under a Dwelling Policy (DP-1).

For Personal Residential Multi-Peril policies, evidence that electrical, plumbing, roof and heating
systems are in good working order is generally required for structures over 30 years old.

For Personal Residential Policies, properties must provide proof that roofs are not damaged, have
no visible signs of leaks and have at least three years of remaining useful life as the roof age
approaches its expected lifespan.

Personal residential homes and dwellings are required to be insured to value (replacement cost)
and require use of insurance industry-software to establish reconstruction cost.

For HO-8 policies written at actual cash value, the coverage amount must be between 50-79% of
replacement cost and the maximum coverage is $200,000.

PRM Mobile homes manufactured prior to 1994 are valued at actual cash value, whereas all PRW
and CNR-W Mobile homes are valued at actual cash value. The policyholder must complete a
cost estimator to establish depreciated value.

Commercial residential properties are required to be insured to 100% replacement cost. New
business submissions are required to include an insurance replacement cost based appraisal.

Mobile homes are required to be tied down in accordance with Florida Statute 320.8325.
Additional commercial underwriting guidelines for properties older than 30 years require roof
updates. Properties without update or with evidence of existing damage or disrepair are

considered ineligible for coverage with Citizens until repairs are completed.

Fraternities / Sororities / Dormitories / Convents and Monasteries occupancy classifications were
added to the Commercial Residential programs to enhance Citizens' FHCF reporting, as FHCF
coverage is available for these risks.
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Premiums and Rates

The Act requires Citizens to file its proposed rates annually with the Office, and requires the Office to
issue a final order establishing Citizens' rates within 45 days after receiving such recommendation. Citizens
may not challenge or appeal the Office's rate determination. Generally, the Act requires Citizens' rates to be
otherwise actuarially sound and consistent with the statutory requirements for private insurers in the State of
Florida. Prior to 2010, certain of Citizens rates were at levels required by statute but were not actuarially
sound. However, since 2010, Citizens is required to file actuarially sound rates with rate increases of no more
than 10% of the prior term’s rate until all rates are actuarially sound (with certain exceptions, including
surcharges and coverage changes). This legislative change, which became commonly known in Florida as the
“glide path,” resulted in the Office approving average rate increases for the Coastal Account of 6.7% for
policies renewed in 2010, 10.9% for policies renewed in 2011, 8.1% for policies renewed in 2012, 10.4% for
policies renewed in 2013, 9.8% for policies renewed in 2014 and 3.9% for policies renewed in 2015.

Assessments, Surcharge and Other Funds

In addition to the net proceeds of the Series 2015A Bonds and any additional Senior Secured
Obligations that may be issued, funds of Citizens consist primarily of premium revenue, investment income,
surplus (if any) from prior years, FHCF Reimbursements (if losses fall within the contractual coverage
provisions), private reinsurance (if Citizens purchases any such reinsurance from time to time and losses fall
within the contractual coverage provisions), the hereinafter defined Citizens Policyholder Surcharge (if any),
Regular Assessments (if any) and Emergency Assessments (if any).

Funds are applied primarily to the payment of claims and operating expenses. Positive cash flows are
invested pending future payments of claims and other expenses. Each of these sources is discussed in this
section.

The Act and the Plan establish a process by which Citizens will levy the Citizens Policyholder
Surcharge and assessments by Account to recover deficits incurred in a given Plan Year (the twelve-month
period beginning 12:01 a.m., January 1 of one year and ending 12:01 a.m., January 1 of the following year). The
Plan provides for Plan Year Deficits to be determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles ("GAAP") adjusted for certain items (“Adjusted GAAP”). See “FINANCIAL INFORMATION -
Adjusted GAAP Surplus for the Coastal Account” herein. Plan Year Deficits for each of Citizens' three
Accounts are calculated separately and assessments are levied separately. See "APPENDIX E — CITIZENS
PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION PLAN OF OPERATION" attached hereto.

In the event a Plan Year Deficit is incurred in an Account, Citizens will levy, in the following order, a
Citizens Policyholder Surcharge, a Regular Assessment and an Emergency Assessment, as described herein.
Citizens’ current capital structure requires no surcharges or assessments.

Citizens Policyholder Surcharge. In the event of a Plan Year Deficit in any of Citizens’ three Accounts,
Citizens must first levy a policyholder surcharge (the “Citizens Policyholder Surcharge”) against all
policyholders of Citizens (across all Accounts) for a 12-month period, which is payable at the time of

cancellation or termination of the policy, upon renewal of the policy, or upon issuance of a new policy by
Citizens within the first 12 months after the date of the levy or the period of time necessary to fully collect the
surcharge amount. The Citizens Policyholder Surcharge is levied as a uniform percentage of the premium for
the policy; the maximum for each Account is 15 percent of such premium, which funds will be used to offset
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the Plan Year Deficit. Pursuant to the Act, non-payment of the Citizens Policyholder Surcharge is treated as
non-payment of premium on the underlying policy.

Regular Assessment. If the Citizens Policyholder Surcharge is projected as insufficient to eliminate
the Plan Year Deficit in the Coastal Account, Citizens would then levy a regular assessment (“Regular
Assessment”) on Assessable Insurers and Assessable Insureds, each as defined herein. Regular
Assessments do not apply to Citizens policyholders. Citizens may not levy any Regular Assessments with
respect to a particular year's deficit until it has first levied the full amount of the Citizens Policyholder
Surcharge. After accounting for the Citizens Policyholder Surcharge, if there is any remaining projected
Plan Year Deficit in the Coastal Account then Citizens must levy a Regular Assessment up to a maximum
of 2% to recover all or a portion of the projected Plan Year Deficit, under current law. If after levying the
Citizens Policyholder Surcharge and Regular Assessments, there remains a projected Plan Year Deficit in
any Account in a particular calendar year, Emergency Assessments are levied as described below. See
“Emergency Assessments” herein.

Subject to limited statutory exceptions, all insurers authorized to write one or more Subject Lines
of Business (as defined herein) in Florida are subject to Regular Assessments by Citizens and are
collectively referred to as “Assessable Insurers.”

Subject to limited statutory exceptions, surplus lines insureds, who procure one or more of the
Subject Lines of Business in the State from an insurer writing such coverage pursuant to Chapter 626, Part
VIII, Florida Statutes (“Florida’s Surplus Lines Law”) are also subject to Regular Assessments by Citizens
and are collectively referred to as “Assessable Insureds.” Insurance coverage pursuant to Florida's
Surplus Lines Law is coverage that cannot be procured from Office-authorized insurers but rather is
procured from certain other eligible insurers provided that under Florida law (i) the insurance is eligible
for export; (ii) the insurer is an eligible surplus lines insurer; (iii) the insurance is placed through a
licensed surplus lines agent; and (iv) the applicable provisions of Florida’s Surplus Lines Law are met.

Regular Assessments on Assessable Insurers are levied based upon each Assessable Insurer's
share of DWP for the Subject Lines of Business in the State for the calendar year preceding the year in
which the deficit occurred. Regular Assessments on Assessable Insureds, collectively, are based on the
ratio of the amount being assessed for an Account to the aggregate statewide DWPs for the Subject Lines
of Business for the preceding year. Citizens determination of the amount of Regular Assessments to be
levied is subject to verification and approval by the Office.

Pursuant to Citizens' Plan, Regular Assessment computations for any Plan Year Deficit will
include the expense of making such assessment, uncollected amounts from prior Regular Assessments for
that year, and items of revenue, expense or additions to reserves required by any loan agreement, trust
indenture or other financing agreement which in the opinion of the Board will affect the need for, or
results of, the Regular Assessments.

Assessable Insurers must pay the Regular Assessment within 30 days of the receipt of the notice
of assessment, except that an Assessable Insurer qualifying as a limited apportionment company may pay
as described below. Except as described below, all Regular Assessments levied on Assessable Insureds
are collected at the time a surplus lines agent collects the surplus lines tax required by Florida’s Surplus
Lines Law. As a result, Regular Assessments are collected from Assessable Insureds over a 12-month
period.
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For purposes of Regular Assessments, the “Subject Lines of Business” are all lines of property
and casualty insurance, including automobile lines, but excluding accident and health, workers'
compensation, and medical malpractice insurance, and also excluding insurance under the National
Flood and Federal Crop insurance programs. The Regular Assessment base excludes Citizens policies.
The assessment base is very broad and diverse. Approximately 42% of the base is comprised of
automobile policies, 23% is comprised of homeowners’ policies, and 10% is comprised of commercial
policies, with the remaining 25% being comprised of other types of property and casualty insurance
policies. There are approximately 880 assessable companies. The top 15 Assessable Insurers represent
approximately 30% of assessable premiums. The Regular Assessment base for a 2014 Plan Year Deficit is
$35.2 billion. The 2015 data is not yet available.

The Board may levy interim assessments on Assessable Insurers as necessary for each Account. Such
interim assessments will be based upon the projected cash requirements of the Account for the six-month
period immediately following the levying of such an interim assessment, and will be subsequently adjusted
when the Plan Year Deficit for the Account is credibly projected. The aggregate of all regular and interim
assessments on Assessable Insurers and Assessable Insureds for a Plan Year Deficit in the Coastal Account
incurred in a particular Plan Year may not exceed the greater of (i) two percent (2%) of the aggregate statewide
DWP for the Subject Lines of Business for the preceding calendar year, or (ii) two percent (2%) of the Plan Year
Deficit for that Account. All interim assessments collected for the Coastal Account are credited against an
Assessable Insurer's Plan Year assessment obligation.

Assessable Insurers may seek recoupment from their policyholders of any Regular Assessment paid
by filing an application with the Office to impose a surcharge on their policyholders in the year or years
following payment of the Regular Assessment. This recoupment is authorized by Section 627.3512, Florida
Statutes.

A Limited Apportionment Company must pay its Regular Assessment in full within 15 months after
being levied by Citizens but it may elect to pay Citizens on a monthly basis as the assessments are collected
from its insured. An Assessable Insurer may qualify as a "Limited Apportionment Company" if it has surplus
of $25 million or less and writes 25% or more of its total countrywide property insurance premiums in Florida.

An Assessable Insurer may, upon approval by the Office, defer payment of Regular Assessment if its
solvency would be endangered or impaired by reason of such assessment. An Assessable Insurer's request for
an assessment deferral must be submitted in writing to the Office within twenty one (21) days of the
Assessable Insurer's receipt of the notice of assessment.

Under the Plan, if Citizens is unable to collect all amounts assessed against Assessable Insurers within
ninety (90) days of the assessments being levied, the uncollected or deferred assessment amounts is levied as
an additional assessment against the other Assessable Insurers.

As shown in the table below, Citizens last levied Regular Assessments in 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Assessment Assessment

Year Principal storms (in millions) (%)
2006 Hurricanes Katrina and Wilma $163.1* 2.07%
2005 Hurricanes Charley, Frances, Ivan and Jeanne 515.0 6.84

*Reflects reduction to the original deficit of $786.3 million from legislative appropriation as described in the
next paragraph.
Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation.
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For Plan Year 2004, pursuant to the then existing Act and Plan of Operations, Citizens levied a
Regular Assessment of 6.8% for a total amount of approximately $515.0 million. This was Citizens' first
Regular Assessment. Pursuant to Citizens' 2005 audited financial statements, Citizens' 2005 Plan Year Deficit
equaled approximately $1.674 billion. Under the Act and the Plan, because such 2005 Plan Year Deficit
exceeded 10% of the Regular Assessment base of $7.863 billion, a Regular Assessment for Plan Year 2005 was
required in the approximate amount of $786.3 million. However, the Florida Legislature appropriated $715
million to Citizens of which $623.2 million was used to reduce the Regular Assessment for the Coastal Account
that would otherwise be required to address the 2005 Plan Year Deficit. Based on the aggregate 2005 DWP,
Citizens levied a Regular Assessment of 2.07% of the DWP, or $163.1 billion, on September 26, 2006 to satisfy
its Regular Assessment requirement of the 2005 Plan Year Deficit.

Because Regular Assessments (with the exception of those levied on Assessable Insureds and Limited
Apportionment Companies) are collected within 30 days following levy, Regular Assessments are treated by
Citizens as a relatively liquid claims-paying resource. In addition, Citizens' ability to levy interim assessments
for an anticipated Plan Year Deficit in the Coastal Account enhances claims-paying resource availability.
Citizens has timely received substantially all of the Regular Assessment it has levied. See, however, "RISK
FACTORS - Collectability of Surcharge, Assessments and Assessment Base" herein.

The statewide aggregate DWP subject to Regular Assessments is referred to as the "Regular
Assessment Base," which increases or decreases over time as insurance rates and the insured value of
properties in Florida increase or decrease. The table below shows the change in the Coastal Account Regular
Assessment Base over the past five years. At the 2% rate, utilizing the preliminary 2015 Regular Assessment
Base of $37.244 billion, Citizens could levy Regular Assessments with respect to the Coastal Account of up to
approximately $745 million in any one year.

Regular Assessment Base
Regular Assessment Base

Year (millions)
2015 Regular Assessment Base/2014 DWP $37,244
2014 Regular Assessment Base/2013 DWP 35,171
2013 Regular Assessment Base/2012 DWP 33,004
2012 Regular Assessment Base/2011 DWP 31,459
2011 Regular Assessment Base/2010 DWP 30,998

Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation.

Emergency Assessments. If the deficit in any year in any Account is greater than the amount that may
be recovered through the Citizens Policyholder Surcharge and the Coastal Account Regular Assessments,
Citizens is required to cure any remaining Plan Year Deficit by levying an emergency assessment
(“Emergency Assessment”). An Emergency Assessment is to be collected by all Assessable Insurers, Surplus
Lines Agents and Citizens from policyholders upon the issuance or renewal of policies for Subject Lines of
Business for as many years as necessary to cure the Plan Year Deficit in the Account. The primary difference
between the assessment base for Regular Assessments and Emergency Assessments is the inclusion of
Citizens' DWP in the assessment base for Emergency Assessments. The statewide aggregate DWP subject to
Emergency Assessment is referred to herein as the “Emergency Assessment Base.”
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The amount of an Emergency Assessment levied in a particular year will be a uniform percentage
of that year's DWP, including that of Citizens, for the Subject Lines of Business as determined by the
Board and verified by the Office. The aggregate amount of Emergency Assessments levied in any
calendar year as a result of a Plan Year Deficit incurred in an Account Year may not exceed the greater of
(i) ten percent (10%) of the amount needed to cover the Plan Year Deficit, plus interest, fees, commissions,
required reserves, and other costs associated with financing of the original Plan Year Deficit, or (ii) ten
percent (10%) of the aggregate statewide DWP, including that of Citizens, for the prior calendar year for
the Subject Lines of Business, plus interest, fees, commissions, required reserves, and other costs
associated with financing of the Plan Year Deficit. As discussed in connection with the Regular
Assessments, the assessment base is very broad and diverse. The Emergency Assessment base for a 2015
Plan Year Deficit is $39.3 billion.

Citizens' determination of the amount of an Emergency Assessment is subject to verification by the
Office. The Act does not provide a time frame for the imposition of Emergency Assessments. See, however,
"SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND OTHER SENIOR SECURED OBLIGATIONS — Certain
Covenants — Collection of Assessments and Other Moneys" herein for a description of the Indenture covenant with
respect to the time frames for the imposition of Emergency Assessments in respect of Plan Year Deficits paid,
in whole or in part, from Draws from the Proceeds Account under the Indenture. Assessable Insurers must
remit collections of the Emergency Assessments to Citizens on a monthly basis. Pursuant to the Act, non-
payment of Emergency Assessments is treated as non-payment of premium on the underlying policy.

Emergency Assessments may be imposed in the year or years following the occurrence of a deficit
until the Plan Year Deficit, or any indebtedness incurred to finance such Plan Year Deficit, is paid in full.
Following a Plan Year Deficit, Emergency Assessments are expected to be the primary repayment source for
Senior Secured Obligations for which proceeds have been applied for the payment of claims and that have not
been reimbursed from Regular Assessments or FHCF Reimbursements. The Emergency Assessment Base is
equal to the Regular Assessment Base plus Citizens' DWP.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

63



The table below shows the change in the Emergency Assessment Base over the past five years.

Emergency Assessment Base
Emergency Assessment Base

Year (millions)
2015 Emergency Assessment Base/2014 DWP $39,302
2014 Emergency Assessment Base/2013 DWP 37,933
2013 Emergency Assessment Base/2012 DWP 36,185
2012 Emergency Assessment Base/2011 DWP 34,640
2011 Emergency Assessment Base/2010 DWP 33,603

Source:  Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

Citizens levied its first and only Emergency Assessment in connection with the 2005 Plan Year Deficit.
Based on the 2005 Plan Year Deficit of approximately $1.674 billion, and after application of the 2006 State
appropriation of approximately $623.2 million and a Regular Assessment of approximately $163.1 million,
Citizens levied an Emergency Assessment for the Coastal Account of approximately $887.5 million plus
interest, fees, commissions, required reserves, and other costs associated with financing of the 2005 Plan Year
Deficit on December 7, 2007. This Emergency Assessment was planned to be collected over a period of ten
years to fund the remainder of the 2005 Plan Year Deficit in the Coastal Account. The initial uniform
percentage of such Emergency Assessment was 1.4% of the policy premium for policies written and renewed
on and after July 1, 2007. The Office entered an Order verifying such Emergency Assessment on January 11,
2007. On January 11, 2011, pursuant to a recommendation by the Citizens’ Board of Governors, the Office
approved a reduction of such Emergency Assessment from 1.4% to 1.0%. However, Citizens was able to
collect a sufficient amount of Emergency Assessment to defease the post-event bonds issued in 2007 and
therefore the Emergency Assessment was eliminated as of July 1, 2015.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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The following chart summarizes the assessment capability of Citizens:

Citizens Policyholder Surcharge
Up to 15% per account, for each of the Coastal Account, PLA and/or CLA.
Applies at new business/renewal for all Citizens' policyholders.

Regular Assessment (Coastal Account only)
Levied up to 2% of statewide direct written premium for the subject line of business.
Levied on Assessable Insurers and Assessable Insureds, but not on Citizens' policyholders;
Due within 30 days from Assessable Insurers except Limited Apportionment Companies.

Emergency Assessment
Levied up to the greater of 10% of Emergency Assessment Base or 10% of remaining Plan Year Deficit per year per account.
Levied directly on all Citizens' and non-Citizens' policyholders; collected at new business/renewal.

Excess Surcharge and Assessments. If the amount of any assessments or surcharges collected from
Citizens policyholders, Assessable Insurers or their policyholders, or Assessable Insureds exceeds the amount
of the Plan Year Deficit, such excess amounts are to be remitted to and retained by Citizens in a reserve to be
used by Citizens, as determined by the Board and approved by the Office, to pay claims or reduce any past,
present, or future Plan Year Deficits or to reduce outstanding debt.

Net Premiums. Citizens' premium revenues will vary depending on applicable rates, the number of
policies in force and the value of the properties insured. For the twelve month periods ended December 31,
2014 and December 31, 2013, the DWP for the Coastal Account was approximately $1.003 billion and $1.175
billion, respectively. Premiums are collected in advance unless the policy is under a Citizens” payment plan.
Premiums are earned by Citizens over a 12-month policy period. Citizens provides a payment plan option to
its policyholders allowing for quarterly and semiannual payment of premiums.

Prior Years” Surplus. Annual net income, if any, is retained in surplus as a future source for paying
claims and expenses and for off-setting a negative operating result. The Plan’s Adjusted GAAP calculation
typically results in a surplus amount greater than that determined using SAP. Citizens’ Plan provides for a
Plan Year Deficit to be determined using Adjusted GAAP. To calculate the Adjusted GAAP Surplus, the
GAAP surplus available to offset a negative operating result for an Account is reduced by non-liquid assets.
The historical Coastal Account Adjusted GAAP Surplus is summarized below.
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HISTORICAL COASTAL ACCOUNT
ADJUSTED GAAP SURPLUS

Coastal Account Adjusted GAAP

Fiscal Year Ended Surplus
December 31 (in millions)

2014* $3,089

2013* 3,236

2012 3,132

2011 2,847

2010 2,449

*Unaudited
**Certain amounts presented in the 2013 audited financial statements will be restated in 2014.
Source:  Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

See "FINANCIAL INFORMATION - Adjusted GAAP Surplus for the Coastal Account” and "APPENDIX C -
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — STATUTORY BASIS AND SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES FOR
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012 AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS -
STATUTORY BASIS (UNAUDITED) FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014" attached hereto.

FHCF Reimbursement. The FHCF, which was created in November 1993 during a special legislative
session following Hurricane Andrew, provides reimbursement contracts to property insurers (including
Citizens) in Florida covering hurricane losses on residential and commercial residential properties. The FHCF,
structured as a tax-exempt State trust fund, is administered by the State Board of Administration. The Coastal
Account is the largest purchaser of reinsurance from the FHCF.

Since 2004, the only hurricane or combination of hurricanes that produced losses sufficient to qualify
for reimbursement from the FHCF was Hurricane Wilma in 2005. The following table summarizes Citizens’
Coastal Account coverage from the FHCF for the last five years (all amounts are in millions):

Year
(Tune 1 — May 31) Total Coverage
2015-2016* $2,034
2014-2015 2,849
2013-2014 3,043
2012-2013 3,619
2011-2012 3,794

*Projected.
Source:  Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

Private Reinsurance. Citizens is required by the Act to "make its best efforts to procure catastrophic
reinsurance at reasonable rates to cover its projected 100-year probable maximum loss." Over the last five
years, Citizens has purchased reinsurance from both the traditional reinsurance markets and/or the capital
markets (together, “Private Reinsurance”).

The Private Reinsurance purchased for each of the last five years provided coverage of the following
amounts (in millions):
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Year

(Tune 1 — May 31) Total Coverage
2015-2016* $3,905
2014-2015 3,269
2013-2014 1,851
2012-2013 1,500
2011-2012 575

*Projected.
Source:  Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

Net Series 2015A Bond Proceeds. The net proceeds from the sale of the Series 2015A Bonds will be
deposited into the Series 2015A Bonds Proceeds Subaccount to pay claims and, if needed, to the extent that
other amounts are not available therefor, or, in the discretion of Citizens, to make principal or interest
payments with respect to the Indenture Obligations. Pending the use of the funds, deposits into the Proceeds
Account of the Series 2015A Bonds will be invested in Permitted Investments consisting of Non-AMT Tax-
Exempt Securities and interest earnings thereon will either be retained in the Proceeds Account or used to pay,
in whole or in part, principal and/or interest payments on the Indenture Obligations. See "PLAN OF
FINANCING - Liquidity Resources of Citizens" herein.

Additional Indenture Obligations. Citizens has the authority to issue additional debt with respect to the
Coastal Account on a post-event basis as well as additional pre-event debt. See "PLAN OF FINANCING" and
"SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE OBLIGATIONS - Additional
Indenture Obligations" herein.

Depopulation

Pursuant to the Act, Citizens is required to adopt one or more programs, subject to approval by the
Office, for the reduction of both new and renewal writings. Under this authority, Citizens has historically had
in effect "depopulation” or "take-out" programs that provided for Citizens’ payment of incentives to voluntary
insurers that removed a certain level of policies from Citizens. Citizens also has had with respect to the
Coastal Account, a voluntary writings credit program that provides an incentive to voluntary market insurers
that write windstorm coverage on policies in Eligible Areas. The justification for this program is that if this
windstorm coverage had not been written by the voluntary market, it would have been written in the Coastal
Account.

The following table summarizes the policies that were removed by insurers from the Coastal Account
for the last five years. Citizens 2015 budget estimates that approximately 43,880 policies will be removed from
the Coastal Account in 2015, but such amount is an estimate and the policies may be removed in a lesser or
greater amount.

Number of Policies
Removed from

Year Coastal Account
2014 91,190
2013 64,384
2012 24,034
2011 7,750
2010 2,231

Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation.
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Citizens' 2015 budget estimated 8,250 policies would be removed in 2015 which is significantly lower
depopulation activity in 2015 due primarily to the three prior years of very high depopulation activity.
However, the beginning of 2015 has proved to continue the prior depopulation trend, so management has
provided a revised projection for Coastal Account depopulation of 43,880 policies. This projection assumes
that the heightened depopulation activity continues through the first half of 2015, at which point the
depopulation activity is anticipated to flatten out. It is important to note that approximately 35,000 of the total
43,880 depopulation policies are anticipated to be removed by June 30, 2015 in the 2015 revised projections.

Pursuant to Section 627.3518, Florida Statutes, which was adopted by the Florida Legislature in 2013
and required to be implemented by January 1, 2014, Citizens has implemented its policyholder eligibility
clearinghouse program (the “Clearinghouse”). The Clearinghouse is a database through which every new
applicant or renewal policyholder must first be filtered so that private insurers can review the policies and
potentially make an offer of coverage. The Clearinghouse is designed to allow consumers to receive suitable
offers of coverage in the private market and these coverage options must be explored by the insured’s agent
prior to the agent submitting an application for coverage to Citizens. If a new applicant receives an offer of
comparative coverage that is within 15 percent of Citizens’ rates, the applicant is not eligible for Citizens
coverage and must obtain coverage through the private market. Citizens’ renewal policyholders that receive
an offer of a comparative policy with a premium that is equal to or less than their Citizens policy are required
to find coverage in the private market.

Since the inception of the Clearinghouse through February 25, 2015, there have been 466 policies
bound in the Coastal Account area representing $133,000,000 in coverage averted from Citizens. Since
renewal processing began with policies effective November 1, 2014 and later Citizens has non-renewed
997 policies removing $258,000,000 of coverage. Additional products and insurers are being added to the
Clearinghouse.

2004 and 2005 Hurricane Seasons

In 2004, Florida experienced four substantial hurricanes, Hurricane Charley, Hurricane Frances,
Hurricane Ivan and Hurricane Jeanne. These hurricanes damaged approximately one in five homes in Florida
and generated claims in all 67 Florida counties. Through December 31, 2014, Citizens has experienced
approximately $3.038 billion in commercial and personal residential insured property losses due to these
events, including approximately $2.398 billion for the Coastal Account. The next year in 2005 Florida
experienced four additional hurricanes, Hurricane Dennis, Hurricane Katrina, Hurricane Rita and Hurricane
Wilma. Through December 31, 2014, Citizens has experienced approximately $2.995 billion in statewide
commercial and personal residential insured property losses due to these events, including approximately
$2.062 billion for the Coastal Account. Claims during the 2006 through 2014 hurricane seasons were not
substantial for the State of Florida as a whole nor for Citizens.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Liquidity Resources and Loss Exposures
Upon the issuance of the Series 2015A Bonds, Citizens will have the following liquidity resources
available based upon the original par amount of bonds issued (Statutory Surplus used as it is more

conservative than GAAP Surplus):

Citizens’ Coastal Account Liquidity Sources

(in millions)
Liquidity Sources

Year-End 2013 Statutory Surplus $3,203
Unaudited 2014 Net Income 153
Unaudited 2014 Other Items -18
Total Internally Funded Liquidity Sources $3,337

Existing Pre-Event Liquidity for 2015 Season

Series 2011A Pre-Event Bonds* $565

Series 2010A Pre-Event Bonds* 830

Series 2009A Pre-Event Bonds 747
New Pre-Event liquidity for 2015 Hurricane Season

Series 2015A Pre-Event Bonds 1,088
Total Externally Funded Liquidity Sources 3,230

N
Q1
N
N

Total Liquidity Resources

*Excludes the Series 2010A-1 Bonds and the Series 2011A-1 Bonds maturing on June 1, 2015 in the
principal amounts of $410,000,000 and $80,000,000, respectively. Such proceeds are not available as
liquidity resources to Citizens for 2015.

Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation.

Citizens believes that such amounts together with its other available claims-paying resources will
allow it to continue to be able to pay policyholder claims in a timely manner. Citizens' Coastal Account
loss exposure is dependent upon, among other things, the number, type and geographic distribution of
its policies, the dollar amount of the policies and the policy coverage terms.

As shown on the chart below, Citizens Total Liquidity Resources include private reinsurance
obtained from both the traditional reinsurance markets and the capital markets plus its FHCF coverage
which collectively provide sufficient resources to fully cover Citizens’ 1 - 122 year storm probable
maximum loss ("PML") such that no levy of assessments or surcharges following such a storm would be
necessary. The illustration below provides a general overview of the Coastal Account capital structure
and shows the relationship among Citizens’ various forms of reinsurance coverage. As described herein,
Private Reinsurance is not part of Pledged Revenues under the Indenture and is included for illustrative
purposes only. The illustration is projected for the 2015 hurricane season and is subject to daily change
based on exposures and due to daily policy count and other factors.
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Citizens’ Coastal Account Liquidity and Claims-Paying Capacity — Single Event

Citizens’ Coastal Account claims-paying resources of $9.276 billion, excluding pre-event liquidity
(Series 2009A-1, 2010A-1, 2011A-1, and the projected Series 2015A Bonds), for the 2015 season up to a 1-
122 year event are shown below, including;:

e $3.337 billion of surplus;
e $2.034 billion of FHCF reimbursements; and
e  $3.905 billion of Private Reinsurance, including $2.050 billion of capital markets reinsurance and

$1.855 billion of traditional reinsurance.

2015 - Coastal (Proj.) - Single Event SSST -UGrfund -
p Losses
(Preliminary) ($MM)  (Yrs)  prob,

$9,276 122 0.82%

100  1.00%
S
X
o
=
82 1.22%
§ 80  1.25%
0
2015 2015 2014 §
" " - s
2014 Everglades Re Cat 'Lradltlor:al 'IA'radltlor;aI 'Lradltlor:al ‘_;
ggregate, ggregate, ggregate c
Bonds (Aggr?gate) $1'5 Multi-Yr - [ Single Yr - | Multi Yr - ;S
Billion $2413 | $556.7 $202 K
Million | Million | Million c
5]
wn
i
S 38 2.60%
2015 Traditional - Wrap - $425 Million 35 2.85%
34 2.95%
FHCF Coverage (90% of $2.260B xs $825MM)
$2.034 Billion
10 10.07%

PMLs based on modeled losses as of December 31, 2014 per AIR U.S. Hurricane Model version 14.0.4 as
implemented in Touchstone, Version 1.5.2 reflecting the Standard Sea Surface Temperature (SSST) Event
Catalog including Demand Surge, excluding Storm Surge, and include 10% of loss to account for loss
adjustment expense (LAE). Interim Return Periods are derived by Linear Interpolation.

Citizens’ 2015 FHCF coverage is based on preliminary retention estimates and payment multiples.
Actual Citizens” FHCF attachment and limits of coverage could differ significantly from estimates.
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Loss Modeling

Citizens utilizes several different loss models as part of its risk assessment analysis. The results of this
analysis are used in several aspects of Citizens' business, including rate making decisions, rate filing support,
evaluation of private reinsurance procurement, determining required claims paying and liquidity resources
and financial planning.

The relative infrequency of hurricanes and the constantly changing landscape of insured properties
make reliance on standard actuarial techniques for loss estimation inappropriate for estimating the potential
losses from hurricanes. Property values, construction costs, building materials and designs change, and new
structures continue to be built in areas of hazard. Therefore, historical loss information is not suitable for
directly estimating future losses.

Because of these shortcomings in the use of historical hurricane loss information to estimate future
loss potential, loss modeling firms have developed alternative loss estimation methodologies based on
statistical simulation techniques. This approach involves the construction of computer programs that use
mathematical representations of the physical phenomena of hurricanes in order to evaluate the potential
damage and insured losses that can occur. Damageability relationships for various structures are incorporated
into the model. The output of the model's analysis of a given set of exposure data is a set of loss results,
expressed in terms of a probability distribution, known as a "loss distribution,” which provides a distribution
of possible losses and the relative likelihood of occurrence of various levels of loss.

LOSS DISTRIBUTION IS NOT A PREDICTION OF FUTURE LOSSES. IT IS SOLELY INTENDED
TO ILLUSTRATE THE RANGE OF POSSIBLE LOSSES AND THE LIKELIHOOD OF OCCURRENCE OF
SUCH LOSSES. A LOSS OF ANY PARTICULAR MAGNITUDE COULD OCCUR IN ANY YEAR.
HURRICANE LOSS MODELS ARE SUBJECT TO IMPORTANT LIMITATIONS, UNCERTAINTIES AND
SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS, BOTH GENERALLY AND WITH RESPECT TO LOSS MODELING FOR
CITIZENS' POLICIES-IN-FORCE.

Certain probabilistic loss distributions generated by Citizens are included herein. The report and the
analyses, models and predictions contained herein, are based on data as of December 31, 2014 provided by
Citizens using the AIR U.S. Hurricane Model version 14.0.4 as implemented in Touchstone, Version 1.5.2
reflecting the Standard Sea Surface Temperature (SSST) Event Catalog including Demand Surge, excluding
Storm Surge, and include 10% of loss to account for loss adjustment expense (LAE). Interim Return Periods
are derived by Linear Interpolation. The technology used in providing the model is owned by AIR and is
based on the scientific data, mathematical and empirical models, and encoded experience of earthquake
engineers, wind engineers, structural engineers, geologists, seismologists, meteorologists and geotechnical
specialists. As with any model of complex physical systems, particularly those with low frequencies of
occurrence and potentially high severity outcomes, the actual losses from catastrophic events may differ
significantly from the results of simulation analyses. Furthermore, the accuracy of predictions depends largely
on the accuracy and quality of the data input by the user.

Pursuant to the Act, after the public hurricane loss-projection model under Section 627.06281, Florida
Statutes, has been found to be accurate and reliable by the Florida Commission on Hurricane Loss Projection
Methodology, that model will serve as the minimum benchmark for determining the windstorm portion of
Citizens' rates.
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THE LOSS DISTRIBUTIONS GENERATED BY SUCH MODELS ARE NOT FACTS, PROJECTIONS
OR PREDICTIONS OF FUTURE HURRICANES OR LOSSES, AND SHOULD NOT BE RELIED UPON AS
SUCH. The loss distribution is solely intended to be illustrative of the range of possible losses and the
likelihood of occurrence of such losses. A loss of any particular magnitude could occur in any year.

Loss modeling for Citizens' purposes includes losses arising from hurricanes or named storms. The
loss modeling results presented herein do not encompass analysis of all perils that may result in losses.
Accordingly, actual losses may materially exceed those modeled. The modeling results provided herein are
based on Citizens' exposure as of a given point in time (December 31, 2014), and actual exposures during the
term of the Series 2015A Bonds may differ, possibly materially, from the exposure data used in the analysis
reflected herein. The actual underlying insurance policies-in-force may materially vary, from those used in
such analysis because of changes to policies and the writing of new business.

After a major catastrophe, increased demand can put pressure on prices resulting in temporary
inflation. This phenomenon is often referred to as demand surge and, where present, it results in increased
losses to insurers. The loss estimation results described herein have been adjusted for demand surge but may
still understate losses.

PMLs are probability statements, based upon a loss modeling firm's computer simulations, which
show the amount of annual losses that are likely to be met or exceeded in each return period. For example, a
1-20 year PML is the exceedance probability value associated with an annual probability of 5% of at least that
size loss. PMLs may also be given in terms of occurrence or annual aggregate loss amounts.

The PML data set forth in the table below is based upon actual Citizens' Coastal Account exposures as
of December 31, 2014 and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the information set forth under " — Loss
Modeling" herein and to the entire report, copies of which are available upon written request to Citizens.
Actual losses may materially exceed those modeled. THE PML DATA SET FORTH BELOW MAY
MATERIALLY CHANGE DUE TO CHANGE IN THE NUMBER OF POLICIES OR UPON NEW AND
EXISTING MODELS UTILIZING REVISED ASSUMPTIONS RESULTING FROM HURRICANE ACTIVITY
EXPERIENCED OVER THE PAST STORM SEASONS. THEREFORE, THE TOTAL ANNUAL SINGLE
EVENT PML MAY BE SIGNIFICANTLY HIGHER IN THE FUTURE. See " — Loss Modeling" below for a
further explanation of factors affecting the calculation of the PML.

Probable Maximum Losses as of December 31, 2014®

Estimated Average Single Event "PML"
Return Period (billions)
250 years $13.282
100 years 8.198
50 years 5213
20 years 2.333
10 years 1.064
(1) The PMLs in this table were calculated using AIR Worldwide’s U.S. Hurricane Model version

14.0.4 as implemented in Touchstone version 1.5.2, 50,000 year standard event catalog,
including demand surge and excluding storm surge and includes 10% for Loss Adjustment
Expenses (LAE).

) Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation.
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LOSS MODELS ARE NOT DESIGNED TO AND CANNOT PREDICT INDIVIDUAL
HURRICANE EVENTS, THE RELATIVE FREQUENCY OF HURRICANE EVENTS, OR THE ACTUAL
MAGNITUDE OF LOSSES FROM ANY GIVEN HURRICANE, AND THE PROBABILITY AND EXTENT
OF SUCH LOSSES TO CITIZENS MAY DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THAT INDICATED BY SUCH
LOSS MODELS. See “THE COASTAL ACCOUNT - Loss Modeling" and "RISK FACTORS - Catastrophe
Losses" HEREIN.

FLORIDA HURRICANE CATASTROPHE FUND

Because of extreme dislocation in global reinsurance markets caused by losses from Hurricane
Andrew in 1992, the Florida Legislature created the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund ("FHCE") to provide
a complement to private reinsurance and to serve as a stabilizing factor for the Florida property insurance
market. The FHCEF is governed by Section 215.555, Florida Statutes, as amended (the "FHCF Act"). The FHCF
is a tax-exempt governmental trust fund that reimburses participating insurers for a portion of their covered
losses from hurricanes affecting the State. With limited exceptions, participation in the FHCF reimbursement
program is mandatory for authorized property insurers, Citizens, and joint underwriting associations writing
residential property insurance in the State. Participating insurers enter into an annual reimbursement contract
with the FHCF that specifies their coverage level and premium. By statute, Citizens has two separate
reimbursement contracts with the FHCF, one for the Coastal Account and one for the combined PLA and
CLA. Its Coastal Account reimbursement contract provides for more coverage and premium than any other
participant in the FHCF. Premiums are paid by Citizens and other insurers based upon an actuarially-
determined formula which considers the coverage deductibles, type of construction, type of coverage
provided, relative concentration of risks and other loss exposure factors deemed appropriate by the State
Board of Administration, which administers the FHCF. FHCF premiums are designed to be adequate in the
aggregate to pay current and future obligations and expenses of the FHCF and, due to the governmental
nature of the FHCEF, such premiums are relatively less than those charged by private reinsurers.

Retention by Insurers and Citizens. By statute, reimbursement from the FHCF is subject to an
annual retention or deductible which is also referred to as an "attachment point." This amount is required
to be covered by the insurer, including Citizens, prior to reimbursements by FHCF. Such retention is
required to be absorbed on each of the insurer’s two largest covered events during each hurricane season.
The retention drops to one-third of this level for each smaller event if the insurer has more than two
covered events in one hurricane season. Respective attachment points vary by insurer based upon the
insurer's pro rata share of the total reimbursement premiums paid to the FHCF in the applicable contract
year.

The chart below shows the attachment point for all insurers in the aggregate in the State and
Citizens' Coastal Account attachment point and potential reimbursement.

Statewide Potential Reimbursement to Coastal
Aggregate Coastal Account Account from FHCF
Contract Year Attachment Point Attachment Point (in billions)
ending May 31 (in_billions) (in billions) Mandatory
2016* $6.9 $0.825 $2.034
2015 7.1 1.192 2.849
2014 6.9 1.235 3.043
2013 7.1 1.510 3.619
2012 7.1 1.592 3.794
2011 6.9 1.517 3.750

*Estimated
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Mandatory Coverage. Subsequent to the retention or deductible amount described above, each
insurer’s coverage from FHCF is on an aggregate basis for the contract year. There is a fixed and limited
amount of coverage that an insurer is entitled to for all hurricane events causing losses. The allocable coverage
to each insurer, including Citizens, is based upon its share of FHCF’s total capacity, which is shown above.
The capacity limit may grow each year, proportionately to the growth and exposure of the FHCF, provided
that the maximum aggregate amount cannot grow by more than the increase in the FHCF Fund balance
during that year and provided further that FHCF’s total capacity under the mandatory coverage program is
limited to $17 billion for any contract year unless certain capacity tests are met. To determine its coverage, an
insurer multiplies its FHCF premium by the payout multiple established by FHCF. This payout multiple is
determined based upon an individual insurer’s share of FHCF's total capacity.

Insurers are allowed to select the percentage of coverage above the underlying retention or deductible
and can select 45%, 75% or 90% coverage. Most insurers have historically selected the 90% coverage level. By
statute, Citizens has been required to select the 90% coverage level and therefore is subject to a 10% co-
payment on its reimbursement recoveries from the FHCF.

Financial Resources of FHCF. The FHCF estimates that its maximum aggregate reimbursement
obligation for the 2015-2016 Contract Year will again be approximately $17 billion. The FHCF's resources
to pay reimbursement include accumulated premiums, investment income, risk transfer, if any, and
bonding capability supported by FHCF Emergency Assessments on a broad base of property and
casualty insurance premiums in Florida. The FHCF estimated its claims-paying ability for the 2014
hurricane season to equal approximately $21.24 billion, which included $10.94 billion of accumulated
fund balance, $2.00 billion of pre-event bond proceeds and $8.30 billion of estimated post-event bonding
which is $4.24 billion above the total potential maximum claims-paying obligation of $17.00 billion. The
FHCF has not yet formally stated its estimated claims-paying capacity for the 2015 hurricane season,
however, it is estimated to be sufficient to meet the 2015 total reimbursement obligations of $17.00 billion.
For the 2014-2015 contract year, Citizens potential aggregate attachment point for coverage from FHFC is
expected to equal approximately $837 million.

Citizens does not rely on the FHCF to pay claims for its policyholders, but utilizes the FHCF as a
reimbursement mechanism. However, based upon the level of losses, Citizens may be required to draw
on its pre-event Proceeds (including the Series 2015A Bonds) by submitting a Draw Certificate as
described under “PLAN OF FINANCING - The Series 2015A Bonds” herein, to pay such claims prior to
receiving reimbursement from the FHCF. The repayment of such Draws may be dependent upon the
ability of Citizens to be reimbursed from the FHCF. The FHCF may be required to issue debt to meet a
portion of such reimbursement obligations. Citizens makes no representation as to the ability of the
FHCF to meet its reimbursement obligation to Citizens. If Citizens has made a Draw on the Proceeds
Account in anticipation of FHCF reimbursement, and such reimbursement does not occur, Citizens
would levy assessments to repay the Draw and/or pay bondholders directly.

Legislative Amendments. Various legislative amendments affecting the FHCF have been proposed
and adopted in past Legislative sessions and additional amendments could be proposed in future
Legislative sessions that could change materially the coverage offered by FHCF. Citizens is unable to
make any representations on whether legislation affecting the FHCF will be adopted in the future.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
General

Set forth below is certain audited and unaudited financial information of the Coastal Account for the
five years ended December 31, 2014. The financial information is based upon Statutory Accounting Principles
("SAP") in conformity with accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the Office and upon GAAP. SAP
is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP. Except as noted, the statements of financial position
for SAP and GAAP are derived from audited financial statements.

Pursuant to the Act, Citizens is a government entity that is an integral part of the State. Citizens
currently prepares its financial statements in accordance with SAP and GAAP. The following information
should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by Citizens” statutory financial statements
and GAAP Financial Statements and the notes thereto. See "APPENDIX C - AUDITED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS - STATUTORY BASIS AND SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES FOR YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012 AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - STATUTORY
BASIS (UNAUDITED) FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014" and "APPENDIX D — AUDITED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES FOR YEARS
ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012" attached hereto. Copies of financial statements for previous years
may be obtained from Citizens.

The financial statements, as filed with the Office, are prepared in accordance with SAP, which is a
comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP. For a discussion of certain differences between SAP and
GAAP, see "— Summary of Significant Accounting Differences Between SAP and GAAP Financial Statements"
herein.

As shown on the financial statements below, on or about May 26, 2015, through the course of
completing the audit of the 2014 financial statements, management determined that the initial decision to (i)
include a Prior Period Adjustment of negative $35.837 million (unaudited) for the 2014 financial statement
prepared pursuant to statutory accounting principles, and (ii) restate that portion of the 2013 financial
statements that reduced total liabilities and total net assets by $35.8 million (unaudited) that was reflected in
the Preliminary Official Statement as an unaudited amount for the 2014 financial statements prepared
pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles, is more appropriately included within 2014 Assessment
income (expense).

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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1)
2)

COASTAL ACCOUNT SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION - STATUTORY ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Statement of Admitted Assets, Liabilities and
Accumulated Surplus:

Admitted Assets:

Cash and short-term investments
Bonds

Investment income due and accrued
Interaccount receivable (payable)
Due from investment broker
Assessments receivable
Reinsurance recoverable

Other assets®

Total admitted assets

Liabilities and policyholder surplus:

Liabilities:

Loss Reserves

Loss adjustment expenses

Unearned premiums (net of unearned ceded)
Unearned assessment income

Due to investment broker

Accounts payable and other liabilities @
Interest payable

Notes payable (net of discount)

Taxes and fees (receivable) payable

Total liabilities
Accumulated Surplus
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total Accumulated Surplus

Total liabilities and accumulated surplus

Years Ended December 31 (In Thousands)

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(unaudited) (audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
$1,106,473 $934,528 $1,020,160 $1,283,700 $2,555,062

6,095,816 6,538,417 6,887,398 6,452,999 4,519,054
44,462 51,351 57,543 52,912 31,761
(176,743) (28,171) (71,608) (19,712) (16,829)
565 164,464 334,532 477,440 669,213
367 6,212 2,043 496 8,792
82,102 76,637 79,240 72,242 65,894
$7,153,042 $7,743,438 $8,309,308 $8,320,077 $7,832,947
$92,103 $121,774 $153,121 $155,995 $119,633
50,573 47,855 37,636 41,348 25,304
353,344 499,736 490,667 519,702 483,530
19,326 43,602 85,051 116,713 152,034
5,975 - - - 10,121
230,363 203,608 276,305 128,487 78,446
17,756 21,059 24,333 27,479 34,938
3,048,189 3,603,495 4,298,600 4,643,316 4,597,000
(1,618) (154) 683 815 26
3,816,011 4,540,975 5,366,396 5,633,855 5,501,032
25,348 15,339 11,112 11,726 13,651
3,311,683 3,187,124 2,931,800 2,674,496 2,318,264
3,337,031 3,202,463 2,942,912 2,686,222 2,331,915
$7,153,042 7,743,438 8,309,308 8,320,077 7,832,947

Includes premiums receivable, other receivables under reinsurance contracts, and other admitted assets.
Includes commissions payable, advance premiums and suspended cash, and other liabilities
Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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COASTAL ACCOUNT SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION - STATUTORY ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Years Ended December 31 (In Thousands)
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(unaudited) (audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)

Statement of Operations Data:

PREMIUMS®
Premiums earned $1,066,643 $1,180,761 $1,187,577 $1,148,733 $1,084,141
Reinsurance ceded (590,407) (604,906) (548,744) (380,959) (233,317)
Premiums earned (net) 476,236 575,855 638,833 767,774 850,824
LOSSES AND EXPENSES
INCURRED:
Losses incurred, net of reinsurance 74,902 73,098 116,247 135,534 76,025
Loss adjustment expenses income 48,789 51,880 49,860 54,567 40,176
Other underwriting expenses
incurred® 172,898 191,193 222,335 181,991 174,769
Total losses and expenses incurred 296,589 316,171 388,442 372,092 290,970
UNDERWRITING INCOME 179,647 259,684 250,391 395,682 559,854
Net investment income 96,366 70,564 104,591 75,003 42,905
Interest expense, net (142,549) (161,338) (176,260) (172,922) (171,345)
LOC fees & notes issued cost - - - (6,008) (15,463)
Assessment income (19,020)® 26,166 42,352 35,321 43,387
Takeout bonus expense (net) and other
income (expenses) 2,498 28,040 2,587 887 1,832
NET INCOME: $116,942 $223,116 $223,661 $327,963 $461,170
Surplus, beginning of period 3,202,463 2,942,912 2,686,222 2,331,915 1,530,355
Prior Period adjustment® -® 15,283 - - 301,482
Assessments (net of distributions) © - - - - -
Additional pension liability® (397) - (337) (118) (90)
Change in other comprehensive 14
income® 1,034 145 (118) 23
Change in non-admitted assets® 18,009 20,118 33,221 26,580 38,975
Surplus (deficit), end of period $3,337,031 $3.202,463  $2,942,912  $2,686,222  $2,331,915
@ See “THE COASTAL ACCOUNT - Policies — Premiums and Rates.”
@ The largest portion of underwriting and operating expenses is premium taxes and commissions which increase in proportion
with premiums.
® These items are unaudited at the Coastal Account level.
@ On or about May 26, 2015, through the course of completing the audit of the 2014 financial statements, management

determined that the initial decision to include a Prior Period Adjustment of negative $35.837 million that was reflected in the Preliminary
Official Statement as an unaudited amount is more appropriately included within 2014 Assessment income (expense). Therefore, the Prior
Period Adjustment of $35.837 million has been removed and the Assessment income (expense) of $16.817 million shown in the Preliminary
Official Statement as an unaudited amount has been reduced by $35.837 million to equal a negative $19.020 million. While this results in a
reduction to unaudited Net Income shown in the Preliminary Official Statement of $152.779 million to $116.942 million, the unaudited
2014 Surplus of $3.337 billion remains unchanged. The auditor has not yet released its audit of the 2014 financial statements and the
amounts described in this footnote are all unaudited.

Source:  Citizens Property Insurance Corporation
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COASTAL ACCOUNT SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION - GENERALLY ACCEPTED
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Year Ended December 31 (In Thousands)

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(unaudited) (audited) ¢ (audited) (audited) (audited)

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $7,469 $698,100 $829,711 $1,039,222 $1,314,987
Short and long term investments 7,257,869 6,904,008 7,252,996 6,852,885 5,895,102
Investment income due and accrued 44,462 51,350 57,543 52,912 31,761
Deferred policy acquisition costs - 53,115 58,482 57,273 56,366
Deferred financing costs - 62,341 83,785 106,580 124,208
Income taxes receivable - - - - -
Premiums receivable and other assets® 57,066 257,347 409,400 533,931 727,651
Total Assets $7,366,866 8,026,261 8,691,917 8,642,803 8,150,075

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Loss reserves $92,003 $121,657 $153,121 $155,995 $119,633
Loss adjustment expense reserves 50,573 47,855 37,636 41,348 25,304
Unearned premiums 478,383 541,835 566,549 523,141 484,069
Unearned assessment income 19,326 67,313 107,709 156,590 213,531
Long-term debt 3,048,189 3,603,495 4,298,600 4,643,316 4,597,000
Other Liabilities® 238,039 203,692 276,201 128,237 88,435
Taxes and fees (receivable) payable (1,619) (154) 683 815 26
Interest payable 17,756 21,059 24,333 27,479 34,938
Federal income taxes payable - - - - -
Deferred tax liability - - - - -
Total liabilities 3,942,650 4,606,752 5,464,832 5,676,921 5,562,936
NET ASSETS:
Restricted 25,348 15,339 11,112 11,726 13,651
Unrestricted net assets 3,398,868 3,404,170 3,215,973 2,954,156 2,573,488
Total Net Assets 3,424,216 3,419,509 3,227,085 2,965,882 2,587,139
Total liabilities and net assets $7,366,866  $8,026,261 $8,691,917 $8,642,803 $8,150,075

@ Includes prepaid reinsurance premiums, premiums receivable (net), premiums receivable from assuming companies, assessments receivable,
reinsurance recoverable, other assets, and inter-account receivable (payable).

@ Includes reinsurance premiums payable, premiums payable to assuming companies, commissions payable, advanced premium, surcharges
payable, and other liabilities

) Amounts presented in the 2013 audited financial statements will be restated in the 2014 audited financial statements to reflect the adoption of
GASB-65. The expected impacts (unaudited) of this restatement are net decreases in total assets of $122.9 million and total net assets of $122.9
million.

Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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COASTAL ACCOUNT SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION - GENERALLY ACCEPTED
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Year Ended December 31 (In Thousands)

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
REVENUES: (unaudited) (audited) @ (audited) (audited) (audited)
Premiums Earned $1,066,643 $1,199,384  $1,187,577  $1,148,733  $1,084,141
Less — premiums ceded (590,407) (623,529) (548,744) (380,959) (233,317)
Premiums earned (net) 476,236 575,855 638,833 767,774 850,824
Net investment income 74,752 73,244 158,506 120,830 75,008
Assessment Income 16,347)® 47,182 48,880 56,941 64,570
Total revenues 534,641 696,281 846,219 945,545 990,402
EXPENSES:
Losses incurred 74,902 73,098 116,247 135,534 76,025
Loss adjustment expenses incurred 48,789 51,880 49,860 54,567 40,176
Policy acquisition & other underwriting
expenses(!) 171,553 201,779 225,592 186,939 176,042
Interest expense 142,549 178,059 192,981 189,643 188,066
Total expenses 437,793 504,816 584,680 566,683 480,309
Net income $96,848 $191,465 $261,539 $378,862 $510,093
Change in net assets (deficit) $96,848 $191,465 $261,539 $378,862 $510,093

(1)

2

3)

Including producer commissions (net), taxes and fees, administrative expenses, other underwriting expenses, note issuance costs and other
income.

Amounts presented in the 2013 audited financial statements will be restated in the 2014 audited financial statements. The expected impact
(unaudited) of this restatement is a net increase in change in net assets of $12.6 million.

On or about May 26, 2015, through the course of completing the audit of the 2014 financial statements, management determined that the initial
decision to restate that portion of the 2013 financial statements that reduced total liabilities and total net assets by $35.8 million that was reflected
in the Preliminary Official Statement as an unaudited amount is more appropriately included within 2014 Assessment income (expense).
Therefore, the restatement of the 2013 financial statements will not include the reduction to total liabilities and total net assets of $35.8 million,
and the Assessment income (expense) of $19.491 million shown in the Preliminary Official Statement as an unaudited amount has been reduced
by $35.837 million to equal a negative $16.347 million. While this results in a reduction to unaudited Net Income shown in the Preliminary
Official Statement of $132.688 million to $96.848 million, the unaudited 2014 Unrestricted net assets of $3.424 billion remains unchanged. The
auditor has not yet released its audit of the 2014 financial statements and the amounts described in this footnote are all unaudited. Some amounts
in this footnote may not add due to rounding.

Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Summary of Significant Accounting Differences Between SAP and GAAP Financial Statements

Citizens prepares its statutory financial statements in conformity with Florida statutes and accounting
rules prescribed or permitted by the Office for certain companies domiciled in the State of Florida, although
not strictly applicable to Citizens. The Office requires that insurance companies domiciled in the State prepare
their statutory basis financial statements in accordance with the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners' (the "NAIC") Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual, subject to any deviations prescribed
or permitted by the Office.

SAP is a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP. The significant practices which differ
from GAAP are as follows:

a. Certain assets are defined under SAP as “nonadmitted.” These include furniture and
equipment, leasehold improvements, certain prepaid assets, certain computer software,
investments over prescribed limits and receivables in the course of collection with balances
more than 90 days past due. The net change in such nonadmitted assets during the year is
charged or credited directly to accumulated surplus. GAAP, on the other hand, includes these
as assets unless impaired.

b. Investments in debt securities are generally valued at cost and are amortized under the
valuation standards of the NAIC. According to GAAP, investments in debt securities are
generally reported at fair value.

c. Certain expenses associated with multiple periods, such as line of credit fees and note issuance
costs, are charged to operations as incurred, rather than deferred and amortized over the
periods to which the expenses relate as required under GAAP.

d. Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses and unearned premiums ceded to reinsurers
are reported as reductions of the related reserves rather than as assets as required under
GAAP.

e. Cash and short-term investments in the statement of cash flows represent cash balances and
investments with original maturities of one year or less at the date of acquisition. Under GAAP,
the corresponding caption of cash and cash equivalents includes cash balances and investments
with original maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition. Also under GAAP,
short-term investments are disclosed separately from cash. The statutory statement of cash
flows does not classify cash flows consistent with GAAP and a reconciliation of net income to
net cash provided by operating activities is not provided.

80



Reconciliation of SAP to GAAP for Coastal Account

Reconciliation of Citizens' statutory basis net income and accumulated surplus to its GAAP basis net
income and retained surplus for the Coastal Account is as follows:

Net income - Statutory basis
Adjustments:
Change in policy acquisition costs
Change in line of credit fees & note issuance costs
Change in other financing costs
Takeout Bonuses

Change in allowance for doubtful accounts and
Other income

Change in unearned assessment income
Change in 2012 FIGA Assessment income
Unrealized gain (loss) on Investments

Change in net assets - GAAP basis

Accumulated surplus — Statutory basis
Adjustments:
Policy acquisition costs
Nonadmitted assets, net
Line of credit fee and note issuance costs
Takeout bonuses
Other financing costs
Change in unearned assessment income
GAAP 2012 FIGA assessment receivable
Provision for Reinsurance
Accumulated unrealized gain on investments
Total net assets — GAAP basis

@ Some amounts rounded or omitted.
Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

As of December 31, (In Thousands - unaudited)®

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
$116,942 $223,116  $223,661  $327,963  $461,170
- (5,367) 1,209 907 6,807
- (4,723) (6,074) (907) 6,595
- (16,721) (16,721) (16,721)  (16,721)
(1,149) 1,139 (980) 173 (1,044)
- 14,230 17,218 21,620 21,183
2,675 6,785 (10,690) - -
(21,617) (26,994) 53916 45,827 32,103
$96,851 $191,465  $261,539  $378,862  $510,093
$3,337,031  $3202,463 $2,942912  $2,686222 $2,331,915
- 53,115 58,482 57,273 56,366
30,254 49,416 68,400 102,599 129,006
- 9,391 14,115 20,189 21,095
- 52,950 69,668 86,392 103,113
- (23,712) (22,658) (39,877)  (61,496)
(1,230) (3,905) (10,690) - -
19 34 105 249 132
58,142 79,757 106,751 52,835 7,008
$3,424216  $3,419,509  $3,227,085  $2,965,882  $2,587,139

The information provided above relates only to the Coastal Account. The presentation in Note 14 to
the audited statutory financial statements as of December 31, 2013, included as APPENDIX C attached hereto
are made on a consolidated basis and additionally includes information from the PLA and CLA.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Adjusted GAAP Surplus for the Coastal Account

Citizens’ Plan provides for a Plan Year Deficit to be determined using Adjusted GAAP. Adjusted
GAAP Surplus is calculated by reducing GAAP surplus by Citizens’ non-liquid, non-available assets. These
assets include unamortized takeout bonuses, deferred financing costs and deferred income tax assets. Even
with such reduction to GAAP, the Plan’s Adjusted GAAP calculation typically results in a surplus amount
greater than that determined using SAP.

Adjusted GAAP for
the Coastal Account
2014* 2013* 2012 2011 2010
Retained surplus - GAAP basis $3,424,216 $3,419,509  $3,227,085  $2,965,882 $2,587,139
Deferred financing costs - -62,341 -83,785 -106,580 -124,208
Restricted cash — FSLSO account -25,348 -15,339 -11,112 -11,726 -13,651
Unamortized take-out bonuses - - - - -
Net assets related to pre-event notes -309,382 -105,614 - - -
Adjusted GAAP Surplus $3,089,486 $3,236,215  $3,132,188  $2,847,576 $2,449,280
*Unaudited

**Certain amounts presented in the 2013 audited financial statements will be restated in 2014.
Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

The information provided above relates only to the Coastal Account.
2015 Operating Budget

The budget for the Coastal Account for 2015 adopted by the Board of Governors on December 15,
2014 calls for net loss of $72 thousand based upon expected net earned premiums of approximately $308.3
million from 288,420 policies as of December 31, 2015. This budget was adopted assuming no major
storms during 2015 that would cause significant losses in the Coastal Account.

Pension and Other Post Employment Benefits

Citizens contributes to a 401(a) defined contribution plan for its employees, which is administered by
a third party. Citizens does not otherwise provide any post employment benefits to its employees. Citizens'
employees are not State employees and do not receive benefits or retirement benefits received by State
employees. Citizens also administers a frozen pension plan for former FWUA employees. There are 105
persons (either employees or spouses of employees) eligible to participate (the "Participants”) in such frozen
pension plan. Of those 105 Participants, 21 are currently receiving pension benefits. Citizens' liabilities related
to the pension plan are currently fully funded on an actuarial basis.

Current employees of Citizens are not entitled to retiree medical benefits or life insurance or any other
retirement benefit except for the 401(a) defined contribution plan described above. Citizens does provide
retiree medical benefits and life insurance for a closed group comprised of the seven individuals currently
receiving pension benefits, all of whom are retired FWUA employees and their spouses. No person other than
such closed group of seven former FWUA employees is entitled to receive retiree medical benefits or life
insurance from Citizens. Citizens currently budgets and pays for such retiree medical benefits and life
insurance on an annual basis.
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INVESTMENTS

Citizens’ invested assets are invested pursuant to the following four separate investment policies:
(i) Liquidity Fund (taxable); (ii) Liquidity Fund (tax-exempt); (iii) Claims-Paying Fund (taxable); and (iv)
Claims-Paying Fund (tax-exempt). See “APPENDIX I - CITIZENS INVESTMENT POLICIES” for copies
of the four investment policies.

Liquidity Fund (Taxable). The investment policy for the Liquidity Fund (taxable) generally
governs the investment of funds and surplus that will be the first moneys used to pay claims after an
event, and that can be used to pay operating expenses on an ongoing basis. The maximum permitted final
maturity of this portfolio is 42 months and maximum dollar weighted maturity is 397 days. The
following diversification restrictions apply to this portfolio: Treasury and Agency securities, Treasury
and Agency Money Market Funds, notes whose principal and interest payments are fully insured by the
FDIC and Treasury and Agency Collateralized Repurchase Agreements must be in total at least 50% of
the Portfolio, and Corporate securities, Commercial Paper, Banker's Acceptances (BAs) and Certificates of
Deposit (CDs), Municipal Securities, and corporate Money Market Funds in total cannot comprise more
than 50% of the Portfolio. At the time of purchase, all securities must be rated in accordance with the
following: (1) Securities with long-term investment ratings must be rated from at least two of Moody's,
S&P, and/or Fitch and must have minimum ratings of Baal by Moody's Investors Service, Inc.
("Moody's"); BBB+ by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services ("S&P"); and/or BBB+ by Fitch Ratings ("Fitch"),
(2) Securities with short-term investment ratings must be rated from at least two of Moody's, S&P, and/or
Fitch and must have minimum ratings of P-1 by Moody's; A-1 by S&P; and/or F1 by Fitch, and (3)
Securities that are rated Baal by Moody’s; BBB+ by S&P; and/or BBB+ by Fitch shall not represent more
than 10% of the Portfolio, with the securities of a single issuer representing no more than 1% of the
Portfolio.

Liquidity Fund (Tax-Exempt): The investment policy for the Liquidity Fund (tax-exempt) generally
governs the investment of tax-exempt pre-event bond proceeds and other moneys required to be invested
in tax-exempt instruments. Citizens will use these monies to pay claims after an event or to pay principal
and / or interest payments on as needed basis. The maximum permitted final maturity of this portfolio is
42 months and maximum dollar weighted maturity is restricted in two separate ways that restrict the
fund to 397 days (using the interest rate reset period for any VROs without a Demand Feature, and for
VROs with a Demand Feature using the longer of the interest rate reset period or the time remaining until
the Demand Feature could be exercised. The dollar weighted average life maturity of the portfolio may
not exceed 730 days, calculated using the stated legal maturity for any VROs without a Demand Feature
and for VROs with a Demand Feature (“VRDQO”) using the shortest of the time remaining until the
Demand Feature could be exercised or the expiration date of the LOC or liquidity facility that supports
such VROs. The following diversification restrictions apply to this portfolio: Securities of a single local
municipality or issuer, e.g. State, County, City, or Authority, shall not represent more than 5% of the
portfolio. This issuer limit includes VRDOs regardless of the LOC or liquidity support provider. The
Bloomberg Bond Ticker or an Issuer name for conduit issuer only will be used to verify the issuer limit.
Further, investment in an individual money market fund shall be the lesser of 5% of the total individual
fund assets or $200 million. Each Investment Manager must check the compliance of this provision with
Citizens' CFO prior to investing in any money market fund. Tax-exempt commercial paper shall not
represent more than 20% of the total portfolio. At the time of purchase, all investments must be rated in
accordance with the following: (1) Securities with short-term investment ratings (other than VRDOs,
must be rated by at least two of Moody's, S&P and/or Fitch, and must have minimum ratings of MIG 1 by
Moody's, SP-1 by S&P, and/or F1 by Fitch, (2) Securities with long-term investment ratings must be rated
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by at least two of Moody's, S&P and/or Fitch, and must have minimum ratings of A3 by Moody's, A- by
S&P, and/or A- by Fitch, and (3) Subordinate obligations must be rated from at least two of Moody’s,
S&P, and/or Fitch and must have minimum ratings of A2 by Moody’s, A by S&P, and/or A by Fitch.
There are currently no funds invested pursuant to this policy.

Claims-Paying Fund (Taxable): The investment policy for the Claims-Paying Fund (taxable)
generally governs the investment of funds that will be used to pay claims post-event after Citizens has
expended all moneys in the Liquidity Fund. The maximum permitted final maturity of this portfolio is 85
months and maximum dollar weighted maturity is 48 months. The following diversification restrictions
apply to this portfolio: Treasury and Agency securities, Treasury and Agency Money Market Funds,
notes whose principal and interest payments are fully insured by the FDIC and Treasury and Agency
Collateralized Repurchase Agreements must be in total at least 35% of the Portfolio, and Corporate
securities, Commercial Paper, Banker's Acceptances (BAs) and Certificates of Deposit (CDs), Municipal
Securities, and corporate Money Market Funds in total cannot comprise more than 65% of the Portfolio.
At the time of purchase, all securities must be rated in accordance with the following: (1) Securities with
long-term investment ratings must be rated from at least two of Moody's, S&P, and/or Fitch and must
have minimum ratings of Baal by Moody's; BBB+ by S&P; and/or BBB+ by Fitch, (2) Securities with short-
term investment ratings must be rated from at least two of Moody's, S&P, and/or Fitch and must have
minimum ratings of P-1 by Moody's; SP-1 by S&P; and/or F1 by Fitch, and (3) Securities that are rated
Baal by Moody’s; BBB+ by S&P; and/or BBB+ by Fitch shall not represent more than 10% of the Portfolio,
with the securities of a single issuer representing no more than 1% of the Portfolio.

Claims-Paying Fund (Tax-exempt): The investment policy for the Claims-Paying Fund (tax-exempt)
generally governs the investment of tax-exempt pre-event bond proceeds and other moneys required to
be invested in tax-exempt instruments. Citizens will use these moneys to pay claims after an event,
typically after it has spent funds invested in the Liquidity Fund. The maximum permitted final maturity
of this portfolio is 61 months for Series 2009A-1 Bond proceeds, Series 2010A-1 Bond proceeds, and Series
2011A-1 Bond proceeds and will be 73 months for Series 2015A Bond proceeds and any future pre-event
bond issuances and maximum dollar weighted maturity is 42 months for Series 2009A-!, 2010A-1 and
2011A-1 and will be 48 months for Series 2015A or any other financing. The following diversification
restrictions apply to this portfolio: Securities of a single local municipality or issuer, e.g. State, County,
City, or Authority, shall not represent more than 5% of the portfolio. This issuer limit includes VRDOs
regardless of the LOC or liquidity Support provider. Investment in an individual money market fund
shall be the lesser of 5% of the total individual fund assets or $200 million. Each Investment Manager
must check the compliance of this provision with Citizens' CFO prior to investing in any money market
fund. Tax-exempt commercial paper ("TECP") shall not represent more than 20% of the total portfolio.
At the time of purchase, all investments must be rated in accordance with the following: (1) Securities
with short-term investment ratings VRDOs, must be rated by two of Moody's, S&P and/or Fitch, and
must have minimum ratings of MIG 1 by Moody's, SP-1 by S&P, and/or F1 by Fitch, (2) Securities with
long-term investment ratings must be rated by two of Moody's, S&P and/or Fitch, and must have
minimum ratings of A3 by Moody's, A- by S&P, and/or A- by Fitch, and (3) Subordinate obligations must
be rated from at least two of Moody’s, S&P, and/or Fitch and must have minimum ratings of A2 by
Moody’s, A by S&P, and/or A by Fitch.

The policies’” primary investment objectives are to achieve competitive current income consistent
with stability of principal and liquidity, while maximizing investment returns. Cash flow needs for
Citizens after a storm are difficult to project, but it is prudent to assume that significant amounts of cash
could be needed quickly to pay covered losses quickly. Paying such losses fully and in a timely manner is
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the highest priority for Citizens. Liquidity Fund moneys will be among the first used by Citizens to pay
claims after a storm, liquidity and principal stability in the Liquidity Fund must be paramount. Claims
Paying Fund moneys will be used after Liquidity Funds moneys are expended to pay claims.

Citizens’ Investment Policies for Operating Funds (the Liquidity Fund (taxable) and Claims
Paying Fund (taxable)) apply to all funds under the control of Citizens that are not subject to the Tax-
Exempt Investment Policies. Citizens internally manages a portion of its operating funds which are
invested in money market mutual funds, bank instruments and United States Treasury or Agency
securities. The majority of Citizens’ operating funds are managed by third-party professional investment
management firms engaged by Citizens, in accordance with Citizens’ applicable taxable investment

policy.

The portfolio includes only fixed income securities. Fixed income securities are securities that
pay interest dividends or distributions at a specified rate. The rate may be a fixed percentage of the
principal or adjusted periodically. In addition, the issuer of a short-term fixed income security must
repay the principal amount of the security, normally within a specified time. The fixed income securities
in which Citizens or its investment managers invest include corporate debt securities, bank instruments,
United States Treasury securities (“Government securities”), US Government Agency securities (“Agency
securities”), Municipal securities, and shares of money market mutual funds.

In accordance with Citizens’ Investment Policies for Tax-Exempt Bond Proceeds, such as the
Series 2015A Bonds (the Liquidity Fund (tax-exempt) and Claims Paying Fund (tax-exempt)), proceeds of
the Series 2015A Bonds will be invested only in Non-AMT Tax-Exempt Securities. The objective of such
Tax-Exempt Investment Policies are to maintain the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax
purposes of interest on the Series 2015A Bonds and to maintain a stable portfolio of Non-AMT Tax-
Exempt Securities, while minimizing liquidity cost, and providing full liquidity upon an event.

The Investment Policies may be changed by Citizens from time to time. See “RISK FACTORS -
Investment Risk” herein.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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As of April 30, 2015, Citizens’ funds related to the Coastal Account are invested as shown on the chart
below. There have been no substantial reallocations of the investments since April 30, 2015. This chart does
not include proceeds from the Series 2015A Bonds. Fixed income securities and cash represented 100% of the
investments and the chart below shows the distribution of such investments by sector.

Amounts
Investments (in millions)

Bond Proceeds and Other Tax-Exempt Funds

Tax-Exempt Money Market Funds(1) $746

Tax-Exempt Fixed Rate Municipal Bonds 2,281

Tax-Exempt VRDN's Municipal Bonds 31
Other Investments (Money Market for Reserve
Accounts and Debt Service Funds) 5
Total Investments $3,063
Operating Funds
Treasury and Agency Securities $1,478
Corporate Bonds, Commercial Paper, and CDs 2,019
Municipal Bonds 76
Money Market Funds 138
Total Operating Funds $3,711
Total Invested Assets $6,773

(1) Includes 2009A-1, 2010A-1 and 2011 A-1 Debt Service Funds.

Source: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Total Coastal Account Portfolio Composition (SMM)
Variable Rate Bond Proceeds
Demand Notes Investments (Money
(VRDNSs) Market Funds for
$30.78 Reserve Accounts
0% and Debt Service
Funds)
$5.18

Municipal
Money Market Bonds
Funds (Taxable) (Taxable)
$137.70 $75.70
2% 1%

Total Coastal Account Portfolio Composition chart is as of April 30, 2015.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Total Coastal Account Portfolio Rating Distribution {SMM)

BEE Non-Rated P-1
$212.53 $120.98
3% %

Total Coastal Account Portfolio Rating Distribution chart is as of April 30, 2015.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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CITIZENS BOARD OF GOVERNORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Board of Governors

As of the date hereof, the Board of Governors is comprised of the following members:

Name Geographical Area Occupation
Christopher Gardner, Chairman Orange County Insurance Agency Executive
Donald Glisson, Jr., Vice Chairman  St. Johns County Financial Services Executive
Gary Aubuchon Lee County Real Estate Executive
Bette Brown Monroe County Bank Executive
Juan Cocuy Palm Beach County Certified Public Accountant
Jim Henderson Seminole County Insurance Agency Executive
James Holton Pinellas County Attorney
Freddie Schinz Okaloosa County Real Estate Executive
John Wortman St. Johns County Insurance Agency Executive (retired)

The terms of four current members of the Board expire on July 31, 2016 and the terms of another four
expire on July 31, 2017. The term of one current member will expire July 31, 2015. The Legislature created
staggered terms so that half of the members have two-year terms and half of the members have three-year
terms. A vacancy of a Board member results in the appointing officer making a new appointment to fill the
unexpired term. In addition, members of the Board may be removed at any time by the respective appointing
officer.

Senior Management

Barry Gilway is Citizens’ President/CEO and Executive Director. Mr. Gilway oversees all operations
and is the liaison to Citizens' Board of Governors. Mr. Gilway is an accomplished insurance executive with
over 40 years of experience in insurance including: CEO of Zurich Canada, Executive VP of Zurich North
America, CEO of Maryland Casualty Companies and Executive VP of Crum and Forster along with additional
senior management positions.

Mr. Gilway began his insurance career in regional management roles for the Insurance Company of
North America (INA), Crum and Forster, and WR Berkley Corporation. In 1990, Mr. Gilway became President
of the $900 million Maryland Casualty Commercial Lines Company. He was subsequently promoted to CEO
of the entire Maryland Casualty Group. In 1999, Mr. Gilway moved to Canada to turn around a troubled
Zurich Canada operation, consisting of personal lines, commercial lines, specialty, life and health companies.
Following the divestiture of the Canadian business, he returned to the U.S. as Executive Vice President for
Zurich's $17 billion commercial operation, managing and leading 5,000 employees responsible for the Zurich
infrastructure in the U.S. while also acting as M & A liaison. Mr. Gilway retired from Zurich in 2006 and
became a consultant for Mystic Capital Advisors. He completed several significant transactions before joining
one of Mystic Capital’s clients, Economical Insurance Group of Canada. For the three years immediately prior
to joining Citizens, Mr. Gilway led the turnaround of Mattei Insurance Services as Chief Executive Officer,
reporting to the Economical Board of Directors.
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Jennifer Montero, CPA, is Chief Financial Officer. In this capacity, Ms. Montero is responsible for
planning and developing the financial course of the corporation. She oversees all aspects of financial
reporting, accounting operations, treasury, remittance processing, and budgeting. She also has oversight of a
$13 billion investment portfolio and is responsible for developing, negotiating and implementing Citizens’
financing program and risk transfer strategy, including traditional reinsurance and the capital markets.
Having served in positions of increasing responsibility with Citizens (and its predecessor, the FRPCJUA) since
1999, Ms. Montero has developed an unmatched institutional knowledge and in-depth understanding of
Citizens’ financial needs and business model. Previous positions at Citizens include Controller and Manager
of the Accounting and Finance Departments. She has nearly 20 years of experience in accounting and related
areas, including internal audit. Ms. Montero received her Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting from
Florida State University and is a Florida licensed Certified Public Accountant (CPA).

Kelly Booten serves as Chief Systems and Operations Officer. She is responsible for Strategy &
Planning, Enterprise Vendor Management, the Program & Project Management Office, and Information
Technology. In addition, Ms. Booten has been the executive overseeing the Core Insurance Systems
implementation (policy, billing and claims suite). She has been with Citizens since 2002. Prior roles at
Citizens include Vice President of Enterprise Planning and Project Portfolio Management & Vice
President of Application Development in Information Technology. Ms. Booten has over 30 years of
experience in Information Technology, management and project management, with over 10 years in the
insurance industry. Prior to joining Citizens in December 2002, Ms. Booten served as Enterprise Project
Manager for the Florida Legislature where she managed several enterprise-wide projects that delivered
automated process improvement initiatives to both the Florida Senate and House. Other prior experience
includes management of customer service, training, delivery services and consulting services with a
software organization and manager of application development for an education quasi-governmental
organization. Ms. Booten earned her Bachelor of Arts degree in Computer Science from Clarke College.

Joe Martins is the Chief of Internal Audit. Mr. Martins joined Citizens during June 2012 as Chief
of Internal Audit based in Jacksonville. Mr. Martins is an accomplished audit executive with broad-based
expertise in a variety of areas including Governance, Insurance, Finance, Accounting, Manufacturing and
Forensic Analysis. Prior to joining Citizens Mr. Martins was working with the Zurich Insurance Group,
first as the Head of Audit for Zurich Insurance Company (South Africa) and later as Assistant Vice
President (Audit Director) at Zurich North America. Mr. Martins is a Certified Internal Auditor, Certified
Fraud Examiner and has a Certification in Risk Management Assurance (CRMA).

John Rollins is Chief Risk Officer. Mr. Rollins joined Citizens in October 2013 and is responsible for
Actuarial, Product Development, Corporate Analytics and Enterprise Risk Management business units.

Mr. Rollins previously owned and operated Rollins Analytics, Inc., a firm he founded at the end of
2009. The firm delivered professional actuarial analysis and strategic consulting to institutions concerned with
insurance risk in the private and public sector.

Mr. Rollins is a former vice president at AIR Worldwide, a global provider of risk modeling software
and consulting services. He has 24 years of experience as a U.S. property and casualty actuary in many
environments, including personal and commercial lines insurers, global and regional consulting firms, a top-
tier accounting firm, and an insurance advisory organization. He has worked as chief actuary at both Citizens
and Florida Farm Bureau Insurance Companies. He served on the Board of Governors of Citizens, appointed
by Florida Governor Rick Scott, from 2011-2013.
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Mr. Rollins has wide-ranging technical expertise, including personal and commercial lines
ratemaking, catastrophe modeling, reinsurance and “cat bond” structuring, and loss and expense reserving for
insurers and self-insurers. He has authored several prize-winning papers in the journals of the Casualty
Actuarial Society, and has spoken and testified on catastrophe management and property lines ratemaking
topics to the U.S. Congress, several state legislatures, regulators, rating agencies, insurance leaders, academics
and the media.

In addition to qualification as a Fellow of the Casualty Actuarial Society (FCAS) and Member of the
American Academy of Actuaries (MAAA), Mr. Rollins holds a B.A. in mathematics from Duke University and
M.A. in economics from the University of Florida. A fourth-generation Floridian, he resides in the Gainesville
area with his wife and children.

Jay Adams is the Chief Claims Officer. Mr. Adams is responsible for overseeing the Claims
Operation which consists of Non Catastrophe and Catastrophe claims, Commercial Claims, Litigated and
Disputed Claims, Vendor Relations, and Special Investigative Units. He previously served as the Senior
Director of Claims where his focus was on the development of ClaimCenter which is the claims
management system utilized by Claims. He brings 26 years of insurance experience in Underwriting,
Portfolio Management, Claims and Business Analysis. Prior to joining Citizens in 2009, Mr. Adams
served at Nationwide Insurance Company for 19 years. During his last assignment, he was responsible
for the design and implementation of a new large loss claims handling process, implemented a Direct
Repair Program and a Water Mitigation Program, and merged multiple Claims operations into a single
operation. Mr. Adams earned a Bachelor of Science in Finance from Virginia Polytechnic Institute.

Daniel Y. Sumner currently serves as General Counsel. In this role, he oversees Legal, Ethics and
Compliance, Policy Development and Corporate Integrity. Mr. Sumner also served as Interim Executive
Director of Citizens’ predecessor, the Florida Property and Casualty Joint Underwriting Association from
its activation in September 2006 until it was merged into Citizens in June 2007. He also served as
Executive Director of the original Florida Property and Casualty Joint Underwriting Association during
in 1987. Prior to coming to Citizens, Mr. Sumner had a distinguished career with the Florida Department
of Financial Services, serving as Deputy Chief of Staff and as General Counsel. Mr. Sumner's service in
the Department of Insurance, prior to Cabinet reorganization, included serving as Executive Senior
Counsel, General Counsel, Director of Legal Services, Director of Insurance Rating and Deputy State
Treasurer. Mr. Sumner has been involved in the drafting and legal defense of key insurance reforms in
the State of Florida, including the Tort Reform Act of 1986; Workers” Compensation Reform Acts of 1990
and 1995; Property Insurance Reforms and creation of Citizens Property Insurance Corporation in 2002.

Mr. Sumner received his bachelor’s and law degree from the University of Florida.
RISK FACTORS

Set forth below are certain specific risk factors associated with an investment in the Series 2015A
Bonds which should be carefully considered by prospective investors. The following enumeration of risk
factors is not intended to be, and is not, exhaustive. See "LITIGATION AND OTHER MATTERS" herein for a
description of certain litigation which may affect the financial condition of Citizens. Prospective investors
should consider carefully the following factors relating to Citizens' Coastal Account, in addition to the other
information contained in this Official Statement, before purchasing the Series 2015A Bonds.
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Catastrophe Losses

The incidence and severity of catastrophes are inherently unpredictable. Citizens' policies in the
Coastal Account are concentrated in those coastal areas that appear to be at the highest risk of hurricane
damage based upon historical experience and loss model results. Coastal development in recent years has
significantly changed the risk profile of hurricane prone coastal areas.

While Citizens cannot predict the level of hurricanes or other catastrophes in the State, the National
Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration has concluded that the United States has been in a cycle of
heightened Atlantic Ocean hurricane activity since 1995 because of naturally occurring cycles in tropical
climate patterns near the equator. This "tropical multi-decadal cycle" can, based upon historical patterns, last
20 to 30 years or even longer.

In addition to hurricanes, other unforeseen catastrophes and acts of God may occur which could
cause property losses and disrupt the operations of Citizens.

Collectability of Surcharge, Assessments and Assessment Base

The Act grants Citizens the authority to impose Citizens Policyholder Surcharges, Regular
Assessments and Emergency Assessments in the amount required to cure any deficit in any Account, plus
interest, fees, commissions, required reserves, and other costs associated with financing the deficits.
Amendments to the Act in 2007 significantly expanded and diversified the assessment base for Plan Year
Deficits occurring in 2007 and thereafter. Although the State Constitution and the Act generally prohibit the
impairment of contracts, in the future, the Florida Legislature could reduce or increase Citizens' surcharges
and assessments or reduce or increase the maximum percentage or amount collectible in any given year,
including expanding or reducing the assessment base, as long as it does not impair Citizens' ability to repay
the Indenture Obligations, including the Series 2015A Bonds. See "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A
BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE OBLIGATIONS — Certain Covenants" herein for a description of certain
covenants contained in the Indenture wherein Citizens agrees to fix, levy, charge and timely collect sufficient
funds, including, without limitation, Citizens Policyholder Surcharges, Regular Assessments and Emergency
Assessments, which will be sufficient to pay Annual Debt Service. See also “PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT
AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE - Collection of Assessments and Other
Moneys” herein for revisions to those covenants upon execution and delivery of the Master Trust Indenture.

Although Citizens and its predecessors have imposed and collected surcharges on their policyholders
as well as Regular Assessments and Emergency Assessments, Citizens has no experience with the levy of the
assessments on the 2007-expanded assessment base. However, Citizens' expanded assessment base is
substantially identical to that of the FHCF, which levied its first emergency assessment on this expanded
assessment base commencing January 1, 2007.

In addition, the arithmetic calculations and the certification of the Board of Governors of the
Emergency Assessments and any modifications thereto are subject to verification and approval by the Office.
If the Office refuses to verify Emergency Assessments or if the legality of the Act, the Regular Assessments or
the Emergency Assessments is successfully challenged, then Citizens may not be able to collect sufficient
assessment proceeds to pay amounts, if needed and levied, due under its indebtedness, including the Series
2015A Bonds. The Office has verified the Emergency Assessment related to the 2005 Hurricane Season. Any
modification requires subsequent verification by the Office. The Emergency Assessment related to the 2005
Hurricane Season was reduced once by Citizens and verified by the Office and has been approved by the
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Office to be terminated on July 1, 2015 pursuant to an Order of the Office. The Act does not provide a time
frame for the imposition of Emergency Assessments. See, however, "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A
BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE OBLIGATIONS - Certain Covenants — Revenues" and "Collection of
Assessments and Other Moneys" herein for a description of the covenant of Citizens provided in the Indenture
with respect to the time frames for the imposition of Emergency Assessments in respect of Plan Year Deficits
paid, in whole or in part, from Draws from the Proceeds Account under the Indenture. See also
“PROSPECTIVE  AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY OF THE INDENTURE -
Collection of Assessments and Other Moneys” herein for revisions to those covenants upon execution and
delivery of the Master Trust Indenture.

In addition to assessments that may be imposed by Citizens, other statutory entities such as the FHCF
and FIGA may also impose assessments on the same insurers and/or policyholders on which Citizens imposes
assessments. The FHCF may impose assessments on policyholders of up to 6% of its applicable gross DWP on
all property and casualty insurance, except for workers' compensation, medical malpractice and accident and
health insurance, for any single year deficit and not to exceed 10% in the aggregate for multiple year deficits.
Such assessments would be levied on a broad assessment base that is identical to Citizens' Emergency
Assessment base. The FHCF levied only a 1% emergency assessment on its assessment base for a six-year
period commencing on January 1, 2007 and on April 27, 2010 such emergency assessment was increased from
1% to 1.3% effective January 1, 2011 to support annual debt service on post-event bonds to fund its deficit from
2005 hurricane losses. However, FHCF has defeased all remaining post-event bonds and as of July 21, 2014,
such FHCF Emergency Assessment for all policies issued or renewed on or after January 1, 2015, has been
terminated.

FIGA may impose assessments on insurers (including Citizens) of up to 2% of net DWP written on all
lines of property and casualty insurance in Florida, except workers' compensation, which the insurers may
assess policyholders through premium rate increases. Citizens would pay any FIGA assessments from
premium revenue. Such FIGA assessments would be levied on a portion of the assessment base levied upon
by Citizens for Emergency Assessments. In the context of a major hurricane, FIGA may impose an additional
special assessment of 2% if FIGA issues bonds to cover the payment of claims of insolvent insurers. Citizens is
assessable by FIGA even when FIGA does not issue bonds. Citizens was subject to the assessments levied by
FIGA in 2007, 2009 and 2012. Citizens received approval from the Office to recoup such assessments from its
policyholders. FIGA’s last levied assessment was a 0.9% assessment on November 9, 2012 that was payable by
December 31, 2012 and was subject to recoupment from its policyholders.

Total combined surcharges and assessments in a single year levied by Citizens, FIGA and FHCF on a
Citizens policyholder could equal up to 63% of the policyholder's premium and up to 20% of the premium of a
policyholder in the assessment base that is not a Citizens policyholder. Citizens has never levied nor
attempted to collect surcharges and assessments at such levels. Although the Legislature intervened in 2007 to
limit the impact of the 2005 Plan Year Deficit, there is no assurance that such intervention would occur in the
future. Based on Citizens’ Claims Paying Capacity as shown on the chart entitled “Coastal Account Liquidity
And Claims-Paying Capacity — Single Event”, for a 1-100 year event for the 2015 hurricane season, Citizens is
projected to have no surcharges and/or assessments, as it has sufficient financial resources to meet its potential
obligations in a 1-100 year event. See “THE COASTAL ACCOUNT - Liquidity Resources and Loss
Exposures”. For a 1-100 year event for the 2015 hurricane season, the FHCF could potentially have to issue
post-event bonds in the amount of $3.2 billion in order to meet its projected maximum obligation of $17
billion, which would require a 0.64% emergency assessment over 30 years.
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In addition, the Florida Legislature could reduce or increase Citizens' surcharges and assessments or
reduce or increase the maximum percentage or amount collectible in any given year. See " —Future Legislative
and Regulatory Changes" herein.

The cumulative impact of these surcharges and assessments could have a material adverse effect on
the financial condition of (and collectability of surcharges and assessments from) Florida policyholders and
certain insurers, including Citizens, and which could lead insurers to reduce their writings in the State and
could lead to political pressures on Citizens’ assessment mechanism described herein. If Citizens is unable to
collect a substantial portion of its assessments and surcharges, it may be unable to pay amounts due under its
indebtedness, including the Series 2015A Bonds. The amount of assessments collected for a given assessment
percentage in any one year could decrease if there is a decrease in industry-wide DWP due to further
legislative changes or changes in the Florida economy.

Future Legislative and Regulatory Changes

Citizens is a governmental entity created by the Florida Legislature. Changes in the political climate
in the State, particularly following a major hurricane, a series of hurricanes or other catastrophic events, could
adversely affect Citizens. There can be no assurance that the Legislature would not attempt to grant relief to
policyholders in the aftermath of such a catastrophe. In addition, the Florida Legislature may from time to
time consider changes in the structure of Citizens including its assessment and rate structure. Changes in the
Act or in the insurance laws or regulations of the State could have a material adverse effect on the financial
position and the operations of Citizens. See " — Collectability of Surcharge, Assessments and Assessment Base"
for a description of the statutory and constitutional requirements relating to the ability to amend the Act in a
fashion that could reduce Citizens' Assessment Base and/or the level of Pledged Revenues collected.

In addition, Citizens is subject to regulation by the Office. See "CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE
CORPORATION - Background" herein. Moreover, the Office determines the rates to be charged by Citizens
and Citizens is unable to appeal such determination. The Office's interpretation of, or a change in its
interpretation of, any law or regulation binding upon Citizens, or a change in Citizens' Plan ordered by the
Commission, could also have a material adverse effect on the financial position and the operations of Citizens.
Changes in Florida law applicable to the FHCF or Citizens could have a material adverse effect on the financial
position and operations of Citizens. As described herein, the Florida Legislature enacted various changes to
the Act in prior years including during its most recent 2015 regular legislative session. Additional
amendments to the Act may be introduced and passed during future legislative sessions. However, the Act
requires that “[iln recognition of s. 10, Art. I of the State Constitution, prohibiting the impairment of obligations of
contracts, it is the intent of the Legislature that no action be taken whose purpose is to impair any bond indenture or
financing agreement or any revenue source committed by contract to such bond or other indebtedness.” See "RISK
FACTORS - Future Legislative and Regulatory Changes" and "FLORIDA PROPERTY AND CASUALTY
INSURANCE MARKET" herein.

Possible Changes in the Market for Property Insurance

The availability and affordability of property insurance in the State has been and may continue to be
affected by changes in premiums charged, risk covered, deductible imposed, willingness of companies to
write policies and the financial stability of such companies as well as regulatory requirements and statutory
changes. One or more storms in the future could result in Citizens incurring significant losses and therefore
additional deficits and any assessments levied (in addition to those of FHCF and FIGA, if any) in the event of a
future deficit would further increase the cost of insurance. In addition, the cumulative effect of the
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assessments described above could have a material adverse effect on the level of real estate development and
economic activity in the State. In addition, the transfer of additional policies from the voluntary market to the
Coastal Account or other account may have a material adverse change on the financial condition and the
operations of Citizens. Citizens cannot predict any market or legislative changes which may increase the
number of additional policies to Citizens. See "FLORIDA PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE
MARKET" herein. There is no assurance that voluntary market insurers will not discontinue covering
property in Florida, causing additional growth in Citizens' policy count and loss exposure.

Citizens' Exposure

As a residual market mechanism, Citizens is required, through the Coastal Account, to provide
coverage to all insurable risks within the Eligible Areas which the private property insurance market will not
accept at certain rates and, as a consequence, limited underwriting standards are applicable and standard
selective underwriting practices are not utilized by Citizens. In the event that voluntary market writings of
windstorm coverage in the Eligible Areas decrease (which could occur, for example, as a result of a large
hurricane or series of hurricanes impacting the State), the Coastal Account would absorb a greater fraction of
the total wind insurance coverage in the Eligible Areas. See "FLORIDA PROPERTY AND CASUALTY
INSURANCE MARKET" herein. There would be several consequences to the Coastal Account from such an
event. First, premium revenues of Citizens would increase due to increased writings and the DWP on which
the Citizens Policyholder Surcharge would be based would increase. Second, in-force liability and exposure of
the Coastal Account would increase. However, assuming no statewide premium growth, the statewide DWP
on which Regular Assessments would be based would decrease, while the Emergency Assessment Base
would remain essentially unchanged. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the Florida Legislature will
not extend or contract the Eligible Areas in the future.

Conversely, if the writings of Citizens' Coastal Account decline over time, the premium revenues of
the Coastal Account would be reduced. Depending on the particular policies which remain in the Coastal
Account, such reduction in premium revenues may be disproportionate to the reduction in the modeled
exposure (PML's) of the Coastal Account. Such an event could occur, for example, if voluntary market
insurers selectively pick lower risk policies in the Coastal Account under a depopulation program for Citizens
or otherwise. See “THE COASTAL ACCOUNT - Liquidity Resources and Loss Exposures" herein for a
description of the PML.

Limitations of Loss Modeling Analysis

Loss distributions are used for a variety of purposes, including a determination of potential exposure
based on subjective assumptions relating to environmental, demographic and economic factors. Such factors
are inherently uncertain and Citizens does not model all of the types of perils that may result in losses to
Citizens. The assumptions and/or methodologies used by Citizens may not constitute the exclusive set of
reasonable assumptions, and the use of alternative assumptions and/or methodologies could yield results
materially different from those generated by Citizens. Each model run is based on exposure information that
will differ from Citizens' actual exposure during the term of the Series 2015A Bonds based on future action
Citizens may take, including changes to existing policies and the writing of new business. Loss distribution
models are not facts, projections or predictions of future losses, and should not be relied upon as such. Actual
loss experience can materially differ from the loss distributions generated by the model.

As a result of its ongoing process of internal review, Citizens may refine various model assumptions
from time to time in light of new meteorological and other information as such information becomes available.
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Such refinements may materially alter, and have in the past materially altered, the loss estimates generated by
such models.

Insolvency of Insurers

Emergency Assessments are levied on policyholders. However, such Emergency Assessments will be
collected by insurance companies and are required to be remitted to Citizens on a monthly basis. In the event
an insurance company should become insolvent and be subject to liquidation prior to the time that the
company remits collected Emergency Assessments to Citizens, such funds in the possession of the company
may be subject to the prior claims of creditors or by a trustee to the insolvency proceeding.

Enforceability of Remedies

The remedies available to the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2015A Bonds upon an Event of Default
under the Indenture are in many respects dependent upon judicial actions which are often subject to discretion
and delay. Under existing constitutional and statutory law and judicial decisions, including specifically Title
11 of the United States Code, the remedies specified by the federal bankruptcy code, the Indenture (and the
Master Trust Indenture when it becomes effective) and the Series 2015A Bonds may not be readily available or
may be limited. The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2015A
Bonds (including Bond Counsel's approving opinion) will be qualified, as to the enforceability of the various
legal instruments, by limitations imposed by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws
affecting the rights of creditors enacted before or after such delivery.

Investment Risk

Moneys credited to the accounts and subaccounts for the Series 2015A Bonds under the Indenture will
be invested and reinvested in Permitted Investments. See "INVESTMENTS" herein and "APPENDIX A —
COMPOSITE FORM OF THE TRUST INDENTURE AND FORM OF TENTH SUPPLEMENTAL
INDENTURE" attached hereto for a description of Permitted Investments. Earnings on moneys and
investments in the Proceeds Account are expected to be used to pay a portion of interest on Indenture
Obligations until such moneys and investments are needed to pay claims. However, Permitted Investments
are exposed to changes in market value as well as price and yield volatility, and the value of such Permitted
Investments could decline below their purchase price and the investment earnings thereon could be lower
than anticipated. Such a decline may result in insufficient funds being available, when needed, to pay policy
claims and other liabilities and expenses, including debt service on the Indenture Obligations.

Post-Event Bonds

Citizens expects that post-event bond issuances by Citizens may be needed in the event one or more
windstorms create significant losses exceeding Citizens' available claims-paying resources. If issued, such
bonds may need to be in an amount adequate to repay outstanding loss claims. See “THE COASTAL
ACCOUNT - Liquidity Resources and Loss Exposures” and "PLAN OF FINANCING" herein. Citizens, the
FHCF and FIGA may all seek to simultaneously issue bonds following the same windstorm event. There can
be no assurance that there will be adequate capacity in the marketplace to permit the sale of bonds necessary
to meet all of Citizens' needs or the needs of the FHCF. See "FLORIDA HURRICANE CATASTROPHE
FUND" herein. See "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE
OBLIGATIONS - Additional Indenture Obligations" herein.
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Additional Parity Indebtedness

The Indenture does not limit the amount of Additional Indenture Obligations that Citizens may issue
on parity with the Series 2015A Bonds and the Prior Parity Bonds. However, Citizens' ability to use the
proceeds from such Additional Indenture Obligations is subject to certain limitations. See "SECURITY FOR
THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE OBLIGATIONS - Proceeds Account” and
"SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE OBLIGATIONS - Additional
Indenture Obligations" herein. In addition, the Security and Pledge Agreement does not limit the amount of
Senior Secured Obligations that Citizens may issue on parity with Indenture Obligations.

FHCF and Reinsurance

The reimbursement contract provided by the FHCF constitutes a portion of Citizens' claims-paying
program. See "FLORIDA HURRICANE CATASTHROPHE FUND" herein. The FHCF is only obligated to
pay reimbursement claims to the extent of its actual available resources. Citizens' recovery under its FHCF
contract for the Coastal Account could be less than the forecasted recovery if the FHCF is unable to raise the
financing equivalent to its forecasted estimated borrowing capacity. No representation is made by Citizens as
to the ability of the FHCF to provide reimbursements to Citizens or the financial position of the FHCF. A
significant departure from the forecasted ability of the FHCF to fund its reimbursement contracts, or a
significant delay therein could have a material adverse impact on the financial condition of Citizens.

The FHCF does not reinsure commercial nonresidential policies. Accordingly, no FHCF coverage is
provided for the commercial nonresidential policies in the Coastal Account. Citizens purchased private
reinsurance for its nonresidential policies in 2014 and 2015. See "THE COASTAL ACCOUNT - Assessments,
Surcharge and Other Funds — Private Reinsurance" herein for further discussion of the availability of private
reinsurance.

Private Reinsurance

The Private Reinsurance contracts described herein do not constitute a portion of Citizens' claims-
paying program. However, such Private Insurance may be used to lessen Citizens’ reliance on its net
premiums, assessments and surcharges collected by Citizens in respect of the Coastal Account to pay claims.
Citizens' recovery under its Private Reinsurance could be less than the forecasted recovery if the providers of
such Private Reinsurance are unable to fulfill the Private Reinsurance contracts. No representation is made by
Citizens as to the ability of the providers of the Private Reinsurance to provide reimbursements to Citizens or
the financial position of any provider of Private Reinsurance. A significant departure from the forecasted
ability of the providers of the Private Reinsurance to fund its reinsurance contracts, or a significant delay
therein could have a material adverse impact on the financial condition of Citizens. Citizens may determine in
the future to purchase lower amounts of Private Reinsurance or to exit that market due to affordability of such
Private Reinsurance, reliability of Private Reinsurance providers or other factors. No representations are made
as to Citizens future participation in the Private Reinsurance markets.

Consolidation of Accounts
Pursuant to the Act, all revenues, assets, liabilities, losses and expenses of Citizens are separated
by account as described above. The Act further requires Citizens to exercise its best efforts, consistent

with prudent investment policies that minimize the cost of carrying debt, to retire existing debt or to
obtain approval of necessary parties to amend the terms of existing debt, so as to structure the most
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efficient plan to consolidate the PLA, the CLA and the Coastal Account into a single account. On
February 1, 2007, Citizens' Board submitted to the Legislature and Commission a report that analyzed the
advantages and disadvantages of combining its three Accounts into a single account. While the report
noted several potential advantages of combining accounts, it also described the legal and financial
challenges which could result from this approach. After considering the potential costs and benefits of
combining accounts pursuant to the report, neither the Legislature nor the Board has taken further action
in this regard.

Any such consolidation (prior to the execution and delivery of the Master Trust Indenture)
would require amendments to the Pledge and Security Agreement and the Indenture. See "APPENDIX B
- COMPOSITE FORM OF THE PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT" and "APPENDIX A -
COMPOSITE FORM OF THE TRUST INDENTURE AND FORM OF TENTH SUPPLEMENTAL
INDENTURE" attached hereto for procedures which must be adhered to in order to effect such
amendments. In addition, the Legislature may be required to amend the Act in order to consolidate the
accounts.  See "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2015A BONDS AND OTHER INDENTURE
OBLIGATIONS" herein. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2015A Bonds should not rely on this
Official Statement for information regarding the PLA or the CLA.

Delinquency Proceedings

Citizens believes that it is likely to be deemed either an insurance company or a municipality for
the purposes of Delinquency Proceedings (as defined in the DOI Agreement). In either such event, it is
unlikely that the security interest in the Collateral would be impaired unless the Act were amended to so
affect the Collateral. See "- Future Legislative and Regulatory Changes" above. However, in the unlikely
event that Citizens is eligible for relief under the General Bankruptcy laws, a bankruptcy petition
thereunder could result in (i) the avoidance of the security interest of the Indenture Trustee in the
Pledged Revenues (as defined), (ii) disgorgement of preferential transfers received against the holders of
the Series 2015A Bonds for payments made within 90 days preceding such petition, (iii) reduction of the
payments made to Holders of Series 2015A Bonds, and (iv) other material alterations of the provisions of
the Series 2015A Bonds. Such results could materially impair the ability of Citizens to repay amounts due
under the Series 2015A Bonds and other pari passu debt. Pursuant to the Act, as long as Citizens has
bonds outstanding, it may not file a voluntary petition under Chapter 9 of the Federal Bankruptcy Code.

TAX MATTERS

In the opinion of Greenberg Traurig, P.A., Bond Counsel, under existing law: (i) interest on the Series
2015A Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the
federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations; and (ii) the Series 2015A Bonds
and the income thereon are exempt from taxation under the laws of the State of Florida, except estate taxes
imposed by Chapter 198, Florida Statutes, as amended, and net income and franchise taxes imposed by
Chapter 220, Florida Statutes, as amended. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to any other tax
consequences regarding the Series 2015A Bonds.

The opinion on tax matters will be based on and will assume the accuracy of certain representations

and certifications, and continuing compliance with certain covenants, of Citizens contained in the transcript of
proceedings and that are intended to evidence and assure the foregoing, including that the Series 2015A Bonds
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are and will remain obligations the interest on which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes. Bond Counsel will not independently verify the accuracy of Citizens’ certifications and
representations or the continuing compliance with Citizens’ covenants.

The opinion of Bond Counsel is based on current legal authority and covers certain matters not
directly addressed by such authority. It represents Bond Counsel’s legal judgment as to exclusion of interest
on the Series 2015A Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes but is not a guaranty of that
conclusion. The opinion is not binding on the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") or any court. Bond Counsel
expresses no opinion about (i) the effect of future changes in the Code and the applicable regulations under the
Code or (ii) the interpretation and the enforcement of the Code or those regulations by the IRS.

The Code prescribes a number of qualifications and conditions for the interest on state and local
government obligations to be and to remain excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes,
some of which require future or continued compliance after issuance of the obligations. Noncompliance with
these requirements by Citizens may cause loss of such status and result in the interest on the Series 2015A
Bonds being included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactively to the date of issuance of
the Series 2015A Bonds. Citizens has covenanted to take the actions required of it for the interest on the Series
2015A Bonds to be and to remain excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and not to take
any actions that would adversely affect that exclusion. After the date of issuance of the Series 2015A Bonds,
Bond Counsel will not undertake to determine (or to so inform any person) whether any actions taken or not
taken, or any events occurring or not occurring, or any other matters coming to Bond Counsel’s attention, may
adversely affect the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series
2015A Bonds or the market value of the Series 2015A Bonds.

A portion of the interest on the Series 2015A Bonds earned by certain corporations may be subject to a
federal corporate alternative minimum tax. In addition, interest on the Series 2015A Bonds may be subject to a
federal branch profits tax imposed on certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States and to a
federal tax imposed on excess net passive income of certain S corporations. Under the Code, the exclusion of
interest from gross income for federal income tax purposes may have certain adverse federal income tax
consequences on items of income, deduction or credit for certain taxpayers, including financial institutions,
certain insurance companies, recipients of Social Security and Railroad Retirement benefits, those that are
deemed to incur or continue indebtedness to acquire or carry tax-exempt obligations, and individuals
otherwise eligible for the earned income tax credit. The applicability and extent of these and other tax
consequences will depend upon the particular tax status or other tax items of the owner of the Series 2015A
Bonds. Bond Counsel will express no opinion regarding those consequences.

Payments of interest on tax-exempt obligations, including the Series 2015A Bonds, are generally
subject to IRS Form 1099-INT information reporting requirements. If a Series 2015A Bond owner is subject to
backup withholding under those requirements, then payments of interest will also be subject to backup
withholding. Those requirements do not affect the exclusion of such interest from gross income for federal
income tax purposes.

Legislation affecting tax-exempt obligations is regularly considered by the United States Congress and
may also be considered by the State legislature. Court proceedings may also be filed the outcome of which
could modify the tax treatment of obligations such as the Series 2015A Bonds. There can be no assurance that
legislation enacted or proposed, or actions by a court, after the date of issuance of the Series 2015A Bonds will
not have an adverse effect on the tax status of interest on the Series 2015A Bonds or the market value of the
Series 2015A Bonds.
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Prospective purchasers of the Series 2015A Bonds should consult their own tax advisers regarding
pending or proposed federal and state tax legislation and court proceedings, and prospective purchasers of the
Series 2015A Bonds at other than their original issuance at the respective prices indicated on the inside cover of
this Official Statement should also consult their own tax advisers regarding other tax considerations such as
the consequences of market discount, as to all of which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion.

Bond Counsel’s engagement with respect to the Series 2015A Bonds ends with the issuance of the
Series 2015A Bonds, and, unless separately engaged, Bond Counsel is not obligated to defend Citizens or the
owners of the Series 2015A Bonds regarding the tax status of interest thereon in the event of an audit
examination by the IRS. The IRS has a program to audit tax-exempt obligations to determine whether the
interest thereon is includible in gross income for federal income tax purposes. If the IRS does audit the Series
2015A Bonds, under current IRS procedures, the IRS will treat Citizens as the taxpayer and the beneficial
owners of the Series 2015A Bonds will have only limited rights, if any, to obtain and participate in judicial
review of such audit. Any action of the IRS, including but not limited to selection of the Series 2015A Bonds
for audit, or the course or result of such audit, or an audit of other obligations presenting similar tax issues,
may affect the market value of the Series 2015A Bonds.

Original Issue Premium

The Series 2015A-1 Bonds (the "Premium Bonds") as indicated on the inside cover of this Official
Statement were offered and sold to the public at a price in excess of their stated redemption price (the principal
amount) at maturity. That excess constitutes bond premium. For federal income tax purposes, bond premium
is amortized over the period to maturity of a Premium Bond, based on the yield to maturity of that Premium
Bond (or, in the case of a Premium Bond callable prior to its stated maturity, the amortization period and yield
may be required to be determined on the basis of an earlier call date that results in the lowest yield on that
Premium Bond), compounded semiannually (or a shorter permitted compounding interval selected by the
owner). No portion of that bond premium is deductible by the owner of a Premium Bond. For purposes of
determining the owner’s gain or loss on the sale, redemption (including redemption at maturity) or other
disposition of a Premium Bond, the owner’s tax basis in the Premium Bond is reduced by the amount of bond
premium that is amortized during the period of ownership. As a result, an owner may realize taxable gain for
federal income tax purposes from the sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond for an amount equal to or
less than the amount paid by the owner for that Premium Bond. A purchaser of a Premium Bond in the initial
public offering at the price for that Premium Bond stated on the inside cover of this Official Statement who
holds that Premium Bond to maturity (or, in the case of a callable Premium Bond, to its earlier call date that
results in the lowest yield on that Premium Bond) will realize no gain or loss upon the retirement of that
Premium Bond.

OWNERS OF PREMIUM BONDS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISERS AS TO THE
DETERMINATION FOR FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES OF THE AMOUNT OF BOND PREMIUM
PROPERLY ACCRUABLE OR AMORTIZABLE IN ANY PERIOD WITH RESPECT TO THE PREMIUM
BONDS AND AS TO OTHER FEDERAL TAX CONSEQUENCES AND THE TREATMENT OF BOND
PREMIUM FOR PURPOSES OF STATE AND LOCAL TAXES ON, OR BASED ON, INCOME.

RATINGS

The Series 2015A Bonds that do not represent Insured Series 2015A Bonds have been assigned
long-term ratings of "A+" (stable outlook), "A1" (stable outlook) and "AA-" (stable outlook), by S&P,
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Moody's and Fitch, respectively. Such ratings and related outlooks reflect only the views of such
organizations and any desired explanation of their significance should be obtained from the rating
agency furnishing the same, at the following addresses: Moody's, 7 World Trade Center at 250 Greenwich
Street, New York, New York 10007, S&P, 55 Water Street, New York, New York, 10041 and Fitch, One
State Street Plaza, New York, New York 10004. Generally, a rating agency bases its rating and related
outlook on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions
of its own. There is no assurance such ratings or related outlooks will continue for any given period of
time or that such ratings or related outlooks will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by the
rating agencies, if in the judgment of such rating agencies, circumstances so warrant. Any such
downward revision or withdrawal of such ratings or related outlooks may have an adverse effect on the
market price of the Series 2015A Bonds.

LITIGATION AND OTHER MATTERS

In the opinion of Citizens' General Counsel, there is no litigation now pending or, to his knowledge,
threatened (i) to restrain or enjoin the issuance or sale of the Series 2015A Bonds or (ii) questioning or affecting
the validity of the Series 2015A Bonds, the Indenture or the pledge of the Pledged Revenues by Citizens or the
proceedings for the authorization, sale, execution or delivery of the Series 2015A Bonds.

Citizens is involved in certain litigation and disputes incidental to its operations. In the opinion
of management, after consultation with legal counsel, there are substantial defenses to such litigation and
disputes and any ultimate liability, in excess of reserves resulting therefrom, will not have a material
adverse effect on the financial condition or results of operations of Citizens. Citizens is also involved in
other potentially significant litigation described below. Due to the preliminary nature of the following
litigation, the potential loss, if any, is not determinable at this time.

Citizens v. Perdido Sun. Citizens is currently involved in a case before the Florida Supreme
Court, Citizens v. Perdido Sun Condominium, which raises the issue of whether Citizens has immunity
against a cause of action asserting statutory bad faith pursuant to Section 624.155 Florida Statute. An
appellate court in Florida recently ruled that a statutory bad faith claim can be brought against Citizens.
In 2010, another Florida appellate court had concluded that Citizens has immunity from such claims. The
Florida Supreme Court has held oral argument on the matter to resolve this conflict among the lower
Florida appellate courts. A decision which rules that Citizens was subject to bad faith claims could have a
material adverse impact on Citizens. The Court’s opinion has not been issued to date.

Further, in October 2013, Citizens received a subpoena from the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) requesting information relating to catastrophe bonds issued by Everglades Re Ltd.
in 2012 and 2013. Citizens is voluntarily cooperating with the SEC and is of the belief that any action by
the SEC will not materially affect the financial condition of Citizens.

Citizens has not determined the potential financial exposure, if any, of the above actions.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The statutory basis financial statements of Citizens Property Insurance Corporation as of December

31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and for the years then ended, included as APPENDIX C to this Official
Statement, have been audited by Johnson Lambert & Co. LLP, as stated in the report appearing therein. The
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Audited Financial Statements of Citizens Property Insurance Corporation as of December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, and for the years then ended, included in APPENDIX D to this Official Statement, have
been audited by Johnson Lambert & Co. LLP, as stated in the report appearing therein. Johnson Lambert &
Co. LLP, has consented to the inclusion of such audited financial statements in this Official Statement and has
performed certain procedures in connection herewith. It has not performed an audit of Citizens for any years
prior to 2010. Johnson Lambert & Co. LLP was selected by competitive process to complete the audits.
Pursuant to a recently completed competitive process, Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP was selected for the three
year period subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2014 and Johnson Lambert & Co. LLP, will no longer
serve as Citizens” auditor subsequent to the audit for the year ended December 31, 2014. Citizens expects the
Audited Financial Statements of Citizens Property Insurance Corporation as of December 31, 2014 to be
available on or before June 1, 2015, at which time a supplement to this Official Statement is expected to be
published.

CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters incident to the issuance of the Series 2015A Bonds are subject to the legal opinion
of Greenberg Traurig, P.A., Miami, Florida, whose legal services as Bond Counsel, have been retained by
Citizens. The signed legal opinion, dated and premised on law in effect as of the date of original delivery of
the Series 2015A Bonds, will be delivered to the Underwriters at the time of original delivery of the Series
2015A Bonds.

The proposed legal opinion is set forth in APPENDIX F attached hereto. The actual legal opinion to
be delivered may vary from that text as necessary to reflect facts and law on the date of delivery. The opinion
will speak only as of its date, and subsequent distribution thereof by recirculation of the Official Statement or
otherwise shall create no implication that Bond Counsel has reviewed or expresses any opinion concerning
any of the matters referenced in the opinion subsequent to its date.

While Bond Counsel has participated in the preparation of certain portions of this Official Statement,
it has not been engaged by Citizens to confirm or verify, and except as may be set forth in an opinion of Bond
Counsel delivered to the Underwriters, Bond Counsel will express no opinion as to the accuracy, completeness
or fairness of any statements in this Official Statement, or in any other reports, financial information, offering
or disclosure documents or other information pertaining to Citizens or the Series 2015A Bonds that may be
prepared or made available by Citizens, the Underwriters or others t